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Company Profile
NI LBy

We are a leading dental services group and have established a
nationwide footprint in China, operating both “Arrail Dental”, a
leading premium dental services brand, and “Rytime Dental”, a
middle-end dental services brand.

Our mission is to give each of our patients a healthy and confident
smile. Our vision is to become a world-leading dental group.

We have been providing dental services since we opened our
first Arrail Dental clinic in 1999. We offer a diverse range of
professional, personalized dental services spanning (i) general
dentistry; (ii) orthodontics; and (iii) implantology. Through decades
of commitment and endeavors in the dental healthcare industry,
we have earned the trust of our patients.
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Chairman’s Statement

ERHRE

ARRAIL fiiisi

TO GIVE EACH OF
OUR PATIENTS A HEALTHY
AND CONFIDENT SMILE

REBNBETRRE -  BEHMEK

Dear Shareholders,

Thank you for your attention and support in the development
of Arrail. | hereby take this opportunity to report to you the
information on our operations for the year ended March 31, 2023
and the outlook for the business development for the year ending
March 31, 2024.

PERFORMANCE REPORT

The 2022/2023 financial year is the Company’s first full financial
year after the Listing. During the financial year, although the
Company’s business experienced significant impact twice from
the COVID-19 pandemic, it still achieved satisfactory operating
results throughout the year. For the financial year, the Company
recorded a revenue of RMB1.47 billion, representing a slight
year-on-year decrease of 9.2%. The Company optimized its cost
and expense structure through operational measures, and finally
recorded an Adjusted Net Loss of RMB29.2 million.
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The Company firmly promoted the development strategy of
steady expansion during the financial year. We newly added 14
stores through construction and acquisitions in the year, with
a net addition of 228 dental chairs, increasing by 18.8% as
compared with last year. As of March 31, 2023, the Company has
established 9 dental hospitals and 114 dental clinics in 15 cities,
with annual patient visits amounting to 1.5 million.

OPERATIONS REVIEW
Steady expansion

During the pandemic, the Company continued to adhere to the
development strategy of steady expansion and achieved good
results.

During the financial year, the Company constructed four dental
clinics and a dental hospital, which are located in Beijing,
Guangzhou and Chongging respectively. Among which, the
“Samsung Tower” store in Beijing is the flagship store of the
“Arrail Plus (3mF%32)” brand and is the first store to promote the
membership model. The target consumer group is family-based
customers, which is an effective complement to the existing
business model.

In August 2022, we acquired Wuxi Tongshan Dental Hospital Co.,
Ltd. (E$HTEEOREERERAR) (‘Tongshan Dental’), a well-
known dental chain enterprise located in Wuxi, which comprises
one dental hospital and 9 dental clinics, thereby the Company
also officially entered the Wuxi dental market in Eastern parts of
China. After the acquisition, we have integrated and empowered
Tongshan Dental in terms of medical services, supply chain,
digital operations, branding, finance and other areas, thus
giving full play to economies of scale and improving operational
efficiency. During the financial year, Tongshan Dental contributed
a revenue of RMB47.7 million to the Group. As Wuxi is one of the
fastest growing cities in China, we believe that Tongshan Dental
will have a huge room for development in future.

Improving medical quality and ensuring medical safety

Adhering to the corporate mission of “giving each of our patients
a healthy and confident smile”, the Company is committed to
providing high-quality medical services and pleasant medical
experience. During the financial year, the Company continued
to implement a series of medical quality control measures such
as medical red line management, complex case consultation
and multidisciplinary specialist cooperation, specialized case
classification and dentist classification, so as to fully guarantee
medical quality and provide patients with professional medical
services.
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During the financial year, on the basis of the medical red line,
the Company has added a more stringent “medical quality
factor” inspection system which comprises preoperative,
medical and postoperative procedures, and the scoring of
inspection results is included in the assessment content of
dentists. Fully leveraging the advantages of chain enterprise,
we adhere to the 100% consultation system for complex cases
and organize multidisciplinary and multiregional discussions
and consultations. According to the different seniority levels of
dentists and the complexity of cases, the Company classifies the
cases and dentists of various specialties, and assigns dentists
of corresponding levels according to the complexity of different
classes of cases, so as to ensure the medical quality and safety.

Leading the development of the industry

As a leading medical service organization in China, the Company
is committed to the promotion and application of innovative
technologies throughout the industry, and constantly improves
industry standards to lead the development of the industry.

We extensively use digital technology in various fields of dental
clinic, including laser scanning and digital orthodontics, digital
guide plate and navigation technology for oral implantology, etc.
We actively participate in industry exchanges and seminars,
carry out online and offline public welfare live broadcasts and
other activities, with a view to promoting and applying innovative
technologies throughout the dental industry.

At the aspect of daily operation, the Company has independently
developed its operation SaaS system, which can help dentists
and employees handle daily operations and administrative
affairs, such as arranging customer appointments, purchasing
materials, monitoring inventory levels, filling out medical records
and maintaining customer relations, in a more easy and swift
manner. We have also completed the construction and launch of
the electronic medical records system. By setting the standard
template of the electronic medical records, we can improve the
standardization level of diagnosis and treatment. As such, we can
not only conveniently carry out quality control, but also greatly
improve the efficiency of online remote consultation.

Chairman’s Statement
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Actively responding to the pandemic

The Company’s business in the financial year experienced
significant impact twice from the COVID-19 pandemic. In April
and May 2022, we temporarily closed all clinics in Shanghai due
to the pandemic. From November 2022 to January 2023, almost all
clinics and hospitals in Beijing were temporarily closed due to the
pandemic. Clinics and hospitals in other cities also experienced
temporary closure during the financial year due to sporadic
outbreaks.

During the period of pandemic restriction and control, in order
to meet the timely medical needs of patients, our medical and
customer service teams always maintained active communication
with customers, striving to accurately and timely identify the
medical needs of patients. To the extent practicable under
the condition, we have overcome difficulties and seized every
opportunity to provide patients with high-quality healthcare
services.

Following the weakening of the pandemic, our performance has
been in a trend of strong rebound. As the vitality and potential of
the dental services market will be fully released in future, we are
full of confidence in the prospects of our future development.

Practicing social responsibility

As a pioneer in the domestic dental healthcare industry, the
Company has always engaged in its own development and social
welfare simultaneously.

For decades, we have joined hands with China Oral Health
Foundation to actively organize charitable fundraising activities
by leveraging our industry status and social influence, and have
participated in public welfare projects as volunteers. Since
2011, the Company and China Oral Health Foundation have
jointly launched the “Programme of Oral Disease Prevention
and Treatment for Orphans and Disabled Children”. By the
end of 2022, the project has covered 52 cities in 23 provinces,
benefiting more than 40,000 people. In 2023, we have launched
the “Healthy Teeth Card for Children(52ZK KL F )" with public
welfare attributes. We promise that for every Healthy Teeth Card
sold, RMB10 will be donated to China Oral Health Foundation for
utilization in the “Daisy in the Mountain” public welfare project to
care for children’s oral health.
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The Company will continue to actively participate in public welfare
by using our professional technology and services to benefit more
people, and continuously rising public awareness of dental health
and let more people have a healthy and confident smile.

Enhancing Shareholders’ value

This financial year is the Company’s first full financial year after
the Listing. The Company has actively taken various measures to
enhance Shareholders’ value.

In September 2022, the Company issued an announcement in
relation to adoption of the 2022 RSU Scheme to repurchase
Shares. The Company would repurchase the Shares for the 2022
RSU Scheme. It is expected that the 2022 RSU Scheme can better
improve the retention rate of excellent dentists and operation
managers, so that the Company and the core team can maintain
longer-term cooperation, which is conducive to enhancing the
cohesion and competitiveness of the Company. In the same
month, the Company was enlisted in the Hang Seng Composite
Index and officially admitted into the Hong Kong Stock Connect.
In November 2022, the Company was included in the constituent
stocks of MSCI Mingsheng China Small Cap Index, thus acquiring
capital inflows from index funds. The Company’s liquidity will be
continuously improved due to the above two milestones. In March
2023, the Company’s management voluntarily undertook to extend
the lock-up period for the vested restricted Shares, demonstrating
the confidence of the Company’s management in the long-term
development of the Company.

BUSINESS OUTLOOK
Centralized procurement of dental implants

With the improvement of living standards and the intensifying
of the extent of aging population, patients in China gradually
became aware that “oral implantology” is one of the most effective
treatments for missing teeth. During the year, the domestic oral
implantology policy was fully implemented, and more patients
will be benefited by affordable prices. Meanwhile, the policy will
also promote the private healthcare development environment
in China to continuously improve in a standardized, healthy and
sustainable manner.
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In this regard, we have adopted a series of targeted measures.
First of all, we have actively responded to the government’s
centralized procurement policy and lower our prices to benefit
more patients. We have formulated customized and exclusive
treatment plans for patients, and promoted the application of
dental digitalization projects, so as to enhance the digitalization
level and patient experience and increase the number of
patients receiving implant treatment. Arrail Group currently has
approximately 300 dentists who can engage in dental implants,
thus fully covering the growing demand for dental implants. We
anticipated that the impact of lower prices on revenues can be
offset by the increasing number of dental implants. In addition,
before providing oral implantology treatment, the dentist will
have a comprehensive assessment of the patient’s dental health,
judging whether the patient is suitable for treatment and enabling
the patient to complete the basic treatment required in the early
stage, which will in turn further increase patient visits for basic
treatments of general dental and periodontal ailments, thereby
increasing the revenue level of complex treatments such as
periodontal treatment and restoration.

As a leading dental chain enterprise in China, we will pay close
attention and actively respond to relevant national policies and
constantly adjust our business strategies, with a view to achieving
performance growth.

Rapid development in good condition

The Company adheres to the principle of steady operation,
pursuant to which the Company promotes store expansion in
an orderly manner while continuously improving the operational
efficiency of existing stores. In the past year, despite the impact of
the pandemic, we still added 14 stores through construction and
acquisitions. In future, we plan to continuously increase market
share through original site expansion and continuous intra-city
encryption. Meanwhile, we will also actively explore new markets
to maintain our business expansion opportunities.
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At present, nearly 60% of the Company’s stores have been
operating for more than 6 years, and nearly 30% of the stores
have been operating for more than 3 years. According to our
estimation, under the current aging structure of stores, the capital
flow generated by old stores can support the development of
new stores, and the dentist resources, customer resources and
management experience of old stores can help driving the rapid
operation of new stores, thus effectively promoting the healthy and
rapid growth of the Company. At the same time, as the number
of the Company’s stores continues to increase, our management
costs will be continuously diminished, hence the operational
efficiency will be released to a greater extent.

Improving efficiency

The Company continues to pay attention to the improvement
of operational efficiency and fully capitalize on the advantage
of its brand and chain enterprise, so as to improve operational
efficiency while achieving large-scale growth.

At the group level, we have set up four working groups for
complex case management, customer acquisition, customer
complaint evaluation and medical management. After refining and
summarizing the best management practices in 123 stores across
the country, we promoted and applied the practices in our stores,
which will in turn improve the rates of initial visits, follow-up visits
and the turnover of complex cases, thus improving the operation
and management efficiency of our stores. We continue to improve
operational efficiency through informatization construction, and
use digital platforms to summarize the operational indicators of
various stores and dentists in real time. Such measures can assist
our operational analysis and support our operational decision-
making.

Strengthening personnel training

The Company has a rich reserve of dentists, of which 914 dentists
are practicing full-time. The team of dentists have on average 11.2
years of experience in the industry, and over 46.4% of the dentists
have master’s degrees or above.
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We have a complete assessment, appraisal and coaching
mechanism in the professional training of various specialties,
providing each dentist with sufficient choices in different
specialties, so that those dentists who have potential and ambition
in specialized clinical technology can be timely identified and
cultivated. Meanwhile, we will continue to build a high-quality
talent team, and actively introduce dental and management talents
in the industry through campus recruitment, website recruitment
and other recruitment channels to reserve and cultivate new
forces. We have achieved great success in the lately concluded
campus recruitment for the 2023 graduation season. Our core
calibers went to the recruitment sites of various colleges and
universities and recruited more than 40 dental graduates with
postgraduate degrees or above, thus introducing new forces for
the development of the Group. We also have a sound training
and coaching mechanism to ensure that these new forces will
contribute to our future business development.

Becoming a leader in the application of digital technology
in the field of dental care

After 24 years of practice and experience, we have established a
relatively effective management system, independently developed
an operation and management platform, accumulated a large
number of excellent clinical cases, developed thousands of online
training courseware, and established an online supply chain
system. We plan to facilitate the digital upgrade of the dental
industry by means of output management via an open platform.
We have launched a digital and intelligent dental platform with
peer companies. The platform can help entrepreneurial dentists
solve the pain points and difficulties in the whole life cycle of
dental clinics by one-stop solutions to achieve high-quality
development.

We will continuously promote the application of dental digital
technology in the field of clinical stomatology, and publicize and
promote the technology through online and offline methods to lead
the development of the industry.

BRESEHMNEXRERETEETENER - B
MEBESH > RE—BEETRER TR LRMH
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RE2023FEEFHREBEBIEP G T BURKL -
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BTAOBREZABT AN TEFNOREERYE
£ AREBEMERIATHENMR - LA
HRTMBINFMAEHES  BRELTEDNERR
REBNERPMIME -

BAOEBRARMFLRMERNELE
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Chairman’s Statement

ERHRE

In the wake of the pandemic, China's economy has resumed ZIE#B%E  PELEBRETDDER  OBEET
its vitality and the dental industry has also ushered in new W IERFHNERE - BIFHOKI) EHFEEAQF
development. Our successful listing on the Stock Exchange not UiE—FAEANFTE ¥ HRMIRETESHE
only enables the Company to emerge on a larger platform, but K o F R RIKIAFE24FF « [BLE B - T8t
also imposes more stringent requirements for us. This year marks 1+ : BE+& - WETE ] B FHOEERS
the 24th anniversary of the Company's establishment. There is a  %Bif © —2—MWEEAPIERE - HiamHEEL
proverb that embraces the meaning of “There is no way to reach  IEFFEIE/KYF - S EMH & AIEE KHEE |

a thousand miles without accumulating the journey step by step”.

We will further explore the dental sector, expand the scale of

stores step by step, adapt to the market changes and improve our

management level, so as to create greater value for Shareholders

and society!
ZOU Qifang BWHF
Chairman e

Arrail Group Limited ImBREEARAR
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Financial and Business Highlights

MBEREBRE

Number of stores largely increased, EBITDA turned from
loss to profit, embrace a new chapter of development

FIEBERZEM  EBITDAHE AR  EERFRE

@ Stable finance and moderate Net Adjusted Loss 123 14 stores increased, including
despite COIVD-19 5 Scale of store 12 clinics and 2 hospitals
BRETINEYE  WEER CRRFERTLE FIERR s 145 - BE1252 55
2.—\-.
Total revenues were RMB1 ,473.7 million, RER
gross profit was RMB247.1 million and Adjusted 9 914 31 dentists were added
Net Loss was RMB29.2 million <> Dentists #2331 g e
B AARE14.746E T EARCHEIEESD BEiya
BARB24T I EEARARK29.2EET
. 1,534 thousand repeat visit rates of 48%, with
TN > Reveq;“)‘iig;;f;zégi"i"” 15.3.4. fﬁk)ﬂ 24% of our new patients were
;’;;eztv‘j's'ts referred by our existing patients
. A2 NN 5 N
£ . Gross profit RMB 247.1 million o BozEA8%  #H24%HE
ERNARB24715ET Em\ASRED|E
e (BN \ Adjusted Net Loss RMB 29.2 million
E‘*ﬁ_”_ " mEBEERARM028MR
% The efficiency has been improved significantly, and
EBITDA turned from loss to profit in first year.
MEERFAMRAEE - EBITDARFEIE
RMB68.9 million
ARM6,888E T
E ;gg:;s covered A ;glgg;;\ics ;yt% rrg B;ospitals
RMB-420 million Provinces uncovered Rytime Clinics — = Area of key Operations
L] sumes O zay v o IEgEEs

AR#-4.208 T

Our revenue was RMB1,473.7 million for the year ended March
31, 2023, representing a 9.2% decrease as compared to the
revenue of RMB1,623.6 million for the year ended March 31, 2022,
which was primarily because COVID-19 impacted our capacity to
provide services. For the year ended March 31, 2023, our gross
profit was RMB247.1 million, our Adjusted Operating Profit (as
defined below) was RMB3.8 million and our Adjusted Net Loss (as
defined below) was RMB29.2 million.

RMEE2023F3A31BEFENRAAARE
1,473. 7B & T BEZE2022FE3831BILEEX
IWAAR®1,623.6EB8BILEL9.2%  TERHR
COVID- 19 & B K MR M REHEE S - B1E 2023
FIANBILFE RPN EMNAARE247188
T BRPIMEHABEEFB(EERTX) BARE
SBEBLEAEARIBEE (FERETX) AARKE
29.2HETT °



Financial and Business Highlights

Underpinned by our industrial experience and sufficient cash
position, we continued to expand our footprint nationwide. During
the Reporting Period, we acquired “Tongshan Dental”, a well-
known dental group with one dental hospital and eight dental
clinics in Wuxi and nearby areas, within Jiangsu province. We
opened four dental clinics and one dental hospital and upgraded
four clinics.

In addition, there were two clinics with a total of 31 dental
chairs and one hospital with a total of 35 dental chairs under
construction as of March 31, 2023. As of March 31, 2023, total
dental chairs of our Group reached 1,442, increased by 18.8%
compared to March 31, 2022. We believe these movements will
further strengthen our leadership as a national chain in China’s
dental market.

Note: Adjusted operating profit refers to operating loss adjusted by
adding back share-based compensation expenses. Adjusted
loss for the year refers to loss for the year adjusted by adding
back share-based compensation expenses. Adjusted EBITDA
refers to EBITDA adjusted by adding back share-based
compensation expenses.

NEWLY OPENED CLINICS

MBEREBRE

BREBMNTERREITRNBRDNKF  RAIER
BIEE AT ETTRSE - MEHMA - HAKBET &
EO0R] HA—RANEORBESEE - T 1H4E N
WEST A RES I RABRBREISRKORBRD
P BAIFR TAROBEDARAK ARSI
MT AR ©

AN - B ZE 202338310 - AMKR 2 (HA31
RIRE) R —RER (X B35RFRF) EEE
Erh o HE2023F3HA31H  AEBEMTFRIFAE
B A1,4425 - BIEE2022F3A31 A EEIE R
18.8% » BRMEEELREBE T INERKMIER
PEEHREEPEOREEENISNBEN -

Hirat - 45 5 B A 2 ) B 4R 4
) A8

MBEARZRER

Beijing Arrail Plus
It EHEmE

Beijing Guanshe Clinic
EtREEDR

Beijing Ciyun Temple Clinic
ERBEFDH

Chongging Ruihua Clinic

o e e 2
Guangzhou Yuexiu Rytime Dental Hospital EERZEOEMNDE
BEMHEEHROEER
() newly opened ® 4 clinics and one hospital were newly opened with 89 dental chairs added
(L] srzmpas « ARDHIMMRBREAME - FHEORTRIE )

2022/23 Annual Report £E#H% @5/
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Management Discussion and Analysis
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BUSINESS REVIEW
Overview

We are a leading dental services provider in the premium private
dental service market in China. Founded in 1999, we have served
approximately 9.4 million patient visits in the past ten years, and
have been instrumental in raising public awareness and driving
consumer recognition of the importance of dental care and good
oral hygiene in China. Our network of dental clinics and hospitals
provides a wide array of dental healthcare services across China.
We adopt a dual-brand strategy through our “Arrail Dental” and
“Rytime Dental” brands to serve customers of different economic
and geographic backgrounds. Through decades of commitment
and service in the dental healthcare industry, we have earned
the trust of our patients, and have successfully established an
extensive presence in China, as we are continuing to expand our
footprint nationwide. As of March 31, 2023, we had 123 stores,
including 114 dental clinics and nine dental hospitals in 15 cities
across China, with 914 experienced dentists. Our mission is to
give each of our patients a healthy and confident smile, and our
vision is to become a world-leading dental group.

We expanded our business by opening more clinics and hospitals
in Tier-1 and Tier-2 cities across China. During the Reporting
Period, we opened four dental clinics and one dental hospital with
89 dental chairs. We expanded and upgraded four clinics with
50 dental chairs. In addition, there were two clinics with a total of
31 dental chairs and one hospital with a total of 35 dental chairs
under construction as of March 31, 2023. We continue to hire
competent dentists and enhance our dental professional team.
The number of our dentists increased by 3.5% from 883 as of
March 31, 2022, to 914 as of March 31, 2023.

E 3301
B

BRPRPESmELE N REEEREMISNELOE
BREIRAGIRMHE - B1999F KA - EBAET5F
g RAEEESREN4EEALR  BERS
MEEFREAREEEY OEERMR T OB
ENEZUHNEHRS A EHEEEEER - &
MHWOR2 R ERNGETREREEZANORE
BERG - BMEB [ HEER R mEOE] REHE
I REERE  URBATRGSENZEESNE
F-BBHETFREOBREBRTENRAMBRS
BRABRETEENGET  BEARBRMEEEZES
ERAREMORE @ ZMEKRDEFRELEZ
¥R - B2 2023F3A31H » HFIETE151EH
TMHEA128KFE > BIE114ROBEZLARIOR O
Bt UMRIARERTE - BMHNEDREEN
BETREE  BEONE  MERMANESERA
HRBEMOEEERGEE -

BPBBEZE——GETHIE L2 AT RER K
HEE - RBEHA - BMFHAZTERORBEZ
FTRARER » 8T 89RFRE + AL T
RZFT - W RE0RFBHE o Ibh - EE 202363 A
318 - HEBSIRTREHOMRZ T REESE 35
KRB —REREAEEERP -  RMEBEREE
EABRMITEVRABRMOOEEEZEBN - &
P T2 HEE 202243 431 8 #8834 N
3.5%ZEHE202343 A31HMI145 »



Management Discussion and Analysis

Our Services

Our clinics and hospitals offer a diverse range of professional and
customized dental services, consisting of (i) general dentistry; (ii)
orthodontics; and (iii) implantology.

General Dentistry

General dentistry largely refers to the preventive services that all
patients should receive on a regular basis, such as tooth cleaning,
checking soft tissue, and screening for oral diseases and other
potential problems, along with a range of basic restorative
treatments, including fillings, crowns, bridges, dentures and more.
Our general dentistry services include oral examination, treatment
planning, preventive and cosmetic dentistry, endodontics, oral
surgery, periodontal treatment, prosthodontics, pedodontics
services and patient education.

Orthodontics

Orthodontics is a branch of dentistry that treats malocclusions,
a condition in which the teeth are not correctly positioned when
the mouth is closed, which may be caused by dental irregularity
and disproportionate jaw relationships, among others. Our
orthodontists provide orthodontic treatment using a range of
medical dental devices, including fixed and/or removable braces,
headgear, aligners and other appliances.

Implantology

Oral implantology is the branch of dentistry that deals with the
permanent implantation of artificial teeth in the jaw when it is
determined that a natural tooth must be extracted. With their high
level of expertise, our implant dentists are able to treat complex
cases and provide customized solutions based on the health of
the jawbone and the specific needs of a patient.

B W DA

BB R

B2 TR ER RS AR E NI OREEE
RTG - BIEG)EBITR: ()EBR - R(i)EER -

BT

BRIMEIEEREBEREREREINEN RS -
lamest - SEBREREHE O RERREREWE
B AR —RINERBERE - BHFM@T - F
B BFE - RANEBRIMREERORE
mE AT 8 A RETITR - TRIFER
ORSMEL - P DR - BB R - RE O BEBIRS A
REEHE -

IERE 7Y

EBMEIAERATENTIROX  RATERER
FENERRERLOAHEERE MG O R
ERIFEREEEMLMNBER - HMNERBBE
AZEREORRFERHEERLE  BEEER,/
HRVBIE - FEB LS TEMEMEE -

BiEw

O ERER RS ki E AR KA i WM AR R
BXARBAEFEN T DX - BEERKFEH
HEME - ROBEET BREREAST IR
R BENEERIOBEE AR I AL IR AT RAR
JTEE
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Management Discussion and Analysis

B W DA

Dual-Brand Operations

As of March 31, 2023, we operated a total of 123 clinics and
hospitals under the brand names of “Arrail Dental”
to provide dental services to different demographics
across geographic regions.

and “Rytime
Dental”,

Arrail Dental

ARRAILImim

Fabulous Smile . Confident You

We have been operating under the Arrail Dental brand since 1999,
to provide premium dental services primarily to affluent consumers
in Tier-1 and emerging Tier-1 cities in China. Arrail clinics are
able to charge premium pricing based on their excellent quality
of bespoke services and professionals. As of March 31, 2023, we
operated a total of 52 Arrail clinics in seven cities in China, namely
Beijing, Shanghai, Shenzhen, Guangzhou, Hangzhou, Tianjin and
Xiamen. Our Arrail clinics are mainly concentrated in metropolitan
areas and located at or in close proximity to prominent landmarks
and properties. We plan to further penetrate existing markets to
drive stronger monetization under the Arrail Dental brand.

Rytime Dental
bmZrL_IHT BENTAL

We launched our operations under the Rytime Dental brand in
2012, primarily aiming to provide treatments to middle class
customers in Tier-1 and key Tier-2 cities in the Northern, Eastern,
Southern and Western parts of China. Rytime Dental is positioned
to capture the greater middle-end dental services market by
offering high-quality dental services at attractive and relatively
lower prices. As of March 31, 2023, we operated a total of 71
stores, including nine hospitals and 62 Rytime clinics in 10 cities
in China. We are able to provide a greater variety of treatments
at our dental hospitals, such as giving general anesthesia and
performing more complicated oral surgery procedures. Our Rytime
Dental hospitals and clinics are typically located in the vicinity of
residential areas, giving our customers easy access to convenient
and high-quality dental care services. We plan to continue to
expand our Rytime Dental network by broadening our reach to
targeted regions and cities across China.

EmEgE

%23&2023¢3H31 B BAATEBRER K[ HER
o | mERAE e 123 R TR R - AZ MR
WHA%M%DHWE‘*THW

HEEH

ARRAILImim

Fabulous Smile . Confident You
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Management Discussion and Analysis

Our Hospitals and Clinics

As of March 31, 2023, we operated 123 stores, including (i) 114
clinics, of which 52 clinics were under the Arrail Dental brand
and 62 clinics were under the Rytime Dental brand; and (ii) nine
hospitals under the Rytime Dental brand, as illustrated in the map
below.

[l Provinces covered &4 15 \ \
Provinces uncovered XEEAB | O-

A Arralil Clinics B2 F7

@  Rytime Clinics &2

Rytime Hospitals #7526

11

7 Area of key Operations * B4 &R

B W DA

RANERRZ R

WA TH BT~ © 8 Z20239F3 8318 » HIKL
123KRFIE » B4R ZH (b BB ER M
S2RRIGFAEMIE62R) + K (i) AIhZ O Mg

REIORER ©

Iﬁl 123X

Dental Clinics and
Hospitals
H R P & BB

151

Cities Covered
BEHM

9144

Dentists
Eg
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Our total patient visits decreased from 1,558,947 for the year
ended March 31, 2022 to 1,534,162 for the year ended March 31,
2023, representing a decrease of 1.6%. The following table sets
forth the breakdown by brands in relation to our operating and
financial performance.

RFANEEDL ARHBEE2022F3A31HIEFER
1,658,947 AR AL E# E2023F3 A31HIEFE
#91,534,162 AX + FHE R 1.6% « TERHEIZ
MBI DB RS R B RIZAL -

For the year ended March 31,
BIZ3A31BLEE

2023 2022

2023%F 20224

Total patient visits BIED AR 1,534,162 1,558,947
Arrail Dental ImRER 480,623 560,981
Rytime Dental i pemp 1,053,539 997,966
Total number of dental chairs FRIBEE 1,442 1,214
Arrail Dental ImER et 517 482
Rytime Dental ImZs O 925 732
Visits per dental chair BRIBEHRDIRE 1,064 1,284
Arrail Dental ImREE 930 1,164
Rytime Dental WmEE O 1,139 1,363
Revenue per dental chair (RMB in thousands) #SRIMEHRA (ARETT) 1,022 1,311
Arrail Dental Iml e 1,384 1,691
Rytime Dental g O 820 1,061

Our repeat visit rates, defined as the percentage of patients
that revisited our clinics or hospitals beyond six months after
their initial visits, excluding follow-up consultations of the same
treatment, were 48.1% for the year ended March 31, 2023 (48.6%
for the year ended March 31, 2022). Approximately 24% of our
new patients were referred by our existing patients for the year
ended March 31, 2023.

Significant Investments, Material Acquisitions and
Disposals of Subsidiaries, Associates and Joint Ventures
during the Reporting Period

On April 2, 2022, a subsidiary of the Company entered into an
investment agreement to acquire and subscribe for 14.1% equity
interest of Shenzhen Baocheng Dental Hospital (&I H O EeEE
Ft) (“Shenzhen Baocheng”) for a cash consideration of RMB25
million (the “Baocheng Investment’). The Baocheng Investment
does not constitute a connected transaction or a notifiable
transaction under the Listing Rules.

HZE2023F3A3TALEE  RANEHETLE
PR (MR R NERRBXRERMAND A
RERRLNEBEENE L TEER—2ENE
BERP) B48.1% (B E2022F3A31HILFE A
48.6%) ° H 202343 A31HILFEE » #I24%HIH
BERBEBBESIE -

BEMANEARE - EARBRHESEFAH
BERNRAREEDNT

N2022F 4828 » KRR —KFRAFELREW
FOURSHEBEBARBHEE L KRERRBE R
B AR ([FRINEH ) 14 1% 8% ([BEER
B]) EHKRETEKEMRATHEER SHA
FRANRS °



Management Discussion and Analysis

On July 8, 2022, a subsidiary of the Company entered into an
investment agreement to acquire 51% equity interest of Tongshan
Dental (the “Tongshan Investment’). Tongshan Dental had 90
dental chairs as of March 31, 2023 and contributed revenue of
RMB47.7 million for the Reporting Period since the acquisition
was completed on August 30, 2022. For further details on the
Tongshan Investment, please refer to the announcement of the
Company dated July 8, 2022.

On November 3, 2022, the Group entered into a cooperation
agreement with Hangzhou Jarvis and Hangzhou Jinyaori, pursuant
to which the Group agreed to subscribe for 20% of the registered
capital of Hangzhou Jinyaori, a wholly owned subsidiary of
Hangzhou Jarvis, at the subscription amount of RMB30 million.
Upon completion of the subscription, Hangzhou Jinyaori will
be owned as to 20% and 80% by the Group and Hangzhou
Jarvis respectively. On the same day, the Group entered into a
licensing agreement with Hangzhou Jinyaori, pursuant to which
the Group shall license certain intellectual property rights to
Hangzhou Jinyaori for a term of three years. Please refer to the
announcements of the Company dated November 3, 2022 and
November 11, 2022 for details.

Save as disclosed above, the Company had no significant
investments, material acquisitions or disposals of subsidiaries,
associates and joint ventures during the Reporting Period.

Events after the Reporting Period

On September 28, 2022, the Company and Beier Holdings Limited
(“Beier”) entered into a loan agreement (the “Loan Agreement”),
pursuant to which the Company provided a loan facility to Beier
in an aggregate principal amount of US$11,000,000 (equivalent to
RMB77,164,000) (the “Loan”). The Loan was drawn down by Beier
in full on September 30, 2022. The Loan was unsecured, interest
bearing at 4.5% per annum, and repayable in nine months from
the date of utilisation.

B W DA

R2022F7H8H * ARG —RFRAFMLIKEW
o UNEBEORS1%EE ([BERE]) - @A
D& £ 202343 A31 A XA 0RFEHE - 52022
F8HA30ATAWBLANR - RIMEEER THWAA
RE477EET - BHEBSRENE—FFE &
2R NRI B A2022F7 A8HIAE -

M2022F 11 A3 » AEBEMEXRE RN E
BRATYEERE Bt ZEBRERBEMNIMNE
BE (MMNEXRBNEETAR) M20%FMER
RESEAARBIOEETL - RRBEEZME -
MMNE R B ED R RAEERTMNERBESR20%
%80% A A « A% E /N <R H A
B AEEHFAMMNESRBFERE TMEE
- BEI=F - FEBA2MAAF A A2022F 11
A3BK2022FE 11 A1 EHHAE -

B EXHRBES  REREBRAREEETE
KEE EXMBREETAA  BEAARAE
27 -

BEWEEE

M2022F9H28H - ANARIEBeier Holdings
Limited ([Beier]) 5], Extr:s ([ BRWZE]) © &
It + AN ATFABeieri2 i A& 458 /511,000,0003
T(HEENRARKET77 164,000T) WEFRRE (T&
;) o 20229498300 EFXE HBeier2 iR
B BERAEER  BFNEL5%H B BARBA
HEARBET LB A WEE -
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Management Discussion and Analysis
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On June 27, 2023, the Company and Beier entered into an
amendment agreement to the Loan Agreement (the “Amendment
Agreement”), pursuant to which the Company and Beier
conditionally agreed that, among others, (i) the term of the Loan
shall be extended for a period from 9 months to 18 months
commencing from the September 30, 2022, and (ii) the interest
rate of the Loan shall be revised from 4.5% to 5.5% per annum. In
addition, to cover the liabilities and obligations of Beier under the
Amendment Agreement, Beier pledged 9,920,675 ordinary shares
of the Company held by it in favour of the Company as security for
the extended Loan. Save for the above, all the material terms and
conditions of the Loan Agreement remain unchanged and in force
and effect.

Save as disclosed above and elsewhere in this annual report,
there have been no other material events subsequent to the year
ended March 31, 2023 and up to the date of this annual report,
which require adjustment or disclosure in accordance with IFRSs.

Future Plans for Material Investments and Capital Assets

The Group intends to utilize the net proceeds raised from the
Global Offering for business expansion, optimization of our IT
infrastructure and working capital in the manner set out in the
Prospectus and the section headed “Use of Proceeds from the
Global Offering” below. Save as these, the Group does not have
any concrete committed plans for material investments and capital
assets in 2023.

20236 F27H » ARG EBeierd] LEF BEM
el ((BRTHE]) - Bt - AAFHBeierE A
GHERE (EhaE) () EERNHRMA20229F9 A
30RTIEALERZ181EA R (i) BERFHEH
4.5%(ER] H5.5% ° LN BIREBeierE(E ] s
ETIHEERER  BeierD i HEE 19,920,675
RARNREBBEBTARR  (EAEHERNE
R o BREMEI - BERBBEHHE X BIERREM
T WAB+RERAIME -

br EXRAFHREME D RBEFEEIN - 1R20234F
SAB1HIEFERRBEAFTFRAY  WEEMRE
thEXFBAREERY SRS ELETAESE

%o

AREAREREFREGEE

REBFRBHERERE N T 2REEMSHER
@] —HET AR ERBEEMERNMEIRFHR
AREBHEE - BICHMNESRMERRERE
BES - Rtz AEBEX RN 2023FAHIES
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Employees and Remuneration

As of March 31, 2023, we had a total of 3,409 full-time employees,
all of whom were based in various cities in China. Our employees
reflect the geographic footprint we currently serve. The following

Management Discussion and Analysis

B W DA

BEERHH

HZE2023F3A318 » HMHEEE £3,409% &8
B8 o HEFEZERT IE - RANEER
R (P9 B ATFTAR IS A i 858 » TR EFIEH Z=2023

table sets forth our employees by positions as of March 31, 2023: FIAN ALBEEEHHES :
Number of
Function Employees %
i BE EEAH %
Dentists T8 914 26.8%
Nursing staff EIEAB 1,274 37.4%
Customer service staff ERAR 623 18.3%
General administrative staff —BITERABR 349 10.2%
Marketing team & S E X 249 7.3%
Total et 3,409 100.0%
Employees by Positions
ZHEES HES
Dentists Nursing staff Customer General
service staff administrative staff

TE EEAB ERAE —BRITBAE

9144 1,2744 6234 3494

26.8% 37.4% 18.3% 10.2%
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We offer our employees different remuneration packages
based on their positions. Generally, the remuneration structure
of our employees includes salary, benefits and bonuses. Our
compensation programs are designed to remunerate our
employees based on their performance, measured against
specified objective criteria. We maintain standard employee
benefit plans required by PRC laws and regulations, including
housing fund contributions, pension insurance, medical insurance,
workplace injury insurance, unemployment insurance, and
maternity insurance.

As of March 31, 2023, over 46.4% of our full-time dentists had
master’'s degree or above, and many held titles and qualifications
such as chief medical director or medical discipline leader. Our
team of dentists have on average 11.2 years of post-qualification
experience in the industry. The average monthly revenue
generated per dentist, who joined us in 2018, 2019 and 2020
during each calendar year, grew at a CAGR of 24%, 39% and
57% during their respective employment periods up to the end of
calender year 2022. Dentists with more than five, ten and fifteen
years of experience with us accounted for 37.2%, 13.9% and 6.1%
of our total dentists, which indicates strong employee retention
rates.

PR ZE B OB A PR BT RO EE -
BEMS  EENFHRBEEHFES  BALE
T o BPINFHBEE EREEBNER (RIBRE
FEERELETHE) MERERBOHM - HAIEFHE
ARERRENELEEBENGE - EREFAR
EHR - BE2RR - BERR - TEHKRE - KX
R R EFRE o

HZE2023F3HA31H » HMHBiBE46.4% 028 T 5
HEBELTHRALEN  WAHFZTERBIAERM
o B BB RS A S AT ER - BRI T BB
WMEEKRETFHEAI2FNTELER - 12018
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Employee Retention Rates of our dentists of the Company

BT BEARQANEER

EARAR IERIBSFE

EARQA B TEBB10E

EARDAB TEEB15E

We have also set up a platform in the BVI to hold incentive
shares for a total amount of 119,972,600 shares, representing
approximately 20.6% of the total issued share capital of the
Company as of March 31, 20283, for the participants under
the RSU Scheme. As of March 31, 2023, an aggregate of 573
employees were approved by the Board to be the grantees with
a total of 88,770,062 underlying shares pursuant to the RSU
Scheme. We further adopted the 2022 RSU Scheme on September
3, 2022, pursuant to which the underlying Shares will be satisfied
by the existing Shares to be acquired by the trustee on the market
based on the trading price of the market. As of March 31, 2023,
no employees were approved by the Board to be the grantees
pursuant to the 2022 RSU Scheme.

Serviced at the Company for over 5 years

Serviced at the Company for over 10 years

Serviced at the Company for over 15 years

BTN EBEBRHERITE UREZR
B BRI A2 HEERESE 119,972,600
BB D - (RE 2= 2023F3 A31 BAR A B E#IT
NAEEEH20.6% ° B E2023F3 8310 ' REXR
FIRRDELIFTE - AHST3REERESSHAR
BER A o A ERA 88,770,062 % AR o F
1172202249 A 3 B # — RN 2022 F X R HI i 17
BAEFE - Bt ABEROBIAZEART S LR
BHMERFEBENREAGRMDIA - HE20234F3
A31H ' RIE2022F ZRHIK M BT E] - BHEE
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During the Reporting Period, the Group did not experience any
significant problems with its employees due to labour disputes nor
did it experience any difficulty in the recruitment and retention of
staff.

Industry Outlook

The development of the dental services market in China is
mainly driven by economic development, an ageing population,
digitalization, rising public awareness of dental health and other
related factors. According to Frost & Sullivan Report, the market
size of dental services in China reached RMB145.0 billion in 2021,
maintaining an average annual growth rate of 20%. It is expected
to reach RMB300.0 billion by 2025. Based on the experience of
overseas developed markets, a chained operation is generally
considered to have greater advantages than an individual
operation in terms of speed of development.

Although the COVID-19 pandemic has had certain impacts on
the industry in the past three years, the entire industry has still
shown strong resilience and signs of rebound. At the same time,
we have also observed the gradual enhancement of industry
penetration and concentration of leading institutions. Following the
complete easing of the pandemic control restrictions, the vitality
and potential of the dental services market will be fully released,
hence we are full of confidence in the prospects of our future
development.

With the full implementation of the domestic oral implantology
policy and the nearly-two-years publicity and popularization of
such policy in the market, patients in China gradually became
aware that “oral implantology”
treatments for missing teeth; thus the dental health awareness of

is one of the most effective

the public has been raised and more patients will be benefited by
affordable prices. Before providing oral implantology treatment,
the dentist will have a comprehensive assessment of the patient’s
dental health, judging whether the patient is suitable for treatment
and enabling the patient to complete the basic treatment required
in the early stage, which will in turn further increase patient visits
in dental institutions, especially for basic treatments of general
dental and periodontal ailments. At the policy aspect, guided by
a number of policies issued by the state and local governments
in China, the private healthcare development environment in
China will continue to be improved in a standardized, healthy
and sustainable manner. As the largest premium dental chain
group in China which covers the four core regions, namely North
China, East China, South China and West China, comprising 15
Tier-1 and Tier-2 cities, the Company will further benefit from the
core advantages of “Talent, Brand, System” and seize the huge
opportunities arising from the development of the dental market.

B W DA
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Future Prospects

7)

2)

Efficiency improvement and steady operation

We focus on improving efficiency and operating steadily,
aiming to ensure quality and sustainable growth. Faced
with the recurring impact of the pandemic in the past three
years, the industry needs to reorganize and recuperate.
Therefore, we will continuously focus on existing resources,
fortifying our foundation, while maintaining a development
strategy of active expansion. We will continue to increase
market share and operational efficiency through original
site expansion and continuous intra-city encryption.
Meanwhile, we will also actively explore new markets to
maintain our business expansion opportunities. In order to
enhance efficiency and effectiveness, we will launch the
“5A Arrail Way” to improve customer management with
refined operations.

Relying on the medical-oriented principle and practice
medicine with respect

Ensuring medical quality is the essence of the
development of the healthcare industry, and the dental
industry is no exception. We adopt a number of systems
including medical red line management, specialized case
classification, dentist classification, complex medical
condition discussion and multidisciplinary consultation to
ensure medical quality and safety and provide customers
with professional dental services. In recent years, more
and more expert dentists have joined the Group, which
also proves that we have been recognized and respected
in the field of dental services. In future, we will adhere to
the medical-oriented principle, and always regard medical
quality management as a crucial standard for enterprise
development.

KRBT
1) KEEIET R

2)

BIIERABENRREE  EERERE
BE  AIEHEMER - MEIFREBEER
MREGE  TEFEETEBNMKREL
B Bt HPEBRBREREER  HE
E - RS R ESARERBE o 2
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3)

4)

Management Discussion and Analysis

Leveraging brand influence to strengthen the system of
‘recruitment, training and retention”

We will further strengthen the system of “recruitment,
training and retention” of talents by leveraging our
brand influence. The Company has been adhering to the
principle of “empowerment and support” and is committed
to providing employees with effective platforms and
development opportunities. In terms of medical services,
we not only insist on campus recruitment, but also increase
the recruitment of specialist dentists and senior dentists
to ensure that our medical service level is always at the
leading position in the industry. In terms of operation, we
will gradually strengthen the construction of the echelon
of core management personnel, and focus on selecting
high-caliber management personnel with strong self-
motivation, learning ability and development potential, so
as to lay a sound organizational structure foundation for
the Company’s long-term development.

Enhancing corporate culture

Corporate culture endows the Company with a unique
working atmosphere, which will in turn regulate and
affect everyone’s behavior and way of doing things. As
the corporate culture and core competitive edge of the
Company, “integrity, professionalism and being a good
person” is vital for the Company to achieve cross-regional
development and off-site replication, thus becoming a
national chain dental institution. It is one of the “moats”
of the Company. In future, the Company will unswervingly
promote and maintain the construction of its corporate
culture.

3)

4)

B W DA
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5) Risk management and sustainable development

The Group will continue to strengthen its risk management
system to ensure the stability and sustainability of business
operations. At the same time, we will also build a market-
leading financial management system to maintain our
financial well-being, as well as formulate reasonable
financial goals and strategic planning. In addition, we
will also pay attention to our environmental, social and
governance responsibilities, continue to improve and
strengthen corporate governance and the standardized
management of listed companies, optimize the governance
structure and continue to focus on charity and public
welfare. Meanwhile, we will also further strengthen our
communication with regulatory authorities such as the
Stock Exchange as well as Shareholders so as to keep
information transparent, with a view to creating more value
for Shareholders.

Impact of COVID-19

To contain the spread of COVID-19, the local governments
imposed various restrictions on business and social activities,
including travel restrictions and mandated temporary shutdowns
of business operations across certain regions. During the
Reporting Period, we have undergone temporary closures of
clinics and hospitals we operated, particularly from April to June
2022 and from November 2022 to January 2023. In April and May
2022, all the clinics in Shanghai were closed. In May and June
2022, 19 clinics and hospitals in Beijing were closed for averagely
two weeks, while from November 2022 to January 2023, almost all
the clinics and hospitals were temporarily closed for one week to
one month.

Although COVID-19 has had an adverse effect on our country,
we noticed strong business rebounce after the pandemic. For
example, patient visits decreased by 20.2% in April to June 2022
and increased by 9.7% from July to September compared to same
period last year; patient visits decreased by 39.4% in November
2022 to January 2023 and increased by 42.2% in February 2023
compared to same period last year.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

FINANCIAL REVIEW
Overview

The following discussion is based on, and should be read in
conjunction with, the financial information and the notes included
elsewhere in this annual report.

Revenue

During the Reporting Period, we primarily generated revenues
from operating dental clinics and hospitals across the PRC. Our
revenues decreased by 9.2% from RMB1,623.6 million for the year
ended March 31, 2022, to RMB1,473.7 million for the year ended
March 31, 2023. This was primarily because COVID-19 impacted
our capacity to provide services.

Revenues by Dental Service Offerings

We offer a diverse range of professional and customized dental
services, covering mainly three dental sectors (i) general
dentistry; (ii) orthodontics; and (iii) implantology. The following
table sets forth a breakdown of our revenues by types of dental
services, both in absolute amount and as a percentage of our
total revenues, for the periods indicated.

B W DA
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For the year ended March 31,
BE3ASIBLEE

2023 2022
2023%F 20224
RMB % RMB %
AR % ARK %
(RMB in thousands, except for percentages)
(AREETFIT - BRLLBRIN
General dentistry T@ R 790,353 53.6% 872,586 53.7%
Orthodontics IERE R 328,238 22.3% 366,264 22.6%
Implantology fEEE 318,330 21.6% 353,079 21.7%
Others™ E o 36,820 2.5% 31,624 2.0%
Total @it 1,473,741 100.0% 1,623,553 100.0%
Note: Wizt -
(1) Primarily include revenues generated from sale of dental (1) FTERERBEESBEFAHESERME L
materials in our ordinary course of business and the operation BERBIAEREEEHBA -

of our denture manufacturing plants.
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Rk

Orthodontics
IERG R

e 'mplantology
ELERS

e Others
Hitb

Note: For the year ended March 31
Wit - BE3ABNBLFE

Revenues generated from (i) general dentistry decreased by
9.4% from RMB872.6 million for the year ended March 31, 2022
to RMB790.4 million for the year ended March 31, 2023; (ii)
orthodontics decreased by 10.4% from RMB366.3 million for the
year ended March 31, 2022 to RMB328.2 million for the year
ended March 31, 2023; and (iii) implantology decreased by 9.8%
from RMB353.1 million for the year ended March 31, 2022 to
RMB318.3 million for the year ended March 31, 2023.

General Dentistry

B EBEFREENWRABREZ2022F3A31H
IEFEMNARKES72.6 BB 9.4% E8£2023
FI3A3TALFENARKT04EET : (i) ERHFE
EEMBRABREE2022F3A31HILFEHARE
366.3EE LM 10.4% EE E2023%F3 3181k
FEMARKEI28.28E T » R(ii)EEREEMIK
ABHZE2022F3A31AILFEMAREKIS31H
B 9.8%EEH ZE2023F3A31HIEFEMAR
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Revenues by Brand

We adopt a dual-brand strategy through our Arrail Dental and
Rytime Dental brands to provide differentiated dental services to
different target markets. As of March 31, 2023, we operated 52
dental clinics in Tier-1 cities under the Arrail Dental brand, and
operated 62 dental clinics and nine dental hospitals primarily
in Tier-1 and key Tier-2 cities under the Rytime Dental brand.
The following table sets forth a breakdown of our revenues by
brands, both in absolute amount and as a percentage of our total
revenues, for the periods indicated.

B W DA

K 1) 77 BIHA

BMEBAHMBEERNEERTOEREENE 78
B mAREBEmSREEECORERRS - &
£2023F3A31H BB IEE — &5
TELS2RK AL WAREORAMEETEE—
BREZL THEETEL2RAORZSHMIRARE
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For the year ended March 31,
BE3A3MBLEE

2023 2022
2023%F 20224
RMB % RMB %
AR® % AR %
(RMB in thousands, except for percentages)
(ARETFIT - BHLLBRIN
Arrail Dental MR 715,299 48.5% 831,550 51.2%
Rytime Dental B 758,442 51.5% 792,003 48.8%
Total #st 1,473,741 100.0% 1,623,553 100.0%
Cost of Sales SHE R A

Our cost of sales primarily consists of (i) employee benefits
expenses; (ii) depreciation and amortization; and (iii) dental
materials used. Employee benefits expenses primarily consist of
salaries, benefits and bonuses, including social security costs
and housing benefits. Depreciation and amortization expenses
primarily consist of depreciation of our medical equipment, office
equipment and furniture, leasehold improvements, and right-
of-use assets, representing the leases of dental clinics and
hospitals. Dental material used primarily consist of purchase
costs of raw materials and consumables mainly comprising
customized dentures, dental braces, implant and dental crowns
for implantology, orthodontics and restorations.

BANHERAEZRE()VEEENFAX - (INTE
N R(i)mAERTE - BERIAXIES
EHe  WAREL BRLtEREXAREER
o FERBERXTIECREERRE HARE
REA - HEMRREREREEE (DRELHARE
BeVEE) WATE - TAERM B ZZRERME R
B (T2EREMN  ERREECANITRRE
o FEEFRIFE)EREEA
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The following table sets forth a breakdown of our cost of sales T~ &5l T 95 BT /s HA R 4% 1 & £ 9 #9456 A AN AR
by nature, both in absolute amounts and as a percentage of total ~ #1 » LAB¥ & 58 MG IR ER AN A D IR ©
cost of sales, for the periods indicated.

For the year ended March 31,
BZ3A31BLEE

2023 2022
20234 20224

RMB % RMB %

AR % AREE %

(RMB in thousands, except for percentages)

(ARETT - ALK

Employee benefits expenses EERBAMAZ 622,426 50.7% 670,580 52.1%
Depreciation and amortization TE REE 242,177 19.7% 227,725 17.7%
Dental materials used Pt A e R R 241,757 19.7% 253,254 19.7%
Consulting fees EAEIE ¢ 33,434 2.7% 43,139 3.4%
Office and property management MARYEEERZ 57,550 4.7% 45,962 3.5%
expenses

Others™ E o 29,313 2.5% 46,336 3.6%
Total et 1,226,657 100.0% 1,286,996 100.0%
Note: Miat -

(1) Primarily include rental expenses, travelling expenses, training (1)
expenses and utility expenses.

1,286,996 @

1,226,657

FERIERSMAY - ZRAS - FIIFAZ kK
&

ES
=
)

Cost of Sales by nature (RMB in thousands)
HERAPHA(ARETT)

670,580

246 —— Employee benefits expenses EEEFB X

| Depreciation and amortization & & #iH

Dental materials used FrFAEERI#TE

e Office and property management expenses i AR ¥£EEFH X
_ Consulting fees #:HE
Others™ H ™

2022 2023

Note: For the year ended March 31
B - HEIANHIEFE
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Our cost of sales decreased by 4.7% from RMB1,287.0 million
for the year ended March 31, 2022 to RMB1,226.7 million for the
year ended March 31, 2023, primarily due to the decrease of
labor cost, dental materials used and consulting fees in line with
revenue decrease.

Gross Profit

Our gross profit decreased by 26.6% from RMB336.6 million for
the year ended March 31, 2022 to RMB247.1 million for the year
ended March 31, 2023, primarily due to the decrease of revenue.

Selling and Distribution Expenses

Our selling and distribution expenses primarily consist of (i)
employee benefits expenses for our sales and marketing staff;
(ii) advertising and marketing expenses; and (iii) consulting
fees. The following table sets forth a breakdown of our selling
and distribution expenses, both in absolute amounts and as a
percentage of total cost of revenues, for the periods indicated.

B W DA

HPIMEERANRE E2022F3 831 B IEFEEHA
R¥E1 287068 TR 4.7%EEE2023F3 A31
BIEFEEMARKE12267AETL TERENAL
A~ FTRERIM B RERABESBARLD - BIA
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E7

RPN EFNBEEE2022F3A31BIEFEMNARE
336.6 EEITH A 26.6% EE E2023%E3A31H 1
FEMNARE2471BET  TERARWARD -
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For the year ended March 31,
BE3A3MBLEE

2023 2022
2023 % 20224

RMB % RMB %

AR¥ % AR %

(RMB in thousands, except for percentages)

(ARBTT - BRI

Employee benefits expenses EERAMZ 47,717 51.2% 40,029 50.3%
Advertising and marketing expenses B k&Y 37,591 40.3% 33,588 42.2%
Consulting fees BAE 4,727 5.1% 2,816 3.5%
Others™ Hbo 3,238 3.4% 3,192 4.0%
Total Fa 93,273 100.0% 79,625 100.0%
Note: Hiat

(1) Primarily include travelling expenses, training expenses and (1) FEREEZRAY  HFlFAZ RBERS -

recruitment expenses.
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Our selling and distribution expenses increased by 17.2% from
RMB79.6 million for the year ended March 31, 2022 to RMB93.3
million for the year ended March 31, 2023, primarily because we
expanded marketing team and carried out more marketing and
promotion activities.

Administrative Expenses

Our administrative expenses primarily consist of (i) share-based
compensation expenses; (ii) employee benefits expenses for
our directors, senior management and other administrative staff;
(i) listing expenses; (iv) consulting fees; and (v) depreciation
and amortization. The following table sets forth a breakdown of
our administrative expenses, both in absolute amounts and as a
percentage, for the periods indicated.

BPIEE RAEHATHEZE2022F3A31 B IEF
EMARKET7ICEETIENI7T.2%EHZE20235F3
A31HLFEMARKIZIIFEL  EEZHNEM
EREHEKWHARE 2 HEERTBAME -

ITHRAX

HAMTHAXEZFB()ROMESHAX : (iHE
= EREEEBMEMITRAENEERAMX
(i) LR : (iV)ERE - R(vITEREHE - TX
P HFIR AR ITRAAE - NBE
NFTiE A D IR

For the year ended March 31,
BZE3ASIBLEE

2023 2022
2023F 20224
RMB % RMB %
AR % AR %
(RMB in thousands, except for percentages)
(AR¥TT - 8oLk
Share-based compensation &R BN 5 52 194,118 56.3% 95,021 34.4%
expenses
Employee benefits expenses EERAMXZ 87,672 25.4% 83,401 30.2%
Listing expenses Baiilcib-a - - 42,501 15.4%
Consulting fees BB 18,536 5.4% 15,234 5.5%
Depreciation and amortization TE R E 17,062 4.9% 16,659 6.0%
Office and property management MARYEEEREZ 5,482 1.6% 4,903 1.8%
expenses
Auditor’s remuneration B ot b ET I 4,500 1.3% 3,500 1.3%
Others™ Ebo 17,388 5.1% 14,874 5.4%
Total @et 344,758 100.0% 276,093 100.0%
Note: Wit

(1) Primarily include travelling expenses, training expenses and
recruitment expenses.

Our administrative expenses increased by 24.9% from RMB276.1
million for the year ended March 31, 2022 to RMB344.8 million
for the year ended March 31, 2023, primarily due to (i) increased
share-based compensation expenses in connection with RSUs

M TERREERMAS  HIIFEERBERY

RANITHBEZHEZE2022F3A31BIEFEMA
REE276 1B ETILIN24.9% EH F 20234 3 A31
HIEFEMARKI448EE T TBE2HEAI)E
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granted to our employees in October 2021; and (ii) increased
recurring professional and legal fees as the Company's been
listed on the Stock Exchange and offset by the reduction of one-
off listing expenses incurred during the Company'’s first public
offering.

Research and Development Expenses

Our research and development expenses primarily consist of (i)
employee benefits expenses for our research and development
staff; and (ii) consulting fees. The following table sets forth a
breakdown of our research and development expenses, both in
absolute amounts and as a percentage, for the periods indicated.

B W DA

AR REIR2021F10 AREE BN ZRHIIKGD B
BB BN & B S A0 ¢ Ko (i) R AN A B FEBsE X Fr |
W EEMEERAZERGM  EPREAQRSE
TERAABEHESD — XM LETRARD AR

e

HAWMEREX T 28E0)HEABNEERNF
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For the year ended March 31,
BEZ3A31BLEE

2023 2022
2023F 20224
RMB % RMB %
AR % AR %
(RMB in thousands, except for percentages)
(AR¥TT - BOLRIN

Employee benefits expenses EERAMAZ 10,293 55.5% 26,633 80.9%
Consulting fees BB 6,085 32.8% 4,323 13.1%
Depreciation and amortization Y& KMot 1,836 9.9% 1,596 4.8%
Others™ Emo 328 1.8% 366 1.2%
Total @t 18,542 100.0% 32,918 100.0%
Note: Hiat -
(1) Primarily include travelling expenses, property management (1) FTEBREERMY - MEBRFAIIKEE -

expenses and utility expenses.

Our research and development expenses decreased by 43.7%
from RMB32.9 million for the year ended March 31, 2022 to
RMB18.5 million for the year ended March 31, 2023, primarily
because the decrease in employee benefits expenses reflecting
the decrease in the expenses of maintenance and follow-up
development of our self-developed information technology.
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(Impairment Loss)/Reversal of Impairment Loss on
Financial Assets — Net

(Impairment loss)/reversal of impairment loss on financial assets
— net on financial assets refer to impairment charges recorded
based on the difference between the cash flows contractually due
and all the cash flows that we expect to receive from trade and
other receivables. Our impairment loss on financial assets was
RMB2.9 million for the year ended March 31, 2023, compared
to net reversal of impairment loss on financial assets of RMB4.6
million for the year ended March 31, 2022, primarily due to the
increase in account receivables.

Operating Loss

For the year ended March 31, 2023, our operating loss was
RMB190.3 million, compared to an operating loss of RMB28.6
million for the year ended March 31, 2022, mainly due to revenue
decrease caused by COVID-19 and share-based compensation
expenses of RMB194.1 million in connection with RSUs granted
to our employees in October 2021, Excluding the share-based
compensation expenses, our adjusted operating profit was
RMB3.8 million for the year ended March 31, 2023.

Net Finance Costs

Our net finance costs decreased from RMB47.4 million for the
year ended March 31, 2022 to RMB25.3 million for the year ended
March 31, 2023, primarily due to the decrease of transaction costs
on issuance of Series-E convertible redeemable preferred shares
of RMB9.2 million incurred in the year ended March 31, 2022 and
the increase of interest income from bank deposits.

Fair Value Changes of Convertible Redeemable Preferred
Shares

As convertible redeemable preferred shares were converted to
ordinary shares upon the Listing, we did not record any fair value
change of convertible redeemable preferred shares for the year
ended March 31, 2023.

Loss for the Year

As a result of the foregoing, our loss for the year decreased from
RMB696.4 million for the year ended March 31, 2022 to RMB223.3
million for the year ended March 31, 2023.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

Property, Plant and Equipment

Our property, plant and equipment primarily consist of (i) medical
equipment; (ii) office equipment and furniture; (iii) motor vehicles;
and (iv) leasehold improvements. Our property, plant and
equipment increased from RMB297.8 million as of March 31, 2022
to RMB324.2 million as of March 31, 2023 primarily due to clinics
upgrades, opening and the acquisition of Tongshan Dental.

Right-of-use Assets

Our right-of-use assets represent leases of dental clinics,
hospitals, and office space in accordance with IFRS 16. Our right-
of-use assets decreased from RMB7083.5 million as of March 31,
2022 to RMB692.1 million as of March 31, 2023, primarily due to
the depreciation of the right-of-use assets, partially offset by the
additions.

Net Current Assets

We had net current assets of RMB802.6 million as of March 31,
2023, compared to net current assets of RMB884.4 million as of
March 31, 2022, primarily because of usage of cash and cash
equivalents for investments and acquisitions.

Trade Receivables

Trade receivables are primarily amounts due from customers
for dental materials sold and dental services performed in the
ordinary course of business. Trade receivables are classified as
current assets if they are expected to be collected in one year or
less. We typically charge our individual patients upon rendering
our services. In addition, for our corporate clients, we usually
grant them a credit period ranging from 10 to 60 days.

Our trade receivables increased from RMB71.3 million as of March
31, 2022 to RMB75.6 million as of March 31, 2023. Our trade
receivables turnover days were 20 days for the year ended March
31, 2022, and 23 days for the year ended March 31, 2023. The
increase in turnover days was mainly due to increase in account
receivables from commercial and governmental medical insurance
programs.
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Other Receivables

Our other receivables primarily consist of (i) loans to related
parties; (ii) rental and other deposits; and (iii) loans to employees,
net of loss allowance. Our other receivables included in current
assets increased by 706.6% from RMB25.6 million as of March
31, 2022 to RMB206.5 million as of March 31, 2023, primarily
due to (i) an increase of a loan to a related party, Beier Holdings
Limited, of RMB77.2 million; (ii) an increase of a receivable from
our RSU management agency of RMB36.5 million representing
cost and proceeds of RSUs exercise; (iii) Deposit placed in a
security broker of RMB34.7 million for the Company to repurchase
its shares from the market; and (iv) an increase of loans to
employees which will mature in less one year of RMB27.1 million,
which were recorded in non-current assets last year.

Trade Payables

Our trade payables primarily represent the amounts due to our
suppliers. Our suppliers typically granted us a credit period of 90
days.

Our trade payables increased by 14.6% from RMB74.2 million
as of March 31, 2022 to RMB85.0 million as of March 31, 2023,
primarily due to longer payment terms to some suppliers. Our
trade payables turnover days increased from 58 days for the year
ended March 31, 2022 to 59 days for the year ended March 31,
2023 accordingly.

Other Payables

Our other payables primarily consist of (i) employee benefits
payable; (ii) payables due to related parties and shareholders;
and (iii) taxes payables. Our other payables decreased by 37.4%
from RMB198.9 million as of March 31, 2022 to RMB124.5 million
as of March 31, 2023, mainly due to (i) the payment of RMB36.5
million to buy out share interest from a minority shareholder of a
subsidiary of the Group; (ii) the payment of listing fee of RMB24.5
million; and (iii) a decrease in employee benefits payable of
RMB22.0 million.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

Financial Assets at Fair Value through Profit or Loss

Our financial assets at fair value through profit or loss primarily
represent our investments in wealth management products with
an aggregate principal amount of approximately RMB258.0 million
and unlisted debt instruments of RMB35.7 million and unlisted
equity instruments of RMB30 million. As of March 31, 2023, the
Company acquired the wealth management products from GF
Global Capital Limited of USD20 million (equivalent to RMB137.4
million) and Huatai International Financial Products Limited of
US$16.4 million (equivalent to RMB112.6 million).

The unlisted debt instruments represent 8.22% equity interest in
Hangzhou Jarvis and 20% equity interest in Hangzhou Jinyaori.

Prepayments

Our prepayments primarily consist of (i) prepayments for braces;
(ii) incremental cost of obtaining contracts, representing the
commissions to dentists; (iii) prepayments for inventories other
than braces; (iv) payment for equipments; and (v) short-term lease
prepayments. Our prepayments remained stable at RMB148.4
million as of March 31, 2022 and RMB142.2 million as of March
31, 2023.

Foreign Exchange Exposure

Since we operate mainly in the PRC with most of the transactions
settled in Renminbi, our management considers that our business
is not exposed to significant foreign exchange risk as there
are no significant assets or liabilities which are denominated in
the currencies other than our functional currency. During the
Reporting Period, the Company’s currency translation differences
mainly arise from the translation of the financial statements of our
Company from its functional currency in United States dollars to
the reporting currency in Renminbi.

Our Directors would from time to time review the analysis
prepared by our account department and assess whether there is
any material and adverse impact on our financial performance and
whether we should enter into any hedging or derivative financial
instruments to manage such foreign exchange risk exposures.
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Contingent Liabilities

As of March 31, 2023, we did not have any material contingent
liabilities, guarantees, or legal, arbitration or administrative
proceedings pending or threatened against us that we expect
would materially adversely affect our financial position or results
of operations.

Liquidity and Financial Resources and Capital Structure

During the Reporting Period, we financed our operations and
other capital expenditure requirements primarily through cash
generated from our operations and proceeds raised from the
Company’s series E round of financing and the Listing. As of
March 31, 2023, we had cash and cash equivalents of RMB621.9
million, as compared with RMB1,052.3 million as of March 31,
2022.

There is no material change in the capital structure of the
Company during the Reporting Period. The capital of the Company
comprises only ordinary shares.

Capital Expenditures

Capital expenditures represent the purchase of property,
equipment and intangible assets. For the year ended March 31,
2023, we incurred capital expenditures of RMB126.8 million,
compared to RMB120.8 million for the year ended March 31, 2022,
primarily due to the expansion and renovation of dental clinics
and hospitals and the acquisition of Tongshan Dental. We intend
to fund our planned capital expenditures through a combination
of the net proceeds from the Global Offering, bank facilities and
other borrowings, as well as cash generated from operations.

Borrowings and Gearing Ratio

During the Reporting Period, we incurred borrowings which
were primarily denominated in Renminbi, to finance our capital
expenditure and working capital requirements. As of March 31,
2023, we had obtained undrawn bank loan facilities of RMB361.5
million.

As of March 31, 2023, the gearing ratio (calculated as total
borrowings divided by total equity and multiplied by 100%) is
13.0%.

Charge on Asset

As of March 31, 2023, we pledged US$22.5 million (equivalent
to RMB154.9 million) to a bank as the collateral for bank loans of
RMB96.3 million.
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Profiles of Directors and Senior Management

EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. ZOU Qifang ($H¥), aged 69, is our founder, chairman of
the Board and chief executive officer. He has been the Director
since May 2001 and was re-designated as an executive Director
in June 2021. Mr. Zou founded the Group in April 1999. He is
responsible for overall strategic planning and business direction
planning, supervising and management of the Group’s business.
Prior to founding the Group, Mr. Zou served as an associate in
Bankers Trust Company, a commercial bank providing wholesale
financial services, from July 1994 to April 1995. He served as a
management consultant in A.T. Kearney (Hong Kong) Limited (%}
ME (F%8) AR A7), a global management consulting firm, from
June 1995 to September 1996. Mr. Zou served as a manager in
Tianjin Smith Kline & French Laboratories Ltd. (F1 3K )& sk 73 5
AR A7) from 1982 to August 1990.

Mr. Zou received a bachelor's degree in English from Tianjin
Foreign Studies University (KZINBEFEARZ) (formerly known
as Tianjin Foreign Studies College (REINEFEZFT)) in Tianjin,
the PRC in July 1982. Mr. Zou received a master’'s degree in
business administration from the Wharton School of University
of Pennsylvania, in Pennsylvania, the US in May 1994. Mr. Zou
has been a member of the board of advisors of School of Dental
Medicine of the University of Pennsylvania since October 2010
and a member of the executive board for Asia of the Wharton
School of the University of Pennsylvania from 2008 to 2018. Mr.
Zou is an advisor to the dean of School of Dental Medicine of
the Harvard University since 2019 and a director of the 2005
committee of WRSA Chamber of Commerce since 2005. Mr. Zou
has also been a member of CEO Organization since 2013 and
a Trustee of Center for Excellence in Education (CEE, a global
education foundation) since 2019. He received the Annual China
Entrepreneurship Award from the Wharton School of the University
of Pennsylvania in 2018.
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Ms. Qin Jessie XIN, aged 53, is the executive Director and chief
financial officer. Ms. Xin joined the Group in July 2015. She has
been the Director since August 2017 and was re-designated as an
executive Director in June 2021. She is responsible for supervising
accounting and financing of the Group. Prior to joining the Group,
Ms. Xin served as a deputy general manager of finance in iKang
Healthcare Group (EFEBE%E), the shares of which are listed
on the NASDAQ (stock code: KANG), from May 2011 to June
2015.

Ms. Xin received a bachelor's degree in commerce from McGill
University in Quebec, Canada in October 1997 and a master’s
degree in business administration from the California State
University in California, the US in March 2008. Ms. Xin has been a
public accountant certified by the State Board of Accountancy of
State of Delaware since October 2004.

Mr. ZHANG Jincai (E#87), aged 60, is the executive Director
and chief medical officer. He is responsible for overseeing
medical services of the Group and operations of our dental
hospitals and clinics. Mr. Zhang joined the Group in June 2019
and served as our executive president of medical affairs from
June 2019 to May 2020. He has served as the chief medical
officer of the Group and general manager of hospitals and clinics
since June 2020. Prior to joining the Group, Mr. Zhang served
as the chairman of the board of Zhejiang Tongce Dental Medical
Management Co., Ltd. (MT@BE N EEHRKEEREBEERLT), a
subsidiary of TC Medical (3B & kD B2 7]) which was listed
on Shanghai Stock Exchange with stock code: 600763, from June
2015 to May 2019. He was a professor of oral medicine in the
West China Medical Center of Sichuan University (PO)I| K 5Epg8e
) (formerly known as the West China Medical University (%
FAERIKE)) from January 1989 to May 2001.
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Profiles of Directors and Senior Management

Mr. Zhang obtained a physician’s practicing certificate from
the NHC in December 2001. He received a government special
allowance from the State Council of the PRC in March 1998.
He also received the 7th Chinese Physician Prize issued by the
Chinese Medical Doctor Association (B ERTI1#%E) in November
2010. He was the vice president of the 4th Council of the Chinese
Stomatological Association (FEAOREESENEIEEE) and the
chairman of the 4th Periodontology Professional Committee of the
Chinese Stomatological Association (/%M 822 550U E 7F FR
BEHEZET)

Mr. Zhang received a bachelor’'s degree in medicine from the
School of Medicine of the Zhejiang University (#IiTERIAZ)
(formerly known as Zhejiang Medical University (7T ERIAER))
in Zhejiang Province, the PRC in August 1983. He obtained a
master's degree in medicine in December 1986 and a doctoral
degree in clinical medicine in June 1989 from the West China
Medical Center of Sichuan University (PO)I|AE2ZEEPEEEH ],
(formerly known as the West China Medical University (ZFREFR]
KE)) in Sichuan Province, the PRC. Mr. Zhang completed the
postdoctoral training from the School of Dentistry of the University
of California, San Francisco in California, the US in December
1992.

Mr. ZOU Jianlong (##%I8€), aged 61, is the executive Director
and vice president. Mr. Zou joined the Group in April 1999. He has
been the Director since March 2020 and was re-designated as an
executive Director in June 2021. He is responsible for overseeing
procurement and supply, administration, compliance and other
departments of the Group. As one of our most senior employees,
Mr. Zou helped the Group in market development in Shenzhen
and Shanghai and served as head of operations. He took the lead
in the establishment and daily operation of various middle office
departments such as marketing, human resources, investment
development, engineering management and compliance, and has
made a significant contribution to the development of the Group
over the past 20 years. Prior to joining the Group, Mr. Zou served
as a manager of administration and human resources department
in Shenzhen Haibin Pharmaceutical Co., Ltd. (FII/EEREFRE A
al) from July 1995 to June 1998.
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Mr. Zou received a bachelor's degree in science from Jiangxi
Normal University (JLFAEI# AZ) (formerly known as Jiangxi
Normal College ((IFaEM#E£2fT)) in Jiangxi Province, the PRC in
July 1983. He obtained a master’s degree in engineering from the
University of Science and Technology Beijing (It REHZAE) in
Beijing, the PRC in January 1991.

INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Ms. LIU Xiaomei Michelle, aged 55, is the independent non-
executive Director. She is responsible for providing independent
opinion and judgment to the Board.

From December 2003 to December 2010, she served as a
managing director at Beijing Lianban Investment Management
Co., Ltd. (It Bt EEEHBPRAF) and responsible for
investment and financing activities. Since December 2010, Ms.
Liu has served as the chief financial officer in Hexun Information
Technology Co., Ltd. (M&E BERHEERAF]), which focuses on
internet services and responsible for the financial management
and strategic investment and financing of the company.

Ms. Liu received her bachelor’'s degree in finance from the
University of International Business and Economics ($9MEEE 5
KE) (formerly known as the China Institute of Finance (1 E & &t
EB3)) in July 1991. She further received her master of business
administration degree (MBA) from the Wharton School of the
University of Pennsylvania in May 1997.

Mr. SUN Jian (%), aged 68, is the independent non-executive
Director. He is primarily responsible for providing independent
opinion and judgment to the Board. Mr. Sun currently serves as an
executive director of Brayn International Corporation Limited (18
BEBRRHBRAT]), a company principally engaged in business
consultancy services, since January 2020. He was appointed as a
partner emerita (&£ HBEEG% A) of AT. Kearney Inc. (RHREE
AT in April 2018. Mr. Sun served as a senior global partner
of A.T. Kearney (Hong Kong) Limited (BIffE (&%) AR A7) and
A.T. Kearney (Shanghai) Management Consulting Co., Ltd. (£tf
fE (&) LA A F]) from December 1994 to March 2018.
Prior to that, he served as a business analyst in Eastman Kodak
Company Medical Imaging Branch (flZ QG BEZE D A7) from
July 1994 to November 1994.
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Mr. Sun received a bachelor's degree in engineering from the
East China University of Science and Technology (FERET
KE) (formerly known as the East China Institute of Chemical
Technology (22#{t T2F%)) in Shanghai, the PRC in May 1982. He
obtained a master’'s degree in economics through on job learning
from the Shanghai Academy of Social Sciences (/& &R Z0R)
in Shanghai, the PRC in August 1986. Mr. Sun received a master’s
degree in business administration (MBA) from the Simon Business
School at the University of Rochester in New York, the US in June
1994. He received a doctoral degree of arts from China Academy
of Art (FREIZEMTE2R) in Zhejiang Province, the PRC in June 2019.

Mr. ZHANG Bang (3R#E), aged 55, is the independent non-
executive Director. He is primarily responsible for providing
independent opinion and judgment to the Board.

Mr. Zhang is currently the chief corporate officer of Octave
(Shanghai) Enterprise Management Company Limited (&£ (_£)&)
EEEHRAF), having held that position since April 2018. Mr.
Zhang served as the chief financial officer of DG Group (Z:&(&
%% ®) from February 2016 to February 2018 and Golden Jaguar
Group (£ HEEEE) from November 2013 to November 2015.
He served as the senior vice president and chief financial officer
of Mai Wang Information Technology (Shanghai) Co., Ltd. (ZE#{=
BT (£8) BRAF]), a subsidiary of MecoxLane Co. Ltd. (2%
#EEE), a company previously listed on the NASDAQ with stock
code MCOX, from July 2009 to October 2013.

Mr. Zhang was an independent director of ChinaCache
International Holdings Limited, a company listed on NASDAQ with
stock code CCIH, from July 2017 to November 2020. Currently,
Mr. Zhang holds directorships in the following listed companies:
(i) independent director of Jupai, a company listed on NYSE with
stock code JP and since July 2015; and (ii) independent non-
executive director of E-House (China) Enterprise Holdings Limited,
a company listed on the Stock exchange with stock code 2048
since July 2018.

He received his master’'s degree in business administration
in June 2001 from Jinan University (Bf8AZ) in China. Mr.
Zhang is both a fellow of the Chartered Institute of Management
Accountants and a chartered global management accountant of
the Association of International Certified Professional Accountants.
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SENIOR MANAGEMENT

Mr. ZOU Qifang (#H%), aged 69, also acts as the chief
executive officer of the Company. He is responsible for overall
strategic planning and business direction planning, supervising
and management of the Group’s business. Please see section
headed “Mr. ZOU Qifang — Executive Directors” above for details
of his biography.

Ms. Qin Jessie XIN, aged 53, also acts as the chief financial
officer of the Company. She is responsible for supervising
accounting and financing of the Group. Please see section
headed “Ms. Qin Jessie XIN - Executive Directors” above for
details of her biography.

Mr. ZHANG Jincai (E87), aged 60, also acts as the chief
medical officer and general manager of hospitals and clinics of
the Company. He is responsible for overseeing medical services
of the Group and operations of our dental hospitals and clinics.
Please see section headed “Mr. ZHANG Jincai - Executive
Directors” above for details of his biography.

Mr. ZOU Jianlong (8 %I8€), aged 61, is one of the vice presidents
of the Company. He is responsible for overseeing, procurement
and supply, administration, compliance and other departments
of the Group. Please see section headed “Mr. ZOU Jianlong —
Executive Directors” above for details of his biography.

Mr. QU Bo (H#i%h), aged 54, was appointed as the vice president
and chief operation officer of the Company in October 2020. He is
responsible for overseeing operations of the Group. Mr. Qu joined
the Group in May 2007.

Prior to joining the Group, Mr. Qu served as a lawyer at Liaoning
Fada Law Firm (BEEZEKXEMELFT) (formerly known as Dalian
Fada Law Firm (REAREZERIELFT)) from December 1992 to
June 1995. He served as a manager of mainland China business
in Van Yu Trading Company Limited (E58 K E 5 AR A7) from
June 1997 to January 2002.

Mr. Qu received his bachelor’s degree in law from the Law School
of the Jilin University (F#MAZ) in China in July 1990. He further
received his master’'s degree in international business from the
Ohio State University in the US in March 1998. He received his
master of business administration (MBA) degree from the York
University, Canada in June 2004 and recognized by the Chinese
Service Center for Scholarly Exchange of the Ministry of Education
in November 2006.
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Mr. ZHU Zhenghong (%RIEZ), aged 56, was appointed as the
vice president of the Group and general manager of Rytime in
December 2022. He is responsible for overall operation and
management of Rytime Dental in various geographic regions. Mr.
Zhu joined the Group in December 2020.

Before joining the Group, Mr. Zhu served as a deputy director
of the stomatology section of Beijing Tongren Hospital (1E5[E
{ZEBT) from September 2000 to February 2005, vice dean and
dean of Nanjing Tongren Hospital (FRE{Z%FT) from July 2007
to December 2010 and executive vice president of Hainan HNA
Health Management Co., Ltd. (BF/EMEREIZERAF]) from
March 2013 to July 2015. Mr. Zhu joined Taikang Life Insurance
Co., Ltd. (FERBEERKMHERALIEF) in July 2015 to serve as
general manager of its medicare development division and vice
president of TK Healthcare Investment Holdings Company Limited
(FEEEEEREERABEMRAR) (“Taikang”), and had served as
the chief executive officer of Taikang Bybo Medical Group Co.,
Lid. (REHEBEESEARAT) following Taikang's strategic
investment in Bybo Medical Group Co., Ltd. (BEBEEEEEGRA
A]) in April 2018.

Mr. Zhu holds a bachelor’'s degree from West China Medical
University, a master's degree and a doctoral degree from Peking
University School and Hospital of Stomatology and an EMBA
degree from China Europe International Business School.

Mr. HU Yunfan (#ZEM), aged 45, was appointed as the deputy
general manager of hospitals and clinics in October 2020. He is
responsible for overseeing the daily operations and management
of our dental hospitals and clinics. Mr. Hu joined the Group in
April 2009.

Prior to joining the Group, Mr. Hu served as the director in
charge of international liaison department of the National Olympic
Committee Liaison Office of the Beijing Organizing Committee for
the Games of the XXIX Olympic (3t R 29/EBMIC w BB & A4 %
) from June 2006 to April 2009. He was awarded the excellent
staff of 2007 and 2008 by the Beijing Organizing Committee for
the Games of the XXIX Olympic (Jt RE29/E BT @B e AL E

Bg)
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Mr. Hu received his bachelor’'s degree in science from the
University of Auckland in May 2004.

Mr. HU Xing (#£), aged 39, was appointed as the deputy
general manager of hospitals and clinics in December 2020. He
is responsible for overseeing the operations and management of
our dental hospitals and clinics in west China. Mr. Hu served as
a deputy general manager at Chongging Huaxi Dental Clinic Co.,
Ltd. (EEMERREFMZER AR, currently known as Chongging
Ruisheng) from April 2009 to December 2014 and Chongging
Jiuyue from December 2014 to January 2016. Upon completion of
the acquisition of Chongging Ruisheng and Chongging Jiuyue in
August 2015, Mr Hu joined the Group.

Prior to joining the Group, he served as an auditor in KPMG,
London from 2006 to 2007. Mr. Hu served as an analyst of ECM
and merger and acquisition department in ABN AMRO, Hong
Kong from June 2007 to March 2009.

Mr. Hu received his bachelor's degree in mathematics and
business management from the University of Warwick in July 2005.
He further received his master’'s degree in finance from University
of Cambridge in July 2006.

COMPANY SECRETARY

Ms. AU Wai Ching (EZ#&), was appointed as the company
secretary of the Company in April 2022. Ms. Au is a senior
manager of SWCS Corporate Services Group (Hong Kong)
Limited, which is a corporate service provider.

Ms. Au is an associate member of both The Hong Kong Chartered
Governance Institute and The Chartered Governance Institute in
the United Kingdom.

She obtained a bachelor’'s degree in business administration
and a master’'s degree in professional accounting and corporate
governance respectively from City University of Hong Kong.

CHANGES TO DIRECTORS’ INFORMATION

Save as disclosed herein, the Directors confirm that no information
is required to be disclosed pursuant to Rule 13.51B(1) of the
Listing Rules.
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The Board is pleased to present this Report of the Directors
together with the consolidated financial statements of the Group
for the year ended March 31, 2023.

GENERAL INFORMATION

The Company was incorporated in the BVl on May 23, 2001 as a
company limited by shares. On November 16, 2020, our Company
discontinued as a company incorporated under BVI Business
Companies Act 2004 (as amended) and was registered by way
of continuation as an exempted company limited by shares under
the Cayman Companies Act. The Company’s Shares were listed
on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange on March 22, 2022.

DIRECTORS

During the Reporting Period and up to the date of this annual
report were as follows:

Executive Directors

Mr. ZOU Qifang (B EF)
Ms. Qin Jessie XIN

Mr. ZHANG Jincai (Z5874)
Mr. ZOU Jianlong (#F%88)

Independent Non-executive Directors

Ms. LIU Xiaomei Michelle
Mr. SUN Jian (F&{&)
Mr. ZHANG Bang (&%)

In accordance with article 109(a) and (b) of the Article of
Association, at each annual general meeting, one-third of the
Directors for the time being shall retire from office by rotation.
However, if the number of Directors is not a multiple of three,
then the number nearest to but not less than one-third shall be
the number of retiring Directors. Every Director (including those
appointed for a specific term) shall be subject to retirement by
rotation at least once every three years. The Directors to retire in
each year shall be those who have been in office longest since
their last re-election or appointment but, as between persons who
became or were last re-elected Directors on the same day, those
to retire shall (unless they otherwise agree among themselves) be
determined by lot.

Directors’ Report
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Accordingly, Mr. ZHANG Jincai, Ms. LIU Xiaomei Michelle and
Mr. SUN Jian will retire by rotation at the AGM pursuant to the
Articles of Association and, being eligible, will offer themselves for
re-election. Details in relation to the re-election are stated in the
circular to be sent to the Shareholders together with this annual
report.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

The principal activity of the Company is investment holding and
the principal activities of our major subsidiaries are set out in Note
18 to the consolidated financial statements on pages 243 to 246
of this annual report.

We are a leading dental services group and have established
a nationwide footprint in China, operating both Arrail Dental, a
leading premium dental services brand, and Rytime Dental, a
middle-end dental services brand.

Our mission is to give each of our patients a healthy and confident
smile. Our vision is to become a world-leading dental group. Our
vision is to become a world-leading dental group.

We have been providing dental services since we opened our
first Arrail Dental clinic in 1999. We offer a diverse range of
professional, personalized dental services spanning (i) general
dentistry; (ii) orthodontics; and (iii) implantology. Through decades
of commitment and endeavors in the dental healthcare industry,
we have earned the trust of our patients.

There were no significant changes in the nature of the Company’s
principal activities during the Reporting Period.

BUSINESS REVIEW AND RESULTS

A fair review of the business of the Group and an indication of
likely future development in the Company’s business during the
Reporting Period is provided in the section headed “Business
Review” under “Management Discussion and Analysis” in this
annual report. An analysis of the Group’'s performance using
financial key performance indicators during the Reporting Period
is provided in the section headed “Financial Review” under
“Management Discussion and Analysis” in this annual report.
These sections form an integral part of this Directors’ Report.

The results of the Group for the Reporting Period are set out in the
consolidated financial statements of this annual report.
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PRINCIPAL RISKS AND UNCERTAINTIES FACING
THE GROUP

The following list is a summary of certain principal risks and
uncertainties faced by the Group, some of which are beyond its
control:

. We may not be able to achieve and maintain an optimal
balance between our business expansion and profitability
by effectively managing the number and mix of our
hospitals and clinics in different stages;

o The establishment of dental hospitals and clinics in the
PRC require various permits, licenses, certificates and
government approvals. There can be no assurance that we
can obtain or renew any of them in a timely manner or at
all;

o We lease properties in various place as premises for our
dental hospitals and clinics and office space. Any non-
renewal of leases, substantial increase in rent, or any
failure to comply with applicable laws and regulations may
affect our business and financial performance;

o We conduct our business in a heavily regulated industry
and incur on-going compliance costs as well as face
penalties for non-compliance;

° Our professional indemnity insurance coverage and other
insurance coverage may not be sufficient to cover the risks
related to our business and operations;

. We are dependent on our dentists. Our financial results
may be affected if we are not able to retain our existing
dentists or attract suitable professionals to join us;

° We may be subject to complaints, investigations or legal
proceedings relating to alleged malpractice or misconduct
in the services provided by our employees, which could
harm our reputation, brand image and results of operations;

o Our expansion strategies across the PRC are subject to
uncertainties and risks. We may not be able to implement
our business strategies on schedule or within our budget
or at all;
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o We may not be able to protect our patient information from
leakage or improper use, which could expose our Group
and our staff to claims or litigation;

o We maintain limited control over the quality of our dental
devices, medical consumables and pharmaceuticals and
may be subject to product liability claims. Any failures
or defects of the dental equipment in our hospitals and
clinics or any failure of our staff to properly operate such
equipment could subject us to liability claims;

° We generally enter into short-term agreements with our
major suppliers, which may render us vulnerable to price
fluctuations, quality issues and supply shortages, and
could materially and adversely affect our business; and

o We operate our business under the Contractual
Arrangements, and is therefore subject to the related risks
which are summarised in the section headed “Directors’
Report — Contractual Arrangements — Risks relating to the
Contractual Arrangements” in this annual report.

However, the above is not an exhaustive list. Investors are advised
to make their own judgment or consult their own investment
advisors before making any investment in the Shares.

ENVIRONMENTAL POLICIES AND PERFORMANCE

As one of the leading dental services providers in China, we
understand that environmental, social and governance is of great
importance for our long-time development and growth. During
the year ended March 31, 2023 and up to the date of this annual
report, the Group was not subject to any fines or other penalties
due to non-compliance with environmental regulations.

We are subject to, and we comply with the environmental
protection and occupational health and safety laws and
regulations in China. The Group is committed to minimising the
impact on the environment from its business activities. For details
of the Group’s environmental protection measures, please refer
to the “Environmental, Social and Governance Report” (the “ESG
Report”) of the Company which will be published on the same
date with this annual report.
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COMPLIANCE WITH RELEVANT LAWS AND
REGULATIONS

As far as the Board and management are aware, the Group
complied in all material aspects with the relevant laws and
regulations that have a significant impact on the business and
operation of the Group during the Reporting Period. For the year
ended March 31, 2023, there was no material breach of, or non-
compliance with, applicable laws and regulations by the Group.

EMPLOYEE AND REMUNERATION POLICIES

As of March 31, 2023, the Group had 3,409 full-time employees.

We believe that maintaining a stable and motivated employee
force is critical to the success of our business. We offer our
employees different remuneration packages based on their
positions. Generally, the remuneration structure of our employees
includes salary, benefits and bonus. Our compensation programs
are designed to remunerate our employees based on their
performance, measured against specified objective criteria. We
maintain standard employee benefit plans required by PRC laws
and regulations, including housing fund contribution, pension
insurance, medical insurance, workplace injury insurance,
unemployment insurance, and maternity insurance.

The Company also has adopted the RSU Scheme and the 2022
RSU Scheme to provide incentives for certain employees. Please
refer to the section headed “Share Incentive Scheme” in this
annual report for further details.

The total remuneration cost incurred by the Group for the year
ended March 31, 2023 was RMB962.2 million.

For the year ended March 31, 2023, the Group did not experience
any material labor disputes or strikes that may have a material
and adverse effect on our business, financial condition or results
of operations, or any difficulty in recruiting employees.
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MAJOR SUPPLIERS

During the Reporting Period, our major suppliers primarily
consisted of dental equipment, consumable and dental supplies,
including anesthetics and other medicine, dental prosthesis
(such as crowns, bridges and dentures), materials used in dental
procedures (such as impression materials, filling materials and
cements), dental instruments (such as extraction forceps, injection
needles, root canal files and orthodontic brackets and aligners),
consumables (such as facial masks, disposable gloves, dental
bibs, plastic cups and gauze) and suppliers for human resources
service.

For the year ended March 31, 2023, purchases from the Group’s
five largest suppliers accounted for approximately 30.2% (2022:
32.0%) of the Group’s total purchase amount in the same year.
Purchases from the Group’s largest supplier for the year ended
March 31, 2023 accounted for approximately 12.9% (2022: 14.9%)
of the Group’s total purchase amount for the same year.

Hangzhou Shengchao, a connected person, was our second
largest supplier for the year ended March 31, 2023 and accounted
for 7.2% of the Group’s total purchase amount during the same
period. Save for Hangzhou Shengchao, none of the Directors,
their respective close associates, or any Shareholders, to the
knowledge of the Directors, owns more than 5% of the Company’s
issued share capital, had any interest in any of the Group’s five
largest suppliers for the year ended March 31, 2023.

For the year ended March 31, 2023, the Group did not experience
any significant disputes with its suppliers.

MAJOR CUSTOMERS

Our customers mainly consist of individual patients and corporate
clients. For the year ended March 31, 2023, the Group's five
largest customers accounted for 1.3% (2022: 1.3%) of the Group’s
total revenue, and the Group’s largest customer accounted for
0.4% (2022: 0.4%) of the Group’s total revenue.

None of the Directors, their respective close associates, or any
Shareholders, to the knowledge of the Directors, owns more than
5% of the Company’s issued share capital, had any interest in any
of the Group’s five largest customers for the year ended March
31, 2023.
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During the year ended March 31, 2023, the Group did not
experience any significant disputes with its customers.

KEY RELATIONSHIP WITH STAKEHOLDERS

The Group recognizes that various stakeholders including
suppliers, customers, employees, Shareholders and other
business associates are key to Group’s success. The Group
strives to achieve corporate sustainability through engaging,
collaborating, and cultivating strong relationship with them.

Relationship with Our Employees

We endeavor to cultivate talented and loyal employees by treating
our employees with dignity, respect and fairness. We invest in staff
training as we believe the level of technical knowledge and skill
of our dentists plays an important role in our continued success.
We organize various training programs on a regular basis for
our employees to constantly enhance their knowledge and
improve their professional skills. We offer our employees different
remuneration packages based on their positions. We enter into
employment contracts with our employees to cover matters such
as wages, benefits and grounds for termination. The remuneration
package of our employees usually includes salary, benefits and
bonus. We maintain standard employee benefit plans required by
PRC laws and regulations, including housing fund contribution,
pension insurance, medical insurance, workplace injury insurance,
unemployment insurance, and maternity insurance.

Relationship with Shareholders

We recognize the importance of protecting the interests of the
Shareholders and of having effective communication with them.
We believe communication with the Shareholders is a two-way
process and have thrived to ensure the quality and effectiveness
of information disclosure, maintain regular dialogue with the
Shareholders and listen carefully to the views and feedback
from the Shareholders. We also recognize the importance of
timely and non-selective disclosure of information, which will
enable the Shareholders and investors to make the informed
investment decisions. This has been done through general
meetings, corporate communications, annual reports and results
announcements.
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Relationship with Suppliers

The Group selects its suppliers by considering their product
quality, industry reputation and compliance with relevant
regulations and industry standards. The Group has maintained
strict control over the quality of services offered by its suppliers.
The Group understands the importance of maintaining a good
relationship with its suppliers to meet its immediate and long-
term goals. It strives to cultivate a mutually beneficial and trusting
relationship with its suppliers so that they are able to deliver
services of the highest standard in an efficient manner.

Relationship with Customers

We have developed a growing and loyal customer base. Our
customers are primarily individual patients, and to a lesser extent,
corporate clients such as corporations, industry-leading banks
and insurance companies who provide dental care benefits to
their employees and/or customers. We proactively seek patients’
feedback on our services in order to improve. To assess our
patient experience, we encourage patients to fill out a brief
customer satisfaction survey after each clinic visit. Our patients
can also direct their feedback to our dentists and other staff. In
addition, a customer service hotline is in place whereby patients
can make inquiries and complaints to the customer service team.
We conduct internal review on typical patient complaints and the
appropriate rectification measures on a weekly basis, aiming to
prevent occurrence of complaints of a similar nature.

FINANCIAL RESULTS

The financial results of the Group for the year ended March 31,
2023 are set out in the consolidated income statement in the
consolidated financial statements in this annual report.

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There are no provisions for pre-emptive rights under the Articles
of Association or the laws of the Cayman Islands which would
oblige the Company to offer new Shares on a pro-rata basis to the
existing Shareholders.

TAX RELIEF AND EXEMPTION

The Directors are not aware of any tax relief and exemption
available to the Shareholders by reason of their holding of the
Company'’s securities.
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SUBSIDIARIES

Particulars of the Company’s subsidiaries are set out in Note 18 to
the consolidated financial statements.

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Details of movements in the property, plant and equipment of the
Company and the Group for the year ended March 31, 2023 are
set out in Note 14 to the consolidated financial statements.

SHARE CAPITAL AND SHARES ISSUED

Details of movements in the share capital of the Company for
the year ended March 31, 2023 and details of the Shares issued
for the year ended March 31, 2023 are set out in Note 25 to the
consolidated financial statements.

DEBENTURE ISSUED

The Group did not issue any debenture for the year ended March
31, 2023.

EQUITY-LINKED AGREEMENTS

Save for the RSU Scheme and the 2022 RSU Scheme as set out in
this annual report, no equity-linked agreements were entered into
by the Group, or existed for the year ended March 31, 2023, and
there was no provision to enter into any agreement which will or
may result in the Company issuing Shares.

CHARITABLE DONATIONS

The Group donated RMB150,000 to the non-profit organization for
charitable and community purposes during the Reporting Period.

DIVIDENDS

To preserve sufficient funds to meet the financial needs of
the Group for its business operations and future business
development, having regard to the impact on the Group’s
business and financial conditions arising from the COVID-19
pandemic, and the prevailing economic environment, the Board
did not recommend the distribution of a final dividend for the year
ended March 31, 2023.
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The Company is a holding company registered under the laws of
the Cayman Islands. As a result, the payment and amount of any
future dividend will also depend on the availability of dividends
received from the subsidiaries. Distributions from the Company
and the subsidiaries may also become subject to any restrictive
covenants in bank credit facilities, convertible bond instruments
or other agreements that the Company and the subsidiaries may
enter into in the future.

The amount of dividend actually distributed to the Shareholders
will depend upon our earnings and financial condition, operating
requirements, capital requirements and any other conditions that
the Directors may deem relevant and will be subject to approval
of the Shareholders. The Board has the absolute discretion to
recommend any dividend. We currently intend to retain most, if not
all, of our available funds and any future earnings after the Global
Offering to fund the development and growth of our business.
As a result, we do not expect to pay any cash dividends in the
foreseeable future.

AR E—FRERASFHE A ELNVERAF -
At - AREMKRENKNREBTHETFELE
FRRIREREME « KRB RF AR DIKIFA
EEXBINBITERERE TRARESFTARARA
BF R B AR R BERT 7 Y EL At 16 2% O L (AT PR il 1 22

MBS

BERIRN FRENBRSSEHEFRANEN R
BN - BEFFRK - EAFTKLERFERSIERE
EMEMmARTE - BRESKERIE - EFE
AERMBEERTIREMBRE - HMBAREFEAX
2By (WFERE) TRE S REBREERHOEAARK
BANREMEBNERIMEREHRES - Hit - &
HEATER A RARRRMEMREAE



PERMITTED INDEMNITY

Pursuant to the Articles of Association and subject to the
applicable laws and regulations, every Director shall be
indemnified and secured harmless out of the assets and profits of
the Company against all actions, costs, charges, losses, damages
and expenses which they or any of them may incur or sustain in or
about the execution of their duty in their offices.

Such permitted indemnity provision has been in force for the
year ended March 31, 2023. The Company has taken out and
maintained liability insurance to provide appropriate coverage for
the Directors.

DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVES

The Company may pay dividends out of the share premium
account, retained earnings and any other reserves provided
that immediately following the payment of such dividends, the
Company will be in a position to pay off its debts as and when
they fall due in the ordinary course of business.

As of March 31, 2023, the Company did not retain any profits
under IFRS as reserves available for distribution to our equity
Shareholders.

Details of movements in the reserves of the Group and the
Company during the year ended March 31, 2023 are set out in
Note 39(a) to the consolidated financial statements in this annual
report.

BANK LOANS AND OTHER BORROWINGS

Particulars of bank loans and other borrowings of the Group as
at March 31, 2023 are set out in Note 27 to the consolidated
financial statements in this annual report.

LOAN AGREEMENT WITH COVENANTS
RELATING TO SPECIFIC PERFORMANCE OF THE
CONTROLLING SHAREHOLDERS

As of the date of this annual report, the Company has not entered

into any loan agreement which contains covenants requiring
specific performance of the Controlling Shareholders.
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DIRECTORS’ SERVICE CONTRACTS

Each of our executive Directors entered into a service contract
with our Company, pursuant to which each of them agrees to
act as an executive Director (as the case may be), subject to
re-election as and when required under the Articles of Association,
until terminated in accordance with the terms and conditions of
the service contract.

Each of our independent non-executive Directors entered into
an appointment letter with our Company. The initial term for the
appointment letters shall be three years and is subject always to
re-election as and when required under the Articles of Association,
until terminated in accordance with the terms and conditions of
the appointment letter.

The above appointments are always subject to the provisions
of retirement and rotation of directors under the Articles of
Association.

None of the Directors has an unexpired service contract which is
not determinable by the Company or any of its subsidiaries within
one year without payment of compensation, other than statutory
compensation.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN TRANSACTIONS,
ARRANGEMENTS OR CONTRACTS OF
SIGNIFICANCE

—Connected
—Contractual Arrangements” below, to

Save as disclosed in the section headed
Transactions” and “
the best knowledge of the Directors, none of the Directors nor
any entity connected with the Directors had a material interest,
either directly or indirectly, in any transactions, arrangements
or contracts of significance to which the Company, its holding
company, or any of its subsidiaries or fellow subsidiaries was a
party subsisting during or at the end of the year ended March 31,

2023.

DIRECTORS AND CONTROLLING SHAREHOLDERS’
INTERESTS IN COMPETING BUSINESS

To the best knowledge of the Directors, none of the Directors and
the Controlling Shareholders was interested in any business which
competes with or is likely to compete with the businesses of the
Group for the year ending March 31, 2023 and require disclosure
under Rule 8.10 of the Listing Rules.
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MANAGEMENT CONTRACTS

No contract concerning the management and administration of the
whole or any substantial part of the business of the Company was
entered into or existed for the year ended March 31, 2023.

DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVES’ INTERESTS
AND SHORT POSITIONS IN SHARES AND
UNDERLYING SHARES AND DEBENTURES OF
THE COMPANY OR ANY OF ITS ASSOCIATED
CORPORATIONS

As of March 31, 2023, the interests and short positions of the
Directors or chief executives of our Company and their associates
in any of the Shares, underlying Shares and debentures of our
Company or its associated corporation (within the meaning of Part
XV of the SFO), as recorded in the register required to be kept by
the Company pursuant to Section 352 of the SFO, or as otherwise
notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to the
Model Code were as follows:
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Number Approximate
of Shares/ Percentage of
Name of Director Underlying Shareholding
or Chief Executive Nature of Interest Shares Held Interest®
MEENRE HRERBY
EEYRESTHRABRSE ERMEE HERDHE Bk
Mr. ZOU Qifang Beneficial owner 15,111,775(L) 2.60%
BHFZFTAE EmfEA
Interest in controlled corporations® 9,920,675(L) 1.71%
MR EE #ER®
Founder of discretionary trust® 48,671,025(L) 8.37%
WIS EFERIZA®
Interest of a party to an agreement® 107,678,800(L) 18.51%
WERI TR
Ms. Qin Jessie XIN Beneficial owner 1,125,000(L) 0.19%
FHL L BEmEBA
Interest in controlled corporations® 1,250,000(L) 0.21%
NI EEERO
Mr. ZHANG Jincai Beneficial owner 1,194,500(L) 0.21%
B4k E EmfEA
Mr. ZOU Jianlong Beneficial owner 3,813,650(L) 0.66%
Bk BEmREBA
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Notes: Biat -

1. Calculated based on 581,591,950 total issued Shares of the 1.
Company as of March 31, 2023.

2. Beier Holdings Limited holds 9,920,675 Shares directly, which 2.
is wholly owned by Mr. ZOU Qifang. Therefore, Mr. Zou is
deemed to be interested in the Shares held by Beier Holdings
Limited under the SFO.

3. Mingda International Limited holds 18,500,000 Shares 3.
directly, which is in turn wholly owned by Rise Day Holdings
Limited. On the other hand, Rise Day Holdings Limited holds
30,171,025 Shares directly, which is in turn wholly owned by
United Culture Assets Limited, a BVI company wholly owned
by an independent trustee entrusted by Mr. Zou. A family trust
was established over United Culture Assets Limited for the
benefits of Mr. Zou and his family members accordingly, of
which Mr. Zou acts as the protector and settlor. Therefore, Mr.
Zou is deemed to be interested in the Shares held by each of
them under the SFO.

4. The Board has set up Arrail Sunshine as a platform in the 4.

BVI to hold incentive shares for the participants under the
RSU Scheme. The voting rights of the Shares held by Arrail
Sunshine (including Shares held in favour of the participants
other than Mr. Zou) is held by Mr. Zou by way of proxy.
Therefore, Mr. Zou is deemed to be interested in the Shares
held by Arrail Sunshine (including Shares held in favour of the
participants other than Mr. Zou) under the SFO.

5. Mismic Limited holds 1,250,000 Shares, which is a BVI 5.
company wholly owned by an independent trustee entrusted
by Ms. Xin for a family trust established for the benefits of Ms.
Xin and her family members. Therefore, Ms. Xin is deemed to
be interested in the Shares held by it under the SFO.

6. The letter “L” denotes the person’s long position in the Shares. 6.
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SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS’ INTERESTS AND
SHORT POSITIONS IN SHARES AND UNDERLYING
SHARES OF THE COMPANY

As of March 31, 2023, so far as the Directors are aware, the
following persons (other than the Directors or chief executives of
the Company or their associates) had interests or short positions
in the Shares or underlying Shares of the Company as recorded
in the register required to be kept by the Company pursuant to
the provisions of Divisions 2 and 3 of Part XV of the SFO or will,
directly or indirectly, be interested in 5% or more of the nominal
value of any class of share capital carrying rights to vote in all
circumstances at the general meetings of the Company or any
other members of the Group:
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FERE,HERE
Number of Approximate
Name of substantial shareholder Nature of interest Shares percentage®
FTERRER REmEME R4 E BAOEDED
Rise Day Holdings Limited Beneficial owner 30,171,025(L) 5.19%
BEHERA
Interest in controlled 18,500,000(L) 3.18%
corporations®
MR EEER®
United Culture Assets Limited Interest in controlled 48,671,025(L) 8.37%
corporations®
R EEER?
Trident Trust Company (HK) Limited Trustee® 48,671,025(L) 8.37%
HIEA®
Arrail Sunshine Holdings Limited Beneficial owner® 116,658,662(L) 20.06%
BEmEBANO
KASTLE LIMITED Trustee® 121,949,662(L) 20.97%
=TEARRARA ZEEA®
Elbrus Investments Pte. Ltd. Beneficial owner® 58,237,675(L) 10.01%

EHRmBEHAO
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Name of substantial shareholder

FERREE

Nature of interest

M

Shares/Underlying Shares Held
as of March 31, 2023
B E2023F3H31H
AR e . HERG

Number of
Shares

R EE

Approximate
percentage®
BABEZ O

Temasek Life Sciences Private Limited

Fullerton Management Pte Ltd

Temasek Holdings (Private) Limited

Total Success Investment Ltd.

19 Growth Capital Fund LP

Empire Choice International Limited

Roger K C Young

19 Growth Capital Fund GP Inc.

John Paul Buckley

Zheng Zhang

Broad Street Investments Holding (Singapore) Pte. Ltd.

BSPI Holdings, L.L.C.

Interest in controlled
corporations®
NI EEERO
Interest in controlled
corporations®
REEE#ER
Interest in controlled
corporations®
RRIEEEERO
Beneficial owner®
E=BEBANO
Interest in controlled
corporations®
REEEEER©
Interest in controlled
corporations®
R EE RO
Interest in controlled
corporations®
REEEEER©
Interest in controlled
corporations®
REIEEE RO
Interest in controlled
corporations®
REEEEER©
Interest in controlled
corporations®
REIEEE RO
Beneficial owner™
EnEaAD
Interest in controlled
corporations”

R EEERD

58,237,675(L)

58,237,675(L)

58,237,675(L)

49,476,900 (L)

49,476,900 (L)

49,476,900 (L)

49,476,900 (L)

49,476,900 (L)

49,476,900 (L)

49,476,900 (L)

36,719,500(L)

36,719,500(L)

10.01%

10.01%

10.01%

8.51%

8.51%

8.51%

8.51%

8.51%

8.51%

8.51%

6.31%

6.31%
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Shares/Underlying Shares Held
as of March 31, 2023
B E2023F3H31H

FsanRE, HERG
Number of Approximate
Name of substantial shareholder Nature of interest Shares percentage®
FTERRER EEME R#oEE BAOEIED
Broad Street Principal Investments, L.L.C. Interest in controlled 36,719,500(L) 6.31%
corporations”
REEEEERD
BSPI Intermediate Holdings, L.L.C. Interest in controlled 36,719,500(L) 6.31%
corporations”
R EE#ERD
Broad Street Principal Investments Superholdco LLC  Interest in controlled 44,063,400(L) 7.58%
corporations”
REEEEERD
GOLDMAN SACHS & CO. LLC Interest in controlled 44,063,400(L) 7.58%
corporations”)
R EE#ERD
The Goldman Sachs Group, Inc. Interest in controlled 45,637,400(L) 7.85%
corporations®) 2,257,600(S) 0.39%
REFEE RSO
KPCB China Associates, Ltd. Interest in controlled 31,121,900(L) 5.35%

corporations®
RE B

Notes:

Calculated based on 581,591,950 total issued Shares of the
Company as of March 31, 2023.

Mingda International Limited holds 18,500,000 Shares directly,
which is in turn wholly owned by Rise Day Holdings Limited.
Under the SFO, Rise Day Holdings Limited is deemed to be
interest in the Shares held by Mingda International Limited. On
the other hand, Rise Day Holdings Limited is held by United
Culture Assets Limited, which is a BVI company wholly owned
by an independent trustee entrusted by Mr. ZOU Qifang. A
family trust was established over United Culture Assets Limited
for the benefits of Mr. Zou and his family members accordingly,
of which Mr. Zou acts as the protector and settlor, and Trident
Trust Company (HK) Limited is the trustee of the family trust.
Therefore, Trident Trust Company (HK) Limited and United
Culture Assets Limited are deemed to be interested in the
Shares held by Rise Day Holdings Limited under the SFO.

wit -

(1.

BIBEHE2023FE3 A31 HARRQA T D BTN
#(581,591,950 %1 & -

Mingda International LimitedE#&E# A&
18,500,000% f% 15 * MMingda International
Limited @ Rise Day Holdings Limited& &
B o IRIEFESH LEEEA - Rise Day Holdings
Limited ¥ % &M Mingda International Limited
BAENRMDPEAE#EZ - LI Rise Day
Holdings Limited@United Culture Assets
Limited (—REBBEF EEEZRNBE LT
ANEEBRENEABERAHERR)HEE -
NBEERERKKRBE AL ANREET
#iBUnited Culture Assets Limited &%
Vo ERPEERREARMERTA M
Trident Trust Company (HK) Limited %%
HREFRHNZREA Bt BREZFFLBER
i » Trident Trust Company (HK) Limited &
United Culture Assets Limited#4% &7 Rise
Day Holdings Limited#5 B &8I DR G % o
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Arrail Sunshine is a platform in the BVI set up by the Board
to hold incentive shares of the Company, for the participants
under the RSU Scheme. The voting rights of Arrail Sunshine is
held by Mr. ZOU Qifang by way of proxy.

KASTLE LIMITED, a company incorporated in Hong Kong,
is the trustee (which is independent of and not a connected
person of the Company) appointed by the Company for the
administration of the RSU Scheme and 2022 RSU Scheme.
KASTLE LIMITED is deemed to be interested in the Shares
held by Arrail Sunshine and Arrail Revival Holdings Limited,
the platforms holding underlying Shares for RSU Scheme and
2022 RSU Scheme, under the SFO.

Elbrus Investments Pte. Ltd. is a company incorporated in
Singapore, which is wholly owned by Temasek Life Sciences
Private Limited, which is in turn wholly owned by Fullerton
Management Pte Ltd, which is in turn wholly owned by
Temasek Holdings (Private) Limited. Under the SFO, each of
Temasek Life Sciences Private Limited, Fullerton Management
Pte Ltd and Temasek Holdings (Private) Limited is deemed to
be interested in the Shares held by Elbrus Investments Pte.
Ltd.

Total Success Investment Ltd. is an investment holding
company incorporated in the Cayman lIslands and is wholly
owned by 19 Growth Capital Fund LP, a limited partnership
registered in the State of Delaware. Empire Choice International
Limited is the limited partner of 19 Growth Capital Fund LP,
which is wholly owned by Roger K C Young. 19 Growth Capital
Fund GP Inc. is the general partner of 19 Growth Capital Fund
LP, and 19 Growth Capital Fund GP Inc. is owned as to 60%
by John Paul Buckley and 40% by Zheng Zhang. Under the
SFO, 19 Growth Capital Fund LP, Empire Choice International
Limited, Roger K C Young, 19 Growth Capital Fund GP Inc.,
John Paul Buckley and Zheng Zhang are deemed to be
interested in the Shares held by Total Success Investment Ltd..

Arrail SunshineAESEeRNREH#R RS
BUMFEE - ARBEZBRHIRHOEMTE A
SEEFGEAARRMDAHEBRD o Arrail
Sunshine )% S i R BB H 55 % A AR IE 75 X FF
5o

RTEARAR  —RREEIMAZLHA
A AARAZEUNEERZRGIRMD B E
R2022 F R B HIR M BLLAAEIR A (B
MARF AW EARRIFEAL) - REBEEFK
HE A - ZLEERARHEE RS BIRArrail
Sunshine 2 Arrail Revival Holdings Limited
(9 BIFEHE X R &I Mk n B st 8 R 2022 F Z R
B AL A BB B &) A SR m
BEAER -

Elbrus Investments Pte. Ltd. B— XK ¥
MM LB AT - BTemasek Life
Sciences Private Limited2& %A © m
Temasek Life Sciences Private Limitedf
Fullerton Management Pte Ltd2&#4 -
Fullerton Management Pte Ltdm#% &
B(FRA)BRABZERS - BEZEHFK
HRE (&%) - Temasek Life Sciences Private
Limited ~ Fullerton Management Pte Ltd}&
#EHIER (FLA) BRAFHER AR Elbrus
Investments Pte. Ltd. 3B KRN B #am o

Total Success Investment Ltd. 5—RAH 2
HEEMA IR EZER AR - 19 Growth
Capital Fund LP (& —KE5H MM
ERAEDLH¥)EEHE - Empire Choice
International LimitedZ19 Growth Capital
Fund LPHBEREE A - XBERoger K C
YoungZ®&#%A - 19 Growth Capital Fund
GP Inc.7219 Growth Capital Fund LP&)—#%
A% A © M19 Growth Capital Fund GP Inc.
fiJohn Paul Buckley & Zheng Zhang# 5l#
B60% NA0% VR - RIEZEH RBEED -
19 Growth Capital Fund LP ~ Empire Choice
International Limited * Roger K C Young *
19 Growth Capital Fund GP Inc. * John
Paul Buckley&Zheng Zhang#1% & Total
Success Investment Ltd. #4& #If% {5 & # 5 1

S o

BX



Broad Street Investments Holding (Singapore) Pte. Ltd.,
a company incorporated under the laws of the Republic
of Singapore, is wholly owned by BSPI Holdings, L.L.C..
Stonebridge 2017 (Singapore) Pte. Ltd. holds 7,343,900 Shares
directly, which is a company incorporated under the laws of
the Republic of Singapore. Stonebridge 2017 (Singapore) Pte.
Ltd. is held by multiple employee funds of The Goldman Sachs
Group, Inc., among which, the general partner of the funds is
a wholly owned subsidiary of The Goldman Sachs Group, Inc..
Under the SFO, each of BSPI Holdings, L.L.C. (as the sole
shareholder of Broad Street Investments Holding (Singapore)
Pte. Ltd.), Broad Street Principal Investments, L.L.C. and BSPI
Intermediate Holdings, L.L.C. (each as a 50% shareholder of
BSPI Holdings, L.L.C.), Broad Street Principal Investments,
L.L.C. (as the sole shareholder of BSPI Intermediate Holdings,
L.L.C.), Broad Street Principal Investments Superholdco LLC
(as the sole shareholder of Broad Street Principal Investments,
L.L.C.), GOLDMAN SACHS & CO. LLC and The Goldman
Sachs Group, Inc. (as the sole shareholder of Broad Street
Principal Investments Superholdco LLC) are deemed to be
interested in the Shares held by Broad Street Investments
Holding (Singapore) Pte. Ltd.. In addition, each of Broad
Street Principal Investments, L.L.C., Broad Street Principal
Investments Superholdco LLC, GOLDMAN SACHS & CO. LLC
and The Goldman Sachs Group, Inc. are also deemed to be
interested in the Shares held by Stonebridge 2017 (Singapore)
Pte. Ltd..

Goldman Sachs International holds 1,574,000 Shares in long
position and 2,257,600 Shares in short position directly, which
is in turn wholly owned by Goldman Sachs Group UK Limited.
On the other hand, Goldman Sachs Group UK Limited is wholly
owned by Goldman Sachs (UK) L.L.C. which in turn is wholly
owned by The Goldman Sachs Group, Inc.. Under the SFO,
Goldman Sachs Group UK Limited, Goldman Sachs (UK)
L.L.C. and The Goldman Sachs Group, Inc. are deemed to be
interested in the Shares held by Goldman Sachs International.

@).
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Broad Street Investments Holding
(Singapore) Pte. Ltd. A—SARE#H i £ F0
BAGI MKz AF - BABSPI Holdings,
L.L.C.2%# %A °Stonebridge 2017
(Singapore) Pte. Ltd. (A —RBEF M L
FEDEGIFEM A LA F) EEF# B 7,343,900
f& Rz 1n ° Stonebridge 2017 (Singapore)
Pte. Lid HEBREBERAANZERER
eRE AT ELESHEBARARSE
SEERARMNEEFARF - RIEEFESH KB
E %% - BSPI Holdings, L.L.C.(#£ABroad
Street Investments Holding (Singapore) Pte.
Ltd.fyME—f% %) - Broad Street Principal
Investments, L.L.C.&%BSPI Intermediate
Holdings, L.L.C. (& B{EABSPI Holdings,
L.L.C.#J50%0% %) * Broad Street Principal
Investments, L.L.C.(#E&BSPI Intermediate
Holdings, L.L.C.HYM—fZ&%®) - Broad Street
Principal Investments Superholdco LLC ({E
#Broad Street Principal Investments, L.L.C.
HE—AE®E) - GOLDMAN SACHS & CO.
LLCERmEEEBR AR (fEABroad Street
Principal Investments Superholdco LLCH)ME
— &) 4R AR Broad Street Investments
Holding (Singapore) Pte. Ltd.#&HKk%D
FEAERS kY - Broad Street Principal
Investments, L.L.C. » Broad Street Principal
Investments Superholdco LLC + GOLDMAN
SACHS & CO. LLCEkEEREBEFRARINY
R A Stonebridge 2017 (Singapore) Pte.
Lid. AN RO PG #ER -

Goldman Sachs International E¥E# A
1,574,000 A1) BV 4F B K 2,257,600 B AL 15
#KR - Mz /A FlHAGoldman Sachs Group
UK Limited2&#%E - 5— M * Goldman
Sachs Group UK LimitedfiGoldman Sachs
(UK) LL.C.2&#A - Mi%%iThe Goldman
Sachs Group, Inc.2&# A - RIEFHFMBPE
{&f + Goldman Sachs Group UK Limited
Goldman Sachs (UK) L.L.C.%The Goldman
Sachs Group, Inc.##1% &/ Goldman Sachs
International #8 B R A % o
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(9). KPCB China Fund, L.P. (“KPCB CF”) holds 29,045,950 Shares
directly and KPCB China Founders Fund, L.P. (“KPCB CFF")
holds 2,075,950 Shares directly, which both are exempted
limited partnerships established under the laws of Cayman
Islands and are venture capital funds. The general partner
of KPCB CF and KPCB CFF is KPCB China Associates, Ltd.,
which is a Cayman Islands exempted company. The voting
and investment power of shares held by KPCB CF and KPCB
CFF is exercised by the board of KPCB China Associates, Ltd,
which consists of Tina Lin-chi Ju, Theodore Schlein, Brook
Byers, L. John Doerr and Raymond Lane. Under the SFO,
KPCB China Associates, Ltd. is deemed to be interested in the
Shares held by KPCB CF and KPCB CFF.

(10).  The letter “L" denotes the person’s long position in the Shares,

and the letter “S” denotes the person’s short position in the
Shares.

Save as disclosed above, as at March 31, 2023, no person, other
than the Directors or chief executives of the Company whose
interests are set out in the section headed “Directors’ and Chief
Executives’ Interests and Short Positions in Shares and Underlying
Shares and Debentures of the Company or Any of its Associated
Corporations” above, had any interests or short positions in the
Shares or underlying Shares as recorded in the register required
to be kept under section 336 of the SFO.

SHARE INCENTIVE SCHEME
RSU Scheme

The RSU Scheme was approved and adopted by the Board
on August 3, 2021, the principal terms of which are set out in
the section headed “A. Further Information about our Company
and our Subsidiaries — 6. RSU Scheme” in Appendix IV to
the Prospectus. The purpose of the RSU Scheme is to attract,
retain and motivate our Directors, employees and such other
participants, and to provide a means of compensating them
through the grant of awards (“Awards”) for their contribution to
the growth and profits of the Group, and to allow such Directors,
employees and other persons to participate in the growth and
profitability of the Group.

(9).  KPCB China Fund, L.P. (TKPCB CF)) B
29,045,950 %% X KPCB China Founders
Fund, L . P .([KPCB CFF])Hi#4A
2,075,950 % 1n - BEH AIREHEFHSE
BIK I MEREERAEBLE  BRERIRE
H4 - KPCB CFMKPCB CFFHIERAB AL
M2 BEH%E R AIKPCB China Associates,
Ltd. e KPCB CFXKPCB CFFRETHi DK%
Z R EEMAKPCB China Associates, Ltd.
MEESTE - Z=EEMHTina Lin-chi Ju-
Theodore Schlein » Brook Byers * L. John
Doerr X% Raymond Lane#ifk ° 1R %% % & &
E1%/] - KPCB China Associates, Ltd. %1% A&
AKPCB CFNMKPCB CFF#E 8 (D A &

Bk

o

FHILIRKRABEALTRERONEE  TFS
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(10).

B EXHTIETEE SN R2023F3A31H * BARQR]
ERYUERTBRABREN[EERESTRABR
KRR B s EAT A ARBSE B AR - AR RER
FRRER AR | —EFEA RSN EA LR
o ABER G P HEAACHENIBRIEESRPEEK
PlEE336 KT EME M T MERAR -

B4R R ET &
ZIREIR OB

BELRN2021F8 A3 B #fE KERA SR I 5 B AL
e HEEZERENBRERWEMO A BAERA
BIRBEMFRABINE—FER — 6. ZRHIRMDEN
FTEl —81 - ZRHIRM BB LRS- BB R
BEEE EEREHEMSBEE  WHRE TR
By ([#@m]) a3 EEAAEEEERFBEA
EHBOEE  UREZSEE - EERHEMALY
EREEFERREF -



The Participants of the Scheme

The participant of the RSU Scheme is any person belong to any
of (i) the employee (whether full time or part time) of the Company
or its subsidiaries; (ii) any Director, including independent non-
executive Director, of the Company, or any director of any of the
subsidiaries; and (iii) any other consultant to the Group who, in
the sole opinion of the Board, will contribute or have contributed
to the Group.

Maximum Number of Shares Available for Subscription

Pursuant to the RSU Scheme, the overall limit on the number
of underlying Shares to be granted under the RSU Scheme is
119,972,600 Shares, which represents approximately 20.63% of
the total issued share capital of the Company as of the date of
this annual report.

There is no maximum limit of RSUs which may be granted to each
participant subject to the compliance of the Listing Rules.

Term

The RSU Scheme shall be valid and effective for the period of
ten years commencing on August 3, 2021, with a remaining life
of approximately eight years and one month as of the date of
this annual report, after which period no further Awards will be
granted.

Vesting Criteria and Other Terms

The Board will set vesting criteria in its discretion, which,
depending on the extent to which the criteria are met, will
determine the number of RSUs that will be paid-out to the grantee.
The Board may set vesting criteria based upon the achievement
of Company-wide, business unit, or individual goals (including,
but not limited to, continued employment or service), or any other
basis determined by the Board in its discretion.

The vesting schedules are stipulated in the respective award
agreement between the Company and the grantees.

Form and Timing of Payment

Payment of realized RSUs will be made as soon as practicable
after the date(s) determined by the Board and set forth in
the award agreement. The Board, in its sole discretion, may
decide the method to settle realized RSUs in cash, Shares, or a
combination of both.
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Grant of RSUs

As of March 31, 2023, an aggregate of 573 grantees were
granted with RSUs with a total of 88,770,062 underlying Shares,
representing 15.26% of the total number of issued Shares, under
the RSU Scheme, details of which are set out below.

M LR BR 9 E s

HZE2023F3A318 © REZRHIRMDELFTE -
A HEB7TIBETANERZ RS (HEAML
88,770,062 B 1D - (EEEITIRGD BEH

15.26% * BREAFFIEHWT ©

Number of shares underlying RSUs

wRAE

SRHRBELSRARAS
Closing price
of Shares
immediately
before the
date on
which the Total fair
RSUs were Exercise value of
granted  Quistanding Granted Vested Lapsed Cancelled Exercised  Qutstanding price of RSUs at
during the as of during the during the during the during the during the as of per RSU the date
Name of participant or Reporting March 31, Reporting Reporting Reporting Reporting Reporting March 31,  Vesting granted of grant
Category of partcipant Date of grant Period A2 Period Period Period Period Period 2023 Period” (inHKD) ~ (in RMB)®
e BRESH  SRARR
RERES $RE  EfREH
RHBAER HonE R hfigh  BENE
RSN 3B31A 3E31A WikE  QAEE
SEEMLISELR L] RitHE HEGR  HEEREN  $SEREE SEARN REEARR REEAGR AR BEH (Bn)  (ARE)®
Directors or chief executive and their associates E23 FEHABRASNEEA
M. 20U Qifang Qctober 1, 2021 NA- 10,196,300 - 5,098,180 - 798 10188312 550 42143083
BnzE MAEI0ATA TR
Ms. Qin Jessie XIN Qctober 1, 2021 NA 1,125,000 - 562,500 - - 1125000 October 1, 2021- 93 3194762
FNL AEI0RIA TR March 22, 2024
Mr. ZHANG Jincai October 1, 202 NA 1500000 - 750000 - 675,000 85000 201510A1R 15 966791
BTt MIEI0ATA &R ENUEIRNA
Mr. 20U Jianlong October 1, 202 NA 3813650 - 1906625 - - 3813680 807 14715801
Bagrt AFI0FIA TR
Five highest paid individuals during the Reporting Period (excluding Directors) 48R E 285 E A1 (KEEH)
October 1, 2021 NA 7900777 - 3560368 - 541,626 7,359,151 Qctober 1, 2021- 541 w0
March 22, 2024
AR1E10AA TR WEI0A1AE
AUE3R2NA
Other employees £ES
October 1, 202 NA - 6718779 - 30604 2,963,463 3311424 60922911 Oclober 1, 2021- 654 194622358
March 22, 2024
AENATE TR AENAIA
BV R
Total: 3 91,7235 - e 2,953,463 41536038 84234024 628 298,576,762
Notes: Hiat -

(1) The vesting of the RSUs granted are not subject to any
performance targets.

(2) The fair value of RSUs at the date of grant was calculated
in accordance with the accounting standards and policies

adopted for preparing the financial statements.

(1) B R G 0 E LR B RIERA

AR -

2) PR HIAR 19 B AL R H H B Ay

AV

BEIRE

RE MR R E R RBORRTE -



2022 RSU Scheme

The 2022 RSU Scheme was approved and adopted by the Board
on September 3, 2022, the principal terms of which are set out
in the announcement of the Company dated September 5, 2022.
The purpose of the 2022 RSU Scheme is to attract, retain and
motivate our Directors and employees, and to provide a means of
compensating them through the Awards for their contribution to
the growth and profits of the Group, and to allow such Directors
and employees to participate in the growth and profitability of the
Group.

The Participants of the Scheme

The Board may, from time to time, at its absolute discretion select
any of (i) the employee (whether full time or part time) of the
Company or its subsidiaries; and (ii) any Director, or any director
of any of the subsidiaries as a selected participant and determine
the RSUs for each of them.

Maximum Number of Shares Available for Subscription

The Board shall not make any further awards which will result in
the nominal value of the underlying Shares under the 2022 RSU
Scheme exceeding 10% of the issued shares of the Company as
at September 3, 2022.

Pursuant to the 2022 RSU Scheme, the Underlying Shares
will be satisfied by the existing Shares to be acquired by the
Trustee on the market based on the trading price of the market.
The maximum number of the Underlying Shares which may be
transferred or paid-out in settlement of all RSUs to be granted to
any Selected Participants under the 2022 RSU Scheme shall not
exceed 1% of the issued shares of the Company from time to time
in any 12-month period.

Term

The 2022 RSU Scheme shall be valid and effective for the period
of ten years commencing on September 3, 2022, with a remaining
life of approximately nine years and two month as of the date of
this annual report, after which period no further Awards will be
granted.
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Vesting

The Board will set vesting criteria in its discretion, which,
depending on the extent to which the criteria are met, will
determine the number of RSUs that will be paid-out to the selected
participant(s). The Board may set vesting criteria based upon
the achievement of Company-wide, business unit, or individual
goals (including, but not limited to, continued employment or
service), or any other basis determined by the Board in its
discretion. The vesting schedules are stipulated in the respective
award agreement(s) between the Company and the selected
participant(s).

Grant of RSUs

As of the date of this annual report, no employees were approved
by the Board to be the grantees pursuant to the 2022 RSU
Scheme. No Shares were purchased for the purpose of 2022 RSU
scheme since January 1, 2023.

Kastle Limited, the trustee of the RSU Scheme and 2022 RSU
Scheme, who is currently holding unvested shares with voting
rights attached will abstain from voting on any resolutions at the
general meeting.

DIRECTORS’
DEBENTURES

RIGHTS TO ACQUIRE SHARES OR

Save as disclosed in this annual report, at no time for the year
ended March 31, 2023 was the Company or any of its subsidiaries
a party to any arrangements to enable the Directors to acquire
benefits by means of the acquisition of shares in, or debentures
of, the Company or any other body corporate; and none of the
Directors, or any of their spouse or children under the age of 18,
had any right to subscribe for equity or debt securities of the
Company or any other body corporate, or had exercised any such
right.
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EMOLUMENT POLICY AND DIRECTORS’
REMUNERATION

In compliance with Rule 3.25 of the Listing Rules and the
Corporate Governance Code, the Company has established the
Remuneration Committee to formulate remuneration policies. The
remuneration is determined and recommended based on each
Director’'s and senior management personnel’s qualification,
position, performance and experience. As for the independent
non-executive Directors, their remuneration is determined by the
Board upon recommendation from the Remuneration Committee.
The Directors and the senior management personnel are eligible
participants of the RSU Scheme and the 2022 RSU Scheme.

Details of the remuneration of the Directors, management and the
five highest paid individuals are set out in Note 36 and Note 8,
respectively to the consolidated financial statements.

None of the Directors waived or agreed to waive any remuneration
and there were no emoluments paid by the Group to any of the
Directors as an inducement to join, or upon joining the Group, or
as compensation for loss of office.

None of the Directors were paid discretionary bonuses for the
year ended March 31, 2023.

CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS

Among the related party transactions disclosed in Note 35 to
the consolidated financial statements, the following transaction
constitutes connected transactions for the Company under Rule
14A.31 of the Listing Rules and is required to be disclosed in this
annual report in accordance with Rule 14A.71 of the Listing Rules.
The Company confirmed that, save as disclosed below and the
Contractual Arrangements as disclosed in the section headed
“Contractual Arrangements” below, none of the related party
transactions falls under the definition of “connected transaction”
or “continuing connected transaction” (as the case may be) in
Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules and it has complied with the
disclosure requirements in accordance with Chapter 14A of the
Listing Rules in so far as they are applicable. Please see below
the information required to be disclosed in compliance with
Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules.
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Medical Product Procurement Framework Agreement
Principal Terms

Our Company entered into a Medical Product Procurement
Framework Agreement with Hangzhou Jarvis in December 2021,
pursuant to which we agreed to procure medical products such
as protective gown and teeth whitening gel from Hangzhou
Jarvis Group subject to the following annual caps. The term of
the Medical Product Procurement Framework Agreement is three
years commencing from the Listing Date. We have the right to
terminate the Medical Product Procurement Framework Agreement
by serving a thirty (30) Business Days’ prior written notice to
Hangzhou Jarvis.

BEERRBERGS
FEIFK

AR 2021F 12 B BN ER BE] BB E mF
BIERHZE - Bt - BMRAZEAMMNERBEER
BOHERMIEEQARBEEFTER  HXBRHMU
TFELR BEEMRBEEBEONTFHAB L
MHBRE=F - ZAMBREBARTMNERBED
= tTQROEEHXAMELEEMBAL I EEE DK
BEIELE I o

Year Annual Cap
FE FELR
For the year ended March 31, 2022 RMB22 million
HZE2022F3A31HIEFE AREE2HETT
For the year ending March 31, 2023 RMB33 million
BZE2023F3A31HILFE ARMEIIBEETT
For the year ending March 31, 2024 RMB39 million
HZE2024F3A31HIEFE AREI9HET

For the year ended March 31, 2023, the aggregate transaction
amount incurred in accordance with the Medical Product
Procurement Framework Agreement was RMB25.5 million.

The above proposed annual caps are set based on the following
factors: (i) the historical transaction amount paid by our Group
to Hangzhou Jarvis Group during the three financial years ended
March 31, 2019, 2020 and 2021 and the six months ended
September 30, 2021; (ii) the expected need of our Company
for the relevant medical products at approximately 25% yearly
increment, which is in line with the estimated growth rate of the
business of the Group; and (iii) the expansion plan of our Group
in the future.

Hangzhou Jarvis is a connected person to the Company because
it is owned as to approximately 65% by Ms. ZOU Jin, the daughter
of Mr. ZOU Qifang, the executive Director, chief executive
officer and Controlling Shareholder. Therefore, the transactions
contemplated under the Medical Product Procurement Framework
Agreement constitutes continuing connected transactions of the
Company under Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules.

HZE2023F3A31HIEFE REEBBEERKEIE
BIBZELENRSEBEAARE568T °

T EBFELRIBETIEERRTE : ()AEE
REZE 20194 ~ 2020 £ 20215F3 A31 AL =14
FEE A MEZE202149 A308 1E7<1@ A i
FEABEERINNELRSEE (VAR EHERH
EEEMNBRIERBENRMEEILIR - HASE
BEEBHMEFIERE B0 R(i)AKBERROER
A&l -

BHRTNERBHBEFTEE (MITES - BRAT
BRIERBR) LR P EL T HELI65%  HALM
EARBBARRNEEAL - Bt - RIFETARR
FTOAE - BEEMRBERBRR MEETHR
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Reasons for and Benefits of the Transaction

Hangzhou Jarvis Group has good reputation in providing various
medical products with good quality and logistics capabilities.
The founding group of Hangzhou Jarvis Group has extensive
experience in supply chain management. The clinics under
our Group have been using the medical products provided by
Hangzhou Jarvis Group given the convenience resulted from the
good working relationship between the parties as well as their
logistics capabilities throughout the PRC. The self-developed
supply chain system of Hangzhou Jarvis Group, as upgraded
from time to time and even customized for the Group, has been
performing well and fits the commercial needs of the Group during
previous business cooperation. It is crucial to maintain a legal,
stable and quality supply of medical products for our Group’s
existing and future operation. Hangzhou Jarvis Group is a reliable
supplier and can efficiently fulfill our Group’s requirements with
stable and quality supply of medical products.

The Subscription of the Registered Capital of Jinyaori
Medical and the Licensing Agreement

On November 3, 2022, Shenzhen Ruijian, a consolidated affiliated
entity of the Company, entered into a cooperation agreement
(the “Cooperation Agreement’) with Hangzhou Jarvis and
Hangzhou Jinyaori Medical Technology Company Limited (#1
MNeRABERKEARAR) (“Jinyaori Medical”), pursuant to
which Shenzhen Ruijian agreed to subscribe for 20% of the
registered capital of Jinyaori Medical at the subscription amount
of RMB30 million. Upon completion of the subscription, Jinyaori
Medical will be owned as to 20% and 80% by Shenzhen Ruijian
and Hangzhou Jarvis respectively. On the same day, Beijing
Ruier, a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company, entered into a
licensing agreement (the “Licensing Agreement’) with Jinyaori
Medical, pursuant to which Beijing Ruier shall license certain
intellectual property rights to Jinyaori Medical for a term of three
years. Please refer to the announcement of the Company dated
November 3, 2022 for details.

In consideration of the licensing of the intellectual property rights
under the Licensing Agreement, Jinyaori Medical shall pay Beijing
Ruier a royalty fee equal to 20% of the Annual Membership
Contract Revenue* for each 12-month period during the licensing
term, payable within one month from the end of each 12-month
period.

Annual Membership Contract Revenue means the net sales
generated from the sale of membership products based on
the licensed intellectual property rights, minus the marketing
expenses and other licensing-related expenses.
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The aggregate annual amount of royalty fees to be paid by
Jinyaori Medical to Beijing Ruier for the three years ending March
31, 2023, 2024 and 2025 shall not exceed RMBO0.86 million,
RMB4.00 million and RMB9.57 million respectively. In determining
the above proposed annual caps for the royalty fees to be paid by
Jinyaori Medical to Beijing Ruier, the Directors have considered,
among others, (i) the expected significant growth in the digital
membership business engaged by Jinyaori Medical in 2024 and
beyond based on its business strategies and market trends; (ii)
the confidence in the management team of Jinyaori Medical and
the synergies to be generated in light of the cooperation with the
Group; and (iii) the ratio of royalty fee calculated based on the
Annual Membership Contract Revenue.

For the year ended March 31, 2023, the aggregate transaction
amount incurred in accordance with the Licensing Agreement was
nil.

As of the date of this annual report, Hangzhou Jarvis is owned
as to 56.9% by Ms. Zou Jin, the daughter of Mr. Zou Qifang. As
Mr. Zou is the executive Director, chairman and chief executive
officer as well as the Controlling Shareholder, Hangzhou Jarvis
is a connected person of the Company under Rule 14A.07 of the
Listing Rules. Accordingly, the entering into (i) the Cooperation
Agreement and the transactions contemplated thereunder
constitute connected transaction for the Company; and (ii) the
Licensing Agreement and transactions contemplated thereunder
constitute continuing connected transactions for the Company
under Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules. As the highest applicable
percentage ratio exceeds 0.1% but less than 5%, each of (i) the
Subscription as contemplated under the Cooperation Agreement
and (ii) the transactions contemplated under the Licensing
Agreement is subject to the reporting and announcement
requirements but is exempt from the circular and independent
shareholders’ approval requirements pursuant to Chapter 14A of
the Listing Rules.
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The Company believes that the cooperation as contemplated
under the Cooperation Agreement and the Licensing Agreement
will create synergy to the Group, including but not limited to:
(1) enhancing the operational level of the Group in terms of
professional skills; (2) further expanding the recognition of the
Group in the corresponding fields; and (3) providing the Company
with a more stable business environment and operation structure.
With the business growth of Jinyaori Medical, the Company will
further optimize the management system of dental clinics, the
continuing education of dental clinics, and at the same time
increase the private operation service of clinic, which will bring
a favorable impact on the profitability of the Company, which is
in line with the Company’s and the interests of shareholders as a
whole.

Annual Review and Confirmation by the Auditor of the
Company

The Company’s auditor was engaged to report on the Group’s
continuing connected transactions in accordance with Hong Kong
Standard on Assurance Engagements 3000 (Revised), Assurance
Engagements Other than Audits or Reviews of Historical Financial
Information and with reference to Practice Note 740 (Revised),
Auditor’s Letter on Continuing Connected Transactions under
the Hong Kong Listing Rules issued by the Hong Kong Institute
of Certified Public Accountants. The auditor has issued his
unmodified letter containing his findings and conclusions in
respect of the continuing connected transactions disclosed by the
Group on pages 123 to 132 of the Annual Report in accordance
with Main Board Listing Rule 14A.56. A copy of the auditor’s letter
has been provided by the Company to The Stock Exchange of
Hong Kong Limited.

Annual Review by the Independent Non-executive Directors

Pursuant to Rule 14A.55 of the Listing Rules, the independent
non-executive Directors have reviewed the above continuing
connected transactions and confirmed that the above continuing
connected transactions were entered into (i) in the ordinary and
usual course of business of our Group; (ii) on normal commercial
terms or better; and (iii) pursuant to the agreements governing
them on terms that are fair and reasonable and in the interests of
the Company and the Shareholders as a whole.
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For further details of the Medical Product Procurement Framework
Agreement, please refer to the section headed “Connected
Transactions” in the Prospectus.

Provision of Loan and Pledge of Shares

On September 28, 2022, the Company entered into a loan
agreement (the “Loan Agreement’) with Beier Holdings Limited
(“Beier”), pursuant to which the Company agreed to provide
a loan facility in the principal amount of US$11 million at an
interest rate of 4.5% per annum to Beier for a term of 9 months
to finance the repayment of the existing loan. Please refer to the
announcement of the Company dated September 29, 2022 for
details.

On June 27, 2023, the Company and Beier entered into an
amendment agreement to the Loan Agreement (the “Amendment
Agreement”), pursuant to which the Company and Beier
conditionally agreed that, among others, (i) the term of the Loan
shall be extended for a period from 9 months to 18 months
commencing from the September 30, 2022, and (ii) the interest
rate of the Loan shall be revised from 4.5% to 5.5% per annum. In
addition, to cover the liabilities and obligations of Beier under the
Amendment Agreement, Beier pledged 9,920,675 ordinary shares
of the Company held by it in favour of the Company as security
for the extended Loan. Please refer to the announcement of the
Company dated June 27, 2023 for details.

Beier is a company incorporated in BVI with limited liability and
wholly-owned by Mr. ZOU Qifang. Mr. Zou is the controlling
shareholder of the Company and therefore a connected person
of the Company. Hence, the provision of the Loan constitutes a
connected transaction for the Company under Chapter 14A of the
Listing Rules. As all applicable percentage ratios (as defined in
Rule 14.07 of the Listing Rules) in respect of the provision of the
Loan are more than 0.1% but less than 5%, the provision of the
Loan is subject to the reporting and announcement requirements
but is exempt from the circular and the independent Shareholders’
approval requirements under Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules.
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The Loan will be used primarily by Beier to refinance the Beier’s
acquisition cost of 9,920,675 Shares in series D-3 pre-IPO
investment conducted in December 2017. Given that (i) Mr.
Zou's acquisition of interests in the Company shows support
and commitment to the Company as Mr. Zou is very confident
in the prospects and long term goal of the Company; (ii) the
Company will receive interest for the Loan at the rate of 4.5%
per annum in short term which is higher than the interest rate
of fixed deposits offered by banks in the PRC and the provision
of Loan can broaden the source of income of the Group; and
(iii) there is no substantial negative impact to the Company’s
operation and financial performance for granting the Loan,
the provision of Loan is considered to be favorable to the
Company. Accordingly, the Directors (including the independent
non-executive Directors) consider that the provision of the Loan,
although not in the ordinary course of business of the Company,
is on normal commercial terms or better and the terms of the Loan
Agreement and the transactions contemplated thereunder are
fair and reasonable and in the interests of the Company and its
Shareholders as a whole.

Save for disclosed above and the Contractual Arrangements as
disclosed in the section headed “Contractual Arrangements”
below, during the Reporting Period, we have not entered into any
connected transaction or continuing connected transaction which
should be disclosed pursuant to the Rules 14A.49 and 14A.71 of
the Listing Rules.

CONTRACTUAL ARRANGEMENTS

The Group has entered into the Contractual Arrangements with
Beijing Ruier, Shenzhen Ruijian and the Registered Shareholder,
to enable us to, among other things, (1) obtain substantially all of
the economic benefits from Shenzhen Ruijian in consideration for
the management and consultation services provided by Beijing
Ruier in this regard; (2) exercise effective control over VIE Entities;
and (3) hold an exclusive option to purchase all or any part of
equity interests in Shenzhen Ruijian where permitted by PRC
laws. Accordingly, through the Contractual Arrangements, the VIE
Entities’ results of operations, assets and liabilities, and cash flows
will be consolidated into the Company’s financial statements.
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Notes:

(10)

(1)

(12)

(13)

(14)

Please refer to “~Entrustment Agreement and Powers of
Attorney” below for details.

Please refer to “~Exclusive Option Agreement” below for
details.

Please refer to “~Equity Pledge Agreement” below for details.

Please refer to “~Exclusive Operation Services Agreement”
below for details.

The Registered Shareholder is Ms. ZOU Lifang, who is a PRC
citizen and the sister of our founder Mr. ZOU Qifang. Ms. Zou
holds 100% interest of Shenzhen Ruijian.

The remaining 70% interest of Beijing Shengbin was held by
Beijing Ruisheng, a wholly-owned subsidiary of the WFOE.

The remaining 70% interest of Beijing Ruicheng was held by
Beijing Ruisheng.

The remaining 70% interest of Shanghai Yazheng was held by
Shanghai Ruicheng, a wholly-owned subsidiary of the WFOE.

The remaining 70% interest of Shenzhen Ruier was held by the
WFOE.

The remaining 70% interest of Shanghai Ruitai was held by
Shanghai Ruicheng.

The remaining 70% interest of Hangzhou Shengbin was held
by Shanghai Ruicheng.

The remaining 70% interest of Shanghai Shengbin was held by
Shanghai Ruicheng.

The remaining 70% and 20% interest of Qingdao Ruigi was
held by Beijing Ruisheng and Chengdu Ruibowen Hospital
Management Center LLP (K& HEIXEREEFP L (EBE
%)), a limited partnership set up by some of our employees,
including Mr. QU Bo and Mr. HU Yunfan, who are senior
management of the Company.

The remaining 70% interest of Chongqging Jinmei was held by
the WFOE.
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(17)

(18)

The remaining 70% interest of Chongqging Jiuyue was held by
Chongging Ruijing, a wholly-owned subsidiary of the WFOE.

The remaining 70% and 12% interest of Chongqging Ruitai
was held by Chongqing Ruijing and Chongging Ruibang
Xingtai Hospital Management Center LLP (EEHEIFER
BEERL (E@BEH)), a limited partnership set up by some
of our employees, including Mr. HU Xing, who is our senior
management.

The remaining 90% interest of Chengdu Wuhou Ruitai was held
by Chongging Ruijing.

The remaining 90% interest of Guangzhou Yuexiu Ruitai Dental
Hospital Co., Ltd. (BM#EHEmFEOEERBRAF) was held
by Zhuhai Henggin Ruiertai Hospital Investment Co., Ltd. (¥
BEERMRERREABRAR]), a wholly-owned subsidiary of
the WFOE, and Hainan Yongrui Enterprise Management Center
(Limited Partnership) (BEZERTEEREF L (BRE®)), the
Independent Third Party, as to 70% and 20%, respectively.

Summary of the Contractual Arrangements

A brief description of each of the specific agreements that
comprise the Contractual Arrangements is set out as follows:

(1)

Exclusive Operation Services Agreement

Beijing Ruier, the Registered Shareholder, Shenzhen
Ruijian and subsidiaries directly held by Shenzhen Ruijian
entered into an exclusive operation services agreement
on August 20, 2020 (the “Exclusive Operation Services
Agreement”), pursuant to which, inter alia, Shenzhen
Ruijian agreed to engage Beijing Ruier as the exclusive
operation service consultant and service provider in
exchange for a service fee.

(17)

(18)
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Under the Exclusive Operation Services Agreements, the
services to be provided include but are not limited to (i)
formulation and implementation of plans in relation to
current and future assets and business operation matters
of Shenzhen Ruijian and the VIE Entities; (ii) provision
of opinions, advices and management to the human
resources and operations of Shenzhen Ruijian and the
VIE Entities, including but not limited to improvement
measures on employee management and continuing
staff training plan; (iii) relevant technical and commercial
information collection and market research, providing
industry information and management decision; (iv) client
referral and providing advice and decision on marketing
promotion; (v) appointment of technical staff for Shenzhen
Ruijian and the VIE Entities, providing overall technical
operation monitoring and market strategies research;
(vi) provision of opinions and advices on the corporate
structure and management system of Shenzhen Ruijian and
the VIE Entities; (vii) providing comprehensive solutions
on medical technologies required by Shenzhen Ruijian
and the VIE Entities including medical technologies
management consultancy services, medical resources
sharing, recruitment and training of professional staff;
(viii) selection and referral of eligible supplier, quality
control of medicine and medical devices; (ix) appointment
of technical staff to monitor quality of medical services
provided by the VIE Entities; (x) other technical
services, operation maintenance, equipment supply
and management consultancy services as requested by
Shenzhen Ruijian and the VIE Entities from time to time to
the extent permissible under the PRC laws. Beijing Ruier
has proprietary rights to all the intellectual properties
developed or created by itself from the performance of
these services. During the term of the Exclusive Operation
Service Agreement, Beijing Ruier may use the intellectual
property rights owned by Shenzhen Ruijian and the
VIE Entities free of charge and without any conditions.
Shenzhen Ruijian and the VIE Entities may also use the
intellectual property work created by Beijing Ruier in the
course of provision of services in accordance with the
Exclusive Operation Service Agreement.
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Under the Exclusive Operation Services Agreements,
the service fee shall be an amount equal to the annual
distributable profits of the VIE Entities obtained by
Shenzhen Ruijian, after deducting the losses from the
previous financial years (if any) and the statutory reserves
(if applicable), subject to the applicable PRC laws and
regulations. Apart from the service fees, the VIE Entities
shall reimburse all reasonable costs, payments and out-of-
pocket expenses incurred by Beijing Ruier in connection
with the performance of the Exclusive Operation Services
Agreement and provision of services thereunder.

In addition, without the prior written consent of Beijing
Ruier, during the term of the Exclusive Operation Services
Agreement, the Registered Shareholder, Shenzhen Ruijian
and the subsidiaries directly held by Shenzhen Ruijian shall
not enter into any written or oral agreement with any third
party for provision of the same or similar services as those
provided thereunder. Beijing Ruier has the right to appoint
any third party to provide any or all of the services, or to
fulfill any of its obligations under the Exclusive Operation
Services Agreement.

The Exclusive Operation Services Agreement shall be
effective upon signing, and shall remain valid for three
years. Subject to compliance with the Listing Rules,
the Exclusive Operation Services Agreement shall be
automatically renewed for a term of three years upon its
expiration, unless terminated in accordance with the terms
therein.
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(1)

The Exclusive Operation Services Agreement can only be
terminated in the following events: (i) if Beijing Ruier and/
or its designated person(s) are able to indirectly or directly
holdall the equity interests in the VIE Entities as permitted
by the PRC laws then in force, and upon duly transfer of
all the equity interests or assets of the the VIE Entities
directly or indirectly owned by Shenzhen Ruijian have been
transferred to Beijing Ruier or its designated person(s)
pursuant to applicable PRC laws and regulations, (ii) if
Beijing Ruier and/or its designated person(s) are able to
directly hold all the equity interests in Shenzhen Ruijian
as the PRC laws then in force, and upon duly transfer of
all of the equity interests in Shenzhen Ruijian owned by
the Registered Shareholder to Beijing Ruier and/or its
designated person(s) pursuant to applicable PRC laws
and regulations, (iii) Beijing Ruier unilaterally terminates
the agreement, or (iv) continuing performance of the
agreement will result in violation of or non-compliance with
the applicable PRC laws and regulations, the Listing Rules
or other requirements of the Stock Exchange.

Exclusive Option Agreement

On August 20, 2020, Beijing Ruier, the Registered
Shareholder and Shenzhen Ruijian entered into an
exclusive option agreement (the “Exclusive Option
Agreement”).

Pursuant to the Exclusive Option Agreement, Beijing Ruier
was granted an irrevocable, unconditional and exclusive
right to purchase all or any part of the equity interests in
and/or assets of Shenzhen Ruijian held at present or in the
future for a consideration equivalent to the lowest price
permitted under the PRC laws at the time of purchase. The
Registered Shareholder and Shenzhen Ruijian agreed to
refund all amount received in the transfer of equity interests
or assets, as the case maybe, under the Exclusive Option
Agreement to Beijing Ruier or any designee.

(1)
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The Registered Shareholder, among other things, has
covenanted that, without the prior written consent of Beijing

Ruier:

(i)

(if)

(iii)

(iv)

(ix)

she will not transfer or otherwise dispose or create
any encumbrances on any of her equity interest in
Shenzhen Ruijian;

she will not increase, decrease or change the
structure of the registered capital of Shenzhen
Ruijian, and shall not approve Shenzhen Ruijian to
merge, consolidate with, acquire or invest in any
entity;

she will not dispose or cause the management of
Shenzhen Ruijian to dispose any material assets
with a fair value above RMB500,000;

she will not terminate or cause the management of
Shenzhen Ruijian to terminate any material contracts
with a value above RMB500,000, or enter into
any agreements that contradicts with the material
contracts that currently in force;

she will not appoint or change any director,
supervisor or any other management personnel of
Shenzhen Ruijian that should be appointed by the
Registered Shareholder;

she will not cause or permit the distribution of any
distributable profits and dividends;

she will not amend the articles of association of
Shenzhen Ruijian;

she will not cause or permit Shenzhen Ruijian
to provide any loan or guarantee in any kind, or
undertake any substantive duties other than in the
ordinary course of business;

she will not cause or permit Shenzhen Ruijian to
enter into any transaction or take any action that
may affect its assets, rights, duties and operation;
and

she will not directly or indirectly engage, possess or
acquire any business which competes or is likely to
compete with the business of Shenzhen Ruijian.

BRBRER (K efE) 24 EARIUSFIER
HhEAEAEERBNERT
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(iv)

(vii)

(viii)

(ix)
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The Registered Shareholder further undertakes that, upon
Beijing Ruier issuing the notice to exercise the option in
accordance with the Exclusive Option Agreement, the
Registered Shareholder will take all necessary actions to
procure the transfer and relinquish the pre-emptive right (if
any). Each of the parties to the Exclusive Option Agreement
confirms and agrees that (i) in the event of a dissolution or
liquidation of Shenzhen Ruijian under the PRC laws, all the
residual assets attributable to the Registered Shareholder
in Shenzhen Ruijian shall be transferred to Beijing Ruier or
its designated person(s) at the minimum purchase price
permitted under PRC laws, and the Registered Shareholder
undertakes that she shall refund all amount received in the
transfer to Beijing Ruier or any designee. Each of Beijing
Ruier, the Registered Shareholder and Shenzhen Ruijian
confirmed and agreed that, in the event of bankruptcy,
reorganization, merger or shareholder change of Shenzhen
Ruijian which affects the Registered Shareholder’s
equity interest in Shenzhen Ruijian, the successor of the
Registered Shareholder shall be bound by the Exclusive
Option Agreement, and any disposal of interests (including
but not limited to equity interest, debt and asset) in
Shenzhen Ruijian contained in any debt arrangement,
reorganization agreement and any other legal documents
shall not contradict with the Exclusive Option Agreement
unless otherwise with the prior written consent of Beijing
Ruier.

The Exclusive Option Agreement shall be effective upon
execution and have an indefinite term unless terminated
in the following events: (i) if Beijing Ruier and/or its
designated person(s) are able to directly hold all the
equity interests in Shenzhen Ruijian as permitted by the
PRC laws then in force, and upon duly transfer of all of the
equity interests in Shenzhen Ruijian or all of the assets of
Shenzhen Ruijian owned by the Registered Shareholder
to Beijing Ruier and/or its designated person(s) pursuant
to applicable PRC laws and regulations, (ii) Beijing Ruier
unilaterally terminates the agreement, or (iii) continuing
performance of the obligations of the agreements will
result in violation of or non-compliance with the applicable
PRC laws and regulations, the Listing Rules or other
requirements of the Stock Exchange.
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(iii)

Entrustment Agreement and Powers of Attorney

On August 20, 2020, Beijing Ruier and the Registered
Shareholder entered into a shareholders’ rights entrustment
agreement (the “Entrustment Agreement”) with Shenzhen
Ruijian and executed a powers of attorney (the “Powers of
Attorney”) in favor of Mr. ZOU Qifang (the “Attorney”).

Pursuant to the Entrustment Agreement and the Powers
of Attorney, (i) the Registered Shareholder irrevocably
authorizes Beijing Ruier or its designated person(s) (namely
the Directors and liquidator or other successor who acts
in the capacity of a Director but excluding any non-
independent persons or persons with potential conflicts of
interests) and the Attorney to exercise all of her rights and
powers as a shareholder of Shenzhen Ruijian on behalf of
her, including without limitation:

o to execute shareholder resolutions as her proxy;

. to exercise all shareholder’s voting rights in
accordance with PRC laws and the constitutional
documents of Shenzhen Ruijian, including but not
limited to the appointment of legal representative,
director and supervisor of Shenzhen Ruijian,
amendment of the articles of association of
Shenzhen Ruijian, decision on the increase and
decrease of registered capital, merger, split and
transfer of equity interests in Shenzhen Ruijian as
her proxy; and

o to receive any residual assets of Shenzhen Ruijian
as her proxy in the event of dissolution or liquidation
of Shenzhen Ruijian.

(iii)
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The Registered Shareholder undertakes that, the
authorization granted under the Entrustment Agreement will
not result in any potential conflicts of interests between her
and Beijing Ruier or its designee. If any potential conflicts
of interests arises, the Registered Shareholder shall protect
and not harm the interests of Beijing Ruier, its subsidiaries
or its indirect offshore shareholders. If there is any conflict
of interests, the Registered Shareholder shall take action
to eliminate such conflict of interests in a timely manner
and as approved by Beijing Ruier or its designee. In the
event that the Registered Shareholder refuses to take such
action, Beijing Ruier is entitled to exercise the option under
the Exclusive Option Agreement in accordance with the
relevant PRC laws and regulations.

The Entrustment Agreement and Powers of Attorney shall
be effective upon signing and have an indefinite term
unless terminated in the following events: (i) if Beijing Ruier
and/or its designated person(s) are able to directly hold
all the equity interests in Shenzhen Ruijian as permitted by
the PRC laws then in force, and upon duly transfer of all of
the equity interests in Shenzhen Ruijian or all of the assets
of Shenzhen Ruijian owned by the Registered Shareholder
to Beijing Ruier and/or its designated person(s) pursuant
to applicable PRC laws and regulations, (ii) Beijing Ruier
unilaterally terminates the agreements, or (iii) continuing
performance of the agreement will result in violation of
or non-compliance with the applicable PRC laws and
regulations, the Listing Rules or other requirements of the
Stock Exchange.
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(iv)

Equity Pledge Agreement

On August 20, 2020, Beijing Ruier, Shenzhen Ruijian and
the Registered Shareholder entered into an equity pledge
agreement (the “Equity Pledge Agreement’), pursuant to
which (i) the Registered Shareholder agrees to pledge all
of her equity interest in Shenzhen Ruijian to Beijing Ruier
as a security interest to guarantee the performance of the
contractual obligations and payment of outstanding debts
under the Contractual Arrangements.

If the Registered Shareholder receives any dividend from
Shenzhen Ruijian during the term of the Equity Pledge
Agreement, the Registered Shareholder agrees to give
all the dividends she received to Beijing Ruier as a gift.
In the event of any breach of obligations by Shenzhen
Ruijian or the Registered Shareholder, Beijing Ruier, upon
issuing a written notice to the Registered Shareholder, will
be entitled to all remedies available under PPC laws and
the Contractual Arrangements, including but not limited to
disposing of the equity interests pledged in its favor.

Pursuant to the Equity Pledge Agreement, the Registered
Shareholder undertakes to Beijing Ruier, among others, not
to transfer the equity interests pledged and not to create
or permit the creation of any other pledge or encumbrance
without Beijing Ruier’s prior written consent. Shenzhen
Ruijian further undertakes to Beijing Ruier not to assist
or permit any transfer of the equity interests pledged or
to assist or permit the creation of any other pledge or
encumbrance without Beijing Ruier’s prior written consent.

The Equity Pledge Agreement shall remain effective unless
terminate in the following events: (i) if Beijing Ruier and/
or its designated person(s) are able to directly hold all the
equity interests in Shenzhen Ruijian as permitted by the
PRC laws then in force, and upon duly transfer of all of the
equity interests in Shenzhen Ruijian or all of the assets of
Shenzhen Ruijian to Beijing Ruier and/or its designated
person(s) pursuant to applicable PRC laws and regulations,
(ii) Beijing Ruier unilaterally terminates the agreement, or
(iii) continuing performance of the agreement will result in
violation of or non-compliance with the applicable PRC laws
and regulations, the Listing Rules or other requirements of
the Stock Exchange.

(iv)
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Reasons for adopting the Contractual Arrangements

Our VIE Entities primarily engage in the operation of dental clinics
and dental hospitals in China. According to the Negative List,
medical institutions fall within the “restricted” investment category,
and therefore may not be held 100% by foreign investors, and
foreign investments are restricted to the form of sino-foreign joint
venture (the “Foreign Ownership Restriction”). In light of the
Foreign Ownership Restriction, we determined that it was not
viable for our Company to (i) directly or indirectly hold more than
90% equity interest in medical institutions in Sichuan province
such as Chengdu Wuhou Ruitai and its subsidiaries; or (ii) directly
or indirectly hold more than 70% equity interest in medical
institutions of other provinces including Chongging. As such,
upon completion of the reorganization, we through the Contractual
Arrangements indirectly hold 90% equity interest in Chengdu
Wuhou Ruitai and 70% equity interest in (i) Beijing Shengbin, (ii)
Beijing Ruicheng, (iii) Shanghai Yazheng, (iv) Shenzhen Ruier,
(v) Shanghai Ruitai, (vi) Hangzhou Shengbin, (vii) Shanghai
Shengbin, (viii) Qingdao Ruigi, (ix) Chongging Ruisheng (through
Chongging Jinmei), (x) Chongging Jiuyue, (xi) Chongging Ruitai,
(xii) Chongqing Ruihong Dental Clinic Co., Ltd. (EE 7 QB2
ABRAA], (xiii) Chongging Ruihua Dental Clinic Co., Ltd. (EEs
ZEOREMZ AR 2AA]) and (xiv) Guangzhou Yuexiu Ruitai Dental
Hospital Co., Ltd. (BE/MBFiHEORERERAR).

In order to comply with PRC laws and regulations, as well as to
maintain maximum equity control over and to obtain all of the
economic benefits derived from the operation of VIE Entities, the
Company, through its wholly owned subsidiary, Beijing Ruier,
entered into a series of the Contractual Arrangements.

For further details of the foreign investment restrictions, please
refer to the section headed “Contractual Arrangements -
Background of the Contractual Arrangements” of the Prospectus.
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Risks relating to the Contractual Arrangements

There are certain risks that are associated with the Contractual
Arrangements, including:

(i)

(if)

if the PRC government finds that the agreements that
establish the structure for operating the Company’s
business in China do not comply with applicable PRC
laws and regulations, or if these regulations or their
interpretations change in the future, the Group could be
subject to severe consequences, including the nullification
of the Contractual Arrangements and the relinquishment of
the Company’s interest in the VIE Entities;

the Registered Shareholder of Shenzhen Ruijian may have
conflicts of interest with the Company, which may materially
and adversely affect our business and financial condition;

the Contractual Arrangements may not be as effective in
providing control as direct ownership;

if the Company exercise the option to acquire equity
ownership and assets of Shenzhen Ruijian, the ownership
or asset transfer may subject us to certain limitations and
substantial costs.

Actions taken by the Group to mitigate the risks relating to
the Contractual Arrangements

Our Group has adopted the following measures to ensure the
effective operation with the implementation and compliance of the
Contractual Arrangements:

(1)

major issues arising from the implementation and
compliance with the Contractual Arrangements or any
regulatory enquiries from government authorities will
be submitted to the Board, if necessary, for review and
discussion on an occurrence basis;

the Board will review the overall performance of and
compliance with the Contractual Arrangements at least
once a year;
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(3) the Company will disclose the overall performance
and compliance with the Contractual Arrangements in
our annual reports and interim reports to update our
Shareholders and potential investors; and

(4) the Company will engage external legal advisers or other
professional advisers, if necessary, to assist the Board to
review the implementation of the Contractual Arrangements
and the legal compliance of Beijing Ruier and the VIE
Entities to deal with specific issues or matters arising from
the Contractual Arrangements.

Listing Rules Implications and Waiver from the Stock
Exchange

The VIE Entities will be treated as the Company’s wholly-owned
subsidiaries, and their directors, chief executives or substantial
shareholders (as defined in the Listing Rules) and their respective
associates will be treated as the Company’s connected persons.
Shenzhen Ruijian will be treated as a connected person of the
Company. Accordingly, the transactions contemplated under
the Contractual Arrangements constitute continuing connected
transactions of our Group and are subject to reporting,
announcement and independent Shareholders’ approval
requirements under Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules.

In relation to the Contractual Arrangements, we have applied to
the Stock Exchange for, and the Stock Exchange has granted, a
waiver from strict compliance with (i) the announcement, circular
and independent shareholders’ approval requirements under
Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules in respect of the transactions
contemplated under the Contractual Arrangements pursuant
to Rule 14A.105 of the Listing Rules, (ii) the requirement of
setting an annual cap for the transactions under the Contractual
Arrangements under Rule 14A.53 of the Listing Rules, and (iii) the
requirement of limiting the term of the Contractual Arrangements
to three years or less under Rule 14A.52 of the Listing Rules,
for so long as our Shares are listed on the Stock Exchange
subject however to the conditions provided under the waiver. For
further details, please refer to the section headed “Connected
Transactions” of the Prospectus.
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Material Change or Termination of the Contractual
Arrangements

During the year ended March 31, 2023, (i) there were no new
contractual arrangements entered into, renewed or reproduced
between the Group and the VIE Entities, (ii) there were no material
changes in the Contractual Arrangements or the circumstances
under which they were adopted, and (iii) none of the structured
contracts under the Contractual Arrangements mentioned
above has been unwound as none of the restrictions that led
to the adoption of structured contracts under the Contractual
Arrangements have been removed.

Annual Review

The Directors, including the independent non-executive Directors,
have reviewed the Contractual Arrangements and have confirmed
that the Contractual Arrangements were entered into (i) in the
ordinary and usual course of business of the Group, (ii) on normal
commercial terms, and (iii) in accordance with the respective
agreements governing them on terms that are fair and reasonable
and in the interests of the Company and its Shareholders as a
whole.

The independent non-executive Directors have reviewed the
Contractual Arrangements and confirmed that:

(a) the transactions carried out during the year ended March
31, 2023 have been entered into in accordance with the
relevant provisions of the Contractual Arrangements, and
that the profit generated by the VIE Entities has been
substantially retained by Beijing Ruier;

(b) no dividends or other distributions have been made by
the VIE Entities or any non-wholly owned subsidiary of
the Group to the holders of its equity interests which are
not otherwise subsequently assigned or transferred to the
Group; and

(c) other than the Contractual Arrangements, no new contracts
have been entered into, renewed and/or reproduced
between the Group and the VIE Entities during the year
ended March 31, 2023.
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The Company'’s auditor was engaged to report on the Contractual
Arrangement in accordance with Hong Kong Standard
on Assurance Engagements 3000 (Revised), Assurance
Engagements Other than Audits or Reviews of Historical Financial
Information and with reference to Practice Note 740 (Revised),
Auditor’s Letter on Continuing Connected Transactions under
the Hong Kong Listing Rules issued by the Hong Kong Institute
of Certified Public Accountants. The auditor has issued his
unmodified letter containing his findings and conclusions in
respect of the Contractual Arrangement. A copy of the auditor’s
letter has been provided by the Company to The Stock Exchange
of Hong Kong Limited.

CONTRACT OF SIGNIFICANCE

Save as disclosed in the section headed “Connected
Transactions” and “Contractual Arrangements” above, no contract
of significance was entered into between the Company, or one of
its subsidiary companies, and any of its Controlling Shareholders
or subsidiaries for the year ended March 31, 2023.

PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF THE
COMPANY’S LISTED SECURITIES

Save for the 5,291,000 Shares purchased by Arrail Revival
Holdings Limited, a limited liability company set up by the
Company as a platform holding underlying Shares for the 2022
RSU Scheme, at cash consideration of HK$39.3 million on the
Stock Exchange for 2022 RSU Scheme, neither the Company nor
any of its subsidiaries purchased, sold or redeemed any listed
securities of the Company during the Reporting Period.

PURCHASE OF WEALTH MANAGEMENT PRODUCT

As at March 31, 2023, the Group invested in the wealth
management products from GF Global Capital Limited amounting
to US$20,263,000 (equivalent to RMB139,240,000).

As at March 31, 2023, the Group invested in the wealth
management products from Huatai International Financial
Products Limited amounting to US$16,402,000 (equivalent to
RMB112,710,000).
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The source of funding for the above wealth management products
are the Group’s internal funds that are not required immediately
for operation or capital expenditure purposes rather than the
proceeds from the initial public offering. The purchases of above
wealth management products are considered to be part of the
Group's treasury management to improve the utilization of its
idle funds and to bring higher return on capital. In addition, the
Company has taken into account the capital needs for daily
operations and capital expenditure when purchasing the wealth
management product and determining the respective subscription
amount. The purchases of above wealth management products
will not affect the daily operations of the Company. To the best
of the Directors’ knowledge, information and belief after having
made all reasonable enquiries, GF Global Capital Limited, Huatai
International Financial Products Limited and its ultimate beneficial
owners are third parties independent of the Company and its
connected persons.

MATERIAL LITIGATION

The Company was not involved in any material litigation or
arbitration for the year ended March 31, 2023. The Directors are
also not aware of any material litigation or claims that are pending
or threatened against the Group during the year ended March 31,
2023.

USE OF PROCEEDS FROM GLOBAL OFFERING

The Company’s Shares were listed on the Stock Exchange on
March 22, 2022. The net proceeds from the Global Offering
amounted to approximately HK$589.9 million. The net proceeds
from the Global Offering will be utilized in the same manner and
proportion as set out in the Prospectus under the section headed
“Future Plans and Use of Proceeds”.
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For the Reporting Period, the Company had used the net proceeds  ¥R&EHR - NA B D # 2B & F RIS FIE AR IA
from the Global Offering for the following purposes: TA#® :
Utilization Unutilized  Expected
Amount of Unutilized during the  net proceeds timeframe
net proceeds Percentage  net proceeds year ended as of for
for the of total net  as of April 1, March 31, March 31, unutilized
relevant use proceeds 2022 2023 2023 net proceeds
HZ2022F BZ2023%F
48186 #Z2023% 3A31AN ABAF
BREBRAZ ARG ABAE 3A318 ABAE FBNE
WEFMEHE  HENEIL FERE LFEBA FEXE RAERERX
HK$ million % HK$ million HK$ million HK$ million
BEAT B BEET BEET BEAT
Business expansion
EBER
Increase penetration and grow footprint in 3244 55.0% 324.4 49.2 275.2  over the next
existing and emerging Tier-1 cities in five years
China and existing Tier-2 cities in China
RER A RITE- ST RAERE R ARRER
HmiRe 2R X T EABEN
Expansion into new key 118.0 20.0% 118.0 25.0 93.0  over the next
Tier-2 cities in China five years
BRE P EA %0 —BHm ARBER
Subtotal 442.4 75.0% 442.4 74.2 368.2
it
Build and optimize IT infrastructure 88.5 15.0% 88.5 35.0 53.5 over the next
five years
BERRELESHMERERE AREER
Working capital 59.0 10.0% 59.0 7.9 51.1  over the next
five years
2EES ARLER
Total 589.9 100.0% 589.9 1171 472.8
#ct

The net proceeds have been and will be utilized in accordance FiIBRABEFHACKLGRIBEHEBRSEMEARE
with the purposes set out in the Prospectus. The unutilized net F - XKEAERBFEBEHEREZE 202743 A
proceeds are expected to be fully utilized by the year ending 31HIFFEERHEA o FlekFT15 088 78 45 B 85
March 31, 2027. The expected timeline for utilizing the remaining 4R ThE R AR B8 R R E KB REZ AT RIED
proceeds is based on the best estimation of the future progress of M EMET - KA T RO ERMKRRERME
business expansion and market conditions made by the Company.  FT&E&) -

It will be subject to change based on the current and future

development of market conditions.
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PUBLIC FLOAT

Based on the information that is publicly available to the Company
and within the knowledge of the Directors as at the date of this
annual report, the Company has maintained the prescribed
percentage of public float under the Listing Rules.

AUDITOR

PricewaterhouseCoopers has audited the consolidated financial
statements for the year ended March 31, 2023. A resolution
regarding the re-appointment of PricewaterhouseCoopers as the
Group’s auditor will be proposed at the AGM. There is no change
of auditor of the Company in the past three years.

IMPORTANT EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING
PERIOD

On September 28, 2022, the Company and Beier Holdings Limited
(“Beier”) entered into a loan agreement (the “Loan Agreement”),
pursuant to which the Company provided a loan facility to Beier
in an aggregate principal amount of US$11,000,000 (equivalent to
RMB77,164,000) (the “Loan”). The Loan was drawn down by Beier
in full on September 30, 2022. The Loan was unsecured, interest
bearing at 4.5% per annum, and repayable in nine months from
the date of utilisation.

On June 27, 2023, the Company and Beier entered into an
amendment agreement to the Loan Agreement (the “Amendment
Agreement”), pursuant to which the Company and Beier
conditionally agreed that, among others, (i) the term of the Loan
shall be extended for a period from 9 months to 18 months
commencing from the September 30, 2022, and (ii) the interest
rate of the Loan shall be revised from 4.5% to 5.5% per annum. In
addition, to cover the liabilities and obligations of Beier under the
Amendment Agreement, Beier pledged 9,920,675 ordinary shares
of the Company held by it in favour of the Company as security for
the extended Loan. Save for the above, all the material terms and
conditions of the Loan Agreement remain unchanged and in force
and effect.

Save as disclosed above and elsewhere in this annual report,
there have been no other material events subsequent to the year
ended March 31, 2023 and up to the date of this annual report,
which require adjustment or disclosure in accordance with IFRSs.
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FUTURE PLANS FOR MATERIAL INVESTMENTS AND
CAPITAL ASSETS

Save as disclosed in this annual report, we do not have any plan
for material investments and capital assets.

ANNUAL GENERAL MEETING AND CLOSURE OF
THE REGISTER OF MEMBERS

For determining the entitlement of the Shareholders to attend
the AGM of the Company to be held on Tuesday, September 26,
2023, the register of members of the Company will be closed
from Thursday, September 21, 2023 to Tuesday, September 26,
2023, both days inclusive. In order to be eligible to attend and
vote at the AGM, all transfer accompanied by the relevant share
certificates and transfer forms must be lodged with the Company’s
branch share registrar in Hong Kong, Computershare Hong
Kong Investor Services Limited, at Shops 1712-1716, 17th Floor,
Hopewell Centre, 183 Queen’s Road East, Wanchai, Hong Kong
before 4:30 p.m. on Wednesday, September 20, 2023.

By Order of the Board

Arrail Group Limited
Mr. ZOU Qifang
Chairman

Beijing, PRC, June 27, 2023
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The Board presents this corporate governance report in the
Group’s annual report for the year ended March 31, 2023.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE PRACTICES

The Company is committed to maintaining high standards
of corporate governance to safeguard the interests of the
Shareholders and to enhance corporate value and accountability.
The Company has adopted the principles and the code provisions
of the Corporate Governance Code contained in Appendix 14 to
the Listing Rules to ensure that the Company’s business activities
and decision-making processes are regulated in a proper and
prudent manner.

The Company had complied with all the applicable code
provisions under the Corporate Governance Code during the
Reporting Period, save and except for deviation from code
provisions C.2.1 and C.5.7 of the Corporate Governance Code.
Details of the deviation from code provision C.2.1 of the Corporate
Governance Code are explained in the section “Chairman and
chief executive officer” of this corporate governance report.

As for the deviation from code provision C.5.7 of the Corporate
Governance Code, pursuant to such code provision,
substantial shareholder or a director has a conflict of interest
in a matter to be considered by the board which the board
has determined to be material, the matter should be dealt with
by a physical board meeting rather than a written resolution.
Independent non-executive directors who, and whose close

if a

associates, have no material interest in the transaction should
be present at that board meeting. During the Reporting Period,
the Board approved the connected transaction in respect of
the provision of loan to Mr. Zou, the controlling shareholder of
the Company, by passing a written resolution. The Board is of
the view that taking into account the requirements of pandemic
prevention and control and also in order to facilitate the efficiency
of decision-making and implementation, it is decided to approve
the transaction by way of written resolutions. Furthermore, Mr. Zou
abstained from voting on the relevant Board resolutions.
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MODEL CODE FOR SECURITIES TRANSACTIONS BY
DIRECTORS

The Company has adopted the Guidelines for Securities
Transactions by Directors (the “Written Guidelines”) on no less
exacting terms than the Model Code as its own code of conduct
regarding securities transactions by the Directors.

Having made specific enquiry of all Directors, all of them have
confirmed that they have complied with the Model Code and the
Written Guidelines during the Reporting Period. No incident of
non-compliance of the Written Guidelines by the employees who
are likely to be in possession of inside information of the Company
was noted by the Company.

THE BOARD
Board Composition

The Board currently comprises of seven members, consisting of
four executive Directors and three independent non-executive
Directors. The composition of the Board is as follows:

Executive Directors

Mr. Zou Qifang (Chairman)
Ms. Qin Jessie Xin

Mr. Zhang Jincai

Mr. Zou Jianlong

Independent non-executive Directors

Ms. Liu Xiaomei Michelle
Mr. Sun Jian
Mr. Zhang Bang

The list of directors (by category) is also disclosed in all corporate
communications issued by the Company from time to time
pursuant to the Listing Rules. The independent non-executive
Directors are expressly identified in all corporate communications
pursuant to the Listing Rules.

The biographical details of the Directors are set out under “Profiles
of Directors and Senior Management” section in this annual report.
Save as disclosed above, none of the members of the Board had
relationship (including financial, business, family or other material
relationships) with each other.
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Chairman and chief executive officer

Mr. Zou Qifang is the chairman of the Board and chief executive
officer of the Company. Although this deviates from the practice
under code provision C.2.1 of the Corporate Governance Code,
where it provides that the two positions should be held by two
different individuals. As Mr. Zou is the founder of the Group and
has been managing the Group’s business and overall strategic
planning since its establishment, the Directors consider that
vesting the roles of chairman and chief executive officer in Mr. Zou
is beneficial to the business prospects and management of the
Group by ensuring consistent leadership within the Group. Taking
into account all the current corporate governance measures
that we had implemented, the Board considers that the balance
of power and authority for the present arrangement will not be
impaired and this structure will enable the Company to make and
implement decisions promptly and effectively. Accordingly, the
Company had not segregated the roles of its chairman and chief
executive officer. The Board will continue to review and consider
splitting the roles of chairman of the Board and the chief executive
officer of the Company at an appropriate time if necessary, taking
into account the circumstances of the Group as a whole.

Independent non-executive Directors

The independent non-executive Directors bring a wide range of
business and financial expertise, experience and independent
judgement to the Board and they are invited to serve on the Board
committees of the Company. Through active participation at Board
meeting, taking the lead in managing issues involving potential
conflict of interests, all independent non-executive Directors
have made various contributions to the effective direction of
the Company and provided adequate checks and balances to
safeguard the interests of both the Group and the Shareholders.

The Company has received written annual confirmation from each
independent non-executive Director of his/her independence
pursuant to Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules. The Company considers
all independent non-executive Directors to be independent in light
of the independence guidelines set out in Rule 3.13 of the Listing
Rules.
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Appointment and re-election of Directors

All Directors are appointed for a specific term, subject to renewal
upon expiry of the existing term.

Each of the executive Director has entered into a service
contract with the Company on December 1, 2021. The initial
term of their service contract shall commence from the date of
his/her appointment as a Director and continue for a period of
three years after or until the third annual general meeting of the
Company since the Listing Date, whichever is earlier, and shall
be automatically renewed for successive periods of three years
(subject always to re-election as and when required under the
Articles of Association) until terminated in accordance with the
terms and conditions of the service contract or by either party
giving to the other not less than three months’ prior notice in
writing.

Each of the independent non-executive Directors has entered into
an appointment letter with the Company on November 25, 2021.
The initial term for their appointment letters shall commence from
the date of his/her appointment as a Director and continue for a
period of three years after or until the third annual general meeting
of the Company since the Listing Date, whichever is earlier, and
shall be automatically renewed for successive periods of three
years (subject always to re-election as and when required under
the Articles of Association), until terminated in accordance with
the terms and conditions of the appointment letter or by either
party giving to the other not less than three months’ prior notice in
writing.

Save as disclosed above, none of the Directors has entered into
a service contract with the Group that is not determinable by the
Group within one year without payment of compensation (other
than statutory compensation).

The procedure and process of appointment, re-election and
removal of directors are laid down in the Articles of Association.
The Nomination Committee is responsible for reviewing Board
composition, making recommendation to the Board on the
appointment or re-appointment of Directors and succession
planning for the Directors, and assessing the independence of
independent non-executive Directors.
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In accordance with article 109 of the Articles of Association, at
each annual general meeting, one-third of the Directors for the
time being, or, if their number is not three or a multiple of three,
then the number nearest to but not less than one-third, shall retire
from office by rotation provided that every Director (including
those appointed for a specific term) shall be subject to retirement
by rotation at least once every three years. A retiring Director
shall be eligible for re-election. The Director who has not been
subject to retirement by rotation in the three years preceding the
annual general meeting shall retire by rotation at such annual
general meeting. The Directors to retire shall be those who have
been longest in office since their last re-election or appointment
and so that as between persons who became or were last re-
elected Directors on the same day those to retire shall (unless
they otherwise agree among themselves) be determined by lot.

In accordance with article 113 of the Articles of Association, any
Director appointed by the Board to fill a casual vacancy or as an
addition to the existing Board shall hold office only until the first
annual general meeting of the Company after his appointment and
shall then be eligible for re-election.

By virtue of articles 109 and 113 of the Articles of Association, Mr.
Zhang Jincai, Ms. Liu Xiaomei Michelle and Mr. Sun Jian will retire
by rotation from office and, being eligible, will offer himself/herself
for re-election at the forthcoming AGM.

The Board and the Nomination Committee recommended their re-
appointment at the AGM. The Company’s circular, sent together
with this annual report, contains detailed information of the above
recommended persons as required by the Listing Rules.

Duties performed by the Board and management

The Board is responsible for the overall development of the Group,
approving and monitoring the overall development strategy of
the Group and its operation and financial performance, ensuring
that the Directors perform their proper duties and act in the best
interests of the Group and hold discussions on various important
and proper businesses of the Company in a timely manner.
All Directors are entitled to raise and include any matters that
should be submitted to the Board for discussion in the agenda
of the board meeting. The management shall provide members
of the Board and specialized committees under the Board with
appropriate and sufficient information in a timely manner so as
to update them with the latest developments of the Group and to
better facilitate the discharge of their duties. The management
team is accountable to the Board, executing the strategies and
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plans formulated by the Board, and making decisions in relation to
the day-to-day operation of the Group. Directors have resources
to seek independent professional advice in performing their duties
at the Company’s expense and are encouraged to consult with the
Company’s senior management independently.

Appropriate directors’ liability insurance cover has been arranged
by the Company to indemnify the Board members for liabilities
arising out of corporate activities.

Mechanisms to Ensure Independent Views

The Company ensures independent views and input are available
to the Board via the below mechanisms:

1. The Board composition and the independence of the
independent non-executive Directors should be reviewed
by the Nomination Committee on an annual basis, in
particular the portion of the independent non-executive
Directors and the independence of the independent non-
executive director who has served for more than nine
years.

2. A written confirmation was received by the Company
under Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules from each of the
independent non-executive Directors in relation to his/her
independence to the Company. The Company considers all
its independent non-executive directors to be independent.

3. In view of good corporate governance practices and
to avoid conflict of interests, the Directors who are also
directors and/or senior management of the Company’s
controlling shareholders and/or certain subsidiaries of the
controlling shareholders, would abstain from voting in the
relevant Board resolutions in relation to the transactions
with the controlling shareholders and/or its associates.

4. The chairman of the Board shall meet with independent
non-executive Directors at least once annually.

5. All members of the Board can seek independent
professional advice when necessary to perform their
responsibilities in accordance with the company policy.

The Board reviews the mechanisms for ensuring independent
views and input are available to the Board on an annual basis,
whether in terms of proportion, recruitment and independence of
independent non-executive directors, and their contribution and
access to external independent professional advice.
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Training, Induction and Continuing Development of Directors

Induction materials and briefings regarding the duties and
responsibilities of being a Director, the relevant laws and
regulations applicable to the Directors, duty of disclosure of
interest in the Group will be provided to newly appointed Directors
shortly upon their appointment as Directors. Continuing briefings
and professional development to Directors will be arranged
whenever necessary. The Company will continue to arrange and
fund the training in accordance with code provision C.1.4 of the
Corporate Governance Code.

According to the records of the Company, during the Reporting
Period, all Directors have received the following training, the
emphasis of which were on the roles, functions and duties of
directors of companies listed on the Stock Exchange, in order
to comply with the relevant requirements under the Corporate
Governance Code in relation to continuous professional
development of directors:
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Attending
seminars/
Reading briefings
materials B HEIFIE
BAE M R HRE
Executive Directors BITEE

Mr. Zou Qifang (Chairman) BEFHE (FEF) v v
Ms. Qin Jessie Xin FErt V Vv
Mr. Zhang Jincai ERATE vV Vv
Mr. Zou Jianlong BrlgELE V Vv

Independent Non-executive Directors BUIBITESE
Ms. Liu Xiaomei Michelle S sy Vv Vv
Mr. Sun Jian Higkax vV v
Mr. Zhang Bang RES LA v v
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Directors’ Attendance at Meetings

During the Reporting Period, 5 Board meetings and 1 general
meeting were held. Details of the attendance records of Directors’
attendance at the Board meetings, Board committee meetings and
general meeting are set out below:
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No. of Meetings Attended/No. of Meetings Held

HESEAEBITEERY

Audit Nomination Remuneration General
Board Committee Committee Committee Meeting
EEg HEitZEg REZES FMEEE BRAE
Executive Directors HITEE
Mr. Zou Qifang (Chairman) — BEF %L (/) 5/5 - - - 1/1
Ms. Qin Jessie Xin FHL+ 5/5 - - - 1/1
Mr. Zhang Jincai ERA4E 5/5 - - - 1/1
Mr. Zou Jianlong BRIFETE 5/5 - - - 11
Independent Non-executive B FEH{TE.
Directors
Ms. Liu Xiaomei Michelle S ey otan 5/5 2/2 1/1 2/2 1/1
Mr. Sun Jian FRigks 5/5 2/2 1/1 2/2 1/1
Mr. Zhang Bang SRS A 5/5 2/2 1/1 2/2 1/1
During the Reporting Period, save as disclosed in the above H¥REHAN @ B EXRFAWEEIN  THFECEBIIF
table, the chairman has held a meeting with the independent non-  IfTEERITT — X @& °
executive Directors.
Board Committees -
The Board has delegated the authority and responsibility for day- ZEZE@DEARRHEERNLENEILE TR
to-day management and operation of the Company to the senior FTARQAFSREERE  UEBARREHBHNETH

management of the Company to oversee particular aspects
of the Company’s affairs. The Company has established three
committees under the Board pursuant to the regulations and
corporate governance practice requirements under the Listing
Rules, including the Audit Committee, Remuneration Committee
and Nomination Committee. The Board has delegated to the
Board committee responsibility as set out in their respective term
of reference.

Nomination Committee

The Company established the Nomination Committee with written
terms of reference in compliance with paragraph B.3 of the
Corporate Governance Code as set out in Appendix 14 to the
Listing Rules.
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The primary duties of the Nomination Committee include, without
limitation, (a) to review the structure, size, composition and
diversity (including without limitation, gender, age, cultural and
educational background, ethnicity, professional experience, skills,
knowledge and length of service) of the Board at least annually
and make recommendations on any proposed changes to the
Board to complement the Company’'s corporate strategy; (b)
to determine the policy for the nomination of directors, identify
individuals suitably qualified to become members of the Board
and may select individuals nominated for directorship; (c) to
assess the independence of the independent non-executive
directors; and (d) to make recommendations to the Board on
the appointment or reappointment of directors and succession
planning for directors, in particular the chairman and the chief
executive, taking into the Company’s corporate strategy and the
mix of skills, knowledge, experience and diversity needed in the
future.

The Nomination Committee currently consists of three independent
non-executive Directors, namely Ms. Liu Xiaomei Michelle, Mr.
Sun Jian and Mr. Zhang Bang. Mr. Sun Jian is the chairman of the
Nomination Committee.

During the Reporting Period, the Nomination Committee held one
meeting and had reviewed the structure, size and composition of
the Board, assessed the independence of the independent non-
executive Directors and made recommendation to the Board on
the re-election of the Directors at the Company’s annual general
meeting held in 2022.

Board Diversity Policy

The Board has adopted a board diversity policy (the “Board
Diversity Policy”) which sets out the approach to achieve a
sustainable and balanced development of the Company and also
to enhance the quality of performance of the Company.

The Company recognizes and embraces the benefits of diversity
in Board members and see increasing diversity at the Board level
as an essential element in maintaining our competitive advantage.
A board with diversified members includes and capitalizes of
different skills, regional and industry experience, background,
race, gender and other qualities of directors. These differences
will be taken into account in determining the optimum composition
of the Board. As at the date of this annual report, the Board
comprised of seven Directors, including five male Directors and
two female Directors with different appropriate skills, knowledge
and experience to promote and achieve better performance of the
Company. Three of them are independent non-executive Directors,
thereby promoting critical review and control of the management
process.
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Implementation

The Nomination Committee will review annually the structure,
size and composition of the Board and, where appropriate, make
recommendations on changes to the Board to complement the
Company’s corporate strategy.

In relation to reviewing and assessing the Board composition and
the nomination of directors (as applicable), board diversity has to
be considered from a number of aspects, including but not limited
to gender, age, cultural and educational background, professional
qualifications, skills, knowledge, industry and regional experience
and length of services.

The Company will also take into account factors relating to its own
business model and specific needs from time to time. The ultimate
decision is based on merit and contribution that the selected
candidates will bring to the Board.

We aim to maintain an appropriate balance of diversity
perspectives of the Board that are relevant to our business
growth. In particular, we recognise that gender diversity at the
Board level can be improved given two out of seven of our
Directors are female upon the Listing. We will continue to apply
the principle of appointments based on merits with reference to
the Board Diversity Policy as a whole, and we have also taken,
and will continue to take steps to promote gender diversity at
all levels of the Company, including but not limited to the Board
and the management levels. In particular, taking into account the
business needs of the Group and changing circumstances from
time to time that may affect the Group’s business plans, we will
actively identify female individuals suitably qualified to become
the Board members and we aim to achieve a target of 40%
female representation in the Board, during the period of which
we are listed on the Stock Exchange. To further ensure gender
diversity of our Board in a long run, the Group will also identify
and select several female individuals with a diverse range of
skills, experience and knowledge in different fields from time to
time, and maintain a list of such female individuals who possess
qualities to become the Board members, which will be reviewed
by the Nomination Committee quarterly in order to develop a
pipeline of potential successors to the Board to promote gender
diversity of the Board.

As of March 31, 2023, among the 3,409 employees of the Group
(including senior management), 595 are males (17.45%) and
2,814 are females (82.55%). The Board is satisfied with the
gender diversity of the employees.
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Nomination Policy

A nomination policy (the “Nomination Policy”) for Directors was
formally adopted and this incorporated the nomination criteria
and principles for Directors. The Nomination Policy applies to the
Directors and where applicable, senior management prepared for
Board positions under the succession planning of the Company.

The Nomination Policy aims to (i) set out the criteria and process
in the nomination and appointment of the Directors; (ii) ensure
that the Board has a balance of skills, experience and diversity
of perspectives appropriate to the Company; and (iii) ensure the
Board continuity and appropriate leadership at Board level.

In evaluating and selecting any candidate for directorship, the
following criteria should be considered:

. Character and integrity;

. Qualifications including professional qualifications, skills,
knowledge and experience and diversity aspects under the
Board Diversity Policy that are relevant to the Company’s
business and corporate strategy;

° Any measurable objectives adopted for achieving diversity
on the Board;

o Requirement for the Board to have independent Directors
in accordance with the Listing Rules and whether the
candidate would be considered independent with reference
to the independence guidelines set out in the Listing Rules;

. Any potential contributions the candidate can bring to
the Board in terms of qualifications, skills, experience,
independence and gender diversity;

° Willingness and ability to devote adequate time to
discharge duties as a member of the Board and/or Board
committee(s) of the Company; and

o Such other perspectives that are appropriate to the
Company’s business and succession plan and where
applicable, may be adopted and/or amended by the Board
and/or the Nomination Committee from time to time for
nomination of Directors and succession planning.
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Nomination procedure
Appointment of new directors

(1) The Nomination Committee and/or the Board may select
candidates for directorship from various channels,
including but not limited to internal promotion, re-
designation, referral by other member of the management
and external recruitment agents.

(i) The Nomination Committee and/or the Board should, upon
receipt of the proposal on appointment of new director
and the biographical information (or relevant details) of the
candidate, evaluate such candidate based on the criteria
as set out above to determine whether such candidate is
qualified for directorship.

(iii) If the process yields one or more desirable candidates, the
Nomination Committee and/or the Board should rank them
by order of preference based on the needs of the Company
and reference check of each candidate (where applicable).

(iv) The Nomination Committee should then recommend
to the Board to appoint the appropriate candidate for
directorship, as applicable.

(v) For any person that is nominated by a shareholder for
election as a director at the general meeting of the
Company, the Nomination Committee and/or the Board
should evaluate such candidate based on the criteria as
set out above to determine whether such candidate is
qualified for directorship.

Where appropriate, the Nomination Committee and/or the Board
should make recommendation to shareholders in respect of the
proposed election of director at the general meeting.
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Re-election of directors at general meeting

(1) The Nomination Committee and/or the Board should review
the overall contribution and service to the Company of
the retiring director and the level of participation and
performance on the Board.

(i) The Nomination Committee and/or the Board should
also review and determine whether the retiring director
continues to meet the criteria as set out above.

(iii) The Nomination Committee and/or the Board should then
make recommendation to shareholders in respect of the
proposed re-election of director at the general meeting.

Where the Board proposes a resolution to elect or re-elect
a candidate as director at the general meeting, the relevant
information of the candidate will be disclosed in the circular to
shareholders and/or explanatory statement accompanying the
notice of the relevant general meeting in accordance with the
Listing Rules and/or applicable laws and regulations.

Audit Committee

The Company established the Audit Committee with written terms
of reference in compliance with Rule 3.21 of the Listing Rules and
paragraph D.3 of the Corporate Governance Code.

The primary duties of the Audit Committee include, without
limitation, (a) to be primarily responsible for making
recommendation to the Board on the appointment, reappointment
and removal of the external auditor, and to approve the
remuneration and terms of engagement of the external auditor,
and any issues related to its resignation or dismissal; (b) to review
and monitor the external auditor’s independence and objectivity
and the effectiveness of the audit process in accordance with
applicable standards; (c) to monitor integrity of the Company’s
financial statements and annual report and accounts, half-year
report and to review significant financial reporting judgements
contained in them; and (d) to discuss the risk management
and internal control systems with management to ensure that
management has performed its duty to have effective systems.

RERARELEREE

(i) REZEGR/ JEFSTRBIREERY
ARBNEBEEERMERE  AREEEEHN

(i) REEEGLR/ XEFSNERN REER
TEZEREMANA LR -

(i) IBBEZEEh HEFCEEABRERS L
EREEMREABRRIZHEEER -

EEERMNBRRRG LRERAFRESNEZEX
REARES  BHABRRASESVHRRAE
B RSARES - BEREWRAR,SEM
FERIERBBRIRBEANEBER -

FitZRE
ARRIEKILBEFZEE  WRELEHHAIFES.21
R EEERTAED IRHIFTEmMBIERE -

B ZEENIERERE (ETRN) (XEAE
HEE BRZERREINESEFMANESSEL
MR R ALEINE B AN BN & R R BB IR - A
REETAARERIRBENRE (o) RER
SMNEEAEMNBLELREBRENRRBERRESR
MEEZER VB M ¢ (C)BEER AR R B kLA
RERNER - FFEBREOTEN - AEHEF
PREVEVE A TS S #IB - R(d)BRERE T RER
EELRANAEERS  BREEECETRERY
BREEL -



Corporate Governance Report

Corporate Governance Functions

The Audit Committee is also responsible for performing the
corporate governance duties set out in code provision A.2.1 of the
Corporate Governance Code, which include:

(a) to develop and review the Company’s policies
and practices on corporate governance and make
recommendations to the Board;

(b) to review and monitor the training and continuous
professional development of the Directors and senior
management of the Company;

(c) to review and monitor the Company’s policies and practices
on compliance with legal and regulatory requirements;

(d) to develop, review and monitor the code of conduct and
compliance manual (if any) applicable to the Directors and
employees of the Company; and

(e) to review the compliance with the Corporate Governance
Code and disclosures in the corporate governance report.

The Audit Committee currently consists of three independent non-
executive Directors, namely Ms. Liu Xiaomei Michelle, Mr. Sun Jian
and Mr. Zhang Bang. Mr. Zhang Bang, who holds the appropriate
professional qualifications as required under Rule 3.10 (2) of the
Listing Rules, is the chairman of the Audit Committee.

During the Reporting Period, the Audit Committee held two
meetings and had reviewed the annual audit plan, annual results
and annual report of the Group for the year ended March 31,
2023, the interim results and interim report of the Group for
the six months ended September 30, 2022,
of the Company’s financial controls,
management systems. The Audit Committee has reviewed the
audited consolidated financial statements and results of the Group
for the Reporting Period, and discussed and recommended to the
Board on the re-appointment of external auditor.

the effectiveness
internal control and risk
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Remuneration Committee

The Company established the Remuneration Committee with
written terms of reference in compliance with Rule 3.25 of the
Listing Rules and paragraph E.1 of the Corporate Governance
Code.

The primary duties of the Remuneration Committee, under the
principle that no Director or any of their associates should be
involved in deciding his own remuneration, include, without
limitation, (a) to make recommendations to the Board on the
Company’s policy and structure for the remuneration of all
directors and senior management and on the establishment of a
formal and transparent procedure for developing remuneration
policy; (b) to review and approve the management’s remuneration
proposals with reference to the Board’s corporate goals and
objectives; (c) to make recommendations to the Board on the
remuneration packages of individual executive Directors and
senior management, including benefits in kind, pension rights and
compensation payments, including any compensation payable for
loss or termination of their office or appointment, and (d) to review
and/or approve matters relating to share schemes under Chapter
17 of the Listing Rules.

The Remuneration Committee currently consists of three
independent non-executive Directors, namely Ms. Liu Xiaomei
Michelle, Mr. Sun Jian and Mr. Zhang Bang. Mr. Sun Jian is the
chairman of the Remuneration Committee.

During the Reporting Period, the Remuneration Committee held
two meetings and had reviewed the remuneration policy for all
Directors and senior management and the remuneration of the
newly appointed Directors and adoption of the 2022 RSU Scheme.

COMPANY SECRETARY

On April 22, 2022, Mr. Wong Keith Shing Cheung has resigned
as the company secretary of the Company (the “Company
Secretary”) and Ms. Au Wai Ching has been appointed as
the Company Secretary. Mr. Wong confirmed that he had no
disagreement with the Board and there were no other matters
in respect of their resignations that need to be brought to the
attention of the Shareholders and the Stock Exchange.

Ms. Au is a senior manager of SWCS Corporate Services Group
(Hong Kong) Limited, who fulfils the qualification requirements laid
down in the Listing Rules.
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For the year ended March 31, 2023, Ms. Au has taken not less
than 15 hours of relevant professional training in compliance
with the requirements of Rule 3.29 of the Listing Rules. The main
contact person of Ms. Au in the Company is Ms. Qin Jessie Xin,
an executive Director.

SENIOR MANAGEMENT’S REMUNERATION

The remuneration of the senior management of the Group by band
for the Reporting Period is set out below:

Band of remuneration (RMB)
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2,000,000 to 2,500,000 2,000,000% 2,500,000 2
6,500,000 to 7,000,000 6,500,000% 7,000,000 1
12,500,000 to 13,000,000 12,500,000 % 13,000,000 1

The band of remuneration of the above senior management does
not include the remuneration of Mr. Zou Qifang, Ms. Qin Jessie
Xin, Mr. Zhang Jincai and Mr. Zou Jianlong, and the particulars
of their remuneration are set out in Note 36 to the consolidated
financial statements.

EXTERNAL AUDITORS AND AUDITORS’ REMUNERATION

The statement of the external auditor of the Company about their
reporting responsibilities for the Company’s consolidated financial
statements for the year ended March 31, 2023 is set out in the
Independent Auditor's Report on pages 123 to 132 of this annual
report.

The fees paid/payable to PricewaterhouseCoopers, the Company’s
auditor, in respect of audit services and non-audit services for the
year ended March 31, 2023 are analysed below:
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Fees paid/payable

RMB’ 000

Types of services provided by the external auditors Bt EREA

SNEETHAIR BN R EE AR¥FR

Audit service — audit service fee for the year ended EEHR® — #HE2023F3A31H1- 4,500
March 31, 2023 FENBARBERD

Non-audit service — Sustainability/environmental, social and  FFEFTIRFG — A HEHE RS 270
governance advisory services Mg RE AR
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PricewaterhouseCoopers will retire and being eligible, offer
themselves for re-appointment at the AGM.

The re-appointment of PricewaterhouseCoopers has been
recommended by the Audit Committee and endorsed by the
Board, subject to the approval of the Shareholders at the AGM.

DIRECTORS’ AND AUDITORS’ RESPONSIBILITIES
FOR FINANCIAL REPORTING IN RESPECT OF THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The Directors have acknowledged their responsibilities for
preparing the consolidated financial statements of the Company
for the year ended March 31, 2023, which give a true and fair view
of the affairs of the Company and the Group and of the Group’s
results and cash flows.

The management has provided the Board such explanation and
information as are necessary to enable the Board to carry out an
informed assessment of the Company’s consolidated financial
statements, which are put to the Board for approval. The Company
provides all members of the Board with monthly updates on the
Company’s performance, positions and prospects.

The Directors have not been aware of any material uncertainties
relating to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt
upon the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern.

The statement by the independent auditors of the Company
regarding their reporting responsibilities for the audit of the
consolidated financial statements of the Company is set out in the
independent auditor’s report on pages 123 to 132 in this annual
report.

INTERNAL CONTROL AND RISK MANAGEMENT

The Board is responsible for maintaining sound and effective
internal control and risk management systems in order to
safeguard the Group’s assets and Shareholders’ interests, and
review and monitor the effectiveness of the Group’s internal
control and risk management systems on a yearly basis so as to
ensure that the internal control and risk management systems in
place are adequate. The purpose is to provide reasonable, but not
absolute, assurance against material misstatements, errors, losses
or fraud, and to manage rather than eliminate risks of failure in
achieving the Group’s business objectives.
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The Board has the overall responsibility for evaluating and
determining the nature and extent of the risks it is willing to take
in achieving the Group’s strategic objectives and establishing
and maintaining appropriate and effective risk management
and internal control systems. The Audit Committee assists the
Board in leading the management and overseeing their design,
implementation and monitoring of the risk management and
internal control systems. The Group has set up an internal audit
function to carry out independent reviews of the adequacy
and effectiveness of its risk management and internal control
systems and reports their findings to the Board, at least an annual
basis, due to the size of the Group and for cost effectiveness
consideration.

Risk Management

The Company has adopted a consolidated set of risk management
policies which set out a risk management framework to identify,
assess, evaluate, and monitor key risks associated with its
strategic objectives on an ongoing basis. The Board oversees
and manages the overall risks associated with our operations.
Risks identified by management will be analyzed on the basis
of likelihood and impact, and will be properly followed up and
mitigated and rectified by the Group and reported to the Directors.

The following key principles outline the Group’s approach to risk
management the Company plans to implement:

. The senior management oversees and manages the overall
risks associated with the Group’s business operations,
including (i) reviewing and approving the Company'’s risk
management policy to ensure that it is consistent with its
corporate objectives; (ii) monitoring the most significant
risks associated with the Group’s business operations and
its management’s handling of such risks; and (iii) ensuring
the appropriate application of the risk management
framework across the Group;

o The chief executive officer of the Company is responsible
for (i) formulating and updating the risk management
policy; (ii) reviewing and approving major risk management
issues of the Group; (iii) promulgating risk management
measures; (iv) providing guidance on the Group’s risk
management approach to the relevant departments in the
Group; (v) reviewing the relevant departments’ reporting
on key risks and providing feedback; (vi) supervising the
implementation of the risk management measures by the
relevant departments; (vii) ensuring that the appropriate
structure, processes and competencies are in place across
the Group; and (viii) reporting to the Audit Committee on
the Group’s material risks;
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The relevant departments in the Group, including but not
limited to the finance department, the legal department,
and the human resources department, are responsible for
implementing the risk management policy and carrying out
day-to-day risk management practice. In order to formalize
risk management across the Group and set a common
level of transparency and risk management performance,
the relevant departments will (i) gather information
about the risks relating to their operation or function; (ii)
conduct risk assessments, which include the identification,
measurement, prioritization and categorization of all
key risks that could potentially affect their objectives;
(iii) define and implement appropriate risk responses
where necessary; (iv) prepare a risk management report
annually for the Company’s chief executive officer’s review;
(v) continuously monitor the key risks relating to their
operation or function; and (vi) develop and maintain an
appropriate mechanism to facilitate the application of the
risk management framework.

Internal Control

Below is a summary of the internal control policies, measures, and
procedures the Group has implemented or plan to implement:

The Group has adopted various measures and procedures
regarding each aspect of its business operation, such as
related party transaction, risk management, protection
of intellectual property, environmental protection and
occupational health and safety.

The Group provides various training programs to keep
the employees updated on relevant laws, regulations,
and policies. The Group’s new employees are required
to attend compliance training programs soon after on-
boarding, and must pass tests which examine their
understanding of the compliance issues addressed by
the training programs. The Group's employees are also
required to regularly attend on-site and online training
sessions to keep them informed of recent updates in the
relevant laws and regulations.

The Directors (who are responsible for monitoring the
corporate governance of the Group), with help from
the Company’s legal advisers, periodically review the
Company’s compliance status with all relevant laws and
regulations.
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o The Company has established the Audit Committee
which (i) makes recommendations to the Directors on the
appointment and removal of external auditors; and (ii)
reviews the financial statements and renders advice in
respect to financial reporting as well as oversees internal
control procedures of the Group.

. The Company has engaged First Shanghai Capital
Limited as its compliance adviser to provide advice to the
Directors and management team until the end of the first
fiscal year after the Listing Date regarding matters relating
to the Listing Rules. The compliance adviser is expected
to ensure the Company’s use of funding complies with the
sections entitled “Future Plans and Use of Proceeds” in
the Prospectus, as well as to provide support and advice
regarding requirements of relevant regulatory authorities in
a timely manner.

o The Group maintains strict anti-bribery & anti-corruption
policies and believes it will therefore be less affected by
the increasingly stringent measures taken by the PRC
government to correct corruptive practices in the medical
industry.

The Board, together with the Audit Committee, had reviewed
the internal control and risk management systems for the
Reporting Period and is satisfied that the internal control and risk
management systems are effective and adequate.

The Company recognises the importance of protecting the
confidentiality of potential inside information. Procedures are in
place to control the dissemination of inside information, including
the monitoring of potential inside information to ensure that
relevant facts and circumstances that may have material effect
on the share price of the Company are promptly identified and
assessed, and escalating the matter for the attention of the Board,
if necessary, to determine whether a disclosure is needed.

The Audit Committee would continue to assist the Board to
oversee the work of such consultancy firm and review the
effectiveness of the risk management and internal control systems
of the Group.
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SHAREHOLDERS’ RIGHTS

Procedures for shareholders to convene an extraordinary
general meeting

Pursuant to Article 64 of the Articles of Association, the Board
may, whenever it thinks fit, convene an extraordinary general
meeting. One or more members holding, as at the date of deposit
of the requisition, in aggregate not less than one-tenth of the
voting rights (on a one vote per share basis) in the share capital
of the Company may also make a requisition to convene an
extraordinary general meeting and add resolutions to the agenda
of a meeting. Such requisition shall be made in writing to the
Board or the Company Secretary for the purpose of requiring an
extraordinary general meeting to be called by the Board for the
transaction of any business specified in such requisition. Such
meeting shall be held within two months after the deposit of such
requisition. If within 21 days of such deposit, the Board fails to
proceed to convene such meeting, the requisitionist(s) himself
(themselves) may do so in the same manner, and all reasonable
expenses incurred by the requisitionist(s) as a result of the failure
of the Board shall be reimbursed to the requisitionist(s) by the
Company.

Procedures for shareholders to put forward proposals at
shareholders’ meeting

If a Shareholder wishes to put forward proposals at a
shareholders’ meeting, the shareholder,
shareholding requirements set out in the above paragraph
headed “Procedures for shareholders to convene an extraordinary
general meeting”, may follow the same procedures by sending
a written requisition to the Board. The Shareholder should state
his/her proposals in the written requisition and submit the written
requisition as early as practicable to enable the Company to make
necessary arrangement.
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Procedures for directing shareholder’s enquiries to the
Board

Shareholders may send written enquiries to the Company for
putting forward any enquiries or proposals to the Board. Contact
details are as follows:

Address:

DREARE
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BRRAIMARREXE@MA R UAEFSREE
MEARER - BREROT

6F, Building 11, No. 18, Ziyue Road

Chaolai Science Park, Chaoyang District
Beijing, the PRC (For the attention of the Board of Arrail Group Limited)
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Email address:
ESTECES b

ir@arrailgroup.com
ir@arrailgroup.com

For the avoidance of doubt, shareholder(s) must deposit and send
the original duly signed written requisition, notice or statement, or
enquiry (as the case may be) to the above address and provide
their full name, contact details and identification in order to give
effect thereto.

INVESTOR RELATIONS

The Company considers that effective communication with
Shareholders is essential for enhancing investor relations and
investors’ understanding of the Groups’ business performance
and strategies. The Company also recognises the importance
of transparency and timely disclosure of corporate information,
which will enable shareholders and investors to make the best
investment decisions.

The Company has an ongoing dialogue with Shareholders
and other investors through various communication channels
set out in the shareholders communication policy and takes
any areas of concern into consideration when formulating its
business strategies. The general meetings of the Company
provide a platform for communication between the Board and
the shareholders. The chairman of the Board as well as chairmen
of the Nomination Committee, the Remuneration Committee and
the Audit Committee or in their absence, other members of the
respective committees, and, where applicable, the chairman of the
independent board committee are available to answer questions
at general meeting. To promote effective communication, the
Company maintains a website at www.arrailgroup.com where
up-to-date information and updates on the Company’s business
operations and development, financial information and other
information are available to public access.
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During the Reporting Period, the Board has reviewed the
shareholders communication policy and confirmed its
effectiveness.

CONSTITUTIONAL DOCUMENTS

During the Reporting Period, there was no change in the
memorandum and articles of association of the Company.

The latest memorandum and articles of association of the
Company are available on the websites of the Stock Exchange
and the Company.
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Independent Auditor’s Report

To the Shareholders of Arrail Group Limited
(incorporated in the British Virgin Islands with limited liability and
continued in the Cayman lIslands)

Opinion
What we have audited

The consolidated financial statements of Arrail Group Limited (the
“Company”) and its subsidiaries (the “Group”), which are set out
on pages 133 to 295, comprise:

° the consolidated balance sheet as at March 31, 2023;
o the consolidated income statement for the year then ended;
° the consolidated statement of comprehensive loss for the

year then ended;

o the consolidated statement of changes in equity for the
year then ended;

o the consolidated statement of cash flows for the year then
ended; and
o the notes to the consolidated financial statements,

which include significant accounting policies and other
explanatory information.

Our opinion

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true
and fair view of the consolidated financial position of the Group as
at March 31, 2023, and of its consolidated financial performance
and its consolidated cash flows for the year then ended in
accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards
(“IFRSs”) and have been properly prepared in compliance with the
disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

B ERTR RS
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Independent Auditor’s Report
B E AR

Basis for Opinion

We conducted our audit in accordance with International
Standards on Auditing (“ISAs”). Our responsibilities under those
standards are further described in the Auditor’'s Responsibilities
for the Audit of the Consolidated Financial Statements section of
our report.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient
and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.

Independence

We are independent of the Group in accordance with the
International Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants
(including International Independence Standards) issued by the
International Ethics Standards Board for Accountants (“IESBA
Code”), and we have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in
accordance with the IESBA Code.

Key Audit Matters

Key audit matters are those matters that,
judgment, were of most significance in our audit of the
consolidated financial statements of the current period. These
matters were addressed in the context of our audit of the

in our professional

consolidated financial statements as a whole, and in forming our
opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate opinion on
these matters.

Key audit matters identified in our audit are summarised as
follows:

o Estimation of revenue from orthodontics and implantology
services

o Impairment assessment of goodwill

ERER

HPIERBCEBR R ERD ETEF - RAEZS
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Key Audit Matter
HEETER

Independent Auditor’s Report

B ERTR RS

How our audit addressed the Key Audit Matter
RN ESNMEERARETER

Estimation of revenue from orthodontics and
implantology services

Refer to notes 2.23, 4(b) and 6 to the consolidated
financial statements.

B2 A M BImRMTE2.23 « H7E4(b) RHIF6 -

Revenue from orthodontics and implantology services
for the year ended March 31, 2023 amounted to
approximately RMB328 million and RMB318 million
respectively, which represented approximately 22% and
22% of the total revenue of the Group respectively.

HZE2023F3A31HIEFE @ KRB ERRETFREAOBAD
R AAREISAETMARKEIISHEET  DAhEEE
R AR #)22% K2 22% o

Revenue from orthodontics and implantology services is
recognised over time, using an input method to measure
progress towards complete satisfaction of the services.
The progress is measured based on the Group's
efforts or inputs to the satisfaction of the services, by
reference to the staff costs and/or costs of inventories,
consumables and customised products incurred, when
appropriate, expended up to the end of the year as a
percentage of the total expected costs to complete the
respective services.

KA ERREFRBOBAR -RERBARER  ERRAE
AAEREERRTRBNER - ZEEERESBRETREM
EHHBNHRAGE  URBEREZFERMEERA
EBNEIRAR HFE B RATHERKAS (MER)
1B SRR AR O AR TR ANV EL A1 -

R A IE B & AE T R WA B

Our procedures in relation to estimation of revenue from
orthodontics and implantology services were mainly as
follows:

BMBERERE ERMETRBBRANGEFREFEZNT

- Understood and evaluated the Group’s key
internal controls in relation to the estimation of the
total expected costs necessary to complete the
orthodontics and implantology services;

- TR FEESEERAGF TR ER METRE S E
HY 4878 B A S O B 8 1 BB FE I

- Assessed the appropriateness of the methodology
used by management to estimate the total
expected costs necessary to complete the
orthodontics and implantology services;

- ATEE TR B A A AT ST A [E RS B T IR TS L BV AR TR
HARR AR Y JTEREE 1
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Independent Auditor’s Report

B ERTR RS

Key Audit Matter
HEETER

How our audit addressed the Key Audit Matter
RN ESNMEERARETER

We focused on this area as the determination of the
amount of revenue recognised from orthodontics and
implantology services is based on management’s
estimation of the total expected costs to complete the
services, which is subject to a high degree of estimation
uncertainty. The inherent risk in relation to the estimation
of revenue from orthodontics and implantology services
is considered relatively high due to the subjectivity of
significant assumptions used to estimate total expected
costs.

BMEIZBTHEENRRER - EEXK A ElRET RN
ERERWA SR TIERE IE S TR AR TR A A B s
HoEpRkeEATREEN - ARARETREBKAN
EXBEROIEINE - AR KA LR RESRBEHBAR
BB ERERSIEEERS

- Assessed the reasonableness of the assumptions
used by management when estimating the total
expected costs to complete the orthodontics and
implantology services by comparing estimated
future costs with the Group’s historical internal
data, including the staff costs and/or costs
of inventories, consumables and customised
products, in which the historical internal data are
tested to the supporting documents on a sample
basis;

- BBYH A ARRR AN EE S E W E R AR (B
BIRAR,/SFE BURITHEREAR) - kE
B AMBURETMENAZZAXM - FFHERE
FEfh T ST A IE B R A8 5F AR 765 4 22 ) 48 TR B B AN B T 68
RERRHAEN

- Compared, on a sample basis, the outcome of
prior year estimations of the total expected costs
to complete the orthodontics and implantology
services made by management to the actual
cost incurred to complete the services, in
order to assess the historical effectiveness of
management’s estimation process; and

- MRS EREE E—F R KR RET RN
RIRIAR A FTE R b 5t B SE PR IR IS EE £ R B IR AKX AS
UFHEE R BT RFNELRRR - &

- Considered whether the judgments made in
selecting significant assumptions would give rise
to indicators of possible management bias.

- EEEBRBABREAIENHE S DI ZEEE A 5
FHERIHTR o

Based on the procedures performed, we considered
that the significant assumptions used in estimating
revenue from orthodontics and implantology services are
supported by available evidence.

EREHTORER - RAIRBARMEK A ER RET R K
AFERNBEARRFE TREBIRAISH ©



Key Audit Matter
HEETER

Independent Auditor’s Report

B ERTR RS

How our audit addressed the Key Audit Matter
RN ESNMEERARETER

Impairment assessment of goodwill

Refer to notes 2.8.1, 2.9, 4(f) and 17 to the consolidated
financial statements.

BLMAMYBHRANE2.8.1 « MiFE2.9 « WrE4(f) RMFE
17 o

As at March 31, 2023, the Group’s carrying amount of
goodwill amounted to RMB183 million.

MR2023F3A31H  EEERENEEEAARKI183EE
ﬁ:o

The Group is required to perform an impairment
assessment of goodwill on an annual basis, or whenever
events or changes in circumstances indicate that the
goodwill might be impaired.

BEEASE (LY EHERAERECETHE LR
LIRS ) S (TR B A AT o

BB ER G

Our procedures in relation to the impairment assessment
of goodwill were mainly as follows:

BMEEREREFGENREFEZNT

- Understood and evaluated the Group’s key internall
controls in relation to the impairment assessment
of goodwill;

- TR R B 5 B G A R E AT B B R A B
&

- Assessed the appropriateness of the methodology
used by management to perform its impairment
assessment of goodwill;

- AHh B IR TR B RERH A AT E R AR EE I

- Evaluated the reasonableness of the financial
budgets prepared by management to be included
in the impairment assessment of goodwill, and
compared the outcome of prior period financial
budgets to actual results in order to assess
the historical effectiveness of management’s
budgeting process;

- AAEEEEMRAENSAADERENGHMREE
WaRM  WHILAT — MM BTEE R EREE -
AHEEIRERERRFOE LR
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Key Audit Matter
HEETER

How our audit addressed the Key Audit Matter
RN ESNMEERARETER

For the purpose of the impairment assessment of
goodwill, the Group’s goodwill was allocated to two
groups of cash generating units (“CGU Group”). The
Group estimated the recoverable amounts of respective
CGU Group, which were determined based on the fair
value less cost of disposal using cash flow projections
based on financial budgets prepared by management.
Based on the impairment assessment, management
concluded that there was no impairment on goodwill as
at March 31, 2023.

AETEHERETS  EEENFENIEEWEARSEL
BAAR ([BeELEMAR])  c EEEGTSREELE
AR AT IRE S (R A BERDENDS - EREEER
SN HBEFERESTETAUET) - BRERAETGE @ &1
[BEIE R 202343 A31 AT EHIREERE -

We focused on this area as the impairment assessment
of goodwill is subject to a high degree of estimation
uncertainty. The inherent risk in relation to the impairment
assessment of goodwill is considered significant due
to the subjectivity of significant assumptions used
(including compound annual growth rates of revenue,
terminal growth rates and discount rates).

BPMEIRBFEENRAR  BEREFHIRSER
AATHEN HRIEREARR (BREKRANFESER
T RERERRRTEER) TN - AEBERENGHE
BRBRERBSBERX -

Involved our internal valuation expert in assessing
and challenging the reasonableness of the
significant assumptions used by management,
including compound annual growth rates of
revenue, terminal growth rates and discount rates,
by comparing with those adopted by comparable
companies in the industry and other external
market data;

SIARMMARHEEER  BBHLEATLERAF
FRERA R BN TISEIE - A REREEEAE
REABR (BREANFEAERE  HREBEEXR
FRE) SR

Assessed whether management’s sensitivity
analysis based on the reasonably possible
changes in key assumptions individually might
impact on the outcome of the impairment
assessment of goodwill;

AEEEEERTIEZRRULAERENEH D HIE
HOBBRESTRE X EMBREN HNE

&

Tested the accuracy of the calculations included in
the impairment assessment models;

AR AN RE G EE N E TR EREE
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Key Audit Matter How our audit addressed the Key Audit Matter
HEETER RN ESNMEERARETER

- Considered whether the judgements made in
selecting the significant assumptions used would
give rise to indicators of possible management
bias; and

E

- ERBEMEAEARREMENHB ST I RER
EBrRIEFERANTR : &

- Assessed the adequacy of the disclosures related
to the impairment assessment of goodwill in
the context of the applicable financial reporting
framework.

- AHAEEERMBHREERNBERT - BREHBRER
R EETERS

Based on the procedures performed, we considered
that the significant assumptions used in the impairment
assessment of goodwill are supported by available
evidence.

ERBEHTNERF  RARSBERENEAERNEAR
RIFETRBEBBOIS

Other Information HtER

The directors of the Company are responsible for the other &R REZFEHHMEEEE - HM{EEBEFHR
information. The other information comprises all of the information AHAFAEREE @ BETBREAFHHEHRE LR FHE
included in the annual report other than the consolidated financial  ztEfER4&

statements and our auditor’s report thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not FHfIESHPVBEHRERNER T TIREHMWEE - K
cover the other information and we do not express any form of I FEZEEME BEERTMERNOEE LR ©
assurance conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial #&&KMEAEHTBRENEE  RANEEEE
statements, our responsibility is to read the other information and, FBEM/ZE @ FUHEREF  Z2EEMEEESHHES
in doing so, consider whether the other information is materially — ffEf &M &k K FIES Eﬁ-ﬂ&t{ﬂﬁﬁ?ﬁm’ﬂ%/ﬂr&
inconsistent with the consolidated financial statements or our & AEEKE L FFEE AERR S
knowledge obtained in the audit, or otherwise appears to be

materially misstated.
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If, based on the work we have performed, we conclude that
there is a material misstatement of this other information, we are
required to report that fact. We have nothing to report in this
regard.

Responsibilities of Directors and the Audit
Committee for the Consolidated Financial Statements

The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation
of the consolidated financial statements that give a true and fair
view in accordance with IFRSs and the disclosure requirements
of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance, and for such internal
control as the directors determine is necessary to enable the
preparation of consolidated financial statements that are free from
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors
are responsible for assessing the Group’s ability to continue as a
going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going
concern and using the going concern basis of accounting unless
the directors either intend to liquidate the Group or to cease
operations, or have no realistic alternative but to do so.

The Audit Committee is responsible for overseeing the Group's
financial reporting process.

Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the
Consolidated Financial Statements

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether
the consolidated financial statements as a whole are free from
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to
issue an auditor’s report that includes our opinion. We report
our opinion solely to you, as a body, and for no other purpose.
We do not assume responsibility towards or accept liability to
any other person for the contents of this report. Reasonable
assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that
an audit conducted in accordance with ISAs will always detect
a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise
from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or
in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence
the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these
consolidated financial statements.
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Independent Auditor’s Report

As part of an audit in accordance with ISAs, we exercise
professional judgment and maintain professional scepticism
throughout the audit. We also:

° Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of
the consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud
or error, design and perform audit procedures responsive
to those risks, and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient
and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The
risk of not detecting a material misstatement resulting
from fraud is higher than for one resulting from error, as
fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions,
misrepresentations, or the override of internal control.

° Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to
the audit in order to design audit procedures that are
appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose
of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the
Group’s internal control.

o Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used
and the reasonableness of accounting estimates and
related disclosures made by the directors.

. Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of
the going concern basis of accounting and, based on the
audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty
exists related to events or conditions that may cast
significant doubt on the Group’s ability to continue as a
going concern. If we conclude that a material uncertainty
exists, we are required to draw attention in our auditor’s
report to the related disclosures in the consolidated
financial statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate,
to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based on the
audit evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor’s
report. However, future events or conditions may cause the
Group to cease to continue as a going concern.

B ERTR RS
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° Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content
of the consolidated financial statements, including the
disclosures, and whether the consolidated financial
statements represent the underlying transactions and
events in a manner that achieves fair presentation.

o Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the
financial information of the entities or business activities
within the Group to express an opinion on the consolidated
financial statements. We are responsible for the direction,
supervision and performance of the group audit. We remain
solely responsible for our audit opinion.

We communicate with the Audit Committee regarding, among
other matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit and
significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in
internal control that we identify during our audit.

We also provide the Audit Committee with a statement that we
have complied with relevant ethical requirements regarding
independence, and to communicate with them all relationships
and other matters that may reasonably be thought to bear on our
independence, and where applicable, actions taken to eliminate
threats or safeguards applied.

From the matters communicated with the Audit Committee, we
determine those matters that were of most significance in the
audit of the consolidated financial statements of the current
period and are therefore the key audit matters. We describe these
matters in our auditor’s report unless law or regulation precludes
public disclosure about the matter or when, in extremely rare
circumstances, we determine that a matter should not be
communicated in our report because the adverse consequences
of doing so would reasonably be expected to outweigh the public
interest benefits of such communication.

The engagement partner on the audit resulting in this independent
auditor’s report is Ng Ping Fai.

PricewaterhouseCoopers
Certified Public Accountants

Hong Kong, June 27, 2023
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Consolidated Income Statement

BOHERR

For the year ended March 31, 2023

HZE2023F3A31BILFE

Year ended March 31,
HBZEZ3A31BILLEE

2023 2022
20234 20224
Note RMB’ 000 RMB’000
(i3 ARET T ARBEFTT
Revenue LN 6 1,473,741 1,623,553
Cost of sales SHE A 7 (1,226,657)  (1,286,996)
Gross profit EX 247,084 336,557
Selling and distribution expenses SHE RASER S 7 (93,273) (79,625)
Administrative expenses TR 7 (344,758) (276,093)
Research and development expenses R 7 (18,542) (32,918)
(Impairment loss)/reversal of SRMEETF CRERE) 3.1.2 (2,863) 4,585
impairment loss on financial assets — net REEEEL
Other gains — net H iRz 9 22,062 18,922
Operating loss REEE (190,290) (28,572)
Finance income R ON 10 18,965 8,276
Finance costs B 75 AR 10 (44,289) (55,641)
Finance costs — net ISR AR (25,324) (47,365)
Share of net loss of associates and A AARK (2,295) (411)
joint ventures accounted for using the SMEEEE AT REE AR
equity method FE e
Fair value change of convertible redeemable ] &% ] B 6] 8 5L A% &Y 29 - (541,089)
preferred shares NHhBEEH
Fair value change of bond BEFM AR EEBE 29.1 - (61,647)
Fair value change of warrants EENAREBEZD 29.2 - (13,686)
Fair value change of derivative liabilities MEBENAREEE 29.3 - (6,005)
Fair value difference between termination IRIEREEEERITAERE Y 29.3 - (11,136)
of the warrants and recognition of MR ARBEER
derivative liabilities
Loss before income tax MRETSHATE B (217,909) (709,911)
Income tax (expenses)/credit FrisHt (), & 12 (5,439) 13,511
Loss for the year FRER (223,348) (696,400)
(Loss)/profit attributable to: LIRS B (B1R), 8 ¢
Owners of the Company VIN/NETEZ 2= DN (219,909) (701,032)
Non-controlling interests FEPERR R A (3,439) 4,632
(223,348) (696,400)
Loss per share for loss attributable to AAREEAELERD
owners of the Company (expressed in BRER (UERARYE T
RMB per share) HIR)
Basic and diluted loss per share BREAREEEE 13 (0.38) (8.70)

The above consolidated income statement should be read in

conjunction with the accompanying notes.

bR A B R R I B BE PP T — BIRE -
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Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Loss

SOEEBER

For the year ended March 31, 2023
HZE2023F3A31HIEFE

Year ended March 31,
BZESHASIBLEE

2023 2022
20234 20224
Note RMB’ 000 RMB’000

Hiat ARBTR AR®BTR

Loss for the year FREE (223,348) (696,400)
Other comprehensive income/(loss) Hih2mEUE A (BR)
ltems that will not be reclassified to TeEfnEEB=rIER
profit or loss
Fair value change of convertible redeemable  BAE &R SR o] &k 29 - (18,439)
preferred shares due to own credit risk AIEE B A BEE
Fair value change of bond due to BEEERREHNES 29.1 - 1,083
own credit risk AAEEE
Currency translation differences E X =58 86,484 84,672
Other comprehensive income for the year, FREMEEKE (NRHE) 86,484 67,316
net of tax
Total comprehensive loss for the year FRAZHEEE (136,864) (629,084)
Total comprehensive (loss)/income UT&EEGEZ2E (EHIE)
attributable to: S FH
Owners of the Company PIN/NEIEZ 2SN (133,425) (633,716)
Non-controlling interests FEEAR M AR (3,439) 4,632

(136,864) (629,084)

The above consolidated statement of comprehensive loss should it & o 2T R TR R PR SRR MY Y o — G B o

be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.
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Consolidated Balance Sheet

EHEERER

As at March 31, 2023
R2023%F3H31H

As at March 31,

MA3A31H
2023 2022
2023 F 20224
Note RMB’ 000 RMB’000

Hiat AR¥TR AR®BTR

ASSETS &=

Non-current assets FERENEE

Property, plant and equipment ME - BE KRR 14 324,202 297,798

Right-of-use assets EREEE 15(a) 692,067 703,466

Intangible assets BV EE 16 56,343 24,612

Goodwill i 17 182,754 98,467

Deferred tax assets B IBEE 28 63,929 56,677

Prepayments TBRTRIE 19 34,635 21,722

Investments accounted for using the FREREARNKRE 11 30,677 14,155
equity method

Financial assets at fair value through BAREEAEEN 23 65,714 34,675
profit or loss TREE

Other receivables E b YR IE 22 77,767 109,476

Total non-current assets HWERBEE 1,528,088 1,361,048

Current assets RBEE

Inventories FE 20 51,386 47,080

Prepayments SEERE 0] 19 107,600 126,704

Trade and other receivables B 5 I H A e W kA 22 282,138 96,885

Financial assets at fair value through BARBEFABRR 23 263,013 197,055
profit or loss CREE

Restricted cash 2R HRE 24(b) 154,894 95,290

Time deposits with original maturity over REEEBA=EA KN 24(c) 52,657 14,000
three months TEHER

Cash and cash equivalents RERRESFEY 24(a) 621,860 1,052,285

Total current assets BRBEE 1,533,548 1,629,299

Total assets HWEE 3,061,636 2,990,347

EQUITY s

Share capital N 25 74,769 74,769

Reserves G 26 5,107,566 4,841,683

Accumulated losses ZEtEE (3,571,649)  (3,351,740)

Equity attributable to owners AATEEAEBGERS 1,610,686 1,564,712
of the Company

Non-controlling interests IR 85,204 45,785

Total equity R 1,695,890 1,610,497
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Consolidated Balance Sheet

EHEERER

As at March 31, 2023
R2023%F3H31H

As at March 31,

MW3A31H
2023 2022
2023 F 20224
Note RMB’ 000 RMB’000
it AR¥T AREET T
LIABILITIES =N
Non-current liabilities FRBERE
Borrowings R 27 47,252 =
Lease liabilities HEAE 15(a) 566,223 611,187
Contract liabilities aRAE 6(b) 16,323 21,597
Deferred tax liabilities FEETHBEEE 28 11,062 2,125
Total non-current liabilities HWERBEE 640,860 634,909
Current liabilities REBAE
Trade and other payables E 5 K E M ER IR 30 209,464 273,105
Contract liabilities EcRAE 6(b) 154,024 184,287
Current tax liabilities BENEARIE B (E 19,195 8,065
Borrowings & 27 172,767 137,363
Lease liabilities HEBE 15(a) 169,436 142,121
Total current liabilities BREBEE 724,886 744,941
Total liabilities FG=R 1,365,746 1,379,850
Total equity and liabilities HESZNREE 3,061,636 2,990,347

The above consolidated balance sheet should be read in

conjunction with the accompanying notes.

The consolidated financial statements on pages 133 to 295 were
approved and authorised for issue by the Board of Directors of
the Company on June 27, 2023 and were signed on its behalf by:

LA HEERERE DML E — G5E -

F133F 295 EMA IR EXE MR 20234F 6 A 27
HEARAAREETSHAEREERZIHAATESENK

REE -

Executive Director: Zou Qifang

HITES  HH2F

Executive Director: Qin Jessie Xin

HITEE : ¥5
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Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity
B EREEX

For the year ended March 31, 2023
HZE2023F3A31HILFE

Attributable to owner of the Company

ARAERAELS
Non-
Share Accumulated controlling Total
capital Reserves losses Total interests equity
e it ZitEE g FERER L i

RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBTR  ARMTR  ARETR  ARMTR  AR¥TR  AR%TR
Note (Note 25) (Note 26)
Wit (Hit25) (Hit26)

Balance at April 1, 2022 H202E4R1AHES 4760 484168 (3351740) 1564712 45785 1610497
Comprehensive (loss)/income 20 (BR)/ ki

Loss for the year FREE - - (219,909) (219,909) (3,439) (223,348)
Other comprehensive income/(loss) Rth2EkE /(B8

Currency translation differences ERER - 86,484 - 86,484 - 86,484
Total comprehensive income/(loss) for the year ~ £A#2ELE /(F8) - 86,484 (219,909) (133,425) (3,439) (136,864)
Transactions with equity holders HERREANRE

Vesting of RSUs GEXRHRNEN - 19,540 - 19,540 - 19,540
Share-based compensation s - 194,118 - 194,118 - 194,118
Shares purchased for share award scheme SR REAREDR - (34,542) - (34,542) - (34,542)
Deemed dividend to shareholder (Note 39c)i)  BERKRED R (H235(c)) - (420) - (420) - (420)
Acquisition of subsioiaries (Note 37) W RA (Hit31) - - - - 43,483 43,483
Contribution from non-controlling shareholders REFBRRRTE - - - - 977 977
Non-controlling interests disposed BHiEFERER - 703 - 703 (703) -
Dividends to non-controlling shareholders RAEERRRR S - - - - (899) (899)

Balance at March 31, 2023 R20235 3 31 At 74,769 5,107,566 (3,571,649) 1,610,686 85,204 1,695,890
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Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity
B EREEX

For the year ended March 31, 2023
HZE2023F3A31HIEFE

Attributable to owner of the Company

ARAER A
Total
Non- (deficit in
Share Accumulated controlling equity)/
capital Reserves losses Total interests equity
s E1 2itEiR B bR BR)/ER

RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000

ARETT ARETT ARETT ARETT ARETT ARETT
Note (Note 25) (Note 26)
it (Wi25) (hit26)

Balance at April 1, 2021 R0 F4R1AMER 9,447 239,184 (2,748,508) (2,499,872) 43,29 (2,456,577)

Comprehensive (loss)/income 2 (58)/ ki

Loss for the year EnEE - = (701,082) (701,082) 4632 (696,400)

Other comprehensive income/(I0ss) Ht2Eki /(58

Fair value change on convertible redeemable BREERRERNTER - (18,439) o (18,439) o (18,439)
preferred shares due to own credit risk AERELRALEEE

Fair value change on bond due to AECERREHNES - 1,083 = 1,083 = 1,083
own credit risk NMEES

Currency translation differences EiZER - 84,672 - 84,672 - 84,672

Total comprehensive incomel(loss) for the year ~ FA#2E4E / (F8) - 67,316 (701,082) (633,716) 4,63 (629,084)

Transactions with equity holders HERRAANRS

Issuance of ordinary shares in relation to BTERRRRELER 5,924 521,359 - 527,283 - 527,283
initial public offering

Issuance of shares for restrictive share unit scheme %17 RB SR Bzt 3k1 15,435 (15,435) = = = -

Share-based compensation R - 95,021 - 95,021 - 95,021

Conversion of convertible redeemable preferred ~ AIEAAERELRESR 43,963 3,960,591 101,423 4,105,977 = 4,105,977
shares to ordinary shares BEER

Repayment of Bond EEEH - 3,628 (3,628) - -

Non-controlling interests acquired Bl n s = (30,030) = (30,030) (6,470) (36,500)

Non-controlling interests disposed BHEHERER - 49 = 49 4,501 4,550

Dividends to non-controlling shareholders RFERERES - - - - (173) (173)

Balance at March 31, 2022 R2022E3A31 ANES 74,769 4,841,683 (3,351,740) 1,564,712 45,785 1,610,497

The above consolidated statement of changes in equity should be — _E il & # &5 % B) 7% /& B3 5E B BT 5 — (1 B3 o
read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows

BORERER

For the year ended March 31, 2023
HZE2023F3A31HILFE

Year ended March 31,
BZE3AIBLEE

2023 2022
20234 20224
Note RMB’ 000 RMB’000
B et AR¥T T ARBEFTT
Cash flows from operating activities RETHRMBRESRE
Cash generated from operations KEFSIRE 32(a) 134,542 241,313
Income tax paid B AEHR (2,886) (17,035)
Net cash generated from operating activities E&EFEFFSFRE 131,656 224,278
Cash flows from investing activities RETEMBEERE
Payment for acquisition of a business, g EF 0 NE 31 (54,193) =
net of cash acquired (HMBRAABES)
Payments for investments in associates REEE RN T REERNEIH (4,800) (900)
and joint ventures B
Payments for property, plant and equipment M - B KRR (108,155) (115,648)
Payments for financial assets at fair value RARBEFABRN (342,886) (297,198)
through profit or loss SREERMK
Payments for intangible assets EREEMNR (4,654) (5,027)
Loans to related parties MR IR ER (77,164) =
Loans to employees mEBREER (3,327) =
Repayment of loans to employees BEEEER 153 2,500
Repayment of loans to a shareholder RREBEER - 86,025
Placement of pledged deposits FHE EHFHR - (29,650)
Proceeds from sale of financial assets HERARBETAEBZN 256,815 151,516
at fair value through profit and loss SREEMS IR
Proceeds from sale of property, LEME - WE REE 14,936 3,052
plant and equipment Frf8 508
Payment of time deposits with original JREEA B &8 =& A &9 (38,657) (14,000)
maturity over three months TE B RS
Interest received BUF B 19,489 15,395
Net cash used in investing activities RETBHMAFRRS (342,443) (203,935)
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows

EHEETRER

For the year ended March 31, 2023
HZE2023F3A31HIEFE

Year ended March 31,
BZE3AIBLEE

2023 2022
2023 F 20224
Note RMB’ 000 RMB’000
k=3 AR%T T ARBT T
Cash flows from financing activities RETBMESREESRE
Proceeds from borrowings fEFRFTIS IR 234,376 131,234
Contribution from non-controlling shareholders  JFEfERERE R HE 977 =
Repayment of borrowings EEER (154,244) (213,190)
Increase in restricted cash PR I 3R & 1 0 (51,746) =
Repayment of bond EEESH - (217,042)
Payment for acquisition of additional interest Y&+ AIEEIMEZE T (36,500) =
in a subsidiary
Shares purchased for share award scheme BAR 1D SREN S BB B R (D (34,542) =
Payment for listing fees XN ETMER (24,493) =
Termination of derivative liabilities BIETTHEBE - (99,148)
Net proceeds from initial public offering of HRARBEL BT - 527,283
common shares FTiS 508
Proceeds from issuance of convertible BATRI S A R] B BB LR - 475,585
redeemable preferred shares PS5 sk I8
Principal elements of lease payments HERROAR SIS (207,035) (161,743)
Dividends paid to non-controlling shareholders Al 3E#5 IS A% 3R 7 1~ A% 8. (899) (173)
Proceeds from disposal of interest in subsidiary Hj%¥"ﬂﬁ§¥ (€:32a0) 2 - 4,550
without change of control & B3)) FTS5KIE
Transaction costs on issuance of convertible 77 B ] 8235 7] 48 (248 ST A% - (9,170)
redeemable preferred shares E’\JQ%EJZZIK
Interest paid BERFLE (6,244) (57,327)
Net cash (used in)/generated from BEER (FrA) (280,350) 380,859
financing activities FBERE
Net (decrease)/increase in cash and cash iﬂﬁ&ﬁﬁ%{“%% (491,137) 401,202
equivalents W),
Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning i%ﬂﬂ’]iﬁbi&fﬁu %EY 1,052,285 676,304
of the year
Effects of exchange rate changes on cash r%f@;”ﬂﬁi& 60,712 (25,221)
and cash equivalents ZEMHNTE
Cash and cash equivalents at the end FRNEERRESEEY 24(a) 621,860 1,052,285
of the year
The above consolidated statement of cash flows should be read in it & 4HIR &2 K EERREM M = —(FRI:E o

conjunction with the accompanying notes.



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

1 GENERAL INFORMATION AND REORGANISATION

1.1

General information

Arrail Group Limited (the “Company”) was
incorporated in the British Virgin Islands (the “BVI”)
on May 23, 2001 as a company limited by shares.
On November 16, 2020, the Company discontinued
as a company incorporated under the BVI Business
Companies Act 2004 (as amended) and was
registered by way of continuation as an exempted
company limited by shares under the Companies
Act (Cap.22, Law 3 of 1961 as consolidated and
revised) of the Cayman Islands. Accordingly, the
registered office of the Company was changed from
P.O. Box 957, Offshore Incorporations Centre, Road
Town, Tortola, BVI, to 4th Floor, Harbour Place,
108 South Church Street, P.O. Box 10240, Grand
Cayman KY1-1002, the Cayman Islands.

The Company is an investment holding company
and together with its subsidiaries (the “Group”),
is principally engaged in the provision of dental
services (including general dentistry, orthodontics
and implantology) through operations of dental
clinics and hospitals in the People’s Republic of
China (the “PRC”).

The Company completed its IPO and listed its
shares on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange
of Hong Kong Limited (“HKSE”) on March 22, 2022
(the “Listing”).

B O BRI

—RERKREA

1.1

—REHR

WREBEARAR([ARF )R
20015 A23 AN KBHB RS
(REHEBRES ) MKz AR
MBMRAT - R2020F11 168 -
RRAREEIEBIRIBE2004FRBHER
RESEMEQRE (KEET) MK
UHAR] WREF SRS ENE22
FERRNE(1961F EIEM - K4
BERAEE]) AIF B RN AER R
RDBERADF - HEH - RNAREE
ft#tE R BP.O. Box 957, Offshore
Incorporations Centre, Road
Town, Tortola, BVIE & &4th Floor,
Harbour Place, 103 South Church
Street, P.O. Box 10240, Grand
Cayman KY1-1002, the Cayman
Islands °

RRBE-RREZEBAR - ERHE
FRR (MW AEE]) TERHE
ARAMB([HE])EBELOR
PR BERRM O EBERE (B4
BRAN - ERMREER) -

AARR2022F3 A22BEK EIXA
FARETHERNDNBEBHERZ A
BERAR ([HBEBRAT]) ERE™T
([Eml) -
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

SOt wR M

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES

This note provides a list of the significant accounting
policies applied in the preparation of the consolidated
financial statements. These policies have been consistently
applied throughout all the years presented, unless
otherwise stated.

2.1

Basis of preparation

The consolidated financial statements of the
Group have been prepared in accordance with
International Financial Reporting Standards
(“IFRSs"), interpretations issued by International
Accounting Standards Board (“IASB”) applicable to
companies reporting under IFRSs.

The consolidated financial statements have been
prepared on a historical cost basis, except for
certain financial assets and liabilities measured at
fair value.

The preparation of the consolidated financial
statements in conformity with IFRSs requires the
use of certain critical accounting estimates. It also
requires management to exercise its judgement in
the process of applying the Group’s accounting
policies. The areas involving a higher degree
of judgement or complexity, or areas where
assumptions and estimates are significant to the
consolidated financial statements are disclosed in
Note 4.

2.1.1 Change in accounting policy and disclosures

All effective standards, amendments to
standards and interpretations, which are
mandatorily effective for the annual reporting
period beginning on April 1, 2022, are
consistently applied to the Group throughout
the year ended March 31, 2023.

FTREHBREE

ARG RAEA M BERRARANIE
SETBR - BRRAERI  ZEBRORE
EMBEZNFEERER -

2.1

mREE

AEBEHPBREABIBEER L
AEEe ((EReHEAESE])
P AR 18 P X 122 B R B 75 3 25 22 Rl R
B R E A BIFR A A RS 2R ([ B
MEHELER]) RRBEMAR -

BETFRAREEFENEREER
BESN - BHMBIRERBE LA

BT Bl B R &S RIS 581
BRMRAFELE TRRE A - B
BENRERAAREE T ERN B
REFELHE - S REEHESRR
BERNBE - P REEHRFRE
B B A B R AR R Mt ) S R 4 BR O it
BT

2.1.1 BilHERFEELZ

R202254 51 BRBHNEE
s BAE SR B R FT B B XK
AR - ERASETMRE - AR
B E£20234F3A31H E&EE
FEERBEARANER -
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

B O BRI

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 2 FESHBEREE ()
POLICIES (continued)

2.1 Basis of preparation (continued) 21 REEE(E)
2.1.2 New and amended standards adopted by the 2.1.2 FREEFRARIFE]RAIELTE
Group Al
The following amended standards have been NEBB F2022F4 51 8H
adopted by the Group for the first time for the R B B B R ER A A T A
financial period beginning on April 1, 2022. 1EFT4ER] ©

Effective for
accounting periods
beginning on

or after
RELT B 2%
BRI E T ERE AN
Property, Plant and Equipment: Proceeds before intended use
— Amendments to IAS 16 January 1, 2022
M BB R (ERE RRRIR PSSR 20221 A1H
— BB SR E 165 MIE AT
Reference to the Conceptual Framework — Amendments to IFRS 3 January 1, 2022
BSERR S| A — BRI RS R E 35k EFT 202241 A1H
Onerous Contracts
— Cost of Fulfilling a Contract — Amendments to IAS 37 January 1, 2022
BRIES R 202241 A1H
— BITERBAAR — B ERIE 375 AERT
Annual Improvements to IFRSs 2018 — 2020 cycle January 1, 2022
HEIPR B 15 3R 5 £ R 2018 6 — 2020 F 18 A A F [E it 20221 A1H
The Group has applied new and amended REBERKARARMIREEE
standards effective for the current financial AT ET RASIEETAER o £EAN
year. The adoption of these new and revised ZEME] RASIERTERIE A Bf
standards does not have any significant MEHRERLEEMEALE o

impact on the consolidated financial
statements.
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SOt wR M

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

2.1 Basis of preparation (continued)

2.1.3 New and amended standards and
interpretation not yet adopted by the Group

Certain new accounting standards,
amendments and interpretations have been
issued but are not yet effective for the annual
reporting period beginning on April 1, 2022
and have not been early adopted by the
Group during the year ended March 31,
2023. These standards are not expected to
have a material impact on the Group in the
current or future reporting periods and on
foreseeable future transactions.

TREHBRBE (F)

21 mBEE(HE)

2.1.3

A5 B 1] R BRI R F AT R AR 1E
EERI R 2 FE

BTHEHER - BEIAR
RECBEME R R2022F
AR 1BRABMFE RS HM
£ MASEREE2023
FIAMHIEFEIER TR
A o BHZEEANIRITHRE
Rt BRI AR E W A E K
M2 MENERBRHRS
INEERTE -

Effective for
annual periods
beginning on

or after
RUT B 2%
BRI FEHBENR
IAS 1 (Amendments) Classification of liabilities as current or non- January 1, 2024
current
REtERIES (BFTR) BESBEAREIIFRD 20241 A1H

IAS 1 and IFRS Practice Disclosure of Accounting Policies

Statement 2 (Amendments)
BR et ERE 1R RERY S BERRE
52 B BRI % 25k

January 1, 2023

2023%1A1H

(EFTA)

IAS 8 (Amendments) Definition of Accounting Estimate January 1, 2023
B &5 RIS (BRI A) BeEthsteESR 2023%F1A1H
IAS 12 (Amendments) Deferred tax related to assets and liabilities January 1, 2023

arising from a single transaction
Bt ERIE125% (185] HE-RFEANEERBBERBENREERIE 20231 H1H

)
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2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 2 FESHBEREE ()
POLICIES (continued)

2.1 Basis of preparation (continued) 21 REEE(E)

2.1.3 New and amended standards and 2.1.3 LEEEARBEIFETRAENE
interpretation not yet adopted by the Group BRI EE ()
(continued)

Effective for
annual periods
beginning on
or after
RUT B 2%
RN FEHBENR
IFRS 17 Insurance Contracts January 1, 2023
B B s S A RS 1755 RaaRE 2023%1A1H
IFRS 10 and IAS 28 Sale or Contribution of Assets between an To be determined
(Amendments) Investor and its Associate and Joint Venture

B EHREENE 10K KREFEEBRLERNANGERRZENEERER FHEE
B et RIS 285% (15T HE

)
Hong Kong Interpretation 5 Hong Kong Interpretation 5 (Revised) Applied when an
(Revised) Presentation of Financial Statements — entity applies IAS
Classification by the Borrower of a Term Loan 1 (Amendments)
that Contains a Repayment on Demand Clause - Classification
of Liabilities as
Current or Non-
current
BEBREELST (BIEF]) EEREELT (RIER]) MBHREN2S] — B BEBEAEES:
AHBERERERERNERAERETHE AERIZE 158 (85T
R)— BEIEAER
B3} FEIM BN T LA FE

H
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2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (continued)

Basis of preparation (continued)

2.1.3 New and amended standards and

interpretation not yet adopted by the Group
(continued)

The amendments to IAS 12 Income Taxes
require companies to recognise deferred tax
on transactions that, on initial recognition,
give rise to equal amounts of taxable and
deductible temporary differences. They will
typically apply to transactions such as leases
of lessees and decommissioning obligations
and will require the recognition of additional
deferred tax assets and liabilities.

The amendment should be applied to
transactions that occur on or after the
beginning of the earliest comparative period
presented. In addition, entities should
recognise deferred tax assets (to the extent
that it is probable that they can be utilised)
and deferred tax liabilities at the beginning
of the earliest comparative period for all
deductible and taxable temporary differences
associated with:

° right-of-use assets and lease
liabilities, and

° decommissioning, restoration
and similar liabilities, and the
corresponding amounts recognised as
part of the cost of the related assets.

The cumulative effect of recognising these
adjustments is recognised in retained
earnings, or another component of equity, as
appropriate.

TREHBRBE (F)

2.1

fRBLEXE ()
2.1.3 FKEE KRB HIFE] LA E

H]V—t—/\//&ﬂé\f—r{-t (ft)

Bt ERIFE125EMFH
RIERT B R A RN FER
5 AR F{E AV B AR I AT HR
RE R £ 2R 5 EREL
A o HBEEARAEAR
HEREREESERS X8
ERERBIMEETHIREE R
AR -

HAEETAE R P 251 & F 7
LB IR MR 2 R DB A
M5 o o - BRARERT
] Eh B ER A 57 4 I 9 AT A A
TR 518 BA #Y AT F0 IR K% B AR A
ERUEEZHERELEHIBEE
(ERTRERI E MM EERN) &
EERBEEE

. EREEENEESR
& R

. =R RERBUE

EANTERREEE

ER KA — B0 8

fEEHE o
ﬁ?%%éﬁm?q%%#%
BEN SR EME D (40
M) FHER ©
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B O BRI

(continued)

The Group expects that the impact to
the consolidated balance sheets will not
be material and deferred tax assets and
deferred tax liabilities without taking into
consideration the offsetting of balances
within the tax jurisdiction will increase
by approximately RMB59,435,000 and
RMB62,989,000 respectively as at March
31, 2023 as a result of adopting the
amendments. The amendment is mandatory
for financial years commencing on or after
January 1, 2023. At this stage, the Group
does not intend to adopt the amendment
before its effective date.

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 2 TESTERBE (&)
POLICIES (continued)
2.1 Basis of preparation (continued) 21 REEE(E)
213 New and amended standards and 2.1.3 AKEE ARG RASAE
interpretation not yet adopted by the Group FTERIREAFEE (42)

REBIEH - AREMNZEE
A HEHEERGEROTE
WREAKRK20234F3 431
A AR R IE & B RIRETR IR
BE (T RA—BBaEE
BR[E AR RRIREE ) 9 RIiE
M# AR #59 435 0007 &
AR #62,989,0007T ° #%f&
TR 202351 A1Hs 2% H
SRR BT IR E s ) AR AR o R
PEER - AEBTENZIEET &
B BARTERANGZAEET ©

2.2 Principles of consolidation and equity 22 EHRERETHERA
accounting
2.2.1 Subsidiaries 221 Fud]

Subsidiaries are all entities (including
structured entities) over which the Group
has control. The Group controls an entity
where the Group is exposed to, or has rights
to, variable returns from its involvement
with the entity and has the ability to affect
those returns through its power to direct
the activities of the entity. Subsidiaries are
fully consolidated from the date on which
control is transferred to the Group. They are
deconsolidated from the date that control
ceases.

The acquisition method of accounting is used
to account for business combinations by the
Group (see Note 2.3 below).

FRRIEAS B A 51
MTEER (BEREBHEER
B EXAKERZ2EZER
ESAES Rk JekEo)cl o
ZEAZOBAOEN - ARE
ENBBHSISZREREHN
BNZEZEORE - AEH
BIFRHIZE RS - T R EES
BREEAKEZ AEZEMR
ABR - ARSI L2 B
IEBFRAR -

AEBMEAKBEHEBER
AHFARR (R TXHizE2.3) °
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2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

2.2 Principles of consolidation and equity
accounting (continued)

221

222

2238

Subsidiaries (continued)

Inter-company transactions, balances
and unrealised gains on transactions
between group companies are eliminated.
Unrealised losses are also eliminated
unless the transaction provides evidence
of an impairment of the transferred asset.
Accounting policies of subsidiaries have
been changed where necessary to ensure
consistency with the policies adopted by the

Group.

Non-controlling interests in the results and
equity of subsidiaries are shown separately
in the consolidated income statements,
statements of comprehensive loss,
statements of changes in deficit in equity and
balance sheets respectively.

Associates

Associates are all entities over which the
Group has significant influence but not
control or joint control. This is generally the
case where the Group holds between 20%
and 50% of the voting rights. Investments
in associates are accounted for using the
equity method of accounting (see Note 2.2.4
below), after initially being recognised at
cost.

Joint ventures

Joint arrangements are classified as either
joint operations or joint ventures depending
on the contractual rights and obligations
of each investor. The Group has assessed
the nature of its joint arrangements and
determined them to be joint ventures.
Investments in joint ventures are accounted
for using the equity method of accounting
(see Note 2.2.4 below), after initially being
recognised at cost.
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2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 2 FTESHBERE (8)

POLICIES (continued)

2.2 Principles of consolidation and equity
accounting (continued)

2.2.4 Equity Method 224 Bm*

Under the equity method of accounting,
the investments are initially recognised at
cost and adjusted thereafter to recognise
the Group’s share of the post-acquisition
profits or losses of the investee in profit or
loss, and the Group’s share of movements in
other comprehensive income of the investee
in other comprehensive income. Dividends
received or receivable from associates and
joint ventures are recognized as a reduction
in the carrying amount of the investment.

Where the Group’s share of losses in an
equity-accounted investment equals or
exceeds its interest in the entity, including
any other unsecured long-term receivables,
the Group does not recognise further losses,
unless it has incurred obligations or made
payments on behalf of the other entity.

Unrealised gains on transactions between the
Group and its associates and joint ventures
are eliminated to the extent of the group’s
interest in these entities. Unrealised losses
are also eliminated unless the transaction
provides evidence of an impairment of the
asset transferred. Accounting policies of
equity- accounted investees have been
changed where necessary to ensure
consistency with the policies adopted by the
Group.

The carrying amount of equity-accounted
investments is tested for impairment in
accordance with the policy described in Note
2.9.
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2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (continued)

Principles of consolidation and equity
accounting (continued)

2.2.5 Changes in ownership interests

The Group treats transactions with non-
controlling interests that do not result in a
loss of control as transactions with equity
holders of the Group. A change in ownership
interest results in an adjustment between
the carrying amounts of the controlling
and non-controlling interests to reflect
their relative interests in the subsidiary.
Any difference between the amount of the
adjustment to non-controlling interests
and any consideration paid or received is
recognised in a separate reserve within
equity attributable to owners of the Company.

When the Group ceases to consolidate
or equity account for an investment
because of a loss of control, joint control
or significant influence, any retained
interest in the entity is remeasured to its fair
value with the change in carrying amount
recognised in profit or loss. This fair value
becomes the initial carrying amount for
the purposes of subsequently accounting
for the retained interest as an associate,
joint venture or financial asset. In addition,
any amounts previously recognised in
other comprehensive income in respect
of that entity are accounted for as if the
Group had directly disposed of the related
assets or liabilities. This may mean that
amounts previously recognised in other
comprehensive income are reclassified
to profit or loss or transferred to another
category of equity as permitted by applicable
IFRSs.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

2.2 Principles of consolidation and equity
accounting (continued)

2.2.5 Changes in ownership interests (continued)

226

If the ownership interest in a joint
venture or an associate is reduced but
joint control or significant influence is
retained, only a proportionate share of the
amounts previously recognised in other
comprehensive income are reclassified to
profit or loss where appropriate.

Subsidiaries controlled through previous
contractual arrangements

On August 20, 2020, Beijing Ruier Shengbin
Medical Technology Co., Ltd. (“Beijing
Ruier”), Shenzhen Ruijian Consulting
Management Co., Ltd. (“Shenzhen Ruijian”),
Ms Zou Lifang, each of the 12 operating
entities (the “VIE Entities”) entered into a
series of contractual arrangements (the
“Contractual Arrangements”) pursuant to
which the Group is able to:

(i) receive substantially all of the
economic interest returns generated
by Shenzhen Ruijian in consideration
for the business support and
consultancy services provided by
Beijing Ruier;

(i) obtain an irrevocable, unconditional
and exclusive right to purchase all
or any part of the equity interests in
and/or assets of Shenzhen Ruijian
held at present or in the future for a
consideration equivalent to the lowest
price permitted under the PRC laws
at the time of purchase. The nominee
shareholder and Shenzhen Ruijian
agreed to refund all amount received
in the transfer of equity interests or
assets, as the case maybe, to Beijing
Ruier;
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2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (continued)

Principles of consolidation and equity
accounting (continued)

2.2.6 Subsidiaries controlled through previous

contractual arrangements (continued)

(iii) exercise the equity holders’ voting
rights of Shenzhen Ruijian; and,

(iv)  obtain a pledge over all of nominee
shareholder’s equity interest in
Shenzhen Ruijian to Beijing Ruier as a
security to guarantee the performance
of the contractual obligations and
payment of outstanding debts under
the Contractual Arrangements.

As a result of the Contractual Arrangements,
the Group is considered to control Shenzhen
Ruijian as it has rights to exercise power over
Shenzhen Ruijian, receive variable returns
from its involvement with Shenzhen Ruijian,
and have the ability to affect those returns
through its power over Shenzhen Ruijian.
Consequently, the Company regarded
Shenzhen Ruijian as controlled entity and
consolidated the financial position and
results of operations of Shenzhen Ruijian in
the consolidated financial statements of the
Group.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

2.3

Business combinations

The acquisition method of accounting is used to
account for all business combinations, regardless
of whether equity instruments or other assets are
acquired. The consideration transferred for the
acquisition of a subsidiary comprises the:

o fair values of the assets transferred

o liabilities incurred to the former owners of the
acquired business

° equity interests issued by the Group

o fair value of any asset or liability resulting
from a contingent consideration arrangement,
and

o fair value of any pre-existing equity interest

in the subsidiary.

Identifiable assets acquired and liabilities and
contingent liabilities assumed in a business
combination are, with limited exceptions, measured
initially at their fair values at the acquisition date.
The Group recognises any non-controlling interest in
the acquired entity on an acquisition-by-acquisition
basis either at fair value or at the non-controlling
interest’s proportionate share of the acquired entity’s
net identifiable assets.

Acquisition-related costs are expensed as incurred.

The excess of the:

o consideration transferred,

° amount of any non-controlling interest in the
acquired entity, and

° acquisition-date fair value of any previous
equity interest in the acquired entity
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2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

2.3

2.4

Business combinations (continued)

Over the fair value of the net identifiable assets
acquired is recorded as goodwill. If those amounts
are less than the fair value of the net identifiable
assets of the business acquired, the difference is
recognised directly in profit or loss as a bargain
purchase.

Where settlement of any part of cash consideration
is deferred, the amounts payable in the future are
discounted to their present value as at the date of
exchange. The discount rate used is the entity’'s
incremental borrowing rate, being the rate at which
a similar borrowing could be obtained from an
independent financier under comparable terms and
conditions. Contingent consideration is classified
either as equity or a financial liability. Amounts
classified as a financial liability are subsequently
remeasured to fair value with changes in fair value
recognised in profit or loss.

Separate financial statements

Investments in subsidiaries are accounted for
at cost less impairment. Cost includes direct
attributable costs of investment. The results of
subsidiaries are accounted for by the Company on
the basis of dividend received and receivable.

Impairment testing of the investments in subsidiaries
is required upon receiving a dividend from these
investments if the dividend exceeds the total
comprehensive income of the subsidiary in the
period the dividend is declared or if the carrying
amount of the investment in the separate financial
statements exceeds the carrying amount in the
consolidated financial statements of the investee’s
net assets including goodwill.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

2.5

2.6

Segment reporting

Operating segments are reported in a manner
consistent with the internal reporting provided to the
chief operating decision-maker, who is responsible
for allocating resources and assessing performance
of the operating segment and making strategic
decisions. The chief operating decision-maker has
been identified as the board of directors.

Foreign currency translation
2.6.1 Functional and presentation currency

ltems included in the financial statements of
each of the Group’s entities are measured
using the currency of the primary economic
environment in which the entity operates
(the “functional currency”). The functional
currency of the Company is USD as USD
is the primary denominated currency of
the Company’s financing. The Company’s
primary subsidiaries were incorporated
in mainland China and these subsidiaries
considered RMB as their functional currency.
As the major operations of the Group are
within mainland China, the Group determined
to present its consolidated financial
statements in RMB (unless otherwise stated).

2.6.2 Transactions and balances

Foreign currency transactions are
translated into the functional currency
using the exchange rates at the dates of
the transactions. Foreign exchange gains
and losses resulting from the settlement of
such transactions and from the translation of
monetary assets and liabilities denominated
in foreign currencies at year end exchange
rates are generally recognised in profit or
loss. They are deferred in equity if they relate
to qualifying cash flow hedges and qualifying
net investment hedges or are attributable
to part of the net investment in a foreign
operation.
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2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

2.6 Foreign currency translation (continued)

2.6.2 Transactions and balances (continued)

2.6.8

Foreign exchange gains and losses are
presented in the consolidated income
statements within “other (losses)/gains — net”.

Group companies

The results and financial position of foreign
operations (none of which has the currency
of a hyperinflationary economy) that have
a functional currency different from the
presentation currency are translated into the
presentation currency as follows:

° assets and liabilities for each balance
sheet presented are translated at
the closing rate at the date of that
balance sheet

o income and expenses for each
income statement and statement of
comprehensive loss are translated at
average exchange rates (unless this
is not a reasonable approximation
of the cumulative effect of the rates
prevailing on the transaction dates,
in which case income and expenses
are translated at the dates of the
transactions), and

° all resulting exchange differences are
recognised in other comprehensive
income/(loss).

On consolidation, exchange differences
arising from the translation of any net
investment in foreign entities,
borrowings and other financial instruments
designated as hedges of such investments,
are recognised in other comprehensive
income/(loss).
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

2.6

2.7

Foreign currency translation (continued)
2.6.3 Group companies (continued)

Goodwill and fair value adjustments arising
on the acquisition of a foreign operation are
treated as assets and liabilities of the foreign
operation and translated at the closing rate.

Property, plant and equipment

Property, plant and equipment are stated at
historical cost less accumulated depreciation.
Historical cost includes expenditure that is directly
attributable to the acquisition of the items.

Subsequent costs are included in the asset’s
carrying amount or recognised as a separate
asset, as appropriate, only when it is probable that
future economic benefits associated with the item
will flow to the Group and the cost of the item can
be measured reliably. The carrying amount of the
replaced part is derecognized. All other repairs and
maintenance are charged to profit or loss during
the year ended March 31, 2023 in which they are
incurred.

Depreciation on property, plant and equipment is
calculated using the straight-line method to allocate
their cost, net of their residual values, over their
estimated useful lives, as follows:

- Medical equipment 3-10 years

- Office equipment and 5 years
furniture

- Motor vehicles 5 years

- Leasehold improvements the shorter of the
useful life or the
lease term

Property, plant and equipment arising from a
business acquisition is depreciated over the
remaining useful life.
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2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

2.7

2.8

Property, plant and equipment (continued)

The assets’ residual values and useful lives are
reviewed, and adjusted if appropriate, at the end of
each reporting period.

An asset’'s carrying amount is written down
immediately to its recoverable amount if the asset’s
carrying amount is greater than its estimated
recoverable amount.

Gains and losses on disposals are determined by
comparing the proceeds with the carrying amount
and are recognised within “Other gains — net” in the
consolidated income statements.

Intangible assets
2.8.1 Goodwill

Goodwill arises on the acquisition of
subsidiaries and represents the excess
of the aggregate purchase consideration
transferred, the acquisition-date fair value of
any previous equity interest in the acquiree
over the fair value of the net identifiable
assets acquired. Goodwill is not amortised
but it is tested for impairment annually,
or more frequently if events or changes
in circumstances indicate that it might
be impaired, and is carried at cost less
accumulated impairment losses (if any).
Gains and losses on the disposal of an entity
include the carrying amount of goodwill
relating to the entity sold.

Goodwill is allocated to cash-generating
units (“CGUSs”") for the purpose of impairment
testing. The allocation is made to those
CGUs or CGUs that are expected to benefit
from the business combination in which
the goodwill arose. The units or groups
of units are identified at the lowest level
at which goodwill is monitored for internal
management purposes, being the operating
segments.
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2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 2 FESHBEREE ()
POLICIES (continued)

2.8 Intangible assets (continued) 28 ®|EEE(E)

2.8.2 Other intangible assets 282 AMmEEEE

Acquired computer software is capitalised
on the basis of the costs incurred to acquire
and bring the specific software into usage.
Costs associated with maintaining computer
software programs are recognised as
expense as incurred.

Separately acquired service contracts are
measured on initial recognition at cost.
Service contracts are subsequently carried
at cost less accumulated amortisation and
impairment losses (if any).

Brands and licenses, non-competitive
agreements and customer relationships
acquired in a business combination are
recognised at fair value at the acquisition
date. They have a finite useful life and are
carried at cost less accumulated amortisation
and impairment losses (if any).

Estimated useful life is determined to be
the shorter of the period of contractual
rights or the estimated period during which
such intangible assets can bring economic
benefits to the Group.

The Group amortises intangible assets with a
finite useful life using the straight-line method
over the following periods:

Software 5 years
Service contracts 2-4 years
Brands and licenses 5-10 years

Non-competitive agreements 1-4 years
and customer relationships

The Group estimates the useful life of the
brand and license to be between 5 and 10
years based on the contract term of the
brand and the expected useful life of the
license.
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2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (continued)

Intangible assets (continued)

2.8.3 Research and development

Research expenditures are recognised as
an expense as incurred. Costs incurred
on the development phase of an internal
project are capitalized as intangible assets
when all of the recognition criteria are met,
including (a) it is technically feasible to
complete the intangible asset so that it will
be available for use or sale; (b) management
intends to complete the intangible asset
and use or sell it; (c) there is an ability to
use or sell the intangible asset; (d) it can
be demonstrated how the intangible asset
will generate probable future economic
benefits; (e) adequate technical, finance
and other resources to complete the
development and to use or sell the intangible
asset are available; and (f) the expenditure
attributable to the intangible asset during
its development can be reliably measured.
Other development costs that do not meet
those criteria are expensed as incurred.
There were no development costs meeting
those criteria and capitalised as intangible
assets as at March 31, 2023 and 2022.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

2.9

Impairment of non-financial assets

Goodwill and intangible assets that have an
indefinite useful life are not subject to amortisation
and are tested annually for impairment, or more
frequently if events or changes in circumstances
indicate that they might be impaired. Other non-
financial assets, including property, plant and
equipment, right-of-use assets, and intangible
assets (including brand and licenses), are tested
for impairment whenever events or changes in
circumstances indicate that the carrying amount
may not be recoverable. An impairment loss is
recognised for the amount by which the asset’s
carrying amount exceeds its recoverable amount.
The recoverable amount is the higher of an asset’s
fair value less costs of disposal and value in use.
For the purposes of assessing impairment, assets
are grouped at the lowest levels for which there are
separately identifiable cash inflows which are largely
independent of the cash inflows from other assets
or groups of assets (CGUs). Non-financial assets
other than goodwill that suffered an impairment are
reviewed for possible reversal of the impairment at
the end of each reporting period.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

SOt wR M

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (continued)

2.10 Investments and other financial assets

2.10.1 Classification

The Group classifies its financial assets in
the following measurement categories:

° those to be measured subsequently
at fair value through profit or loss
(“FVPL"), and

° those to be measured at amortised
cost.

The classification depends on the entity’'s
business model for managing the financial
assets and the contractual terms of the cash
flows.

Regular way purchases and sales of financial
assets are recognised on the trade-date,
the date on which the Group commits to
purchase or sell the asset. Financial assets
are derecognised when the rights to receive
cash flows from the financial assets have
expired or have been transferred and the
Group has transferred substantially all the
risks and rewards of ownership.

2.10.2 Measurement

At initial recognition, the Group measures
a financial asset at its fair value plus, in
the case of a financial asset not at FVPL,
transaction costs that are directly attributable
to the acquisition of the financial asset.
Transaction costs of financial assets carried
at FVPL are expensed in consolidated
income statements.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

2.10 Investments and other financial assets
(continued)

2.10.2 Measurement (continued)

Debt Instruments

Subsequent measurement of debt
instruments depends on the Group's
business model for managing the asset and
the cash flow characteristics of the asset.
There are two measurement categories
into which the Group classifies its debt
instruments:

° Amortised cost: Assets that are held
for collection of contractual cash flows
where those cash flows represent
solely payments of principal and
interest are measured at amortised
cost. Interest income from these
financial assets is included in finance
income using the effective interest rate
method. Any gain or loss arising on
derecognition is recognised directly
in consolidated income statements
and presented net within other
(losses)/gains — net together with
foreign exchange gains and losses.
Impairment losses are presented as
separate line item in the consolidated
income statements.

° FVPL: Assets that do not meet
the criteria for amortised cost are
measured at FVPL. A gain or loss on a
debt investment that is subsequently
measured at FVPL is recognised in
consolidated income statements and
presented net within other (losses)/
gains — net in the period in which it
arises.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

SOt wR M

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

2.10

Investments and other financial assets
(continued)

2.10.3 Impairment

The Group assesses on a forward-looking
basis the expected credit losses associated
with its debt instruments carried at amortised
cost. The impairment methodology applied
depends on whether there has been a
significant increase in credit risk.

For trade receivables, the Group applies the
simplified approach permitted by IFRS 9,
which requires lifetime expected credit losses
to be recognised from initial recognition of
the receivables.

Impairment of other receivables are
measured as either 12-month expected
credit losses or lifetime expected credit loss,
depending on whether there has been a
significant increase in credit risk since initial
recognition. If a significant increase in credit
risk of a receivable has occurred since initial
recognition, then impairment is measured as
lifetime expected credit losses.

While cash and cash equivalents, time
deposits with original maturities over three
months and restricted cash are also subject
to the impairment requirements of IFRS 9, the
identified impairment loss was immaterial.

Offsetting financial instruments

Financial assets and liabilities are offset and the net
amount reported in the balance sheet when there is
a legally enforceable right to offset the recognised
amounts and there is an intention to settle on a
net basis or realise the asset and settle the liability
simultaneously. The legally enforceable right must
not be contingent on future events and must be
enforceable in the normal course of business and in
the event of default, insolvency or bankruptcy of the
company or the counterparty.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

2.12

2.13

2.14

Inventories

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net
realisable value. Cost is determined using the first-
in, first-out (FIFO) method. Net realisable value is
the estimated selling price in the ordinary course
of business less the estimated costs necessary to
make the sale.

Trade receivables

Trade receivables are amounts due from customers
for goods sold and service performed in the
ordinary course of business. If collection of trade
receivables is expected in one year or less (or in the
normal operating cycle of the business if longer),
they are classified as current assets. If not, they are
presented as non-current assets.

Trade receivables are recognised initially at the
amount of consideration that is unconditional unless
they contain significant financing components, when
they are recognised at fair value. The Group holds
the trade receivables with the objective to collect
the contractual cash flows and therefore measures
them subsequently at amortised cost using the
effective interest method. See Note 3.1.2 for the
description of the Group’s impairment policies.

Cash and cash equivalents and restricted cash

For the purpose of presentation in the consolidated
statements of cash flows, cash and cash equivalents
include cash on hand, deposits held at call with
banks and time deposits with original maturities
within three months.

Time deposits with original maturities over three
months and cash that is restricted from withdrawal,
from use or from being pledged as security is
reported separately on the face of the consolidated
balance sheets, and is not included in the total cash
and cash equivalents in the consolidated statements
of cash flows.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

SOt wR M

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

2.15

Share capital

Ordinary shares are classified as equity. Incremental
costs directly attributable to the issuance of
new shares or options are shown in equity as a
deduction, net of tax, from the proceeds.

Where any group company purchases the
Company’s equity instruments, for example as
the result of a share buy-back or a share-based
payment plan, the consideration paid, including
any directly attributable incremental costs (net of
income taxes), is deducted from equity attributable
to the owners of the Company as treasury shares
until the shares are cancelled or reissued. Where
such ordinary shares are subsequently reissued,
any consideration received, net of any directly
attributable incremental transaction costs and the
related income tax effects, is included in equity
attributable to the owners of the Company.

Shares held by the Company’s restrictive share unit
scheme (the “RSU Plan”) are disclosed as treasury
shares and deducted from contributed equity.

Preferred shares are classified as financial liabilities,
see Note 2.17 and Note 3.3.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

2.16

Trade and other payables

These amounts represent liabilities for goods and
services provided to the Group prior to the end of
the financial period which are unpaid. Trade and
other payables are presented as current liabilities
unless payment is not due within 12 months after
the reporting period. They are recognised initially
at their fair value and subsequently measured at
amortised cost using the effective interest method.

Convertible redeemable preferred shares

Convertible redeemable preferred shares issued by
the Company are redeemable at the option of the
holder upon occurrence of certain events. These
instruments can also be converted into ordinary
shares of the Company at any time at the option of
the holders, or automatically upon occurrence of an
Qualified Initial Public Offering (the “QIPO”") of the
Company.

The Group designated the convertible redeemable
preferred shares as financial liabilities at fair value
through profit or loss. They are initially recognised at
fair value. Any directly attributable transaction costs
are recognised in profit or loss. Fair value changes
relating to market risk are recognised in profit or
loss, the component of fair value changes relating to
the Company’s own credit risk is recognised in other
comprehensive income/(loss). Amounts recorded
in other comprehensive income/(loss) related to
own credit risk are not subject to recycling in profit
or loss, but are transferred to accumulated losses
when realised.

The convertible redeemable preferred shares
are classified as non-current liabilities unless the
convertible redeemable preferred shares’ holders
can demand the Company to redeem the preferred
shares within 12 months after the end of each
reporting period.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

SOt wR M

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 2 FTESHBERE (8)

POLICIES (continued)
2.18 Borrowings 2.18 B

Borrowings are initially recognised at fair value, BRBR AR BE (HREEER
net of transaction costs incurred. Borrowings SRAR) R - EBIREHEKAT
are subsequently carried at amortised cost. Any BR - FTIS R (MBRZHA) HiE
difference between the proceeds (net of transaction EeREsBNERERE  RAEERF
costs) and the redemption amount is recognised in TERERAAREIB R AR -
profit or loss over the period of the borrowings using

the effective interest method.

Fees paid on the establishment of loan facilities Li%ﬁ?ﬁﬁﬂé%iﬁﬁ’]%ﬁﬁﬁﬁ—f

are recognised as transaction costs of the loan to o2 FIRMEENIER T HER
the extent that it is probable that some or all of the RERNR KA - ERBERT  Z
facility will be drawn down. In this case, the fee is EEHTJZE»LE?:?XETEHX o INREZHE

deferred until the draw-down occurs. To the extent IR FE AR AT Be & B ) 3k & R R E At
there is no evidence that it is probable that some éf C ZEBRBER BRI MRS R
or all of the facility will be drawn down, the fee is TEfIFRIE - WAL B & AERE AR g 8 o

capitalised as a pre-payment for liquidity services
and amortised over the period of the facility to which
it relates.

Borrowings are removed from the consolidated EERBAENEBLER - BUESEH
balance sheets when the obligation specified in B BRREHEEARKTBR -

the contract is discharged, cancelled or expired.
The difference between the carrying amount of
a financial liability that has been extinguished or
transferred to another party and the consideration
paid, including any non-cash assets transferred or
liabilities assumed, is recognised in consolidated
income statements as finance costs.

Borrowings are classified as current liabilities
unless the Group has an unconditional right to defer
settlement of the liability for at least 12 months after
the end of the reporting period.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

B O BRI

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 2 FESTHHEME (&)
POLICIES (continued)
2.18 Borrowings (continued) 2.18 B (&)
2.18.1 Bond 2.18. 11&%

The Company issued a bond to a bond
holder (the “Holder”) which is accounted for
at fair value through profit or loss, with fair
value changes recognised in profit or loss,
except for the portion attributable to own
credit risk change that should be charged
to other comprehensive income/(loss).
Amounts recorded in other comprehensive
income/(loss) related to own credit risk are
not subject to recycling in profit or loss, but
are transferred to accumulated losses when
realised.

The bond is classified as a non-current
liability unless the Company has an obligation
to settle the liability within 12 months after
the end of the reporting period.

2.18.2 Warrants

The Group issued warrants as an upfront
payment for issuing a bond (Note 2.18.1).
The warrants can be exercised and settled
with (1) class 1 ordinary shares of the
Company, (2) cash determined by the
underlying equity value of the Company, at
the option of the holder. The warrants are
initially and subsequently measured at fair
value. Any changes in fair value of warrants
are recognised in profit or loss.

2.18.3 Derivative liabilities

The Group recognised derivative liabilities
as the result of the termination of warrants.
The derivative liabilities can be settled
either through (1) a predetermined amount
of cash, or (2) re-entering into the warrants
(Note 2.18.2), depending if the QIPO or trade
sales occurs before December 31, 2022.
The derivative liabilities are initially and
subsequently measured at fair value. Any
changes in fair value of derivative liabilities
are recognised in profit or loss.
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2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

2.19

2.20

Borrowing costs

General and specific borrowing costs that are
directly attributable to the acquisition, construction
or production of a qualifying asset are capitalised
during the period of time that is required to
complete and prepare the asset for its intended use
or sale. Qualifying assets are assets that necessarily
take a substantial period of time to get ready for
their intended use or sale.

Investment income earned on the temporary
investment of specific borrowings pending their
expenditure on qualifying assets is deducted from
the borrowing costs eligible for capitalisation.

Other borrowing costs are expensed in the period in
which they are incurred.

Current and deferred income tax

The income tax expense or credit for the period
is the tax payable on the current period’'s taxable
income based on the applicable income tax rate for
each jurisdiction adjusted by changes in deferred
tax assets and liabilities attributable to temporary
differences and unused tax losses.

2.20.1 Current income tax

The current income tax charge is calculated
on the basis of the tax laws enacted or
substantively enacted at the balance sheet
date in the countries where the company’s
subsidiaries operate and generate taxable
income. Management periodically evaluates
positions taken in tax returns with respect to
situations in which applicable tax regulation
is subject to interpretation. It establishes
provisions where appropriate on the basis
of amounts expected to be paid to the tax
authorities.
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2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 2 FESHBEREE ()
POLICIES (continued)

220 HVHRIEZEFTSH (8)

2.20.2 Deferred income tax 2.20.2 FBEAEHTEF

2.20 Current and deferred income tax (continued)

Deferred income tax is provided in full,
using the liability method, on temporary
differences arising between the tax bases
of assets and liabilities and their carrying
amounts in the consolidated financial
statements. However, deferred income tax
liabilities are not recognised if they arise
from the initial recognition of goodwill.
Deferred income tax is also not accounted
for if it arises from initial recognition of an
asset or liability in a transaction other than a
business combination that at the time of the
transaction affects neither accounting nor
taxable profit or loss. Deferred income tax is
determined using tax rates (and laws) that
have been enacted or substantively enacted
by the end of the reporting period and are
expected to apply when the related deferred
income tax asset is realised or the deferred
income tax liability is settled.

Deferred income tax assets are recognised
only if it is probable that future taxable
amounts will be available to utilise those
temporary differences and losses.

Deferred tax liabilities and assets are
not recognised for temporary differences
between the carrying amount and tax bases
of investments in foreign operations where
the company is able to control the timing of
the reversal of the temporary differences and
it is probable that the differences will not
reverse in the foreseeable future.
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2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (continued)

2.20 Current and deferred income tax (continued)

2.20.2 Deferred income tax (continued)

Deferred income tax assets and liabilities
are offset when there is a legally enforceable
right to offset current income tax assets and
liabilities and when the deferred income
tax balances relate to the same taxation
authority. Current income tax assets and
tax liabilities are offset where the entity has
a legally enforceable right to offset and
intends either to settle on a net basis, or
to realise the asset and settle the liability
simultaneously.

Current and deferred income tax is
recognised in profit or loss, except to the
extent that it relates to items recognised
in other comprehensive income/(loss) or
directly in equity. In this case, the tax is also
recognised in other comprehensive income/
(loss) or directly in equity, respectively.

Employee benefits

2.21.1 Short-term obligations

Liabilities for wages, salaries, bonuses and
other allowances that are expected to be
settled wholly within 12 months after the
end of the period in which the employees
render the related service are recognised in
respect of employees’ services up to the end
of the reporting period and are measured
at the amounts expected to be paid when
the liabilities are settled. The liabilities are
presented as current employee benefit
payable in the consolidated balance sheets.
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2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 2
POLICIES (continued)

2.21 Employee benefits (continued) 221 EEEF (&)

TREHBRBE (F)

2.21.2 Pension obligations

The Company’s subsidiaries incorporated
in the PRC contribute based on certain
percentage of the salaries of the employees
to a defined contribution retirement benefit
plan organised by relevant government
authorities in the PRC on a monthly basis.
The government authorities undertake to
assume the retirement benefit obligations
payable to the existing and future retired
employees under these plans and the Group
has no further obligation for post-retirement
benefits beyond the contributions made.
Contributions to these plans are expensed
as incurred. Assets of the plans are held and
managed by government authorities and are
separate from those of the Group.

2.22 Share-based compensation

Share-based compensation benefits are provided to
employees via the Company’s RSU Plan.

Restrictive share unit awards ("RSUSs”)

For RSUs, the total amount to be expensed is
determined by reference to the fair value of the
Company’s shares at the grant date.

The total expense is recognised over the vesting
period, which is the period over which all of the
specified vesting conditions are to be satisfied,
using accelerated method. Under this method,
each vesting instalment of a graded vesting
award is treated as a separate share-based
award, and accordingly each vesting instalment is
separately measured and attributed to expense,
resulting in accelerated recognition of share-
based compensation expenses. At the end of each
period, the Company revises its estimates of the
number of equity instruments that are expected to
vest based on the non-market vesting and service
conditions. It recognises the impact of the revision
to original estimates, if any, in profit or loss, with a
corresponding adjustment to equity.
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2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 2
POLICIES (continued)

2.22 Share-based compensation (continued) 2.22 RH#ME (&)

TREHBRBE (F)

Restrictive share unit awards (“RSUs”) (continued)

The total expense is recognised over the vesting
period, which is the period over which all of the
specified vesting conditions are to be satisfied.
At the end of each period, the entity revises its
estimates of the number of RSUs that are expected
to vest based on the non-market performance
conditions and service conditions. It recognises the
impact of the revision to original estimates, if any,
in profit or loss, with a corresponding adjustment to
equity.

If the terms of an equity-settled award are modified,
an additional expense is recognised for any
modification that increases the total fair value of
the share-based compensation arrangement, or is
otherwise beneficial to the employee, as measured
at the date of modification.
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B O BRI

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 2 FESHBEREE ()
POLICIES (continued)

2.23 Revenue recognition 2.23 WARER

Revenue from contracts with customers is
recognised when control of goods or services is
transferred to the customers at an amount that
reflects the consideration to which the Group
expects to be entitled in exchange for those goods
or services. Revenue is measured at the fair value
of the consideration received or receivable and
represents amounts receivable for goods sold and
services provided in the normal course of business,
net of discounts.

Revenue from rendering of dental services is
recognised over time because the Group’s
performance does not create an asset with an
alternative use and the Group have an enforceable
right to payment for performance completed to date.

(a) Revenue from the rendering of orthodontics
and implantology services is recognised
over time, using an input method to measure
progress towards complete satisfaction of
the service. The input method recognises
revenue on the basis of staff costs and/
or costs of inventories, consumables and
customised products, when appropriate,
relative to the total expected costs to
complete the respective service. When the
payments received from customers exceed
the services rendered, a contract liability is
recognised.

(b) Revenue from the rendering of other dental
services is recognised when the services
have been rendered given that such dental
services are generally completed within a
very short period of time.

For revenue from rendering of dental services that
the Group have no enforceable right to payment
for performance completed to date, revenue is
recognised at a point in time when the performance
obligation is satisfied by transferring control of the
service to the customer.
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2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

2.23

2.24

Revenue recognition (continued)

Revenue from sales of goods is recognised when
control of the goods has transferred, being when
the goods are delivered to the customers.

For contracts where the period between the payment
by the customer and the transfer of the promised
service exceeds one year, the transaction price is
adjusted for the effects of a financing component, if
significant.

The Group recognise as an asset (i) the incremental
costs of obtaining a contract with a customer,
representing the commissions to dentists; and (ii)
the costs incurred to fulfil a contract which relate
directly to the contract, generate resources that will
be used in satisfying the contract and are expected
to be recovered. These assets are amortised on a
systematic basis that is consistent with the transfer
to the customer of the goods or services to which
the asset relates.

Loss per share
2.24.1 Basic loss per share

Basic loss per share is calculated by
dividing:

° the loss attributable to owners of the
Company, excluding any costs of
servicing equity other than ordinary
shares; by

° the weighted average number of
ordinary shares outstanding during
the financial year, adjusted for bonus
elements in ordinary shares issued
during the year and excluding treasury
shares.
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2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 2 FTESHBERE (8)

POLICIES (continued)

2.24 Loss per share (continued) 2.24 EBREE (&)

2.24.2 Diluted loss per share

Diluted loss per share adjusts the figures

2.24.2 HRIEEEE S
EREEEIEARTEER

used in the determination of basic loss per NEBEFTREBAERE
share to take into account:
. the after-income tax effect of interest . £ SH B R AR

and other financing costs associated
with dilutive potential ordinary shares;

18 8 B ) B B E b
BRAHIRR TS B 1R

and FE R

. the weighted average number of . BRRERAAE#HE N
additional ordinary shares that would BELERMED %
have been outstanding assuming the FTHYEE SN IR AR A9 N
conversion of all dilutive potential R8N

ordinary shares.

2.25 Leases

Leases are recognised as a right-of-use asset and
a corresponding liability at the date at which the
leased asset is available for use by the Group.

Contracts may contain both lease and non-lease
components. The Group allocates the consideration
in the contract to the lease and non-lease
components based on their relative stand-alone
prices.

Assets and liabilities arising from a lease are initially
measured on a present value basis. Lease liabilities

2.25
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. variable lease payments that are based on . LAfE Sk b R A E ey a] &0

an index or a rate, initially measured using
the index or rate as at the commencement
date;
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2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (continued)

2.25 Leases (continued)

o amounts expected to be payable by the
Group under residual value guarantees;

° the exercise price of a purchase option if the
Group is reasonably certain to exercise that
option; and

o Payments of penalties for terminating the

lease, if the lease term reflects the Group
exercising that option.

Lease payments to be made under reasonably
certain extension options are also included in the
measurement of the liability.

The lease payments are discounted using the
interest rate implicit in the lease. If that rate cannot
be readily determined, which is generally the case
for leases in the Group, the lessee’s incremental
borrowing rate is used, being the rate that the
individual lessee would have to pay to borrow the
funds necessary to obtain an asset of similar value
to the right-of-use asset in a similar economic
environment with similar terms, security and
conditions.

Lease payments are allocated between principal
and finance cost. The finance cost is charged to
profit or loss over the lease period so as to produce
a constant periodic rate of interest on the remaining
balance of the liability for each period.

Right-of-use assets are measured at cost
comprising the following:

° the amount of the initial measurement of
lease liability;

o any lease payments made at or before
the commencement date less any lease
incentives received;

o any initial direct costs; and

° restoration costs.
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2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

2.25

Leases (continued)

Right-of-use assets are generally depreciated
over the shorter of the asset's useful life and the
lease term on a straight-line basis. If the Group is
reasonably certain to exercise a purchase option,
the right-of-use asset is depreciated over the
underlying asset’s useful life.

Payments associated with short-term leases and
all leases of low-value assets are recognised on a
straight-line basis as an expense in profit or loss.
Short-term leases are leases with a lease term of 12
months or less. Low-value assets comprise small
items of office equipment and furniture.

Amendment to IFRS 16 provides a practical
expedient for lessees to elect not to apply lease
modification accounting for rent concessions
arising as a direct consequence of the COVID-19
pandemic. The practical expedient applies only to
rent concessions occurring as a direct consequence
of the pandemic and only if (i) the change in lease
payments results in revised consideration for the
lease that is substantially the same as, or less
than, the consideration for the lease immediately
preceding the change; (ii) any reduction in lease
payments affects only payments originally due
on or before June 30, 2022; and (iii) there is no
substantive change to other terms and conditions
of the lease. The amendment is effective for annual
periods beginning on or after June 30, 2020 with
earlier application permitted and shall be applied
retrospectively.

During the year ended March 31, 2021, certain
monthly lease payments for the Group's leases
have been reduced or waived by the lessors as a
result of the COVID-19 pandemic and there are no
other changes to the terms of the leases. The Group
elected not to apply lease modification accounting
for all rent concessions granted by the lessors as a
result of the pandemic on or before June 30, 2022.
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2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

2.26

2.27

2.28

Dividend distribution

Provision is made for the amount of any dividend
declared, being appropriately authorised and no
longer at the discretion of the entity, on or before
the end of the reporting period but not distributed at
the end of the reporting period.

Government grants

Grants from the government are recognised at their
fair value where there is a reasonable assurance
that the grant will be received and the Group will
comply with all attached conditions.

Government grants relating to costs are deferred
and recognised in the consolidated income
statements over the period necessary to match them
with the costs that they are intended to compensate.

Government grants relating to property, plant and
equipment are included in non-current liabilities as
deferred government grants and are credited to the
consolidated income statements on a straight-line
basis over the expected lives of the related assets.

Finance income

Interest income from financial assets at FVPL is
included in the net fair value gains/(losses) on these
assets, see Note 9 below.

Interest income is presented as finance income
where it is earned from financial assets that are held
for cash management purposes, see Note 10 below.

FESHBEREE ()

2.26 KEDIK
BRBEHRIZAEEIR (BN E
ERERTHEHREREBWIBAT) BR
MEART AR RN EARESE
FOAEH B S o

2,27 BF®B

2.28

BT BN & B RER S ES B B
REB BT A MA NS REE - R
nEEER -

S8 B AN AR R BV U 78 B IR FE XY 2 44 B2
MEBRAES HHRERDHER - UE
B HL 4584 (B RO R S AR R AC

EYE - B MR EHERER BT B
EREERIME G AR RIE
A YEABEEENERDRFHEARE
OEFFAAPHRER -

B A

BARBEFAEBENSREENS
MEBWMATFAZFTEERNFAAEE
e (B8E) N F2H T XK
9o

HEFBWAELEABEESEEAN
BFENeREE 23 2MBK
A Bm2E T XHIEE10 -



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT

3.1

Financial risk factors

The Group’s activities expose it to a variety of
financial risks: market risk (including foreign
exchange risk, interest rate risk and price risk),
credit risk and liquidity risk. The Group’s overall
risk management program focuses on the

unpredictability of financial markets and seeks to
minimise potential adverse effects on the Group's
financial performance. Risk management is carried
out by the senior management of the Group.

3.1.1 Market risk

(i)

Foreign exchange risk

Foreign exchange risk arises from
future commercial transactions or
recognised assets and liabilities
denominated in a currency other than
the functional currency of the Group's
entities.

The Group's primary subsidiaries
operate mainly in the PRC with most
of the transactions settled in RMB.
The management considers that the
business is not exposed to significant
foreign exchange risk as there are no
significant assets or liabilities of the
Group denominated in the currencies
other than the respective functional
currencies of the Group’s entities.

B O BRI

3 Bt 7 L B i B

3.1

p JENSES

AEBNEBHEGSER KRR - ™
BRR (BREIMNERR - FERE R
EmER)  FERRERRSHESRA
% AEENEBERREESANE
REBTEO RN - AREE
WAB R EEPBERIRBEDME
2 -EREERAAEESRERE
AR

0

(i) SINGEE [\ 2

3.1.1

SINE L B 2K B R 2R
ERXGRUAEEE
BB LI
ERGENCDHERE
EREE-

AEEHNTE T QA
T2ETERLER
%o RBAIZHUAA
RESEE - ANAE
BErFENAESER
BEEHNEEEN
SN BB ENEX
BESRAE  AE
BEERREBKYTEH
EREASMNE RS

2022/23 Annual Report £ B8 %



Arrail Group Limited ¥FSEEBRA R

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

SOt wR M

3

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)

3.1

Financial risk factors (continued)

3.1.1 Market risk (continued)

(i)

Interest rate risk

The Group’s interest rate risk primarily
arises from borrowings. Borrowings
carried at floating rates expose the
Group to cash flow interest rate
risk whereas those carried at fixed
rates expose the Group to fair value
interest rate risk. The Group has not
entered into any interest rate swap
arrangements but will, however,
continue to monitor interest rate risk
exposure and will consider hedging
significant interest rate risk exposure
should the need arise.

As at March 31, 2023 and 2022,
the Group’s borrowings at floating
rates amounted to RMB nil and
RMB22,602,000, respectively. If the
floating interest rates on borrowings
had been 100 basis points higher/
lower with all other variables held
constant, the loss before income
tax for the years ended March
31, 2023 and 2022 would have
increased/decreased by RMB nil and
RMB206,000, respectively, mainly as a
result of higher/lower interest expense
on floating rate borrowings.
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3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued) 3 MEREEE (E)
3.1  Financial risk factors (continued) 3.1 HMERKBEZE (&)
3.1.2 Credit risk 3.1.2 (=EREE
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Credit risk mainly arises from cash and
cash equivalents, time deposits with original
maturity over three months, restricted cash
as well as credit exposures to customers and
other counterparties, including outstanding
receivables. The maximum exposure to credit
risk is represented by the carrying amount

of each financial asset in the consolidated
balance sheets.

(i)

Risk management

Credit risk is managed on a group
basis.

The credit risk of cash and cash
equivalents, time deposits with
original maturity over three months
and restricted cash is limited because
the counterparties are state-owned
banks or reputable commercial banks
located in the PRC or Hong Kong
which are high credit quality financial
institutions with Moody’s credit ratings
ranging from A1 to Baa2.

For trade receivables and other
receivables, if customers or debtors
are independently rated, these ratings
are used. If there is no independent
rating, the Group assesses the credit
quality of the customers and debtors,
taking into account of their financial
positions, past experience and other
factors.

For the years ended March 31,
2023 and 2022, the Group has no
significant concentrations of credit risk
as no revenue from the Group’s sales
to a single customer amounted to 10%
or more of the Group'’s revenue.
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3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)

3.1 Financial risk factors (continued)

3.1.2 Credit risk (continued)

(i)

Impairment of financial assets

The Group has three types of
financial assets that are subject to the
expected credit loss model:

° cash and cash equivalents,
restricted cash and time
deposits

o trade receivables, and

° other receivables.

Cash and cash equivalents, restricted
cash and time deposits

The Group expects that there is no
significant credit risk associated with
cash and cash equivalents, restricted
cash and time deposits with original
maturity over three months since they
are substantially deposited at state-
owned banks and other medium or
large size listed banks. Management
does not expect that there will be
any significant losses from non-
performance by these counterparties.
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FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)

3.1

Financial risk factors (continued)

3.1.2 Credit risk (continued)

(i)

Impairment of financial assets
(continued)

Trade receivables

The Group applies the IFRS 9
simplified approach to measure
expected credit losses which uses a
lifetime expected loss allowance for
all trade receivables.

To measure the expected credit
losses, trade receivables have
been grouped based on shared risk
characteristics.

The management calculates the
expected credit losses based on
the customers’ historical credit loss
information and further incorporates
forward-looking adjustments, which
are derived using linear regression,
to reflect management’'s forecasts of
macroeconomic factors in different
including Consumer
Price Index (“CPI”), Producer Price
Index (“PPI”") and Gross Domestic
Products (“GDP") of the PRC in which
it provides services, as this affects
the customers’ ability to settle the
receivables.

scenarios,

3
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B BZENEFED
R KR R 8O
T4 -

EREEREBEEFNB
EEEBIEENTE
BHEEBRE I
E—SBREMNAER
M B 5% EE A RO AT RE
AE S UARBEE
BHTRBETRE
OB A &=/ EA
BEEEAERIE
H([CPIJ) - &R
BERIEE ([PPI]) &
HAERMRBKF
Bl M B AL E®ZE
(IGDP)J) r Hgx 2
BEE BRI
EPA
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3

3.1

3.1.2 Credit risk (continued)

(i)

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued) 3 MEREEE (E)
Financial risk factors (continued) 3.1 HMERKBEZE (&)
3.1.2 EEER (&)
Impairment of financial assets (i) TEMEERE (&)
(continued)
Trade receivables (continued) E S EWGRE (&)
The loss allowances of trade 20234 K 20224 3
receivables as at March 31, 2023 and A31B®E 5 ERR
2022 were determined on a collective HEERELREE
basis as follows: ERETIOT ¢
Upto3 3to6 6t09 9to12  12to15 Over15
months  months  months  months  months  months Total
g 3% 62 9% 122 ik
3B 6B 9B 128  15F  15f8R @3t
As at March 31, 2023 R2023%E3A31H
Corporate clients and PERPREZRR
commercial insurance AL
companies
Expected loss rate EHEER 3% 8% 18% 57% 26% 59% 22%
Gross carrying amount BRBEALEFT) 30450 13014 4,990 764 2412 20355 71,985
(RUB000)
Loss allowance (RMB000)  EBEBEAXEFT) (985)  (1,031) (900) (439) (637)  (12,099)  (16,091)
Local medical insurance i h BB R
bureaus
Expected loss rate BHERE 0% 0% 0% 0%  100%  100% 1%
Gross carrying amount RESBEALEFr) 15851 701 45 2 99 65 16,763
(RMB000)
Loss allowance (AMB00)  EREEAREFT) (14) - - - (99) 65  (179)
Local public hospitals AR R
Expected loss rate EHEER 0% 0% 0% 0% 97% 7% 14%
Gross carrying amount EEAEAREFT) 919 1,008 722 418 230 362 3,659
(RMB000)
Loss allowance (AMB000)  EEEfRE(AKEFT) () 0] (1) (1) (222) (217) (506)
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3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued) 3 MEREEE (E)
3.1  Financial risk factors (continued) 3.1 HMERKBEZE (&)
3.1.2 Credit risk (continued) 3.1.2 EEEE (&)
(i)  Impairment of financial assets iy SBMEEREE)

(continued)
Trade receivables (continued) E S EWGRE (&)

Upto3 3to6 6to9 9to12 121015  Over 15
months  months ~ months ~ months ~ months  months Total
AR KES 62 92 128 itk

3fEA 612 A 9f8A  12f8A 15f8R  15f@A st

As at March 31, 2022 R2022%38318
Corporate clients and PERPREERR

commercial insurance NG
companies
Expected loss rate BERERX 3% 6% 14% 49% 68% 62% 22%
Gross carrying amount BEBEALEEFT) 8981 173% 3,053 695 772 20,169 71,065
(RMB'000)

Loss allowance (AMB000) ~ BRERBALEFFT) (899)  (1,046) (414) (338) (523)  (12,559)  (15,779)

Local medical insurance i EERBHM

bureaus
Expected loss rate REEER 0% 0% 16% 100% 100% 100% 1%
Gross carrying amount EEGEAREFT) 7973 4,064 402 = - 52 12,491
(RMB000)
Loss allowance (RMB000)  EBREREALEFT) (5) (3) (64) - - (52) (124)
Local public hospitals WA ER
Expected loss rate EHEER 3% 0% 0% 2% 100% 100% 6%
Gross carrying amount SELBARE L) 31 944 1,667 927 104 153 3823
(RUBD0G)

Loss allowance (RMB000)  EBRERE AL FT) (1) (4) 7) (17) (5) (153) (187)
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3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)

3.1 Financial risk factors (continued)

3.1.2 Credit risk (continued)

(i)

Impairment of financial assets
(continued)

Trade receivables (continued)
The opening loss allowances for trade

receivables reconcile to the closing
loss allowances as follows:

3 MEEEEE ()
31 HBEBREER (#)
3.1.2 FEEREE)
iy SBMEEREE)

B 5 RN A (&)

FYIB 5 EKFKIAE
18 1 45 B 6 K 5 18
BYEERIT ¢

Year ended March 31,
BZ3A3IHLEE

2023 2022

2023%F 20224

RMB’ 000 RMB’000

AR¥TRT ARETT

Opening loss allowance FHIEERE 16,090 15,498

Increase in loss allowance recognised  FRMIBZERHER 685 592
in profit or loss during the year B IE 0

Closing loss allowance FREBERE 16,775 16,090

Trade receivables are written off when
there is no reasonable expectation of
recovery. Indicators that there is no
reasonable expectation of recovery
include, amongst others, the failure
of a debtor to engage in a repayment
plan with the Group.

Impairment losses on trade
receivables are presented as net
impairment losses within operating
profit. Subsequent recoveries of
amounts previously written off are
credited against the same line item.

B2 RIGRIEN G ERNEZRE R - AR
HEARENTRS (R EE) BHARERARE
BRI ERETE ©

B 5 RBWGIRREBBELEENBASIEFRE
B8 o Z AT S B AR @ RIS AR — %8518
B
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FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued) 3 MEREEE (E)
Financial risk factors (continued) 3.1 HMERKBEZE (&)
3.1.2 Credit risk (continued) 3.1.2 EEEE (&)
(i)  Impairment of financial assets iy SBMEEREE)

(continued)
Other receivables o Ath FEHRIE
A summary of the assumptions AEBBEHEEBRA
underpinning the Group’s expected BAERBREZHEE
credit loss model is as follows: U N

Category Group definition of category Basis for recognition of

Al AEBHBERINRE expected credit loss provision
ERABEESERENEE

Performing Receivables whose credit risk is 12 month expected losses; where

EE in line with original expeotations the expected lifetime of an

=5\ B B R T8 A — B FE MK

Receivables for which a
significant increase in credit
risk has occurred compared to
original expectations; a
significant increase in credit
risk is presumed if interest
and/or principal repayments are
30 days past due

Underperforming

[Faas

asset is less than 12 months,
expected losses are measured
at its expected lifetime (stage 1)
1218 ATBHAE 18 © B EM TR
FEBRE12E AR - EEEE
RHBEHFENE (E—MER)
Lifetime expected losses (stage 2)
TFERRTE BAE R (B R ER)

HRTEHALEE R BRI N e
WHIR - A B R, A BT
Hi30R - Rl EEE R ERZEIE

Non-performing
(credit impaired)
TR (EEXHE)

Interest and/or principal
repayments are 90 days
past due

FER/ RAESERAH0R

Interest and/or principal
repayments are two years past
due or there is no reasonable
expectation of recovery

FE R/ HAESEK
SCLE SN

Write-off
HsH

Lifetime expected losses (stage 3)
FEBTEREE (E=[FR)

Asset is written off

B FEREE
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3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)

3.1

3.1.2 Credit risk (continued)

(i)

3 MEREEE (E)
Financial risk factors (continued) 3.1 HMERKBEZE (&)
3.1.2 FEEREE)
Impairment of financial assets (i) TEMEERE (&)
(continued)
Other receivables (continued) EhpelriE (&)
Other receivables include loans to H sk IA B 15 S
related parties and employees, rental T RIEEMNE
deposits, etc. The Group accounts Rl EeE o K
for their credit risk by appropriately SEEBERATED
providing for expected credit losses EEBRELDEE
on a timely basis. In calculating the HRENHEEER
expected credit loss rates, the Group %o REtEEHEE
considers historical loss rates for each EBEEXE ~XEEE
category of debtors, and adjusts for BEHEEBARNRET
forward-looking macroeconomic data. B IR - I B AT RE 1
The Group provides for credit losses REEESBEEL R
against other receivables as follows: Bo REBMEAMRE
WHRIENEEEEE
A TR E
Gross Gross Gross
carrying carrying carrying
Equivalent Expected amountat amountat  amount at
internal credit default default default
rating loss rate (stage 1) (stage 2) (stage 3)
Group internal credit rating 120233 A31H BE BOREAE ENRELAE BNREAE
as at March 31, 2023 FEENATEETR RERPTER FEFEE  (B-ER) ($=ER) ($=ER)
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBTT AR¥TR ARETR
High ) AA+ 0.5% 154,252 - -
AA 1.0% 287 - -
A 2.3% 52,778 - -
Moderate # B 3.8% - 81,164 -
Low & (5 47.2% 1,500 - -
Credit impaired EEXE D 100.0% - - 1,597
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3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued) 3 MEREEE (E)
3.1  Financial risk factors (continued) 3.1 HMERKBEZE (&)
3.1.2 Credit risk (continued) 3.1.2 EEEE (&)
(i)  Impairment of financial assets iy SBMEEREE)

(continued)

Other receivables (continued) EhpelriE (&)
Gross Gross Gross
carrying carrying carrying
Expected amount amount amount
Equivalent credit at default at default at default
internal rating loss rate (stage 1) (stage 2) (stage 3)
Group internal credit rating 18202243 A31 B Bl BOERAE BORRLE ENRELE
as at March 31, 2022 REENABEETR RINFTR  GEEEE  (B-BR) (FZRR) (F=ER)

RMB00O  RMBO00  RMB'000
ARETE  ARETR ARBTR

High B AA+ 0.5% 79,259 = =
AA 1.3% 1,500 - -

A 2.5% 55,702 - -

Moderate # B 28.8% 720 150 -
Low & © 47.2% 1,500 - -
Credit impaired B3| D 100.0% - - 1,368

No significant changes to estimation & ZE 20234 &2022F3A31HIEFE @ ht A=k
technigues or assumptions were made BRI fE K E) o

during the years ended March 31,

2023 and 2022.
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3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued) 3 MEREEE (E)
3.1  Financial risk factors (continued) 3.1 HMERKBEZE (&)
3.1.2 Credit risk (continued) 3.1.2 EEEE (&)
(i)  Impairment of financial assets iy SBMEEREE)

(continued)

Other receivables (continued) EhpelriE (&)

The opening loss allowances for other 5 1) B B YT SR IR B
receivables reconcile to the closing EREETREER
loss allowances as follows: HEERNT

Performing Underperforming Non- Total
performing
i3] Bt TR fit
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®TR AR¥TRE AR¥Trn AR%Txn
Loss allowance as at 20223 A31 AR 3,716 43 1,368 5127
March 31, 2022 B
New financial assets originated BEARERER 804 - - 804
or purchased MemaE
Individual financial assets EpleRAEERD (434) 3,086 - 2,655
transferred to under-performing
Recoveries Y (1,177) (43) - (1,220)
Change in risk parameters ER28%% (287) - 229 (61)
Loss allowance as at 1202353 R31 R M 2,622 3,086 1,597 7,305
March 31, 2023 oty
Loss allowance as at M202153R31 A1 8,231 529 1,546 10,306
March 31, 2021 BERE
New financial assets originated BELACEEN 2,212 - - 2212
or purchased MERAE
Recoveries W (6,122) - (823) (6,945)
Change in risk parameters e v (605) (486) 645 (446)
Loss allowance as at 12022331 A 3,716 43 1,368 5127

March 31, 2022

ERRE
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3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued) 3 MEREEE (E)
3.1  Financial risk factors (continued) 3.1 HMERKBEZE (&)
3.1.2 Credit risk (continued) 3.1.2 EEEE (&)
(i)  Impairment of financial assets iy SBMEEREE)

(continued)

Other receivables (continued) EhpelriE (&)

The gross carrying amount of other E th & W 5118 B AR
receivables, and thus the maximum wE - WRBES
exposure to loss, is as follows: REERR LRI ¢

As at March 31,

M3A31H
2023 2022
20234 20224

RMB’ 000 RMB’000
ARBTRE ARETET

Performing e 208,817 138,681
Underperforming [E7)za 81,164 150
Non-performing TR 1,597 1,368
Total gross other receivables 48 L b UG SR IE 4R RE 291,578 140,199
Less: loss allowance B B IR R (7,305) (5,127)
Other receivables net of expected — E fth fEUZ FIE (FNFFEHA 284,273 135,072

credit losses =EEE)
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3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued) 3 MEREEE (E)
3.1  Financial risk factors (continued) 3.1 HMERKBEZE (&)
3.1.2 Credit risk (continued) 3.1.2 EEEE (&)
(i)  Impairment of financial assets iy SBMEEREE)

(continued)

Impairment loss/(reversal of
impairment loss) on financial assets —
net

During the years ended March 31,
2023 and 2022, the following losses
were recognized in profit or loss in
relation to impaired financial assets:

RERBERANERME
EFREREOlE
EiEEm)

H £ 20234 K 20224F
3A31ALFE 4
BESREEMRBR
NTHELAEEEES
TR

Year ended March 31,
BZ3A31BILLEE

2023 2022
20234 20224
RMB’ 000 RMB’000
ARETT ARBTT

Impairment losses on trade B 5 FEW IR R B BB 685 592
receivables

Impairment losses/(reversal of Hib e IE R ERE 2,178 (5,177)
impairment losses) on other OREEERE)
receivables

Impairment loss/(reversal of SREEFRERE 2,863 (4,585)
impairment loss) on CRIEE1BEE)

financial assets — net
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FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)

3.1

Financial risk factors (continued)

3.1.3 Liquidity risk

Prudent liquidity risk management implies
maintaining sufficient cash and cash
equivalents. Due to the dynamic nature of the
underlying business, the policy of the Group
is to regularly monitor the Group’s liquidity
risk and to maintain adequate liquid assets
such as cash and cash equivalents, short-
term time deposits and investments in bank
structured deposits or to retain adequate
financing arrangements to meet the Group’s
liquidity requirements.

(i) Financing arrangements

3

MHERERE (&)
3.1 HMEEBREE ()
3.1.3 RBETER

BEAORDECAREESRK
EUFARNRE AL EE
Yo ARBBEBFEZS -
AEEHNBRRRERETEAS
EmRBESAR  LHHRE
RORBEE RS RRE
SEY - RHERERMET
BEBNFTREIRETEN
BME L Uk e A EEHIR
BIEFS -

(i) BMELH

The Group had access to the following AEBER2023F K
undrawn borrowing facilities as at 202243 A31HAfF
March 31, 2023 and 2022: F AT R £2 BREY 18 5K
HE
As at March 31,
M3 A31H
2023 2022
2023%F 20224
RMB’ 000 RMB’000
ARETT ARBTT
Floating-rate bank loan facilities SFENFRRITEREE
Expiring within one year —F AR EIH] - 97,398
- 97,398
Fixed-rate bank loan facilities BEEFEBITEREE
Expiring within one year —F A EIER 333,316 236,066
Expiring beyond one year —F 18 2 Ef 28,189 =
361,505 236,066

The bank loan facilities may be drawn
in RMB and have an average maturity
of 0.7 years, and 0.6 year as at March
31, 2023 and 2022.

IRITEFEE T UARBIRE - )R20234F ;20224
3A31 BRI EIERR 5 511 A0.7F KX 0.6 o
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3

3.1

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued) 3 MEREEE (E)
Financial risk factors (continued) 3.1 HMERKBEZE (&)
3.1.3 Liquidity risk (continued) 3.1.3 nBELERE (&

(i) Maturities of financial liabilities (ii) TR ENIEA
The table below analyses the Group’s TRIBBEEEAEBERX
financial liabilities into relevant HEZARZESBEH
maturity groupings based on the FIerEAR - DT AE
remaining period at the balance sheet Slnm—LEER
date to the contractual maturity date. HANMNemEaRE -
The amounts disclosed in the table KTPHENSERS
are the contractual undiscounted AARFTBEHREERE °
cash flows. Balances due within 12 HRITHENEED
months equal their carrying balances A B 121@ B R E)
as the impact of discounting is not HHMREEREERR
significant. EREH o

Between Between Total Carrying
Less than 1and?2 2and 5 Over Contractual amount
1 year years years 5years cashflows liabilities
fARE
ENAES 1225 2E5E BE5E  RESE BEESE
RMB’000  RMB’000 RMB’ 000 RMB'000  RMB’000 RMB’ 000
ARETT ARETR ARETT ARETR ARETT ARET:
At March 31, 2023 1202353 A31A
Trade payables EVIE 84,968 - - - 84,968 84,968
Other payables and accruals ~ EftEMFER 52,962 - - - 52,962 52,962
(excluding employee i BA (PR
benefits payable and EHESRETR
other taxes payable) EfEfIHiE)
Borrowings &3 176,355 731 42,442 - 226,168 220,019
Lease liabilities REEE 199,166 165,375 334,868 224,019 923,428 735,659
513,451 172,746 377,310 224019 1,287,526 1,093,608
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B O BRI

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued) 3 MEREEE (E)
Financial risk factors (continued) 3.1 HMERKBEZE (&)
3.1.3 Liquidity risk (continued) 3.1.3 nBELERE (&
(i) Maturities of financial liabilities (ii) PRAEEMNI A
(continued) (%)
Between Between Total Carrying
Less than and 2 2and 5 Over  Contractual amount
1 year years years 5years  cash flows liabilities
ER%E
TRIE 1228 PENS BiEsE  NENE  EFOESE
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARETT  AREBTR ARETR ARETT ARETR ARETR
At March 31, 2022 #2022%3A31A
Trade payables BHEMRTE 74,211 = - - 74211 74211
Other payables and accruals  EftERFIER 108,820 - - - 108,820 108,820
(excluding employee i BR (PR
benefits payable and EHESRETR
other taxes payable) HthfEfHE)
Borrowings & 139,877 - - - 139,877 137,363
Lease liabilities REERE 172,305 143,173 265,906 233,115 814,499 753,308
495,213 143,173 265,906 233,115 1,137,407 1,073,702

3.1.4 Price risk

The Group is exposed to price risk mainly
relating to certain investments held by the
Group, which were classified as financial
assets at fair value through profit or loss,
including investments in wealth management
products. The Group is not exposed to
commodity price risk. See Note 3.3 for
details.

3.1.4 ERER

AEEEHNERREREZE
AEEKANETRE (D8
REAABEFABSNSE
BE)FH SREVERR
B o AEBEY BB EmER
Rk o FHIEE2BMES.3
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3

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)

3.2

3.3

Capital management

The Group’s primary objectives when managing
capital are to safeguard the Group's ability to
continue as a going concern in order to continue
to provide returns for shareholders and benefits
for other stakeholders, and to maintain an optimal
capital structure to enhance shareholders’ value in
the long term.

The Group monitors capital (including share
capital and reserves) by regularly reviewing the
capital structure. As a part of this review, the
Group considers the cost of capital and the risks
associated with the issued share capital. The
Group may adjust the amount of dividends paid to
shareholders, return capital to shareholders, issue
new shares or repurchase the Company’s shares.
In the opinion of the directors of the Company, the
Group’s capital risk is low. As a result, capital risk
is not significant for the Group and measurement of
capital management is not a tool currently used in
the internal management reporting procedures of
the Group.

Fair value estimation
3.3.1 Fair value hierarchy

This section explains the judgements and
estimates made in determining the fair
values of the financial instruments that are
recognised and measured at fair value in
the financial statements. To provide an
indication about the reliability of the inputs
used in determining fair value, the Group has
classified its financial instruments into the
three levels prescribed under the accounting
standards.

3

BERERERE (F)
3.2 EXERE
AEBEEEEANEZEHEZRREAR

3.3

SEBELENEE N - NEEERKX
REBHOH S A E A AR 77 f2 4
& YRFREEREBUARIIR
THRREE -

AEBTHESEAEEUERER
(BERARFER) - EREEEED
—R AEESEREARARED
BITRAEENERR - NEENEH
BX AR ENRESE - Mk
BEAN - BITHROKBREADR R
7o ARREERA  AEEHNEAR
R - Fit - AEBERNERER
WAEK @ EAEENAETRAE
EAPERREEFTEAEANT
B o

BRI T EEE M SR T
AR BEERMGTENSF
TANAREBEREL R
MbE - BT HRABEAA(E
B8 AT R A BRI S
AEECKESRTADRE
STERIREN =B

ey

1%
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3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued) 3 MEREEE (E)
3.3  Fair value estimation (continued) 3.3 AQREEME (&)
3.3.1 Fair value hierarchy (continued) 331 RAEEER(E)

The table below analyses the Group's TRIBEEFEALEENG

financial instruments carried at fair value BRI AT B B A 8 A BUE

as of each balance sheet date by level of HER HMTAKBHESE
the inputs to valuation techniques used EaBERAHRERALBEIEE
to measure fair value. Such inputs are WERMTE - 258 ABKRIZ
categorized into three levels within a fair RARBEEBABERNT=

value hierarchy as follows: EE A&

(i) Quoted prices (unadjusted) in active (i) HREBEEXBERLE
markets for identical assets or BisHmE CREH
liabilities (level 1); B)(B—EBR)

(i) Inputs other than quoted process (ii) BRE—ERBENR
included within level 1 that are B EEXBER
observable for the asset or liability, % (BER) skE#E
either directly (that is, as prices) or (BNRBER) 7] &
indirectly (that is, derived from prices) R AHE(F2E
(level 2); and ®) R

(iiiy  Inputs for the asset or liability that are (i) EBEXBEILIFKE
not based on observable market data Al BT 5 SR A &
(that is, unobservable inputs) (level 3). ABUE (B A B R

ABIE) (F=ER) °
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3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued) 3 MEREEE (E)
3.3  Fair value estimation (continued) 3.3 AQREEME (&)
3.3.1 Fair value hierarchy (continued) 3.3.1 RXAEEER(E)
The following table presents the Group’s TRE51K2023F3HA31H
financial assets that are measured at fair REERAREBEFENSH
value as at March 31, 2023: BE -
Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total
Z-BR EZER $ER o
RMB’ 000 RMB’ 000 RMB’ 000 RMB’ 000
ARBTE  ARETn  AR%Tn  AR%T:R
Assets EE
Non-current FEE)
Financial assets at fair value through &A% BET A B
profit or loss RAE
— Unlisted debt instruments - ELEmEBKTE - - 35,714 35,714
- Unlisted equity instruments —FEMREETE - - 30,000 30,000
65,714 65,714
Current 8
Financial assets at fair value through &A% EfET ABZH
profit or loss SREE
- Wealth management products - BHER = = 258,013 258,013
— Bank structured deposits - RITEEEER - - 5,000 5,000
- - 263,013 263,013

= 328,727 328,727
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3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)
3.3  Fair value estimation (continued)
3.3.1 Fair value hierarchy (continued)

The following table presents the Group's
financial assets that are measured at fair

B O BRI

B EREE (&)
3.3 2AREEMGE ()

3.3.1 AAEEER(E)

TRE5N202243A31H
AEBEZ AR EBEFENSH

value as at March 31, 2022: BE -
Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total
F—EH EZER EZEH )
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARBTT ARBTT ARBTL ARBTT
Assets BE
Financial assets at fair value through &A% BfET A B
profit or loss SREE
- Unlisted debt instruments -k EMmEBIA - - 34,675 34,675
~ Wealth management products -BHER - - 197,055 197,055
- - 231,730 231,730
The Group’s policy is to recognise transfers REBBBRSEHRE AR

into and out of fair value hierarchy levels
as at the end of the reporting period. There
were no transfers between Level 1, 2, and 3
for recurring fair value measurements during
the years ended March 31, 2023 and 2022.

RARBEEBRHEAFE
o EE2023F K 202243
AB1BLEFE £EHEHA
hEEFEESE— FZNE
ZEREREEEY o
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3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued) 3 MEREEE (E)
3.3  Fair value estimation (continued) 3.3 AQREEME (&)
3.3.1 Fair value hierarchy (continued) 3.3.1 RXAEEER(E)
The following table presents the changes in TEREVEZE2023F K& 2022
level 3 items of financial assets at fair value FI3ANBHILEFEERAAEE
through profit or loss for the years ended FFAEENCREENE=E
March 31, 2023 and 2022. RIEBEE -

Financial assets ~Financial assets
at fair value at fair value  Financial assets Financial assets
through profit  through profit at fair value at fair value
or loss - bank or loss - Wealth  through profit  through profit
structured management  or loss - debt  or loss - equity
deposits products instruments instruments
BROABEFA  BROABEFA  ROABERNA  RAABERA
BENEHEE RENSREE BRENCREE BENGMEE-
- RITEBIERR -BRER -E&HIA B#IA
RMB’ 000 RMB’000 RMB’ 000 RMB’ 000
AR%TR AR%TR AR%TR AR%ETTR

At April 1, 2022 R2022%4 518 - 197,055 34,675 -

Additions NE 15,000 286,886 - 46,000

Redemptions EE (10,020) (246,795) S -

Gains recognised in other gains R R 20 4,611 1,039 1,482
- net ElEs

Reclassify to investments account B BEFRERZ = = - (17,482)
for using the equity method NERRE

Currency translation differences ~ EXZ - 16,256 - =

At March 31, 2023 1202335310 5,000 258,013 35,714 30,000

Includes unrealised gains BEREHRMEES - 2,587 5714 =
recognised in profit or loss JEfh i85 T HRL

attributable to balances held at ~ AEBUE
the end of the reporting period
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FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued) 3

3.3

Fair value estimation (continued)

3.3.1 Fair value hierarchy (continued)

BERERERE (F)
3.3 2QABEEMGE (&)
3.3.1 AAEEER(E)

Financial assets

Financial assets

at fair value at fair value  Financial assets

through profit through profit at fair value

or loss - bank or loss — Wealth through profit

structured management or loss - debt

deposits products instruments

BRAABEGA  ROABERA  RAABERA

BENSREE BENCMEE BENCRMEE

- RITEBUER -BHER -E¥IA

RMB’ 000 RMB’ 000 RMB’ 000

ARBTR ARBTT ARBTR

At April 1, 2021 R2021F4A1H 51,004 - 30,000

Additions NE 100,150 197,048 -

Redemptions (e (151,516) = =

Gains recognised in other gains - net FEE MR ERERN 362 7 4675

el

At March 31, 2022 R2022€3A31H - 197,055 34,675

Includes unrealised gains recognised in PEREHAMBES - 7 4,675
profit or loss attributable to balances FEERETHERN

held at the end of the reporting period RERWE
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3

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)

3.3

Fair value estimation (continued)

3.3.2 Valuation techniques and processes

The Group has a team that manages the
valuation of level 3 instruments for financial
reporting purpose. The team manages the
valuation of the investments on a case-by-
case basis. At least once every year, the
team would use valuation techniques to
determine the fair value of the Group's level
3 instruments. External valuation experts will
be involved when necessary.

The valuation of level 3 instruments mainly
includes bank structured deposits and
wealth management products measured at
FVPL (Note 283), unlisted debt instruments
and unlisted equity instruments at fair
value through profit or loss (Note 23). As
these instruments are not traded in an
active market, their fair values have been
determined by using various applicable
valuation techniques, including discounted
cash flows and market approach etc.

3

B EREE (&)
3.3 2AREEMGE ()

3.32 (AEKINEEF

REBRAEFERE=ER
TANMGE AR BSREZ
A - EBEREERIERE 2
REWGE ZERELEF
—RERGBERMEEAEE
FZBRTANRIABE L
2K 2RIHEZR2 A
e -

FEoBATAMGEEXIEZERE
BRARBEFABZNIRT
ERETRREVES (MF
23) BAREBETABREDN
SEEMER T ARIE RS
TEA (MfzE23) c ARELT
BRREBMBESE EQAR
BERAZEEANGER
BT BETEESRERT

Bk -
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3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued) 3 MEREEE (E)
3.3  Fair value estimation (continued) 3.3 AQREEME (&)
3.3.3 Valuation inputs and relationships to fair 3.3.3 HEIAEIEREL 7 IEER
value IR

TERELEERARE=ZBRL
RBEFENERTAERE
ABIBHEEEF

The following table summarises the
quantitative information about the significant
unobservable inputs used in level 3 fair value
measurements.

Relationship of

Significant significant
Unobservable Range of inputs unobservable
Fair value as at March 31, inputs as at March 31, inputs to fair value
EAFABE M3A31EM EAFIBER BB
RIAIAMAREE BARE BABRBEE AAEENER

2023 2022 2023 2022

2023 2022F 2023F  2022%

RMB’ 000 RMB'000
ARETR AR%TEX

Bank structured deposits 5,000 - Expected rate of 1.85% - The higher the expected
measured at FVPL return rate of return, the higher
the fair value
BARBEGARRN FEHE % LRSS
RITEBURER ArBEES
Wealth management products 258,013 197,055 Expected rate of  1%-1.5% 1.2%  The higher the expected
measured at FVPL return rate of return, the higher
the fair value
BOABEFABRRNENER EHE = EHEREES
RArBEES
Unlisted debt instrument at 35,714 34,675 Rate of volatility 54% 52% The lower the volatility,
FVPL the higher the fair value
BOABEFABRNE LT EIES REEMIE -
EBIE MrEEES
Unlisted equity instruments at 30,000 - Rate of volatility 125% - The lower the volatility,
FVPL the higher the fair value
RO BEARRN JEIES REEHIE -
FEmERTE ArBEER
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FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)

3.3

Fair value estimation (continued)

3.3.3 Valuation inputs and relationships to fair

value (continued)

The Group’s bank structured deposits were
mainly investment products purchased from
reputable financial institutions in the PRC with
floating rates. The returns on all of these bank
structured deposits were not guaranteed,
hence their contractual cash flows did not
qualify for solely payments of principal and
interest. Therefore, they were measured
at fair value through profit or loss. None of
these investments were past due. Changes in
fair values of bank structured deposits were
analysed at the end of each reporting period
by the Group’s management. The fair values
were determined based on the expected
cash flows discounted using an expected
rate of return (based on management’s
judgement). The relevant fair value gains/
(losses) were minimal because of short term
maturity.

At as March 31, 2023, the Group's wealth
management products measured at FVPL
consisted of cash management portfolio
linked notes subscribed from GF Global
Capital Limited and Huatai International
Financial Products Limited. The wealth
management products are subject to no
lock-up period and can be redeemed by the
Group at any time and have at a fixed annual
return of 1%-1.5%. The Group subscribed to
partner’s capital, becoming a limited partner
in TruMed Health Innovation Fund LP, and
the total commitment is US$2,000,000. As
at March 31, 2023, the Group possesses
US$882,000 (equivalent to RMB6,063,000) in
TruMed Health Innovation Fund LP (Note 23).
The fair values were determined based on
the expected cash flows discounted using an
expected rate of return.

3

B EREE (&)
3.3 2AREEMGE ()

3.3.3 1HEBAZERADN T EER

BE (%)

AEERRITEBEERER
BAPEMLCHEEEBED
FERN R EEM - IEEL
RITHEB M A R RIGER
& A EHARBRSRENT
BEANINAS A S5
o Eit - BRARBERA
1B - BLEREBEYREH - &
SEEEERNSWEHRIN
RITHEBUTFRAALBENE
8- 2ABEREBEREHD
BE(ENEBENHE) T
ENBEHREREET - BR
RREESEY - HEAAEE
Was /(B18) B -

MR202343H318 A% E
BRARBEABSNEYTE
mBEREEEKEARERA
ARERBFSRELRBRA
ARBENReEREEHESH
BER - RSP EMTES
EHRS| - FTRAEBERERE
@ Y¥H1%-1.5% B FEF
LEHRE - REEREBEEA
BB - pkATruMed Health
Innovation Fund LPBIAFR A
B A HE#E 2,000,000
XL B E20234%F3 A31
B AEBERTruMed Health
Innovation Fund LP#J#% & %8
#882,000% T (HHERAR
#6,063,0007T) (FfzE23) °
AABEDBEEHECTE
FREHERERITIEMETE -
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FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)

3.3

Fair value estimation (continued)

3.3.3 Valuation inputs and relationships to fair

value (continued)

From the perspective of cash management
and risk control, the Group diversified its
investment portfolio and mainly preferred
those products with high-liquidity.

If the expected rate of return had decreased/
increased by 100 basis points with all other
variables held constant, the fair value of bank
structured deposits measured at FVPL would
have decreased/increased by approximately
RMB100,000 and RMB5,000 as at March 31,
2023 and 2022, respectively.

If the expected volatility had decreased by
5% with all other variables held constant,
the fair value of unlisted debt instrument at
FVPL would have increased by approximately
RMB1,786,000 and RMB354,000 as at
March 31, 2023 and 2022, respectively. If
the expected volatility had increased by 5%
with all other variables held constant, the
fair value of unlisted debt instrument at FVPL
would have decreased by approximately
RMB1,786,000 and RMB412,000 as at March
31, 2023 and 2022, respectively.

If the expected volatility had decreased/
increased by 5% with all other variables held
constant, the fair value of unlisted equity
instrument at FVPL would have increased/
decreased by approximately RMB1,500,000
as at March 31, 2023.

3

B O BRI

B EREE (&)
3.3 2AREEMGE ()

3.3.3 1HEBAZERADN T EER

BE (%)

WRSEENERIZESNAE
E AEEREAS ST
YFRELEERBDERNE

o
am °

N R FEHA B 3R KRR A 1N
1001AE B AT A b & SR
A% - AR 20234 2022
F£3/H31H8 AR BER
ABZNRITEBEETRD
R BEED R E
AN R #100,000T R AR
5,0007T °

A0 SR 78 B &) F R 5% M P
BHMEBERIFAE - AR
20234 K 202243 A31H -
BRARBEFABZENIEL
MEBEIANARBEKS
R I 4 A R #1,786,0007T
N AR#354 0007T ° t1R¥E
B B) R IEN15% M AT A H
BERIFTE - BIR2023F
N 20223 A318 @ AR
BEFABTZAELTMER LT
BN AR BEKD RS
AR#1,786,000 7T K AR
412,0007C °

N I8 HA R B RO 1 A
5%MATAEEMmEEREFR
% o BIp2023%E3H31H -
RARBEFABSZNIEL
MESTANARBEBE
n, R A 49 AR % 1,500,000
=
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FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)
3.3  Fair value estimation (continued)

3.3.4 Fair value of financial assets and liabilities
carried at other than fair value

The carrying amounts of the Group's financial
instruments carried at amortised cost
approximate their fair values since either the
instruments are with short maturities or the
rate of interest receivable/payable is close to
the current market rate.

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND
JUDGEMENTS

The preparation of financial statements requires the use
of accounting estimates which, by definition, will seldom
equal the actual results. Management also needs to
exercise judgement in applying the Group’s accounting
policies.

Estimates and judgements are continually evaluated. They
are based on historical experience and other factors,
including expectations of future events that may have a
financial impact on the entity and that are believed to be
reasonable under the circumstances.

(a) Contractual Arrangements

The Group conducts a substantial portion of the
business through Shenzhen Ruijian in the PRC due
to regulatory restrictions on the foreign ownership
in the Group’s medical institutions in the PRC. The
Directors assessed whether or not the Group has
control over Shenzhen Ruijian, has rights to variable
returns from its involvement with Shenzhen Ruijian
and has the ability to affect those returns through its
power over the operating entities. After assessment,
the Directors concluded that the Group has control
over Shenzhen Ruijian as a result of the Contractual
Arrangements and accordingly the financial
position and their operating results of Shenzhen
Ruijian are included in the Group’s consolidated
financial statements throughout the year or since
the respective dates of incorporation/establishment,
whichever is the shorter period.

3

B EREE (&)
3.3 2AREEMGE ()

3.34 HEALIEESIKNEHEE
REENAAEE

IR BIZE SH R AT AR & B
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BEEAARENEHHER BB
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AEBEFEF GG MAE - EDERESL
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(a) ERZH

RN EEF REEEEBENINEES
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4 CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND
JUDGEMENTS (continued)

(a)

(b)

Contractual Arrangements (continued)

Nevertheless, the Contractual Arrangements may
not be as effective as direct legal ownership
in providing the Group with direct control over
Shenzhen Ruijian and uncertainties presented by
the PRC legal system could impede the Group's
beneficiary rights of the results, assets and liabilities
of Shenzhen Ruijian. The Directors, based on the
advice of the PRC Legal Advisers, consider that
save as otherwise disclosed, each agreement under
the Contractual Arrangements is legal, valid and
binding upon the parties thereto under the current
PRC laws and regulations.

Estimation of revenue recognition

The Group applied judgements that significantly
affect the determination of the amount and timing
of revenue from contracts with customers. Revenue
from the rendering of orthodontics and implantology
services is to be recognised over time because the
Group’s performance does not create an asset with
an alternative use and the Group has an enforceable
right to payment for performance completed to
date. The Group determined that the input method
is the best method for measuring the progress of
orthodontics and implantology services because
there is a direct relationship between the Group's
effort (i.e., staff costs and/or costs of inventories,
consumables and customised products incurred,
when appropriate) and the transfer of services to
the customer. The Group recognises revenue on the
basis of the staff costs and/or cost of inventories,
consumables and customised products, when
appropriate, expended relative to the total expected
costs to complete the service. Judgements are
required in the determination of the estimate of the
total expected costs to complete the service.

EX

(a)

(b)
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et et R Al (&)
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4 CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND
JUDGEMENTS (continued)

(c)

(d)

(e)

Estimation of fair value of financial
instruments

The fair value of financial instruments that are
not traded in an active market is determined by
using valuation techniques. The Group uses its
judgement to select a variety of methods and make
assumptions including credit risk, volatility and
liquidity risks associated with the instruments at the
end of each reporting period, which are subject
to uncertainty and might materially differ from the
actual results. Changes in these assumptions and
estimates could materially affect the respective fair
value of these financial assets and liabilities (Note
3.3))

Estimation of the useful life and depreciation
of property, plant and equipment

The Group’s management determines the estimated
useful lives and related depreciation for the Group’s
property, plant and equipment based on the asset’s
expected utility to the Group, the asset management
policy of the Group may involve the disposal of
assets after a specified time or after consumption
of a specified proportion of the future economic
benefits embodied in the asset. Therefore, the useful
life of an asset may be shorter than its economic
life. The estimation of the useful life of the asset is a
matter of judgement based on the experience of the
Group with similar assets.

Estimation of the useful life and amortisation
of intangible assets

The Group’s management determines the estimated
useful lives and related amortisation for the
Group’s intangible assets with reference to the
estimated periods that the Group intends to derive
future economic benefits from the use of these
assets. Management will revise the amortisation
charges where useful lives are different from that
of previously estimated, or it will write off or write
down technically obsolete or non-strategic assets
that have been abandoned or sold. Actual economic
lives may differ from estimated useful lives. Periodic
review could result in a change in useful lives and
therefore amortisation expense in future periods.

EX
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(d)

(e)
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4 CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND
JUDGEMENTS (continued)

(U]

(9)

(h)

Estimation of goodwill impairment

The Group tests whether goodwill has suffered
any impairment on an annual basis, or whenever
events or changes in circumstances indicate that
it might be impaired. As at March 31, 2023 and
2022, the recoverable amount of cash-generating
units (CGUs) was determined based on fair value
less cost of disposal calculations which require the
use of assumptions. The calculations use cash flow
projections based on financial budgets approved by
management covering a five-year period.

Details of impairment charge, key assumptions and
impact of possible changes in key assumptions are
disclosed in Note 17.

Credit loss allowance for trade receivables,
other receivables and other financial assets

Under IFRS 9, the expected credit loss of trade
receivables, other receivables and other assets are
based on assumptions about risk of default and
expected loss rates. The Group uses judgement in
making these assumptions and selecting the inputs
to calculate the loss allowances, based on the
Group’s past history, existing market conditions as
well as forward looking estimates at the end of each
reporting period. Details of the key assumptions and
inputs used are disclosed in Note 3.1.2.

Recoverability of non-financial assets

Other non-financial assets including property and
equipment, right-of-use assets and intangible
assets (including brand and licenses) are reviewed
for impairment whenever events or changes in
circumstances indicate that the carrying value
may not be recoverable. The recoverable amount
of CGU is determined based on value-in-use
calculations which require the use of assumptions.
The calculations use cash flow projections based on
financial budgets approved by management with an
estimation of terminal value.
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4 CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND
JUDGEMENTS (continued)

()

)]

(k)

Current and deferred income tax

There are many transactions and calculations for
which the ultimate tax determination is uncertain
during the ordinary course of business. Where
the final tax outcome of these matters is different
from the amounts that were initially recorded, such
differences will impact the current and deferred tax
assets and liabilities in the period in which such
determination is made.

Recognition of share-based compensation
expenses

The Group established RSU Plan, which grants
RSUs to employees, directors and other qualified
persons. The fair value of the RSUs on the grant
date is determined according to binomial option
pricing model on the grant date and is expected
to be included in the loss during their respective
Significant estimates and
assumptions (including discount rate, risk-free
interest rate and expected price volatility) was made
by the management and an independent valuer.
Details of the key assumptions and inputs used are
disclosed in Note 8(b).

vesting periods.

Business combinations

During the Reporting Period, the Group acquired
subsidiaries and businesses for aggregate
consideration of RMB134,898,000. Details of the
acquisitions are set out in Note 31. In accordance
with IFRS 3, the identifiable assets acquired and
liabilities and contingent liabilities assumed should
be measured at fair value at the acquisition date
in order to determine the difference between the
cost of acquisition and the fair value of the Group's
share of net assets acquired, which should then be
recognised as goodwill on the consolidated balance
sheet.
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CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND
JUDGEMENTS (continued)

(k) Business combinations (continued)

In the absence of an active market for the above
acquisition transaction undertaken by the Group,
the directors of the Company made estimates from
a variety of sources, in order to determine the fair
value of identifiable assets and liabilities in the
above acquisition transactions. For the fair value of
the intangible assets for brands and licenses, non-
competitive agreements and customer relationship,
the directors of the Company made their estimates
according to valuation results assessed by an
external valuer appointed by the Company. As
a result, the Group recognised the excess of
the acquisition costs over the fair value of the
Group’s share of net assets acquired amounting
to approximately RMB84,287,000 in relation to the
above acquisition transactions as goodwill for the
year ended March 31, 2023 (see Note 31 for details
of this acquisition transaction).

SEGMENT INFORMATION

The Group's business activities, being mainly the provision
of dental services (including general dentistry, orthodontics
and implantology) through the operations of dental
clinics and hospitals in the PRC, are regularly evaluated
by the board of directors of the Group. Management
has determined the operating segments based on the
reports reviewed by the board of directors for the purpose
of making decisions about resource allocation and
performance assessment.

The Group’s business activities are operated and managed
as two segments, which comprise Arrail Dental and Rytime
Dental.
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5 SEGMENT INFORMATION (continued) 5

The Management assesses the performance of the
operating segments based on a measure of operating
profit. The measurement basis excludes the effects
of allocation of certain income, expenses, gains and
losses from headquarter, (impairment losses)/reversal
of impairment losses on financial assets — net, share of
net (loss)/profit of investments accounted for using the
equity method, fair value changes of financial instruments,
and finance income and costs. There were no separate
segment assets and segment liabilities information
provided to the board of directors of the Group, as they do
not use this information to allocate resources to or evaluate
the performance of the operating segments.

Years ended March 31,
HZ3ANALEE
2023 2022
20235 2022%

Revenue Operating Revenue Operating
profit/(loss) profit/(loss)

WA £E5E/ (B8 WA E=2HE /(68
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB'000

ARBTT ARBTT ARETT ARETR

Arrail Dental R Rt 715,299 37,663 831,550 101,723
Rytime Dental RO 758,442 21,435 792,003 64,994
Total EoHY 1,473,741 59,098 1,623,553 166,717
Unallocated: RO
Headquarter and corporate expenses BERLERS (246,525) (199,874)
(Impairment losses)/reversal of impairment SREAES (HERE)/ (2,863) 4,585
losses on financial assets - net HEBREE
Finance income BB 18,965 8,276
Finance costs BHBRA (44,289) (55,641)
Share of net loss of investments accounted e AEREARN (2,295) (411)
for using the equity method REMTEE
Fair value changes of convertible R EERGHH - (541,089)
redeemable shares NEEED
Fair value change of bond EFNLAEEED - (61,647)
Fair value change of warrants EENALEEZD - (13,686)
Fair value changes of derivative liabilities TEEERNLABEEE - (6,005)
Fair value difference between termination RIFREERRINTERRE - (11,136)
of the warrants and recognition of ZBNAAEEEE
derivative liabilities
Loss before income tax RS HAER (217,909) (709,911)
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SEGMENT INFORMATION (continued)

The Company is domiciled in the Cayman Islands while the
Group mainly operates its business in the PRC and earns
substantially all of the revenues from external customers in
the PRC.

As at March 31, 2023 and 2022, substantially all of the
non-current assets of the Group were located in the PRC.

No revenue from the Group’s sales to a single customer
amounted to 10% or more of the Group’s revenue for the

years ended March 31, 2023 and 2022.

Other segment information

B O BRI

5 7 ERE R (&)

ARARASHEEM  MAKBEREZRAE
PELEER - BEAMSKRATRR BB
MBS o

MR2023F 202243 A31H @ KEEBK
HoIERBEEMRER o

HE2023F K2022F3A31HIEFEE » &
EEME-FFNHEERABEGEAERR
AHI10%3 A | o

Hitb 5 H &R
Years ended March 31,
BZ3A3NALEE
2023 2022
2023F 2022
Arrail Dental  Rytime Dental Arrail Dental ~ Rytime Dental
HEE IO T B R} frpul
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB'000

AR®T T ARBTR ARBTT ARETT

Depreciation and amortisation TEREH
Addition to property, plant and equipment NENE - BER&E
Addition to right-of use assets REFAESE

130,201 131,266 130,468 115,835
43,515 78,631 65,258 50,537
131,271 61,604 120,435 161,469
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REVENUE

(a)

Revenue from contracts with customers

The breakdown of revenues by service categories
during the years ended March 31, 2023 and 2022 is

as follows:

A
(@) HEFAEKA

HE2023F 2022543 A31HIEFE
EIZREER B 5 R ARRALT ¢

Year ended March 31,
BZ3HASIBLEE

2023 2022

20234 20224

RMB’ 000 RMB’000

ARET T ARBTT

General Dentistry — recognised LBEIFR — AE—FREZER 790,353 872,586
at a point in time

Orthodontics — recognised over time FRE — R —EREEEER 328,238 366,264

Implantology — recognised over time BER — R —ERERERER 318,330 353,079

Others — recognised at a point in time Hfh — RNE RS2 36,820 31,624

1,473,741 1,623,553

The breakdown of revenues by geographic location
and by brand during the years ended March 31,

HE2023F {20223 A31B 15
BB E MR M E 5 U AR

2023 and 2022 is as follows: IR
Year ended March 31,
HBZ3A31BHILLEE
2023 2022
20234 20224
RMB’ 000 RMB’000
AR¥T T ARBTIT
Northern China Ak 599,748 693,781
Eastern China Esc =) 362,242 391,694
Southern China Esc3) 146,546 154,488
Western China el 365,205 383,590
1,473,741 1,623,553
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REVENUE (continued)

(a)

(b)

Revenue from contracts with customers
(continued)

B O BRI

WA (&)
(@) HEFAERKA ()

Year ended March 31,
HZE3A3MBLLEE

2023 2022
2023 20224
RMB’ 000 RMB’000

AR®BTT ARETT

Arrail Dental InRert 715,299 831,550
Rytime Dental 2R O pE 758,442 792,003
1,473,741 1,623,553

Liabilities related to contracts with customers

(i) Revenue recognised in relation to contract
liabilities
The following table shows the amounts of
revenue recognised in each of the financial
years that were included in the contract
liabilities at the beginning of each of the
financial years:

(b) HEFEREBEMNAR
(i) LA A B EEREIMA

TRETREMBFEERDN
WA (CREMBEER
MEFABRERE)

Year ended March 31,
BZE3A3IHLEE

2023 2022
2023 F 20224
RMB’ 000 RMB’000

ARET T ARETTT

Revenue recognised that was included in ER&EHWFAARAGBH

contract liabilities at the beginning of ERERBA -

each of the years:

- Rendering dental services — RO pEERS 184,287 265,411
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6 REVENUE (continued)

6 WA (%)

(b) Liabilities related to contracts with customers (b) HEFERBEMNERE (E)

(continued)

(i) Unsatistied performance obligations

The amounts of transaction prices allocated
to the remaining performance obligations
(unsatisfied or partially unsatisfied) as at

(i) KETTHIEAIEF
R20234F K 202243 A31
PHEEHRTELOEE (K
BITEH D RET) X FE

March 31, 2023 and 2022 are as follows: SEEWMT -

As at March 31,

M3A31A
2023 2022
20234 20224
RMB’ 000 RMB’000
AR®ET T AR®ET T
Amounts expected to be TEEA S IR AR AR S5
recognised as revenue:
Within one year —FR 154,024 184,287
After one year —Fig 16,323 21,597
170,347 205,884

The amounts of transaction prices allocated
to the remaining performance obligations
which are expected to be recognised
as revenue after one year related to
orthodontics services,
performance obligations are to be satisfied

of which the

within two years. All the other amounts of WA o
transaction prices allocated to the remaining

performance obligations are expected to be

recognised as revenue within one year.

All other contracts are for periods of one year
or less or are billed based on time incurred.
As permitted under IFRS 15, the transaction
price allocated to these unsatisfied contracts

is not disclosed.

DEREHRTROEEINXHE
S (AHR —FRERRK
A) EIEEIRIEAAR - EPE
WEEREMFARET - DB
ERTEABMERAAEMBR
HETEBHR —FRERR

FTEEMmAERMHRE A —F
HRR—F - SR BBE AR
FARRE - BIRIMESIRE 2R
FA5HE AT

BokEZ

ERBETARANRSE -
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7 EXPENSES BY NATURE 7 BHESTHRAX

Year ended March 31,
BZ3A31HILLEE

2023 2022
20234 20224
RMB’ 000 RMB’000

ARBTT ARBT T

Employee benefits expenses EERFFAXZ 962,226 915,664
Depreciation and amortization e N H 261,467 246,303
Dental materials used FrA &Rk 241,757 253,254
Advertising and marketing expenses BEREHEAL 37,591 33,588
Office and property management expenses MARMEEERRZ 63,746 51,276
Consulting fees EHE 62,782 65,182
Auditor’s remuneration R AN B

— Audit services — BETIRTE 4,500 3,500
— Non-audit services — EBF RS 270 330
Listing expenses EmRAx - 42,501
Other expenses HEMAZ 48,891 64,034

1,683,230 1,675,632

8 EMPLOYEE BENEFITS EXPENSES 8 EERFBEX

Year ended March 31,
BZE3A3MBLEE

2023 2022
20234 20224
RMB’ 000 RMB’000

ARBTT ARBET T

Wages, salaries, bonuses and other allowances TE e EaAKEMER, 651,465 702,324

Social security costs and housing fund HEREXEAREEAES 116,643 118,319
contributions (note a) R (Hata)

Share-based compensation expenses (note b) PRz (47b) 194,118 95,021

962,226 915,664
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EMPLOYEE BENEFITS EXPENSES (continued)

(a)

(b)

Social security costs and housing fund
contributions

The employees of the Group in the PRC are
members of a state-managed pension obligations
operated by the PRC Government, including social
security costs and housing benefits. The Group is
required to contribute a specified percentage of
payroll costs as determined by respective local
government authority to the pension obligations to
fund the benefits. The only obligation of the Group
with respect to the retirement benefits scheme is to
make the specified contributions under the scheme.

Share-based compensation expenses — RSUs

In August 2021, the board of the directors of the
Company approved the establishment of a RSU
Plan for the purpose of attracting, retaining and
motivating the directors, employees and such other
participants of the Company.

The RSU Plan is effective from the date of
establishment and will govern RSUs made by the
Company. The total number of RSUs which may
be grand and issued under the RSU Plan will not
exceed 4,798,904 (subdivided into 119,972,600
upon Share Subdivision).

On October 1, 2021, 3,668,941 RSUs of the
Company were granted to certain directors and
eligible employees. Effective from March 21, 2022,
these RSUs were subdivided into 91,723,525
RSUs. RSUs will be vested and become realisable
only at the end of the first 6 months, the first
year, the first 18 months and the second year
from the commencement date of dealings in the
Company’s shares on the Stock Exchange of Hong
Kong Limited (“Vesting Period”) at the respective
proportion of 25%, 25%, 25% and 25%, provided
that the participants pass the annual performance
review administrated by the board of the directors
of the Company. Vesting Period may be different
due to specific cases or exception. RSUs can
be purchased for 1 ordinary share at any time,
provided that RSUs are vested.

8

BEREMFEX (&)

(a)

(b)

HEREREAREELOEEHK

AEERF B ER ST BEBTAE
FRRERRAREEERE (BEL
ERERAREFEHN) HKE - K
SEARSWTBRHBAETNTE
RANFEB S LLREAREEEIERR
T UREHENES - NEBEHER
AR Bl R0 — B E R RIBFT IE
HIEEHAR o

ROMER T — ZREIRGEM

R2021F8 A » ARa|EE LA
EXBRFIRMDEM TS - LARS| «
BLRHBARGES - EERERE
fh 2 ELE o

SR GBI M BT 8 A ST B A
B B R AR B 7 BR IR 19
B o RIBZ IR B BE AR EI7] B8
B R BITE X IR B B (D BE AL A8 E
TiBiE 4,798,904 % (1R IE M0 #7 48
A /A119,972,6000%) °

R2021F10818 @ KRAIAET
EEREEKEER T3,668,9411(H
ZREARMDENR o B2022%3 A 21
Hi r ZEXBREIRMEMWITFES
91,723,525 EX R HIAR D B AL o R
IR B T HE BERRA AT
BN EBEBARSMBRARFMA
BEEHHENENEA F—F &
18EARE-F([FRBEBH]) ERE
DRIR25% « 25% * 25% 2 25% KL,
BIEEE LR EEEBBBHARAE
EEWNITNFEEEEN - BB
BER BRI BISNE B TR o i
SR HINRD BN R - BIATRERS LA
1 0% iR AR i B PR H AR 15 B8 L -
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8 EMPLOYEE BENEFITS EXPENSES (continued)

(b)

Share-based compensation expenses — RSUs
(continued)

Movements in the number of RSUs granted and their
related weighted average fair value per restrictive
share unit (“RSU”) are as follows:

B O BRI

BEREMFEX (&)

(b)

BROMEREX - SREBRGEQ
(&)

ROHXZREBRODELHE REER
BR il Bt f B2 (T 32 BRI B4 B2 1)
AN IMEF IR ABEREESHIT

Number of Weighted

RSUs average fair

value per

RSU (USD)

ZRERGD SBSERERG

BNHE BEumEFRs

DAREE

(%)

Outstanding as at April 1, 2022 M2022F 4 A1 8 HARITE 91,723,525 0.59
Forfeited during the year RERRU (2,953,463) 0.58
Vesting upon the payment of purchase price R g B B ERE (4,536,038) 0.71
Outstanding as at March 31, 2023 20233 A31 H#EAKRITE 84,234,024 0.58

The weighted average fair value of the RSUs at
grant date was estimated by the fair value of the
underlying ordinary shares less its purchase price.
The average purchase price is USDO0.8 (adjusted
for Share Subdivision). The Group has used the
discounted cash flow method to determine the
underlying equity fair value of the Company and
adopted the equity allocation model to determine
the fair value of the underlying ordinary shares.
Key assumptions, such as projections of future
performance, are determined by the Group with best
estimate.

SRR BB BN R B e hnE
BARAABEDRERBEBEOAA
EBEREBEEEMLAFL - OB
BEER0.8% T (FARMIFARELH
B) AEBEEREBRBSRELE
EARBIMEBKEAAEE - RNk
SN ERAEERBEERRNAAE
B RARBABAZEIZRRARE
REBKEMFTERE

2022/23 Annual Report F E# & @
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EMPLOYEE BENEFITS EXPENSES (continued)

(b)

Share-based compensation expenses — RSUs
(continued)

Based on the fair value of the underlying ordinary
shares, the Group has used a binomial option
pricing model to determine the fair value of the
RSUs as at the grant date. Key assumptions are set
as below:

8 REERANFEX(E)
(b) ROMESHAX -ZREROGEM
(&)
AEREEEERN AR EE  ~&E
ER-AA PR EERLEEXRH
BOHEMRREBHNAAEBE - =
ZERFHIWOT

On grant date

REZH B
Fair value per ordinary share BRETBRAALEBE USD1.11
(adjusted for Share Subdivision) (BLAR A 1E L A E) 1.113%7T

Grant date

Expected price volatility
Risk-free interest rate
Dividend yield

=0 1" October 1, 2021
2021410A1H

TEEA(B IR I8 48.6%
2 Bz 1) == 1.5%
fig B 4 2= 0%

The share-based compensation expenses relating
to the RSUs were recognised as administrative
expenses during the year ended March 31,
2023 amounting to RMB194,118,000 (2022:
RMB95,021,000).

On September 3, 2022 (“Adoption Date”), the
Company has adopted the 2022 RSU Scheme
(“2022 RSU Scheme”) as approved by the board of
directors of the Company to further provide a means
of compensating the Selected Participants through
the grant of awards for their contribution to the
growth and profits of the Group.

Unless terminated earlier by the Company, the
2022 RSU Scheme is valid and effective for a term
of 10 years commencing from the Adoption Date.
Upon termination, (i) no further grant of RSUs may
be made under the 2022 RSU Scheme; and (ii) the
awards (to the extent not already settled, paid-
out, lapsed or cancelled) granted prior to such
termination shall continue to be valid in accordance
with the 2022 RSU Scheme.

HZE202353A31AILEERRA
1TEUF 2 B9 52 IR 1 A 10 B B B A9 AR
e A AR 194,118,000
(20224 : AR¥95,021,0007T) °

M2022F9 A3H ([MBEH]) - &
RABEEMALARGEZTEHEN
2022 F X R D B AL ET & ([2022
FZMREIRMDECTE]) - E—B
BT RENR T BB TR 2
BAEEEERFBEELOER

BRIFRRRRATAR UL - BWRI2022%F
SRR BB EALET 8] B R A B ST
10FABR - RELEE - ()T ERE
2022 F ZRBIR D BALFF B T
BREIRMERL : R (i) IERTE R TH)
BE (CARAREE - X KRG
HERR) FRIE 2022 F R HI A 7
B EIBEAN -
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8 EMPLOYEE BENEFITS EXPENSES (continued)

(b)

(c)

Share-based compensation expenses — RSUs
(continued)

Pursuant to the 2022 RSU Scheme, the underlying
shares will be satisfied by the existing ordinary
shares to be acquired on the market based on the
trading price of the market.

The Board shall not make any further awards which
will result in the nominal value of the underlying
shares under the 2022 RSU Scheme exceeding
10% of the issued shares of the Company as at
the Adoption Date. The maximum number of the
underlying shares which may be transferred or
paid-out in settlement of all RSUs awarded to any
Selected Participants under the 2022 RSU Scheme
shall not exceed 1% of the issued shares of the
Company from time to time in any 12-month period.

During the year ended March 31, 2023, no RSU was
granted under the 2022 RSU Scheme.

Five highest paid individuals

The five individuals whose emoluments were the
highest in the Group for the years ended March 31,
2023 and 2022 include 3 and 3 directors whose
emoluments are reflected in the analysis shown in
Note 36. The emoluments payable to the remaining
2 and 2 individuals during the years are as follows:

B O BRI

8 REERANFEX(E)

(b)

(c)

BROMEEX - ZRERGENQ
(%)

RIFE2022F XM B A0 BT S
HERMEART S LRRTISER S
EBREMRE BB -

EEefB#E—SPHRHER EHK
2022F ZMBHIRM BT EIETH
HERMDEEBRARNDARRFA
HEBITRMN10% - AEERIE
2022 F Z R BT EIFE T
R TR E 2 A M AT R B AR D
B8 {7 1M AT AL 88 % ok S2 1 B9 AR B AR 10 Y
BEE8E  TEBBARARNEMI2
&8 A HAR AR B BTN BI1% o

REE2023F3A31HILFE » W&
B 2022 F 2[R $I| j& 10 B AL 5T &8 4%
2R HIA D BEAL ©

EEREHFMAL

B E2023F K 20224331 IEF
B AEERERaTMALTEE=
ER=REE  HFPE REEME
36ATRAIDAT » FREMERTMA &
MAALTHMESIT

Year ended March 31,
HZE3A3IBLLEE

2023 2022

2023 F 20224

RMB’ 000 RMB’000

AR®T T ARBTTT

Wages, salaries, bonuses and T4 %% - B4 REHMER 1,937 2,030
other allowances

Social security costs and housing fund HERERAREFAESHK 256 223

contributions
Share-based compensation expenses R &R 19,768 10,893
21,961 13,146

2022/23 Annual Report F E# & @
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9

EMPLOYEE BENEFITS EXPENSES (continued) 8 EEBAREX (&)
(c) Five highest paid individuals (continued) (c) IEEBSFHFMAL(E)
The emoluments fell within the following bands: e FATEHE :

Number of individuals

A

Year ended March 31,
HZE3AIBLEE

2023 2022
2023 F 20224

Emolument bands (in HK dollar) < E (ABTaET)
HK$5,500,001 — HK$6,000,000 5,500,0017% 7T 26,000,000/ 7T - 1
HK$8,500,001 — HK$9,000,000 8,500,001 7T 29,000,000/ 7T 1 -
HK$9,500,001 — HK$10,000,000 9,500,001 7C 2 10,000,000/5 7T - 1
HK$15,000,001 — HK$15,500,000 15,000,001 T2 15,500,000 7T 1 -

OTHER GAINS, NET

9 H 73 W 5

Year ended March 31,
HE3A3IBLLEE

2023 2022
20234 20224
RMB’ 000 RMB’000
AR%T T AR®ET T
Net losses on disposal of property, HEWZE - HE &R ENFESE (1,676) (58)
plant and equipment
Net fair value gains on financial assets at BAREBEAEBEZN 7,152 5,044
fair value through profit or loss SRIEEMFAREEREZE
Net foreign exchange losses HIE H B8 (637) (188)
Reversal of accrual for water discharge PEKFF A B SRR FERT B A O 1,800 4,000
license penalties
Government grants BAT B 1,510 4,269
Gain on lease modification and termination of HEBI MR IEHERZRA 11,173 -
lease agreements (Note 32) W (B17£32)
Others HAt 2,740 5,855
22,062 18,922
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FINANCE COSTS - NET

B O BRI

10 FEBEA

Year ended March 31,
BZ3A31HILLEE

2023 2022
2023 F 20224
RMB’ 000 RMB’000
AR®T T AREET T
Finance income U T/ ON
Interest income from bank deposits SRITERF BUA 16,199 4,122
Interest income from loans to related parties MBS MMEBIREBERN 2,766 4,154
and employees FEYA
18,965 8,276
Finance costs Uy 35 %:N
Interest expense on borrowings BB R (6,244) (9,628)
Interest expense on lease liabilities HESENSMAX (38,045) (36,843)
Transaction costs on issuance of convertible BT O] B I A] fE B8 2R AR A - (9,170)
redeemable preferred shares R G
(44,289) (55,641)
(25,324) (47,365)
INVESTMENTS ACCOUNTED FOR USING THE 11 fFAEZZARNKRE
EQUITY METHOD
The amounts recognised in the consolidated balance REHBEEBBERERNESBHT ¢
sheets are as follows:
As at March 31,
MA3A31H
2023 2022
2023 F 20224
RMB’ 000 RMB’000
AR®T T ARBET T
Associates, unlisted entities B NE o IEETER 29,327 13,104
Joint ventures X —/NC]| 1,350 1,051
30,677 14,155
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INVESTMENTS ACCOUNTED FOR USING THE
EQUITY METHOD (continued)

On June 28, 2022, the Group acquired a 10% equity
interest of Shenzhen Baocheng Dental Hospital (“Shenzhen
Baocheng”) for consideration of RMB16 million. The
investment was accounted for as a financial asset at fair
value though profit or loss on the date of acquisition, and
then reclassified to investments accounted for using the
equity method on March 31, 2023, as the Group could
exercise significant influence over the investment through
the Group’s representation on the board of directors
Shenzhen Baocheng.

During the years ended March 31, 2023 and 2022 the
unrecognised share of loss of associates and joint ventures
accounted for under the equity method amounted to
RMB27,220,000 and RMB25,117,000, respectively, of
which RMB18,710,000 and RMB16,450,000, respectively
were attributed from BRI E R O gt AR A R (ERER").

No impairment loss on the investments accounted for using
the equity method was recognised during the years ended
March 31, 2023 and 2022.

11

EAEREARNIRE ()

1K2022F6 A28H  AEENUEHEARK16
BETWERYIE N DR (FRYIER])
10%RIARHE - ZIERKEREIEAR AR
BEFAEZNESREE AR - A1%1K2023
FIANHENDEEF AR EARNER
& EAAASBERSRAEBEERIBERE
EEMRE - HRRETEERFES -

HZE2023F ;2022F3A31HILFE - Kk
BRNBEEDZEARNDEBHE G RE
BNREE S R A ARK27,220,0007T %A
R#25,117,0007t © HF AR#18,710,000
TR ARB16,450,0007C 20 Bl A5 (k2 @ B
ROpEREkARAR ([EEER]) WES -

B E2023F K2022F3A31HIEFE - #
EELE ARSEA RN E R EEE -
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INVESTMENTS ACCOUNTED FOR USING THE 11 fA#RZEZARNERE (&)
EQUITY METHOD (continued)

Set out below are the associates and joint ventures of the TXHFIAREBP20234F 202243 A31
Group as at March 31, 2023 and 2022. The entities listed AMEEERNRIREERT) o WTIAYEERN
below have share capital consisting solely of ordinary BRAERAEEEEF AN T BERAN - 5T
shares, which are held directly by the group. The country sk MER AR EZEL XN - M
of incorporation or registration is also their principal place 75 FEHE 2 A L B BB BT 455 3R R #E &9 B 51 8
of business, and the proportion of ownership interest is the [ °

same as the proportion of voting rights held.

Place of
business/
country of % of ownership interest Nature of
Name of entities incorporation As at March 31, relationship  Principal activities
MR EHEERERADL
ERAE EMRLER M3A31H BETE TEEK
2023 2022
2023F 20224
% %
% %
It RERER TR AR AR PRC 51 51 Joint venture  Provision of technical
(‘b EFEZER") services in respect
of dental materials
It RE RS TR AR A H LN FLE R RHR MR T AR 5
(MR
HEE B R PRC 45 45 Associate Provision of dental
services
HERER B AN RO BB AR
BMETEOREERARA PRC 30 30 Associate Provision of dental
(“FRMEE) services
BMEREOREER AR AR HE NG| A O PR R
(TRMZERTE )
MWME RO ERR SR AR A A PRC 31 31 Associate Provision of dental
services
WML 7 O P B P B IR A PR A B H NG RO R ERS
BN K EM PP 2B AR A PRC 20 20 Associate Provision of dental
services
MR Ef A EPZ S ER AR e kNG| REOREBERY
Shenzhen Baocheng PRC 10 - Associate Provision of dental
services

RYIER R BER

o)

Rt AR R RS
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INVESTMENTS ACCOUNTED FOR USING THE 11
EQUITY METHOD (continued)

EAEREARNIRE ()

Place of
business/
country of % of ownership interest Nature of
Name of entities incorporation As at March 31, relationship  Principal activities
E EHEEREERE DL
BEREE HMALER M3A31H BERME TEEK
2023 2022
2023 % 20224
% %
% %
EEREBREET L (ERER) PRC 4 12 Joint venture  Investment holding
(‘EERE"
EEREBRERTL(AREY) +HEH =N REER
TEE®E])
EERMEREEBL (BREE) PRC 20 20 Joint venture  Investment holding
("EERIE")
EERIEBRERTL (ARER) HE BERA REER
([EEE])
EERNEREERRL (BREE) PRC 8 8 Joint venture  Investment holding
("EEW)
EERMBEREET L (EREH)  PRC SN REER
(TEEm*])
EERBERETESL(EREE) PRC 60 60 Joint venture  Investment holding
("EERE)
EEREBRERTL (AREYE) +HH CE=VUNG REER
(lEEmE)
EEWREREESL(ERAE) PRC 15 — Joint venture  Investment holding

("BERR")
BERRBRERTL(BERAY) TE
(TEERRE])

The associates and joint ventures of the Group above have
been accounted by using the equity method based on the
financial information of the associates and joint ventures
prepared under the accounting policies consistent with the
Group.

The joint arrangements in relation to It R FER, EEHE, &
BIL, EEWH, EFHE and EEIRIE require unanimous
consent from all shareholders for all relevant activities.
Each shareholder does not have direct rights to the assets
and obligation for the liabilities of these entities. Therefore,
these entities are classified as joint ventures.

RERT REERK

AEEMN LB ZERFRAERRERER
IREAARE B — MM &5t R B A B 2 R 7]
REERRFHER - ERAESEAR -

ERILRER EERE EERLE EE
I EERBLEERRBENAERIFR
BER-ZBRABMAEEREE - FRRY
EULERNEEYRZAEZREN HHA
/N

oi fiE

.

S WEBEERER - At ELEBOIBERE

Zl

7
gl o

S
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

B O BRI

INVESTMENTS ACCOUNTED FOR USING THE 11 fHAERZARNKRE (&)
EQUITY METHOD (continued)

The interests in associates and joint ventures disclosed EXBENHE AR REE RN EHBR
above all belong to a number of individually immaterial EAREREARNE TERFEEXREE AT
associates and joint ventures that are accounted for using GEATE c FTBERFEERBERTRE
the equity method. The summarised financial information ERRMPEERBMIT

for all individually immaterial associates and joint venture
are set out below:

As at March 31,

M3A31AH
2023 2022
2023 F 20224
RMB’ 000 RMB’000

ARETT ARETT

Aggregate carrying amount of individually &l 71| 3F 88 KBk & X &) o 30,677 14,155
immaterial associates and joint ventures AEARINRAEBEERE
Aggregate amounts of the group’s share of: REBPELRAT AL :
loss and total comprehensive loss for the year — FREERE2EEIE (2,295) (411)
INCOME TAX EXPENSE/(CREDIT) 12 FiSHMEx%X (ER)
The income tax expense/(credit) of the Group for the years HE2023F N2022%F3A31BILFEARE
ended March 31, 2023 and 2022 is analysed as follows: EWAEHREAS &%) 2 ET :

Year ended March 31,
BZE3AHLEE

2023 2022
20234 20224
RMB’ 000 RMB’000

AR¥TR AR®BTR

Current income tax BNHAFTIS B
- PRC corporate income tax — B EMER 14,016 15,536
Deferred income tax (Note 28) RIEFTSE (Hat28) (8,577) (29,047)

5,439 (13,511)

2022/23 Annual Report £ B8 %
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12

INCOME TAX EXPENSE/(CREDIT) (continued) 12 FBBiEx (E&) (F)
The taxation on the Group’s loss before income tax differs REBEBRAEHAIBENREREEAREE
from the theoretical amount that would arise using the FELEBEHANTEREESEENERS
taxation rate of the PRC, the principal place of the Group’s BHEENT -
operations, as follows:
Year ended March 31,
BE3AMNHLEE
2023 2022
2023 F 20224
RMB’ 000 RMB’000
ARET R ARBFT
Loss before income tax BRETSTRIEE (217,909) (709,711)
Tax calculated at statutory income tax rate of 25% R BEAHETE TSR E25% (54,477) (177,478)
(2022: 25%) in mainland China (20224 : 25%) s EHF1E
Tax effects of: AN RBENHRBEZE -
— Effect of different tax rates in other jurisdictions —Hi ez EBEIARAHERNTE 46,803 178,220
— Effect of preferential tax rates of certain subsidiaries — & TFARNEERENFE (6,399) (13,102)
— Tax losses for which no deferred tax assets was — AEREEHBEENTEERE 17,922 4,039
recognised
— Temporary deductible timing differences for — AERELEHEEENL K 25 (34)
which no deferred tax assets was recognised MHREREZR
— Expenses not deductible for income tax purposes — NAMEAEHRAX 2,167 18,159
— Utilization of previously unrecognised deductible — T JE Al AR TR Y R AR IE - (22,156)
tax losses and temporary differences BEREREEE
- Income not subject to tax — BIERBIA (602) (1,159)
5,439 (13,511)

(a)

Cayman Islands

(a)

The Company is incorporated as an exempted
company with limited liability under the Companies
Act of the Cayman lIslands and is not subject to
tax on income or capital gains. Additionally, the

Cayman Islands do not impose a withholding tax on

payments of dividends to shareholders. The Cayman

Islands are not party to any double tax treaties that
are applicable to any payments made by or to the

Company.

MEHS

ARRIBIERS SR BDEEMAL
RERRBRAR - BAMMAEHR

HEARFIEH  pLoh -

A 0 AR BRI A5 ) P B B TR AR © B
SHEWIEERAR AR RS EAK

TR A AR B S AEAI SRR A (E fa 88

ERBURNGELH T -
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12 INCOME TAX EXPENSE/(CREDIT) (continued)

(b)

(c)

(d)

BVI

The Group’s entities established under the
International Business Companies Acts of BVI are
exempted from BVI income tax.

Hong Kong Income Tax

Entities incorporated in Hong Kong are subject to
Hong Kong profits tax at a rate of 16.5% for taxable
income earned in Hong Kong before April 1, 2018.
Starting from the financial year commencing on
April 1, 2018, the two-tiered profits tax regime
took effect, under which the tax rate is 8.25% for
assessable profits on the first HK$2 million and
16.5% for any assessable profits in excess of HK$2
million. The subsidiary, Arrail Institute of Advanced
Dentistry (AIAD) Limited, was established in Hong
Kong and this tax policy is applicable. No provision
for Hong Kong profits tax was made as the Group
had no estimated assessable profit that was subject
to Hong Kong profits tax during the years ended
March 31, 2023 and 2022.

PRC Enterprise Income Tax (“EIT”)

The income tax provision of the Group in respect of
its operations in PRC was subject to a statutory tax
rate of 25% on the assessable profits for the years
ended March 31, 2023 and 2022 based on the
existing legislation, interpretation and practices in
respect thereof.

For the Group’s PRC subsidiaries recognised as
Small and Micro Enterprise (‘SME”) by the relevant
government authorities, they were subject to a 50%-
75% deduction of the assessable profits as well
as a preferential tax rate of 20% or 10%, effective
until December 31, 2022. During the year ended
March 31, 2023, the majority of the Group’s PRC
subsidiaries meet the criteria of SMEs.

B O BRI

12 FBHHAxX (ER) (&)

(b)

(c)

(d)

RKEBEMREHS

AEEREEBEBARESBERAR
NCIVGN VARV e R Ey k-
BRESMEN -

BEERNBH
MN2018F4 A1 B 281 - &M
B ERARNESESNER
FULATLZ16.5% T REMB AT G
fio H2018F4 A1 HHABHNTKRE
ER - MEMNGHIELER  RE
ZHE BB &S THWERTFE
MEA8.25% MEH2EBB LR
BYE R FERTL A BT R B 16.5% © T
AAmBOREERGRARNES
BRI - ZABREIEER - AREE
2023F [ 2022% 3 A31 B IEFEA
SERBAEMNEBTEHOGEE
A AU ARBRESNSRE
R o

THEREAER ([REREHR])

RIEBEEEMNIRITAN  RERIEH -
RNEBFE E2023F K 202243 A
318 I FE R ERBFBIREERE
25% TR BTSSRI o

LA 2 B 45 48 B8 BT B SR B/ Ml
E(NEEE]D MFRBEFATM
= - HR2022%F12 A31 B 2 Ri9 7]
ZERERBFE50% E75% R =
Z20% K 10%WEEHE - REE
20233 A31HILFE - AEEAE
DHREFRRFE MR IR -
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INCOME TAX EXPENSE/(CREDIT) (continued)

(e)

Withholding tax in Mainland China (“WHT”)

According to the New Corporate Income Tax Law
(“New EIT Law”), beginning January 1, 2008,
distribution of profits earned by companies in
mainland China since January 1, 2008 to foreign
investors is subject to withholding tax of 5% or
10%, depending on the country of incorporation
of the foreign investor, upon the distribution of
profits to overseas-incorporated immediate holding
companies.

The Group does not have any plan in the
foreseeable future to require its subsidiaries in
mainland China to distribute their retained earnings,
totalling RMB330,432,000 and RMB276,699,000
as at March 31, 2023 and 2022, respectively,
and intends to retain them to operate and expand
its business in mainland China. Accordingly, no
deferred income tax liability related to WHT on
undistributed earnings was accrued as at March 31,
2023 and 2022.

12

Fredipx (%) (8)

(e)

FREI R TR ([ ')

RIZEE2008F 1 A1 B BT
¥RERUE ([FEMERIED - 8
20081 A 1R - PEAMHAR
MREINEMA S N EEER AR S
IRAEE - R TINRIEE AL
FIEBIRME @ MZEIRZEESD
R B9 F) R 7B 12 5% 3 10% HY Tt R B4R
TEHF o

ANEE R A TE R KR EE MG
SEREEFERALHFRATD
IREARBAF - R2023F k2022
FIATENRBAFBES R
A ANR%330,432,000t R AR
276,699,0007T * WHHRE ZF B
A RIERE NP B A FR
EHit - R2023%F &2022% 3 A31
B WEEAERSREF OB
ERRELEMBEHAE -
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13 LOSS PER SHARE

(a)

(b)

Basic loss per shares

Basic loss per share for the years ended March
31, 2023 and 2022 are calculated by dividing the
loss attributable to owners of the Company by
the weighted average number of ordinary shares
outstanding during the year.

B O BRI

13 BREE

(a)

BREXER

HZE2023F 202243 A31H L4
B EREREBEERAQREREA
FE(R B ERR AT RTINS BN
BT EEHE -

Year ended March 31,
BZ3A31HILLEE

2023 2022
20234 20224
AR¥T T AREFIT
Loss attributable to owners of the Company  RNAQFHEA AE(GER (219,909) (701,032)
(RMB’000) (ARHEEFT)
Weighted average number of ordinary shares Z{7/E 5N A% INAE 579,113 80,555
outstanding (in thousand) g (FRR)
Basic loss per share (expressed in RMB TR EAREIE (0.38) (8.70)
per share) (AERAREBTIIR)
Diluted loss per shares (b) EBREBEEEHRE

Diluted loss per share is calculated by adjusting
the weighted average number of ordinary shares
outstanding to assume conversion of all dilutive
potential ordinary shares.

During the years ended March 31, 2023 and
2022, the Company had potential ordinary shares,
including RSUs, convertible redeemable shares,
warrants and derivative liabilities. As the Group
incurred losses for the years ended March 31, 2023
and 2022, the potential ordinary shares were not
included in the calculation of diluted loss per share
as their inclusion would be anti-dilutive. Accordingly,
the amounts of diluted loss per share for the years
ended March 31, 2023 and 2022 were the same as
basic loss per share of the respective year.

STESREEEER  EilRRER
PIESEEEE SRR MBABEITE
SNE BB INAE 2R o

HE2023F K 202263 A31 814
B AREHEBELRRK  BEX
BRI A% {7 BE iz - A B4R A] BB B8 ok
8 EIRITEEE - BRAKEE
B E2023F K 20224331 B IEF
EEAEE WA ESREEERE
R RET ABEEBER  BAEFTAR
B REE - Bt - B ZE2023F K
20223 A31 H L FEM TR EEE
BEeHESFENEBRENGESRE
iz
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14 PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT 14 ¥ BERSE
Medical Office Motor Leasehold Total
equipment equipment vehicles improvements
and furniture
BARE BORBERER AE HENELE @zt
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARETR AR®TR ARETR AR®TR AR®TR
Cost B
At March 31, 2022 R2022F3A31H 316,066 40,783 4,596 325,602 687,047
Acquisition of subsidiaries WHETRARIRER 14,278 2,149 188 11,185 27,800
and businesses (Note 31) (H1e#31)

Additions NE 32,514 21,519 - 40,313 94,346
Disposals RE (14,180) (2,668) (147) (11,890) (28,885)
At March 31, 2023 R202353A31H 348,678 61,783 4,637 365,210 780,308

Accumulated depreciation E-G ik
At March 31, 2022 R202263A31H (160,701) (29,154) (8,721) (195,673) (389,249)
Charge for the year FANMBR (25,172) (8,897) (319) (44,742) (79,130)
Disposals RE 4,558 1,066 98 6,551 12,273
At March 31, 2023 R20235F3A31H (181,315) (36,985) (3,942) (233,864) (456,106)

Net book value REFE
At March 31, 2023 R2023%3 8311 167,363 24,798 695 131,346 324,202
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PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT
(continued)

B O BRI

M - BERRE (&)

Medical Office Motor Leasehold Total
equipment equipment vehicles improvements
and furniture
BRRE BORBREA RE HEMEHE @t
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARETR AR®TR AR%TR AR®TR ARET R
Cost BA
At March 31, 2021 2021463 H31H 260,461 36,788 4,537 291,833 593,619
Additions NE 73,366 7,599 1,061 33,769 115,795
Disposals RE (17,761) (3,604) (1,002) - (22,367)
At March 31, 2022 R202263A31H 316,066 40,783 4,596 325,602 687,047
Accumulated depreciation it E
At March 31, 2021 R2021563A31H (136,985) (26,949) (3,966) (164,4877) (332,777)
Charge for the year FAMK (38,795) (5,404) (734) (30,796) (75,729)
Disposals BE 15,079 3,199 979 - 19,257
At March 31, 2022 R202263A31H8 (160,701) (29,154) (3,721) (195,673) (389,249)
Net book value REFE
At March 31, 2022 R202263A31H 155,365 11,629 875 129,929 297,798

For the years ended March 31, 2023 and 2022,
depreciation of the Group’s property, plant and equipment
amounting to RMB79,130,000 and RMB75,729,000,
respectively, have been charged to cost of sales
amounting to RMB73,890,000 and RMB67,809,000,
respectively, to selling and distribution expenses
amounting to RMB285,000 and RMB225,000, respectively,
to administrative expenses amounting to RMB4,705,000
and RMB7,421,000, respectively, and to research and
development expenses amounting to RMB250,000 and
RMB274,000, respectively.

HE2023F M2022F3A31HIEFEE » K
SEVE  BMEAIEFTESINAARKE
79,130,000t & A R#75,729,0007T © B4
ERAHBRNESES A ARK73,890,000
TR AREG7,809,0007T @ A #HE MK
TR S ED R A ARK285,0007T kA
R#225,0007T + BITHAXNBRHESES
Al A ARE4 7050007k ARE7, 421,000
T AERERERINBRNSESAAR
#250,0007T & A R ¥#E274,0007T °
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15

LEASES 15 HE
(a) Items recognised in the consolidated balance (a) REEEEERBEIANEE
sheet
As at March 31,
MA3A31H
2023 2022
2023 F 20224
RMB’ 000 RMB’000
AR¥T T ARBEFIT
Right-of-use assets EREEE
Clinics and office buildings ZHkETE 692,067 703,466
Lease liabilities HESE
Current mE 169,436 142,121
Non-current FERED 566,223 611,187
735,659 753,308
For the year ended March 31, 2023, the additions B E2023F3A31BILFE ' #£H
to the right-of-use assets were RMB192,875,000 EEELNARE192,875,0007T
(2022: RMB271,904,000). For the year ended (20224 : AR#271,904,0007T) °
March 31, 2023, modification and termination of HZE202343A31AILFE  HEE
leases resulted in reduction in right-of-use assets RIRRIEBRFEREEERDARKE
amounting to RMB32,030,000 (2022: Nil). 32,030,0007T (20224 : #&) -
(b) ltems recognised in the consolidated income (b) REMEZRBERANER
statement
Year ended March 31,
BZEZSHS1HLEE
2023 2022
20234 20224
RMB’ 000 RMB’000
ARET T ARBETTT
Depreciation charge of right-of-use assets FHBEEEREEH
Clinics and office buildings PHRETE 172,244 163,552
Interest expense MERX (FEAFHFERA) 38,045 36,843
(included in finance costs, net)
Expenses relating to short-term leases and A AREEED 13,125 13,692

leases of low value assets not included in
lease liabilities

RMEEREEEEE
HERRN X
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15 LEASES (continued)

(b)

(c)

B O BRI

15 HE (&)

Iltems recognised in the consolidated income (b) RESEZREINEE (&)
statement (continued)
For the years ended March 31, 2023 and 2022, a HZE2023F 202243 A31H L4
reduction in the lease payments arising from the rent E-AlEeRemELENEENRS
concessions of nil and RMB4,325,000, respectively, AR ALE R ARY4,3250005T ' B
has been accounted for as a variable lease payment BAKIIERIHEEBEIERAE
by derecognising part of the lease liabilities and HENRARK - Wit AEzE o
crediting to profit or loss.
The total cash outflows for leases during HZE2023F M2022F3A31H It
the years ended March 31, 2023 and 2022 FE HERSRLLED A
was RMB207,035,000 and RMB212,278,000, AR #207,035,000t X AR
respectively. 212,278,0007T °
The total cash outflows in financing activities for HE£2023F &2022F3A31HIEF
leases during the years ended March 31, 2023 and EMHERETHRESRLLED
2022 are as follows: N
Year ended March 31,
BZE3A31BLEE
2023 2022
20234 20224
RMB’ 000 RMB’000
AR®T T AR®ET T
Principal elements of lease payments HERN KBRS EBD 207,035 161,743
Related interest paid EfTEREF B 38,045 36,843
245,080 198,586
The weighted average incremental borrowing rate HZE2023F K 2022F3 A31H L4
applied to the lease liabilities for the years ended o EARHEEgSEMINERSEE
March 31, 2023 and 2022 were 4.05% and 4.56% fEREN R 5134.05% 54.56% °
per annum, respectively.
The Group’s leasing activities and how these (c) AEENHEFTBHREARSZE

are accounted for

The Group leased various clinics and office
buildings under rental contracts which are typically
for fixed periods of 2 to 8 years.

Lease terms are negotiated on an individual basis
and contain a wide range of different terms and
conditions. The lease agreements do not impose
any covenants and are not used as security for
borrowing purposes.

AEFEREREARERZEL AL
SFE  —RETHRAE2E8F -

MEGRDZEHNELEER LA
RBRZ TR G RIGH - BEH®
W AERERRE - BTAEERD
EiR ©
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16

INTANGIBLE ASSETS

16 HEREE

Non-
competitive
agreements
Service  Brands and and customer
contracts licenses  relationship Software Total
FHRFEHER
REERE mERETE EFH% B @t
RMB’ 000 RMB’ 000 RMB’ 000 RMB’ 000 RMB’ 000
AR®TR ARBTT ARBFR ARETR ARETR
Cost KA
At March 31, 2022 20223318 7,324 32,605 21,550 12,603 74,082
Acquisition of subsidiaries and WEFRAR - 31,548 9,500 = 41,048
businesses (Note 31) E%(H5#31)
Additions R - - - 4,654 4,654
Disposals (Note 31) RE (H17#31) (7,324) = = = (7,324)
At March 31, 2023 R2023E3 8310 - 64,153 31,050 17,257 112,460
Accumulated amortisation EHE
At March 31, 2022 R202263A31H (2,293) (22,514) (17,159) (7,504) (49,470)
Charge for the year ERk (1,153) (3,922) (2,520) (2,498) (10,093)
Disposals (Note 317) RE (H17#31) 3,446 = - = 3,446
At March 31, 2023 R2023F3 8310 - (26,436) (19,679) (10,002) (56,117)
Net book value BEFE
At March 31, 2023 R2023%F3A31H - 37,717 11,371 7,255 56,343
Cost KA
At March 31, 2021 R2021E3831H 7,324 32,605 21,550 7,576 69,055
Additions NE = - - 5,027 5,027
At March 31, 2022 R202243A31H 7,324 32,605 21,550 12,603 74,082
Accumulated amortisation EHE
At March 31, 2021 R2021E3831H (1,543) (19,878) (15,623) (5,404) (42,448)
Charge for the year FRMEK (750) (2,636) (1,536) (2,100) (7,022)
At March 31, 2022 R202243A31H (2,293) (22,514) (17,159) (7,504) (49,470)
Net book value REFE
At March 31, 2022 R202263A31H 5,031 10,091 4,391 5,099 24,612

Amortisations of the Group’s intangible assets has been
charged to administrative expenses in the consolidated

income statement.

AEEETVEENHIECEAMFESRTH

TR STHER ©
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B O BRI

GOODWILL 17 H8
RMB’ 000
AR®T T
At April 1, 2021 and 2022 7A2021E%2022F4 811 98,467
Acquisition of subsidiaries and businesses (Note 31) WE TR R RER (H:£31) 84,287
At March 31, 2023 A2023F3H31H 182,754
(a) Impairment tests for goodwill (a) EERENR
For the purpose of impairment testing of goodwill, BETEERENR  HESEZR
goodwill is allocated to groups of CGUs. Such CEABEMAN  ZEFHREEABM
groups of CGUs represent the lowest level within iﬂ%'J%?E‘ZJSEIWﬁEAW EHEEE
the Group for which the goodwill is monitored for HEEEETEERNREAR -
internal management purpose.
Management has determined the operating RIEL B BREIRS B R FBF T EAR
segments based on the reports reviewed K EEECREESSENONRS
by the board of directors for the purpose of EBELLDH  2EmBEN KIinZk
making decisions about resource allocation and A ESEEMELEDE o &

performance assessment, which comprise Arrail EHEBEZIT -
Dental and Rytime Dental. Goodwill is allocated

to the two operating segments. A summary of the

goodwill allocation is presented below.

As at March 31,

MA3A31H
2023 2022
2023 F 20224
RMB’ 000 RMB’000

ARETT ARETT

Arrail Dental InREs 40,893 40,893
Rytime Dental im0 141,861 57,574

182,754 98,467
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17

GOODWILL (continued)

(a)

Impairment tests for goodwill (continued)

The impairment test is performed for the group
of CGUs by estimating fair value less cost of
disposal (“FVLCOD") as its recoverable amount.
These calculations use post-tax cash flow
projections based on financial budgets prepared
by management covering five years. The accuracy
and reliability of the information is reasonably
assured by the appropriate budgeting, forecast and
control processes established by the Group. Cash
flows beyond the projected period are extrapolated
using the estimated terminal growth rate. The
management leveraged their extensive experiences
in the industry and provided forecast based on past
performance, their expectation of future business
plans and external sources of information. The
valuation is considered to be level 3 in the fair value
hierarchy due to unobservable inputs used in the
valuation.

The following key assumptions were used for
FVLCOD calculation of two groups of CGUs as at
March 31, 2023:

17

B (&)

(a)

R E R (&)

R EEEMAR R AR EE
B AR BEREEXAN ([ARE
BEREEXAN]) EREATKE SR
HET BEFEEREREEERR
MRERFNYBBREERRERES
METH - AEEHEREERE -
TR R AR HIIE 7 & IR RER T B B
R RSN - BT EE AR
EREFAGBANRKERKETHE
i - EEEMNAEETEANEEL
B RIBBERR - HEARREKE
I FEEAINEDAHOR(E BAR K TEA -
HREERERT AR BRE AR
B AEEREASAABERERT
ME=EH -

ATEARBEANGTERERSESE
BAR2023F3 A31 BB AR BER
BEKA

As at March 31, 2023

A2023F3H31H

Arrail Dental Rytime Dental

mHEER W& O
Compound annual growth rate of revenue TEBIHIRE U AN EEES 19.5% 25.3%
in the projected period ERE
Terminal growth rate RIRIE R 3% 3%
Post-tax discount rate BiigHrIn = 13.5% 13.5%
FVLCOD of the group of CGUs REEEEMARID 2,296 2,936
(in RMB million) DA BEREEKE
(AR¥BET)
Carrying amount of the group of CGUs RS EABMNARRAEE 955 1,387
(in RMB million) (AR¥BET)




2022/23 Annual Report £ $§

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

17 GOODWILL (continued)

(a)

Impairment tests for goodwill (continued)

The following key assumptions were used for
FVLCOD calculations of the two groups of CGUs as
at March 31, 2022:

17

B O BRI

(&)
(a) FEERENR(E)
ATHRBRIANGEMmBRSES

BAR2022F3 A30HM A A BER
BRERA :

As at March 31, 2022
R2022F3 A31H

Arrail Dental Rytime Dental

T R B ) IO

Compound annual growth rate of revenue FEBIHIEWR AR EES 18.4% 24.2%

in the projected period R

Terminal growth rate R REK 3% 3%

Post-tax discount rate g iR 14.5% 14.5%

FVLCOD of the group of CGUs ReEESEMAERR 2,793 3,251
(in RMB million) DR EBERBEZKA

(AREBET)
Carrying amount of the group of CGUs MEEABMARKREE 937 1,208

(in RMB million)

(AREBET)

The compound annual growth rates of revenue and
the terminal growth rate used do not exceed the
industry growth forecast for the market in which the
Group operates. The discount rate used is post-
tax and reflects market assessments of the time
value and the specific risks relating to the industry.
The values assigned to the key assumptions
and discount rates are consistent with external
information sources.

Based on the result of the goodwill impairment
testing, the headroom of Arrail Dental and Rytime
Dental was approximately RMB1,341 million and
RMB1,550 million (2022: RMB1,856 million and
RMB2,043 million), respectively, as at March 31,
2023. As the recoverable amount was significantly
above the carrying amount, no impairment was
identified in respect of goodwill as at March 31,
2023 and 2022, respectively.

FTE U A B 48 B 18 R R MR AR 1T
RETNBBAEBEEMEDIHNTT
FRETR - ERNITRRIRR
RIEL R - [RBR T T 8 B ) (B (B AN £
TEMEENEERROG - 2RET
2 48 (ER AR AN 37 3R 2 1) B L S R SRR

EE—8°

RIFEEERERNHANER - K2023
F3A31H - ImREt InEk L EL
BEEHDANBARKI1341EE
TRARBE 5508 & 7T (20224 ¢
ARMA 856 B E TR ARK2,043
BET)  @BmRAKEBERSRE
EE - FAR20234F K202243 A
31 AMEERRERE -
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17 GOODWILL (continued)

(a)

Impairment tests for goodwill (continued)

The Group performs a sensitivity analysis based on
the reasonably possible changes in assumptions
underlying the compound annual revenue growth
rate, terminal growth rate or the post-tax discount
rate. Had the estimated key assumptions during
the forecast period been changed as below, the
headroom would be decreased to as below:

B (&)

(a)

R E R (&)

FEBERPANFESERE &
RIBRRYHEITRETNHEBERKR
REAEBEMBEETERMENIT
i FEOR B ey St BE R R R B 1
T REEERR DT RTE

As at March 31, 2023
R2023F3H31H
Arrail Dental Rytime Dental
T B e RO
RMB’million RMB’million
ARBEETR ARBEET

Compound annual growth rate of revenue W AR FESIERRKR

decreases by 10% from the original HEETE10%
growth rate

Terminal growth rate decreases by 3% REERERREREK
from the original growth TF£3%

Post-tax discount rate increases by 5%  FEITIRRBRF1E
from the original post-tax discount rate FREEA10%

221 57
961 1,053
487 435

As at March 31, 2022
M2022463 A31H
Arrail Dental Rytime Dental

ImEEe ImZr A
RMB’million RMB’million

ARBBET ARKHER

Compound annual growth rate of revenue WAMFEEAERRER

decreases by 10% from the original ERETRE10%
growth rate

Terminal growth rate decreases by 3% SIRIERERRIERE
from the original growth TF£3%

Post-tax discount rate increases by 10% i3I KRR Fi %
from the original post-tax discount rate FRE EAH10%

560 570
1,449 1,554
421 332
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GOODWILL (continued)
(a) Impairment tests for goodwill (continued)

The Directors and management have considered
and assessed the reasonably possible changes in
key assumptions above and have not identified any
instances that would cause the carrying amounts
of the groups of CGUs to exceed its recoverable
amounts. Therefore, it would not lead to any
significant impairment of goodwill as at March 31,
2023 and 2022, respectively.

INVESTMENTS IN SUBSIDIARIES

Details of the principal subsidiaries of the Company as at
March 31, 2023 and 2022 are as follows:

B O BRI

17 BEE(E)
(a) BERENSEE)

EEREEEBCEERTE LaEE
BRATREA BB EMES) - WA
FREEERIRSELEMER R
EEBREATKESEMNER -
It - H§ B 2023 F & 2022
FIANBNEES IR EMMER
A e

18 RFAANRE

R2023F K 2022F3A31H * ARAlEE
FRARIFBEOT :

Place of Total aggregate effective interest
incorporation/ Date of Particulars of  of the Company held via direct or
establishment/operation  incorporation/ issued/paid-in indirect equity interest held, and  Principal
Name and kind of legal entity  establishment capital via Contractual Arrangements  activities
AR/ i/ g8 BRf7/ ARARBERAEEEENRENR
£l BEREABREY HMAY/RYIBH  BARARE BRARZANENALBRERLE ITER
As at March 31,
R3A3A
2023 2022
2023% 20008
Subsidiaries
47
Direct equity interest held:
FrEENERNE
Arrail Dental Limited The BVI, limited liability — April 3, 1998 USD2,820,000 100% 100%  Investment holding
company
Arrail Dental Limited ZBRARES BRAT  1998F4A3H 2,820,000 RERR
Equity interest held via its subsidiaries: Investment holding
ERETARRENRE  REER
Arrail Institute of Advanced Dentistry (AIAD) Hong Kong, limited liability  February 21, 2013 USD1,282 100% 100% Provision of dental
Limited company services
HENEEERARAT FE BRAA 2013527218 1280%7 RUNERERS
Beijing Ruicheng Hospital Management Co., Ltd. The PRC, limited liability ~ July 23, 2009 RMBG6,000,000 100% 100% Provision of dental
company services
IR ERERERAA T BRAT 00957A23R  AR%6,0000007T RENEERRY
Chongqing Jiuyue Dental Clinic Co., Ltd. The PRC, limited liability ~ November 27, 2013 RMB8,600,000 100% 100% Provision of dental
company services
ERARORFDARAR hE BRAR 20135114278 ARH8,6000007 RUNBBERY
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INVESTMENTS IN SUBSIDIARIES (continued) 18
Place of
incorporation/ Date of Particulars of

RFRAHRE (&)

Total aggregate effective interest
of the Company held via direct or

establishment/operation  incorporation/ issued/paid-in indirect equity interest held, and Principal
Name and kind of legal entity  establishment capital via Contractual Arrangements  activities
EUEAVEAYE ] BRf/ ARABBERNEEREHRENR
£ BEREARRER HMAL/ RIS BERARE BAGRRBEENGAERERAT TTEE
As at March 31,
H3A31R
2023 2022
0235 20005
Chongaing Ruisheng Dental Clinic Co., Ltd. The PRC, limited liability ~ March 10, 2004 RMBS,329,400 100% 100%  Provision of dental
company services
BRI ERYARAA hE - BRAT N04F3A108  ARH8,3294007 RUOBBERS
Chongging Ruitai Dental Hospital Co., Ltd. The PRC, limited liability ~ June 28, 2017 RMB5,000,000 88% 88% Provision of dental
company services
ERhRARERARAT hE - BRAR N17F6A8A  AR5,0000007T RENEERRYE
Beijing Arrail Shengbin Medical Technology The PRC, limited liability ~ March 25, 1999 USD33,000,000 100% 100% Wholesale of medical
Co., Ltd. company materials
IRRREN EENRERAT e - ARAF 1999%3525R 33,000,000%7C BEIHHE
Ruiershengbin (Shanghai) Finance Leasing The PRC, limited liabilty ~ March 12, 2015 USD60,000.000 100% 100% Provision of dental
Co., Ltd. company services
RRZH (L8 REREERAT - BRAT 2015537128 60,000.000% 70 RUEDBBERS
Beijing Shenghin Science Trade Co., Ltd. The PRC, limited liability ~ December 17, 1997 RMB1,000,000 100% 100%  Provision of dental
company services
IREHHERRAR hE - BRAT 1997412178 ARE1,0000007 RUNEEERS
Shanghai Yazheng Medical Consulting Co., Ltd.  The PRC, limited liability ~ May 24, 2002 RMB3,000,000 100% 100% Provision of dental
company services
LT ERERARBERAT hE - BRAT 202558248 ARH3,0000007 RUENBBERS
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INVESTMENTS IN SUBSIDIARIES (continued) 18 RFLIARANKRE (&)
Total aggregate effective interest
Place of of the Company held via direct or
incorporation/ Date of Particulars of indirect equity interest held, and via
establishment/operation  incorporation/ issued/paid-in  Previous Contractual Arrangements Principal
Name and kind of legal entity  establishment capital ~ and New Contractual Arrangements activities
G -+ BRf7/ ARABBERAEEEEHRENR
£ BEREARREY AL/ AIAE  BERARE BEGRRBEENGAERERLE ITEE
As at March 31,
R3A3A
2023 2022
023% 2000
Shanghai Shengbin Medical Consulting Service  The PRC, limited liability ~ September 26, 2001 RMB35,000,000 100% 100% Provision of dental
Co., Ltd. company services
LB BB ARG AR AT hE - ARATF 01598268 AR35,0000007 REOEEERE
Shanghai Ruiguan Dental Clinic Co., Ltd. The PRC, limited liability — April 25, 2014 RMB1,000,000 100% 100%  Provision of dental
company services
HEREARAT FERAA hE - BRAR 014548258 AKE1,000,0007T RENEERRY
Shanghai Ruiyun Dental Clinic Co., Ltd. The PRC, limited liability  August 9, 2015 RMB3,500,000 100% 100% Provision of dental
company services
LERENERY TERAT hE - BRAT 01558A98  ARH3,5000007 RENREERY
Shanghai Ruijun Dental Clinic Co., Ltd. The PRC, limited liability ~ May 10, 2018 RMBS,000,000 100% 100% Provision of dental
company services
FERENRMTY FERAR hE BRAT 018553108 AKH5,000,0007 RENEERRY
Shenzhen Rui'er Dental Medical Treatment The PRC, limited liability ~ June 5, 1995 RMB1,702,372 100% 100%  Provision of dental
Co., Ltd. company services
MERENERERART hE - BRAT 19954658  ARM17028727 RUENBBERS
Shenzhen Ruijian Dental Clinic The PRC, limited liability ~ December 24,2015 RMB1,500,000 100% 100% Provision of dental
company services
AR 0T 3 hE - ARAR 0155128248 ARE1,500,0007T RENEERRY
Shenzhen Ruihuan Dental Clinic The PRC, limited liability ~ July 29, 2015 RMB1,500,000 100% 100% Provision of dental
company services
iR AR hE - BRAT 01557A208  ARHE15000007 RUEDBBERS
Guangzhou Ruier Medical Consulting Co., Ltd.  The PRC, limited liability ~ August 1, 2012 RMB180,000 100% 100% Provision of dental
company services
EMRBERHARRAT hE - BRAT 01268A1H AR180,0007 RUEOEERRY
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INVESTMENTS IN SUBSIDIARIES (continued) 18 RFLIARNKRE (&)
Total aggregate effective interest
Place of of the Company held via direct or
incorporation/ Date of Particulars of indirect equity interest held, and via
establishment/operation  incorporation/ issued/paid-in  Previous Contractual Arrangements Principal
Name and kind of legal entity  establishment capital ~ and New Contractual Arrangements activities
EUEAVEAYE + BRf7/ ARABBERAEEEEHRENR
£ BEREARREY AL/ KIAE  BERARE BAGRRBEENGAERERLE DK
As at March 31,
R3A3EA
2023 2022
023% 20005
Chengdu WuhouRuitaiRongcheng Dental Hospital The PRC, limited liability ~ October 16, 2014 RMB1,500,000 100% 100%  Provision of dental
Co., Ltd. company services
R ERFRANERRERAR hE - BRAT 014F10A168  ARHE1,5000007 RENREERY
Shanxi Ruitaiercang Dental Hospital Co., Ltd. ~ The PRC, limited liability ~ June 15, 2015 RMB2,500,000 60% 60% Provision of dental
company services
RERRRENRERERAT hE - BRAT 015%6A15A  AR%25000007T RENEERRY
Qingdao Donghe Medical Management Co. Ltd.  The PRC, limited liability ~ February 8, 2017 RMB3,000,000 70% 70% Hospital management
company
BERNBEERARAR hE - BRAT 01752888 ARH3,0000007 BhER
(IREShRFNREERERAA)
Changsha Keerya Dental Hospital Co., Ltd. The PRC, limited liability ~ November 28, 2002 RMB5,000,000 60% 60% Provision of dental
company services
ROHAENRERERAT hE - ARAR 20025114288 ARH5,0000007 RUNRRERY
Jiangyin Meijiaxin Dental Clinic Co., Ltd. The PRC, limited liability ~ December 10,2013 RMB6,800,000 100% 100% Provision of dental
company services
IEXERAEFND TERAT hE - BRAT 0135128108 AR6,8000007 RUENBBERY
Shanghai Ruitai Jiasheng dental clinic Co., Ltd. ~ The PRC, limited liability ~ January 22, 2019 RMB5,000,000 100% 100% Provision of dental
company services
FERFERNENYBRRAA hE - BRAR 01981228 AR5,0000007 RUOEEERY
Wuxi Tongshan Dental Hospital Co., Ltd. The PRC, limited liability ~ January 20, 2017 RMB13,000,000 51% - Provision of dental
(“Wuxi Tongshan") company services
EAmRENRERERLAA ((BERE]) hE - BRAT 017518208 ARH13,0000007 RENREERH
Note: The place of operation is not applicable to Arrail Dental Hiet - EBHME A EARArrail Dental

Limited.

Limited °
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19 PREPAYMENTS 19 FENARE
The detailed information of prepayments during the years B ZE2023F K2022F3A31HILFE 18
ended March 31, 2023 and 2022 is as below: RRIBRFEBNT -
As at March 31,
M3A31AH
2023 2022
20234 20224
RMB’ 000 RMB’000
ARET T ARBTTT
Non-current FHnE
Prepayments for construction TIBEGR 9,110 5,251
Prepayments for equipment REBTEMFRE 22,750 12,800
Incremental costs of obtaining contracts (Note)  HEBABRIEERKA (A7) 2,775 3,671
34,635 21,722
Current JEE)
Prepayments for braces FEFEMNRIE 49,239 56,624
Prepayments for inventories other than braces GFE (FERKRIN) BRFIE 27,440 32,160
Incremental costs of obtaining contracts (Note) — EBA&RMIEBERAK (#1:F) 15,854 17,923
Short-term lease prepayments SECLEN SN/ O 8,299 10,341
Prepayments for services BRFE T 508 6,768 9,656
107,600 126,704
142,235 148,426
Note: Incremental costs of obtaining contracts Htat - EBERKEEHA
Incremental cost of obtaining contracts represents BEAERMSEXNNZELS T TENR
the commissions to dentists, which are calculated & EDRBIEMENNHERES
based on a certain percentage of the total contract BEH—TELLAEE - REEREFSER
sum of new contracts introduced by dentists. The HESHIEERARR—IBEE AR
Group recognised an asset for the incremental costs of NG B TE AT 38R R SR AR A P dn sl AR
obtaining contracts for the commissions because the BHERARKEZERR - 5FFEHRE
Group expects to recover these costs through future B RS IR KT 5E2.23 ©

fees for the goods or services to be provided. Details
are set out in Note 2.23 to the consolidated financial
statements.
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21

INVENTORIES 20 FE
As at March 31,
M3A31H

2023 2022
20234 20224
RMB’ 000 RMB’000
ARET T AREET T
Dental materials [ZESYTRE: 51,386 47,080

Inventories recognised as cost of sales during the
years ended March 31, 2023 and 2022 amounted to
RMB241,757,000 and RMB253,254,000, respectively.

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS BY CATEGORY 21

The detailed information of financial instruments by
category during the years ended March 31, 2023 and 2022

is as below:

RERESHEWMIA

HZE2023F 202253 A31 B ILFEERSE
BIEIDH SR T EFIBENT -

REE2023F 202243 A31 14
EHRAAHEHEXNANTFESFAARKE
241,757,000 & AR # 253,254,000 7T °

As at March 31,

MA3A31H
2023 2022
20234 20224
RMB’ 000 RMB’000
AR¥T T ARBTIT
Assets as per consolidated balance sheet EHEEABRMTEE
Financial assets measured at fair value BAREEGAEZD
through profit or loss: EREE
— Wealth management products (Note 23) — BB EMR (Mi223) 258,013 197,055
- Bank structured deposits (Note 23) — IRITHEB TR (H7E23) 5,000 -
— Unlisted debt instruments (Note 23) — JEEMEBIA (#:23) 35,714 34,675
— Unlisted equity instruments (Note 23) —FELmERTE (Hi723) 30,000 =
Financial assets measured at amortised cost: REBERATENCREE
— Trade and other receivables (Note 22) — B 5 REMEWGIE (H1iF22) 359,905 206,361
- Restricted cash (Note 24(b)) — ZBRFIEE (H7F24(b)) 154,894 95,290
— Time deposits with original maturity over three  — FRE|EIE BB =1{E A 52,657 14,000
months (Note 24(b)) EHF (Hat24b))
— Cash and cash equivalents (Note 24(a)) —BHekBeEEY 621,860 1,052,285
(Hiato4(a))
1,518,043 1,599,666
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FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS BY CATEGORY 21 ZEREsHMEmITAE (&)
(continued)

As at March 31,

M3A31R
2023 2022
20234 20224
RMB’ 000 RMB’000

AR¥TR AR®BTRT

Liabilities as per consolidated balance sheet &#HEEEBXRFRARE
Financial liabilities measured at amortised cost: X E# R A EN TR E S ¢

— Borrowings (Note 27) — &R (Htat27) 220,019 137,363
— Lease liabilities (Note 15(a)) —HEBE (HiF15(a)) 735,659 753,308
— Trade and other payables — B REMENFIE 137,930 183,031

1,093,608 1,073,702
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22 TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES 22 ES RHMEKRKIE
As at March 31,
M3A31H
2023 2022
2023 F 20224
RMB’ 000 RMB’000
ARET T ARBETIT
Non-current FEE)
Other receivables Hh fE R 1E
Loans to employees (Note a) RESREER (Hita) 14,101 40,300
Rental deposits HEZS 59,895 61,970
Deposits paid for investments (Note b) RIE S 8iRe (Hazb) 4,500 5,000
Others EAth 1,891 3,642
80,387 110,912
Less: loss allowance B iR RS (2,620) (1,436)
77,767 109,476
Current JEE)
Trade receivables g S EWIE 92,407 87,379
Other receivables H & W K18
Loans to related parties (Note 35(c)) BB 5 R E R (H3£35(c)) 78,664 1,500
Amounts due from related parties (Note 35(c)) &Y BaEs 75 2B (#1:#35(c)) 2,700 1,359
Amount due from a non-controlling el ke 3,150 =
shareholder
Loans to employees (Note a) m{E B R ER (M ita) 37,101 7,728
and petty cash granted to employees EETREEN/NGERE
Rental and other deposits HENEMIZS 1,548 1,824
Amounts due from clinics operated under FEWIR BB R A R RS R EE - 12,272
exclusive consultation and service K2 FT kIR
agreements
Receivable from RSU management agency  FEUSZIR I {7 BE AL & BB Y 71,222 -
and deposit in a security broker for I N BL I B AR 1) (M) B H A8 42
share repurchase RENZES
Others At 16,806 4,604
303,598 116,666
Less: loss allowance B EIERE (21,460) (19,781)
282,138 96,885
359,905 206,361
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TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES (continued)

Note:

(a) The loans to employees are unsecured, with interest
accruing at 2% per annum, and repayable after 5 years
from the date of drawdown.

(b) As at March 31, 2022, a deposit amounting to
RMB5,000,000 was paid to the existing shareholders of
Shenzhen Baocheng for the Group’s acquisition of 10%
equity interests in Shenzhen Baocheng. The acquisition
was completed on June 28, 2022 (Note 11).

As at March 31, 2023, a deposit amounting to
RMB4,500,000 was paid to Shenzhen Baocheng for the
purpose of subscribing additional 4.1% equity interest in
Shenzhen Baocheng. The subscription was completed on
April 7, 2023.

The carrying amounts of the Group’s trade receivables
were denominated in RMB and approximated their fair
values. As a result, there is no exposure to foreign currency
risk.

The Group generally allows a credit period of 10 to 60
days to its customers. Ageing analysis of trade receivables
based on billing date is as follows:

B O BRI

E5 RHEMBWRRIE &)
Hiat

(a) M BIREHNERAEER - mEFE
2%ET B - WARIREIRZ A5 F % E

(b) R2022%3 A318 « NEBFUE R
ERM10%E - SRFIIERIRE R
RE T ARKS5,000,000tHES » U
BEE 1202246 A28 A5k (FIE11) ©

R2023F3A31H  BAEIIER AR
#4,500,000THIEE - UREFIIEHR D
AN A% PEHE - REEE 202344 A7H %
ﬁ °

REEE 5 ERFIANREENKARE
B YEEQAABERES - Bt - TFEI
R

AEE—RETERFI0E60KNEER -
RRBEAADHNE S R IERRE DT
T g

As at March 31,

M3 A31H
2023 2022
20234 20224
RMB’ 000 RMB’000
ARET T AR®ET T
Up to 3 months B3 ME A 47,220 36,985
3 to 6 months 32618 A 14,723 22,400
6 months to 1 year 6EAE1E 6,941 6,744
1to 2 years 1524 9,348 7,780
Over 2 years BiE2F 14,175 13,470

92,407 87,379

2022/23 Annual Report & E 4 @
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23

TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES (continued) 22 EFRHtEWKIE (&)

The Group applies the IFRS 9 simplified approach to REBEERABERMBREERESREALH
measure expected credit losses which uses a lifetime ERRTEHEEEE R EHMEESE
expected loss allowance for all trade receivables. Details of WRIBH AF BB S EEE - B@ETE
which are set out in Note 3.1.2 to the consolidated financial HRE I BHREMEEI .2 0

statements.

FINANCIAL ASSETS AT FAIR VALUE THROUGH 23 REAABEFABZNEREE

PROFIT OR LOSS

As at March 31,

M3 A31H

2023 2022
2023 F 20224
RMB’ 000 RMB’000
ARET T ARETIT

Non-current FERTE]
Unlisted debt instruments (Note a) EEMERTE (Kita) 35,714 34,675
Unlisted equity instruments (Note b) EEmERTE (Kitb) 30,000 =
65,714 34,675

Current -

Wealth management products (Note c) BB E S (Kiitc) 258,013 197,055
Bank structured deposits SRITHEBETFR 5,000 =
263,013 197,055
328,727 231,730
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FINANCIAL ASSETS AT FAIR VALUE THROUGH

PROFIT OR LOSS (continued)

Note a:

Note b:

Note c:

The fair values of the unlisted debt instruments, which
are preferred shares issued by Hangzhou Jarvis,
representing 8.22% interest of Hangzhou Jarvis, are
calculated using the Market Method. In this model, the
fair value of the financial instruments is determined
by the implied equity value derived from a timely
transaction in the private company’s equity. lts fair
values are within level 3 of the fair value hierarchy.

On December 5 2022, the Group acquired 20% equity
interest in Hangzhou Jinyaori Medical Technology
Company Limited (“Hangzhou Jinyaori”, which is a
subsidiary of Hangzhou Jarvis), for the consideration
of RMB30 million. The Group has no significant
influence over Hangzhou Jinyaori and thus the
investment is accounted for as a financial asset at fair
value through profit or loss.

The fair values of the unlisted equity instruments are
calculated using the Market Method. In this model, the
fair value of the financial instruments is determined
by the implied equity value derived from a timely
transaction in the private company’s equity. lts fair
values are within level 3 of the fair value hierarchy.

As at March 31, 2023, the Group invested in the
wealth management products from GF Global Capital
Limited amounting to US$20,263,000 (equivalent to
RMB139,240,000). Its fair values are within level 3 of
the fair value hierarchy.

As at March 31, 20283, the Group invested in
the wealth management products from Huatai
International Financial Products Limited amounting to
US$16,402,000 (equivalent to RMB112,710,000). Its
fair values are within level 3 of the fair value hierarchy.

During the year ended March 31, 2023, the Group
subscribed to partner’s capital, becoming a limited
partner in TruMed Health Innovation Fund LP, and
the total commitment is US$2,000,000. As at March
31, 2023, the Group’s investment in TruMed Health
Innovation Fund LP amounting to US$882,000
(equivalent to RMB6,063,000). Its fair values are
within level 3 of the fair value hierarchy.

23

B O BRI

BRARBEFABRENEREE (H)

Hiita :

Hiztb -

Hrite -

FELEMER TR (RMMERDET
BB R BINER B 8. 22% %
@) MAARBEDERTSETE -
FEUEAT @RI ANAREETD
BALERRBRANAER ZELNRE
EREEEEE - EARBEBRA
RBEERTNE=ZER -

M2022F 12 A58 + REBUHEA
R¥E0EETRENIMNERBBER
RERAR ([MMNERA ] - fiE
KBHTAR) KHI20% B HE - AEE
HMMeRBIWEEATEN At
ZREEREARBESABRRNS
BEEAR -

ELTRETANAREBEDNERT
BT E - BT SR TEM
AR BETVRILE R R R BN 2
ZEENESREBEETE - HAR
BEBRAAEBEERTNE=ER -

HZE2023F3A31H  "EEREE
EIREARER AT BITHIEMERN
% E %8 520,263,000% 5T (BHER A
R#139,240,0007T) - ERA R EEE
RARBEEBRTFHE=ER

HZE2023F3A310  "REBMPESE
BERcmERERARZFITNEYE
mA IR & 416,402,000% T (HHE
PAR#112,710,0007T) - ERAAE
EBERAABEERTHNE=ER -

REE2023F3A31BILLFE » A&
BREBEBANER - K ATruMed
Health Innovation Fund LPHEJAER
A% A BE#HEAR2,000,0003%
JL° BiE2023F3A31H  AEER
TruMed Health Innovation Fund LP
K% B %8 5882,000% T (HERAR
#6,063,0007T) - E AR BEBRA
REBEEERTHNE=ER -

2022/23 Annual Report FER % @
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(a)

CASH AND BANK BALANCES 24 BERBITHEEH
Cash and cash equivalents (a) HReRBESZEEY
As at March 31,
W3 A31H
2023 2022
2023 F 20224
RMB’ 000 RMB’000
AR®T T AREFIT
Cash at bank and in hand IRITRFEER S 237,796 813,877
Time deposits with original maturity REIBAE A=1EA AH 384,064 238,408
within three months TEHATF 5K

621,860 1,052,285

(b)

The weighted average effective interest rates on the

Group’s time deposits with original maturity within
three months as at March 31, 2023 and 2022 were

4.43% and 0.50% per annum, respectively.

Restricted cash

MR2023F 2022438310 » AEERE|
HHEA=0ARNNTEFERONETFEER
FED R BFFEL43%K%0.50% °

(b) ZERHRE

As at March 31,

MA3A31H

2023 2022

20234 20224F

RMB’ 000 RMB’000

AR¥T T ARBETIT

Time deposits with original maturity within REBAER=EAN 91,997 -
three months (Note 27(a)) EBTFR (Hit27(a))

Time deposits with original maturity over REHARBEB=EAA 62,897 95,290
three months (Note 27(a)) TEETF R (H1a27(a))

154,894 95,290

The interest rates on the Group’s restricted cash as
at March 31, 2023 and 2022 were 2.99% and 0.10%

per annum, respectively.

R2023F 202243 A31H  KAEEMT
IR 53R £ B FIE D B BEFF2.99% K%0.10% °
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24 CASH AND BANK BALANCES (continued) 24 BERIBITHES (E)
() Time deposits with original maturity over three (c) REHBEBB=EARNEHFR
months

As at March 31,

MA3A31H
2023 2022
20234 20224
RMB’ 000 RMB’000

ARBTT ARBT T

Time deposits with original maturity over [REIEAEEEBR=EAH 52,657 14,000
three months TEBTF R
52,657 14,000
The interest rates on the Group’s time deposits with M20234F 2022438318 » K&
original maturity over three months as at March 31, B R H A= 18 A & E BFE SR
2023 and 2022 were in the range of 1.55% to 4.10% FRH BN FFF1.55%E4.10% °

per annum, respectively.

Cash and bank balances are denominated in the B RIRITAESRIIA TS EEETE -
following currencies:

As at March 31,

MA3A31H
2023 2022
2023 20224
RMB’ 000 RMB’000

ARETT ARETT

usSD ETT 567,940 593,588
RMB AR 169,639 287,679
HKD T 91,832 280,308

829,411 1,161,575




Arrail Group Limited ¥FSEEBRA R

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

SOt wR M

25

SHARE CAPITAL 25 [N
Authorised: ERE
Nominal Nominal

Number of value of  Number of value of Nominal

class 1 class 1 class 2 class2  Number of value of

ordinary ordinary ordinary ordinary ordinary ordinary

shares shares shares shares shares shares

1BEER  1BEBR  EEBR  2EELER ERR EER

#A i #A HE g HE

Usb ’000 usb UsD’'000 "000 USD’000

i Th i T&n Th TEn

As at March 31, 2021 R2021£3A31A 6,496 3,248 25,709 12,855 - -

Decrease/(increase) of authorised share capital EERARSD /(1) (6.49) (3,248) (25,709) (12855) 1,250,000 25,000

As at March 31, 2022 and 2023 H2022ER2023 3 A31A - - - - 1,250,000 25,000

Issued: 21T

Equivalent

Nominal nominal

Number of value of value of

ordinary ordinary ordinary

shares shares shares

ZERE

ZERAEY TEREHE BHAEE

000 uUSD’000 RMB’ 000

T FET AR¥T T

As at March 31, 2022 and 2023 420224 %2023%3H31H 581,592 11,633 74,769
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25 SHARE CAPITAL (continued) 25 JRA (&)
Equivalent
Nominal nominal
Number of value of value of
classtand  classiand  class 1and
class 2 class 2 class 2
Numberof ~ Number of ordinary ordinary ordinary
class 1 class2  Numberof  sharesand  sharesand  shares and
ordinary ordinary ordinary ordinary ordinary ordinary
shares shares shares shares shares shares
18R2%

gk 1ERE BERMR
BERMR  EERUR BERE
\BEERYE 2GEBREE  EERMA  SBRER  ZERAEE BonE

'000 "000 "000 '000 USD’000 RMB’000
Th Th h Th Tin  ARETR
As at March 31, 2021 R2021%3A31A 1,604 1,189 - 2793 1,397 9,447
Issuance of shares for restrictive share unit EIRRHRNEN RN 4799 - - 4799 2399 15,43
scheme (Note ) (Hita)
Share subdivision (Aote 6) Rt (i) 153,661 28541 - 182,202 - -
Conversion of class 1 and class 2 ordinary shares R IERELERIR (160,064) (29,730) 535,064 345,270 6,906 43963
and Preferred Shares into ordinary shares upon BrRERREER Wiic)
the Listing (Note ¢)
Share issued in the IPO (Nofe @) BRARSERANRG () = - 46,528 46,528 931 5924

As at March 31, 2022 202253531 R = = 581,692 581,592 11,633 74769
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25

SHARE CAPITAL (continued)

Upon occurrence of a liquidation event, the holders of class

1 ordinary shares shall be entitled to receive assets and
funds available for distribution before the holders of class
2 ordinary shares after full settlement to all preference
shares. Other rights and preference of class 1 and class 2
ordinary shares are the same.

Note:

(a)

On June 25, 2021, the board of the directors has
approved to set up a platform in the BVI (“ESOP BVI”)
to hold incentive shares for the participants under an
RSU Plan to be adopted by the Company. A total of
4,798,904 shares was issued to the Arrail Sunshine
Holdings Limited, the ESOP BVI, on September 16,
2021. Please refer to Note 8(b) for the details of the
RSU Plan.

On March 21, 2022, each share of class 1 and class 2
ordinary shares and Preferred Shares of a par value of
USDO0.5 each (including authorized issued class 1 and
class 2 ordinary shares and Preferred Shares) was sub-
divided into 25 shares of a par value of USDO0.02 each.

On March 22, 2022, the Company completed its Initial
Public Offering (“IPO”) on the Main Board of The Stock
Exchange of Hong Kong Limited. Upon the Listing,
all class 1 and class 2 ordinary shares and Preferred
Shares have been automatically converted into ordinary
shares.

On March 22, 2022, the shares of the Company were
listed on the Main Board of The Stock Exchange of
Hong Kong Limited, whereby 46,527,500 new shares
at the offer price of HKD14.6 each were issued by
the Company. The issuance of the new shares, net of
underwriting commissions and other issuance costs,
amounting to RMB527.3 million, led to an increase of
share capital and share premium by RMB5.9 million
and RMB521.4 million, respectively.

25

A ()
WEEEHBER 1HETBARNFEAR

REMEBEERZMBFER  H2HEEEK
MRFBAZAESATHRIIKNEERES -
TR E B EMENRELELEER
Hy o

Hiaz -

(a) MR2021F6H25H - EFg2E#tE
REBEBRESEMKL—ETA
(TESOP BVII) - AR A HEFA
RREIRD B BN EERFEH
Bt » 2021 F9A16H » AR A
MArrail Sunshine Holdings Limited
(ESOP BVI)&1T4& #£4,798,904 R ik
7 - BB IR B EINFER
2HMIFE8(b)

(b)  R2022%3[21H - BREMEOSET
MIERELBREEAR (BEAE
BT 1R KB TR R B ST 1748
A5 R (EO.02E T

(c)  PM202243H22H - ARAIREEME
RHMABRDRERTHERAMEE
(TBERAREE]) - LW ABE18E
RoBEBREEARHEDERR
Epale

(d)  M2022493H22H ' KRAFRMDRHREH
MARZMBERAB R LET - ik -
RARRER14.6 BT EEEET
46,527,500 B8 #T A% - BATHIHARE
BAEMAE R EMBEITRARBARE
527 3ABTT  EHWAMAM EE S
RIEIMARES OBBTMARKS21.4

BETT e
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RESERVES 26 f#E
The following table shows a breakdown of the balance TRIFEEARKEL [HE]VRMAKRZ
sheet line item “reserves” and the movements in these EREBNFAREE o

reserves during the year.

Fair value

Share- Currency  change due

Treasury based  translation to own

Shares Share compensation differences  credit risk
(Note a) premium reserves (Note b)  and others Total

BERE

BRERN

ERRH EXZE AERE

(Wda)  ROEE ROHeRE  (WE)  BBREM #it
RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000
ARMTR  ARMTZ  ARBTZ  ARBTR  ARWIR  ARETR

At April 1, 2022 H2022481R (16,435) 4,693,165 95,021 9,017 (29,085) 4,841,683
Share-based compensation (ote §/5)) KoM Hits) - = 194,118 - = 194,118
Currency translation differences EXZE - - - 86,484 = 86,484
Vesting of RSUs FEXRAIREEN 623 34,782 (15,865) - - 19,540
Shares purchased for share award scheme RO REHEEERR (34,542) = = - = (34,542)
Deemed dividend to shareholder BEARES R - - - - (420) (420)
Non-controlling interests disposed (Note 376)) BHEFERER (Wi2s7b) - - - - 703 703

As at March 31, 2023 R2023%3A31A (49,354) 4,727,947 213,214 184,501 (26,802) 5,107,566
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26 RESERVES (continued) 26 f#fE (&)
Fair value
Share- Currency  change due
based translation to own
Treasury Share compensation differences  credit risk
shares premium reserves (Note b)  and others Total
BERE
BRERN
ERZE MEE
ERRf RORE REMERRE (ffith)  BBREM Eh)
RMB’000 RMB’ 000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’ 000
AR®TR  ARMTR AR®TR ARETr ARMTR ARETR
At April 1, 2021 R202154A1R - 109,792 - 13,345 116,047 239,184
Issuance of ordinary shares in relation to the ETERDRRELER - 521,359 = - = 521,359
IPO (Note 25()) (W25e))
Fair value change of Preferred Shares due to own AEEERREINELR - - = - (18,439) (18,439)
credit risk (Nore 29) MEBRE(HH2)
Falr value change of bond due to own credit risk AERERRERNRS - - - - 1,083 1,083
MEEE
Issuance of shares for restrictive share unit EARRARGELERD (15,435) = = - = (15,435)
scheme (Note 25(b)) (Wis223p))
Share-based compensation (ofe §/5)) Btie (4280) - = 95,021 - 95,021
Currency translation differences EiZE - - - 84,672 - 84,672
Conversion of convertible redeemable preferred to FERT B RER - 4062014 - - (101423) 3,960,591
ordinary shares (Note 25(d) BLER (122900)
Repayment of bond (Note 29.1) [EREH (W21 - - - - 3628 3628
Non-controlling interests acquired (Nots 372)) B ARIER (HE378) - - - - (30,030) (30,030)
Non-controlling interests disposed (Note 37/5)) BHEFERER (W) - - - - 49 49
As at March 31, 2022 R2022£3A31A (15,435) 4,693,165 95,021 9,017 (29,085) 4,841,683
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RESERVES (continued) 26 f#fE (&)

Notes: Hisz -

(a) Treasury shares are shares in Company that are held (a) EFRNEATIREARIEERNE
by the Employee Share Trust for the purpose of issuing RITHRABEEBEEE (FEFE2H
shares under the company employee share scheme fizE8(b)) B1TIRH MAEERMHEFT
and the executive short-term incentive scheme (see FiEEMARRRGD - TREREFR
note 8(b) for further information).The following table NEEHNES) :
shows the movement of number of treasury shares:

Number of
shares RMB’000
B&HEE AR®TR

000

T
As at April 1, 2021 7M20215F4A1H - -
Issuance of shares for restrictive P BR IR (D BALAT BB TRR 5 (119,973) (15,435)

share unit scheme
As at March 31, 2022 R2022%38318 (119,973) (15,435)
As at April 1, 2022 A2022F481H

Shares purchased for share award scheme A% {D S2E) =T 2188 B %D (5,291) (34,542)
Vesting of RSUs 55 8 PR 1 AR 1 BN 4,536 623
As at April 1, 2023 A2023F4 8108 (120,728) (49,354)

Currency translation differences represent the
differences arising from the translation of the financial
statements of Companies within the Group that have a
functional currency different from the reporting currency
of RMB for the financial statements of the Group.

EHEEEEREAREEET AR (K
DEEEE RN A LM B HRRN 2R
EMARYE) MG HRRMELNZHE
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27 BORROWINGS 27 &N
As at March 31,
MW3A31A
2023 2022
2023 F 20224
RMB’ 000 RMB’000
AR® Tt ARBETIT
Included in non-current liabilities STAERBAE
Secured bank borrowings (a) BEMIBITIERK () 47,252 =
47,252 -
Included in current liabilities SFARBERE
Secured bank borrowings (a) BERBITERK () 49,059 80,100
Unsecured bank borrowings (b) EEBRITER(D) 123,708 57,263
172,767 137,363
220,019 137,363
(a) Secured bank borrowings (a) FEEFBTER
Secured bank borrowings as at March 31, 2023 and R2023F 202293 A31 BN A K
2022 bear annual weighted average interest rate at FIRITIEK D AIE3.92% & 4.47 % &)
3.92% and 4.47%, respectively. FEINEFIIFNEETE -
The maturity of secured bank borrowings is as BEMBITERVINEABREOT -
follows:
As at March 31,
M3 A31H
2023 2022
2023 F 20224
RMB’ 000 RMB’000
AR® Tt AR®ET T
Within 1 year 1FR 49,059 80,100
Between 1 and 2 years 1524 5,559 =
Between 2 and 3 years 2 B34 41,693 =

96,311 80,100
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27 BORROWINGS (continued) 27 B
(a) Secured bank borrowings (continued) (a) FHEPETHER(E)
Secured bank borrowings of the Group are secured REBHBERRITEKEROT
as follows:
As at March 31,
M3A31H
2023 2022
2023%F 20224
RMB’ 000 RMB’000
AR%T T ARBETTT
Time deposits with original maturity within REER A=1EA A 91,997 =
three months (Note 24(b)) TERER (Hato4(b))
Time deposits with original maturity over REBAR BB =E A 62,897 95,290
three months (Note 24(b)) SEBTFER (HfiE24(b))
154,894 95,290
(b) Unsecured bank borrowings (b) E|IEIFRITHER
Unsecured bank borrowings as at March 31, 2023 R 20234 ;202243 A 31 HAKEEK
and 2022 bear annual weighted average interest FIRITIEFK D A1 3.58% K 4.63% &Y
rate at 3.58% and 4.63%, respectively. F TR R E -
The maturity of unsecured bank borrowings is as EERRITEROZEERAT -
follows:

As at March 31,

MA3A31H
2023 2022
2023 20224
RMB’ 000 RMB’000

ARETT ARETT

Within 1 year 1R 123,708 57,263
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27

28

BORROWINGS (continued) 27
(c) Fair value

The fair values of the borrowings are not materially
different to their carrying amounts, since the interest
payable on those borrowings is either close to
current market rates or the borrowings are of a
short-term nature.

(d) Compliance with financial covenants

The Group has complied with the financial
covenants of its bank borrowings during the years
ended March 31, 2023 and 2022.

DEFERRED INCOME TAX 28

The following is an analysis of the deferred tax balances
presented on the consolidated balance sheets:

A (&)

(c) 2AREE
BERNAAEEEFAETEEAE
B RAAZEEFNEMNTEEL
EAIMSHEKERBRAMNE -

(d) EBFHBEER
HZE2023F K202243 A31H L4
B AEBBEETERITEROUME
2

ELEFTEH

NTREHEEARBREY AN HIELEHRE

BRI -

As at March 31,

MA3A31H
2023 2022
20234 20224
RMB’ 000 RMB’000

ARBTR ARETT

Deferred tax assets FRIERIEE E
Deferred tax liabilities ELEFIHAE

63,929 56,677
(11,062) (2,125)

52,867 54,652
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DEFERRED INCOME TAX (continued) 28

The following are the deferred tax assets and liabilities
recognised by the Group and movements thereon during

IEE PR 1S % (

i)

AR RAEBREE2023F & 2022943 A
STALFERRNECREEELBERE

the years ended March 31, 2023 and 2022. FE)IFN o

Fair value

adjustments

on assets

Credit acquired

Tax loss in business
losses allowance combinations Total

B e

KEEEMN
BEFE GFEFBERE LAEERE @it
RMB’ 000 RMB’ 000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARETR AR®TT AR®TT AR®EF
At April 1, 2021 #202154818 27,192 1438 (3,125) 25,505
Credited to profit or loss FTABR 24 161 3,886 1,000 29,047
At March 31, 2022 M2022F3H31H 51,353 5,324 (2,125) 54,552
At April 1, 2022 RA2022F4R1H 51,358 5,324 (2,125) 54,552
Acquisition of subsidiaries and WEEF AR R - = (10,262) (10,262)

businesses (Note 31) % (h7#31)

Credited to profit or loss FTABR 7,213 39 1,325 8,577
At March 31, 2023 72023%E3A31H 58,566 5,363 (11,062) 52,867

The deferred tax assets amounted to RMB13,317,000 and
RMB14,660,000, and deferred tax liabilities amounted to
RMB 1,809,000 and RMB608,000 and as at March 31, 2023
and 2022 respectively are expected to be recovered within
12 months. The remaining deferred tax assets and deferred
tax liabilities as at March 31, 2023 and 2022 are expected
to be recovered after 12 months.

R2023F 202263 A31H @ EERIBE
EARE13,317,0007t & A R# 14,660,000
TCAREERIE & E A R#1,809,0007T &
ARM608,000 T TEHR #1218 A R4 E -
MR2023F 202243 A31 HRFIHELTR
HEENMBELEHBA BB BR12@E %K

[g] o



Arrail Group Limited ¥FSEEBRA R

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

SOt wR M

28 DEFERRED INCOME TAX (continued) 28 EELERTEBH (&)
The unrecognised deductible accumulated tax losses and R2023F k2022438310 « RKERAA
deductible temporary differences as at March 31, 2023 and MARABEEERAIIREREZB0OT
2022 are as the table below: RFTR

As at March 31,

R3A31H
2023 2022
2023 20224
RMB’ 000 RMB'000

ARETT ARETT

Deductible cumulative tax losses AR R T IEE 8
To be expired within 5 years R5F A EHR 237,153 177,548
Deductible temporary differences ATHUR R =5 1,496 1,504

29 CONVERTIBLE REDEEMABLE PREFERRED 29 FAEBRAEEELR

SHARES
Since the date of incorporation, the Company has Bz BEILAZK - KRR EBBMKE
completed several rounds of financing by issuing preferred EERTBERTHEHmEE -

shares to investors.

Movements of the convertible redeemable shares during HE2022F3A31HILFE @ AJEHRAIEL
the year ended March 31, 2022 is set out as below: BAERMNEHEINT
RMB’ 000
ARETT
At April 1, 2021 %202144 818 3,178,465
Issuance of convertible redeemable preferred shares — 2%17 ] 2 0] §& [ & S A% 475,585
Change in fair value DA EEEE 559,528
Includes: change in fair value due to own creditrisk B3 : BAEERBETN AL BEZD 18,439
Currency translation differences MEH A58 (107,601)
Conversion to ordinary shares B 5T R (4,105,977)
At March 31, 2022 R2022F3 8318 -
Total change in fair value for the year included in STA [P fE Rl B R IR A BEZE ] 541,089
“Fair value change of convertible redeemable WFEARAEBELEBRE

preferred shares”
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CONVERTIBLE REDEEMABLE PREFERRED
SHARES (continued)

Upon the Listing on March 22, 2022, all convertible
redeemable shares have been automatically converted into
ordinary shares.

Change in fair value of convertible redeemable preferred
shares was recorded in “fair value change of convertible

redeemable preferred shares”

in the consolidated income

statements, and the fair value change in the convertible
redeemable preferred shares that was attributable to
change of own credit risk of this liability was recorded in
other comprehensive income/(loss).

29.1

Bond

On March 16, 2020, a subsidiary of the Company,
Beijing Arrail Shengbin Medical Technology Co.
Limited (the “Bond Borrower”), signed an investment
agreement (“Original Bond Investment Agreement”)
where the Bond Borrower issued a bond with
principal amount of RMB200 million to an investor
(the “Bond Holder”). The Bond was drawn down and
issued on April 10, 2020. The Bond will mature on
the earlier date (the “Maturity Date”) of (i) voluntary
early repayment by the Group after one year from
issue date; (ii) four years from the issue date of
the bond; the holder of the warrants exercised
the warrants (Note 29.2) and requested for early
repayment from the Group, after one year from the
issue date of the Bond; or (iv) in any event of default
(i.e. default in payment, breach of representation,
etc.). The Bond interest rate is set at the rate of
5.8% per annum and will be paid semi-annually. In
the event that the Group elects to make a voluntary
early repayment, the Group will repay the principal
plus additional interest equivalent to a yield of
14.2% Internal Rate of Return (IRR) if there is no
QIPO or 11.8% IRR if there is a QIPO on the date of
election.

29

B O BRI

] B 4 ] R B T AR (AR

R2022F 3 H22H ik © FrE o & #n] iE
CHERE BB ER AT @A -

ESRTERNEERNAABEEZDFTAS
PHEERN [ ERATERNEERNAAE
BEE®| MARZEENBEEEARE
B ERH A ER A EEEER AR EER
AT ARE TS (BE) -

-t

R2020F3 16 H * A ARIMFAFA
It RIHERENBERBRERAR ([E
FERAD) EERERE ([RESH
"EwZE] Bt BHFERAR—
ZREE ([BEHEFEAD B11XE
BARB2008BTHES - ZEFH
2020454 A 10 BIRERI 31T © 3%
BEHFHNUATREBA([REA])
EIHR - ()BEEITREBRA —FRADN
SEBRERENER : ()BEHET
HHEIREEHPOE @ (il REHFZTEH

BEr—FREIFEATERESE (F
7£29.2) W EKAEEIRAIEN © K
(iv)B EmEL S (B R AR

29.1

BRBGLE) - BHFMNEREREF
5.8% @ B¥EXMN—IR - MRAKRE

EEEEREIRATERN  NEEBEN
A& BMEIHIF S (EHBREERE

BEBERBRNAABEENEHER
14 2% MANBREXRREREFLE
BERARESRIHEER11.8%A
BRURZS R ) o
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29 CONVERTIBLE REDEEMABLE PREFERRED
SHARES (continued)

29.1

Bond (continued)

On June 29, 2021, the Bond Borrower and the
Bond Holder entered into a new bond investment
agreement (“New Bond Investment Agreement”) to
supersede the terms of the Original Bond Investment
Agreement. Pursuant to the New Bond Investment
Agreement, which provided a QIPO occurring
before December 31, 2022, the Bond Holder is
entitled to request the Bond Borrower to repay the
bond and its accrued interest within 15 days from
the date of such listing. Other terms are the same
as the Original Bond Investment Agreement.

Movement of the Bond during the year ended March
31, 2022 is set out below:

29

A S O] B B3 AR (48)
29.1 &% (&)
R2021F6 A29H @ BEAHERANE

HERB AN FESRERZ ([#E
FRERZE]) - URRREHFEER
FERER o MEBHESIRE R - W
R2022F 12 831 B 2RI £ R ER
BRAAREE  AEFBEAGEZ
KEHEBRARZ LT HERI5KA
EEEHREEETHE o i fime

REFRE W ZAER -

BE2022F3 A31HILFEMNESE
BESIAT

RMB’ 000
ARBT T
At April 1, 2021 R2021%4818 167,345
Interest paid BRFE (10,867)
Change in fair value AR BEEZE 60,564
Includes: change in fair value due to own B BEGERBRERN AR BEEZD (1,083)
credit risk
Includes: change in fair value due to B ARBEFERNAREEEH 9,628
modification of bond
Repayment of bond (Note) BEES (M) (217,042)
At March 31, 2022 A2022%3H31H =
Total change in fair value for the year included &FFA[EHFNAAEBEEZE | HNFA 61,647
in “Fair value change of bond” NAEEEEEE
Note: On March 9, 2022, the Group elected to make Kzt -

a voluntary early repayment of the Bond in full,
including principal and additional interest, in a
total of RMB217 million.

SBEEES  BEAS KRBT

w2 ozzisﬁga C AEBIRIEGRER
A&
B %@%ﬁﬁAE%sz%no
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29 CONVERTIBLE REDEEMABLE PREFERRED 29
SHARES (continued)

29.2 Warrants

] B 4 ] R B T AR (AR

29.2 HERH

In connection with the issuance of a Bond as
described in Note 29.1, warrants were issued to an
affiliate of the Bond Holder (the “Warrants Holder”)
in which the Warrants Holder has the option to
exercise one of following three rights: (1) subscribe
for class 1 ordinary shares of the Company at
the exercise price of the class 1 ordinary shares
set out in the warrants agreement (the “Warrants
Exercise Price”); (2) receiving cash profit between
the warrants’ fair value (the “Cash Profit Fair Value”)
and the Warrants Exercise Price; and (3) selling
the warrants back to the Company at the put option
price, which is determined by a certain formula
based on difference between 5.8% and IRR (a yield
of 14.2% IRR if there is no QIPO or 11.8% IRR if
there is a QIPO). The Cash Profit Fair Value is based
on either (i) if listed in public market: weighted
average market price of 30 days before exercise; or
(i) if not listed: last round equity financing valuation.
No warrants were exercised since the issuance of
the warrants.

On June 29, 2021, the Company, the Bond
Borrower, the Bond Holder and the Warrants
Holders (the “Bond and Warrants Parties”) entered
into a deed of termination and undertaking, pursuant
to which, the Bond and Warrants Parties agreed that
the warrants shall be cancelled immediately (Note
29.3).

BANHsE29 1 Fral - BEH T
T EREFIFEANEBAR ([#
BREABAD) BITERE  EEBAA
BERERITEATZEENE P —
B ()IREEREAS AL RN
IEE ([EETHEE] REARQA
1AEEEE Q) REEBEA R EER
EBTEEZEANESFE ([ReF
HAREE])  RO)IRRAHAREE
(IHR5.8% N W =R (FEEE
BERARESRIE14.2% K REU
HEREFAERBRARABEN)IR
11.8% M A=) 2 Br =Rt
HEMETHEAETE) MAQREH
EE o MEFBERREBETI()MRA
RS i« BRST{EAT30 B &Y At
FETHE SR ET ;- BlR&IE
— R ABEGETE - BREERT
VAR M B B AT o

R2021F6 H298 * KRR - EHE
FA - EERFEAREESBA([E
HEREFEST ) FIM R IR EE R
BBt BERESSHREES
AL BNEESH (Fi3E29.3) °
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29

CONVERTIBLE REDEEMABLE PREFERRED
SHARES (continued)

29.2

29.3

Warrants (continued)

Movement of warrants during the year ended March
31, 2022 is set out below:

29

] B4 T B e AR (AR

29.2

& (&)

HZE202243A31 A L FEMEEE
BHFINOT

RMB’000

ARBEFTT

At April 1, 2021 R202154818 71,126
Change in fair value NRBEEZE 13,686
Currency translation differences MEH ZEE (1,094)
Termination of warrants (Note 29.3) IR IERERE (K77729.3) (83,718)
At March 31, 2022 20223 A31H =
Total change in fair value for the year included FFA[EZENAABEEE | NERA 13,686

in “Fair value change of warrants” AR BEEZERE

Derivative liabilities

On June 29, 2021, the Bond and Warrants Parties
entered into a deed of termination and undertaking,
pursuant to which, the parties agreed that (i)
the warrants shall be cancelled immediately
and the warrants documents shall be terminated
immediately and irrevocably; (ii) in full consideration
of the cancellation and termination of the warrants
documents, the Company shall pay to the Warrants
Holder an amount of USD15.62 million on or
prior to the third business day from the date of
consummation of an IPO; (iii) in the event that (y)
the Company fails to consummate an IPO on or
prior to December 31, 2022; or (z) the Company
contemplates a trade sale, the Bond and Warrants
parties shall, by no later than 5 business days from
the re-entry date (in the case of (y)) or by no later
than 30 Business Days before closing of any trade
sale (in the case of (z)), re-enter into a warrants
purchase agreement, a warrants instrument and the
warrants, in each case in form and substance the
same as the warrants documents (Note 29.2).

29.3

fTEEE

M2021F6 A29H » BAMEESH
N — IR RAFAGERE B &
FRE : (I)EEESIAIGEE  EE
e B R AT SH AR L 5 (i) 1EA
R IEEE SR IEE -
ARERE R AREETRK B R
FoELXBEBRZATRESES
AXH15.62FEETT ¢ (iii)fH(y) 4
NE)REER 2022512 A31 B ek Z Al
EREXARAEE  B(2) AR AR
HEIIRGEE  BHEREZSHER
SRTAH (B(y)E) BHSEE%ER
FEMRSHEELER (Fi(z2)E) K
SOMMEEBZAT - EFFI U IEZREE
g - BB REE  REREER
T EEXARARY HEEE AR
(Mf3E29.2) »
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29.3 Derivative liabilities (continued)

In March 2022, the derivative liabilities were settled
by the Company to the Warrants Holder amounted
to USD15.62 million (equivalent to RMB99,148,884).

Movement of derivative liabilities during the year

ended March 31, 2022 is set out below:

CONVERTIBLE REDEEMABLE PREFERRED 29 TWHEBRAEEELK (&)
SHARES (continued)
29.3 fTEEE (&)

MR2022F3 A + ARAIEMEEFE
ANBENTLEBEI5.62E&XTT (M
LN ARB99,148,8847T) °

HE2022F3A31HILFENITEE
EEBEIIWT :

RMB’ 000

ARBT T

At March 31, 2021 A2021F3H31H -
Recognition of derivative liabilities EEE?MTEEJT 94,854
Change in fair value ARBEEZE 6,005
Currency translation differences MEH =58 (1,711)
Termination of derivative liabilities BIETTEBE (99,148)
At March 31, 2022 A202263H31H =
Recognition of derivative liabilities ﬁﬁ%@ﬁi%% 94,854
Termination of the warrants (Note 29.2) RIEHERE (H17£29.2) (83,718)
Fair value difference between termination of RIEEBEERTEAEZEN 11,136

the warrants and recognition of derivative
liabilities

AREEERE
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TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES 30 EZRHMEMSRKE
As at March 31,
MW3A31A
2023 2022
2023 F 20224
RMB’ 000 RMB’000
ARET T ARBETIT
Trade payables & S IE 84,968 74,211
Other payables E M E 5RIE 124,496 198,894
209,464 273,105
Ageing analysis of trade payables of the Group based on AEBIZEZHREHSNE F - KIERE
invoice date is as follows: DT -
As at March 31,
M3 A31H
2023 2022
20234 20224
RMB’ 000 RMB’000
ARET T ARBTIT
Up to 3 months TiBiE31E A 48,342 38,755
3 to 6 months 3Z61EA 8,100 11,154
6 months to 1 year 6RAE14F 5,495 8,462
Over 1 year HBiE1F 23,031 15,840
84,968 74,211
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TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES (continued) 30 ESRHEHMENSRIE (&)
The breakdown of other payables is as follows: HAb I FRIERRMAIN T -
As at March 31,
M3A31H
2023 2022
2023%F 20224
RMB’ 000 RMB’000
AR%T T ARBETTT
Amounts due to minority shareholders FEf D ERR R FRIE 2,420 7,325
Amounts due to former shareholders e RTERY R A 2,963 7,836
Amounts due to related parties (Note 35(c)) FEASTRAE 75 338 (B77E35(¢)) 3,118 7,114
Amounts due to employees arisen from Bl 52 PR 1l Ak A7) BBz D 7T {58 9,280 =
exercise of RSUs i &g B 5018
Consideration payable to original shareholders — HtUW RS EIH B E R IR EIRE 12,837 =
for acquisition of Wuxi Tongshan (Note 31(a)) FET$IE (H72£31(a))
Employee benefits payable EfEERA 58,660 80,607
Consideration payable for acquisition of WHEF R efEIMER BN Y E - 36,500
additional interest in a subsidiary (Note 37(a)) (H1:#37(a))
Taxes payable FERFRIA 12,874 9,467
Listing fees LETER - 24,493
Others HAt 22,344 25,552
124,496 198,894

The carrying amounts of trade and other payables were
denominated in RMB and approximated their fair values

due to

their short-term maturities.

BUSINESS COMBINATION

(a)

Acquisition of Wuxi Tongshan

On July 8, 2022, the Group entered into an
investment agreement with Wuxi Tongshan (£
HhEmECRERARAT) and its shareholders,
pursuant to which the Group conditionally agreed to
obtain 51% interest in the registered capital of Wuxi
Tongshan The acquisition was completed on August
30, 2022. The excess of the consideration over
the Group’s net fair value of assets and liabilities
acquired amounting to RMB77.59 million was
recorded as goodwill.

31

B REMENRAENROEAARE

- ARFHEHERE  HEQREER
= o
EBE6

(a) WKBESES

MR2022F7A8H  AEEEEHT
BEORBRER AR RERERZ
"B - Bt ARBEBGKERE
S ESBENS1% RS o ZKER
20228 A30HTEMX © ¥EHBBAE
EAMREEEMEEF AN BEMND
DEANRETTSOEETT  EEFTA
EES
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(a)

31 BUSINESS COMBINATION (continued) 31  EXKE6 (&)
Acquisition of Wuxi Tongshan (continued) (a) WHEESES (E)
The following table summarises the total purchase TREMANKEARENGEELE
consideration for investment, the fair value of RETWEEEARAEBEN AR
assets acquired, and the liabilities assumed at the BE :
acquisition date:
August 30,
2022
20224
8 H30H
RMB’000
AR®ET T
Purchase consideration BEHE
Cash paid BEfBRe 92,650
Consideration payable to the original FEST R RR SR EIME (H12230) 12,837
shareholders (Note 30)
Consideration payable to the Target Company  Fii& & ER BIZA FHE 17,358
for capital injection
Total purchase consideration BB EHE 122,845
Recognised amounts of identifiable assets FIRB IR EERMAEEEN
acquired and liabilities assumed [=F ke
Cash and cash equivalents RERRSFEY 35,832
Trade and other receivables, prepayments B 5 R H AR FIE - BARIER 29,822
and other current assets HithmEh & E
Property, plant and equipment W - BB &R 21,176
Rights-of-use assets EREEE 11,380
Other non-current assets EfIEnBEE 187
Intangible assets: brand and licenses (Note 16) BFEE : mbENFAIE (K 16) 29,368
Intangible assets: non-competitive agreements ~ EFEE : IEEFEHmARFER 7,800
and customer relationship (Note 16) (B 16)
Lease liabilities HEBE (12,045)
Trade and other payables B 5 NEMENFIA (25,487)
Short-term bank loan EHEIRTITER (2,000)
Deferred tax liabilities (Note 28) BIETRIR BB (H1228) (9,292)
Total identifiable net assets B EEEAE 88,741
Less: Non-controlling interests B FETERR A (43,483)
Add: Goodwill (Note 17) R (HEE17) 77,587

122,845
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BUSINESS COMBINATION (continued) 31  EXKE6 (&)
(a) Acquisition of Wuxi Tongshan (continued) (a) WHBEBES (&)
August 30,
2022
20224
8 H30H
RMB’000
ARBETTT
Outflow of cash to acquire the business, WEBEENRESRH
net of cash acquired (MRFABESR)
Cash consideration REHE 92,650
Less: Cash and cash equivalents acquired W TRRENREEEY (35,832)
Net outflow of cash — investing activities BEREFEE - RETH 56,818
The goodwill is attributable to Wuxi Tongshan’s AEGEARASEWEEGBSRE
synergies expected to arise after the Group's BAE HE WD RZ SE TS RO 1 (R AN FE o
acquisition of this business.
Other information E &+
The acquisition-related costs were not significant WHERBRK AL TEKX - EREE
and were charged directly to administrative 20233 A31HILFEMEHERE
expenses in the consolidated income statements for FRTTER RS B0 -
the year ended March 31, 2023.
The acquired business contributed revenue of WU BE N 20228 A30B &
RMB47,994,000 and net loss of RMB237,000 to the 202353 A31 M RAEETERK
Group for the year from August 30, 2022 to March AANERB 47,994,000 B FEE AR
31, 2023. If the acquisition had occurred on April 1, #237,0007T ° RBUFERR 202254
2022, consolidated revenue and consolidated loss RA1BE%4 @ BIEZE202343 A31
for the year of the Group for the year ended March BEFERASENFAGHBARS
31, 2023 would have been RMB1,508,023,000 and BHEE D Rl A AR %1,508,023,000
RMB223,517,000 respectively. TR AR223,517,0007T °
(b) Acquisition of businesses of four clinics in (b) WHBNRRDPOURDAMNES

Changsha

On February 28, 2023, the Group entered into an
investment agreement with four clinics in Changsha
(the “Changsha Clinics”) and its shareholders,
pursuant to which the Group conditionally agreed
to acquire businesses of Changsha Clinics. The
acquisition was completed on February 28, 2023.
The excess of the consideration over the Group’s
net fair value of assets and liabilities acquired
amounting to RMB6.7 million was recorded as
goodwill.

mzozsﬁzﬂ 28H - REEHEM AR
PHRMERZ I (KRAPZ]) RER
HAI V& Wz - Bt - AEEEB K
HRBEWMERDZMNER - ZWHE
MK2023F2 A28 HFERK © ¥{ERBAEAN
%lﬁﬁuﬁzﬁﬁéﬁﬂﬁﬁ% N EER

BorEARBK67TEEL HEFTA
SRS
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(b)

BUSINESS COMBINATION (continued) 31  EXKE6 (&)
Acquisition of businesses of four clinics in (b) WBNRRDPOURDAITNER (E)
Changsha (continued)
The following table summarises the total purchase TREMANKEARENEEELE
consideration for investment, the fair value of RETWEEEEARFIFAESEN AR
assets acquired, and the liabilities assumed at the B :
acquisition date:
February 28,
2023
2023 F
2H28H
RMB’ 000
AR®T
Purchase consideration BEHE
Amounts due from clinics operated under REBRE A RRB R ENEEZF 8,175
exclusive consultation and service agreements — HYZIE
Settlement of pre-existing service HHEBRBER (H:F16) 3,878
contracts (Note 16)
Total purchase consideration HIEEEHE 12,053
Recognised amounts of identifiable assets FIRB IR EERMAEEEN
acquired and liabilities assumed [=F ke
Cash and cash equivalents RERRSFEY 2,625
Trade and other receivables, prepayments B 5 R H AR FIE - BARIER 4,564
and other current assets HithmEh & E
Property, plant and equipment LE =SS 6,624
Rights-of-use assets EREEE 11,942
Other non-current assets EfIEnBEE 450
Intangible assets: brand and licenses (Note 16) EBFEE : mbENFAIE (K 16) 2,180
Intangible assets: non-competitive agreements ~ EFEE : IEEF I HE A 1,700
and customer relationship (Note 16) KRR (Kat16)
Lease liabilities HEaE (12,946)
Trade and other payables B S5 & EAM e FIE (10,816)
Deferred tax liabilities (Note 28) FEF BB E (A2F28) (970)
Total identifiable net assets AR FEELE
Add: Goodwill (Note 17) B (KaE17) 6,700

12,053
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BUSINESS COMBINATION (continued)

(b)

Acquisition of businesses of four clinics in
Changsha (continued)

31

B O BRI

EBE ot (8
(b) WBURRDERDANEL (H)

February 28,

2023
2023F
2H28H
RMB’ 000
AR¥T T
Inflow of cash to acquire the business, WBEXNESRA (FIBRFAEES)
net of cash acquired
Cash consideration REHE =
Less: Cash and cash equivalents acquired B REERBSEEY (2,625)
Net inflow of cash — investing activities RERARE - BRETH (2,625)

The goodwill is attributable to Clinics in Changsha
synergies expected to arise after the Group’s
acquisition of this business.

Other information

The acquisition-related costs were not significant
and were charged directly to administrative
expenses in the consolidated income statements for
the years ended March 31, 2023.

The post-acquisition revenue and net loss
contributed by the acquired businesses above were
not material to the Group during the year ended
March 31, 2023.

BERARASBURERDDAIRE
HREE A HORZ 75 B0 13 R RUFE -

A1 EH

WERBNRAT TEKR  EREE
2023F 3 A31HIFFEMEHERRK
FRRTTE RS BB ©

REE2023F3A31HIEEE » £X
FT U B8 S 15 M U BE 18 WA R B 18 4
RNEBME LRERK o
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32 CASH FLOW INFORMATION

(a) Cash generated from operations

32 HEREEH

(a) REmRERE

Year ended March 31,
BZ3AHLEE

2023 2022
20234 20224
RMB’ 000 RMB’000
AR%T T ARBEFTT
Loss before income tax RRETEHATE B (217,909) (709,911)
Adjustments for: HUATHIEELFE :
Depreciation and amortisation YrE M 261,467 246,303
Share-based compensation B&A9D B & 194,118 95,021
Impairment loss/(reversal of impairment loss) CRIEEFRERE 2,863 (4,585)
on financial assets — net CREEEEE)
Fair value change of convertible redeemable AJ B4 A B 0118 5% A /Y - 541,089
preferred shares N EEEE)
Fair value change of bond BENAREBEEZS - 61,647
Fair value change of warrants BENAREEE - 13,686
Fair value change of derivative liabilities MEBENAREEE - 6,005
Fair value difference between termination of the #R [FEBERBERITLEA - 11,136
warrants and recognition of derivative liabilities EZEHNALBEZSE
Net losses on disposal of property, LEME - BE R 1,676 58
plant and equipment X ERFEE
Net fair value gains on financial assets RO BEF ABRH (7,152) (5,044)
at fair value through profit or loss CRIEENFAR
EE k=
Share of net loss of associates and joint BREREARN DG 2,295 411
ventures accounted for using the equity method B& AR ME& & RN a)F
&8
Finance costs — net TSR AR 25,324 47,365
Gain on lease modification and termination HEBFT RKRIEHAE (11,173) =
of lease agreements Th kO M
251,509 303,181
Changes in working capital BEESEH
(Decrease)/increase in trade and H 5 &AM RIE (15,566) 42 593
other receivables (RA) /1
Increase/(decrease) in inventories wFEEm,/ Crd) 637 (8,044)
Increase/(decrease) in prepayments T FIEE M CRd) 20,000 (23,656)
Decrease in contract liabilities EREERD (43,012) (15,515)
Decrease in trade and other payables B 5 R Hh FE A~ FRIER (79,026) (57,246)
Cash generated from operations KEMSRE 134,542 241,313
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32 CASH FLOW INFORMATION (continued)

(b)

Non-cash investing and financial activities

Non-cash transactions are primarily related to the
changes in other payables related to property
and equipment and intangible assets additions
described in Note 14 and Note 16, the addition of
right-of-use assets and lease liabilities described
in Note 15, the re-designation of ordinary shares
and convertible redeemable preferred shares for
the issuance of convertible redeemable preferred
shares described in Note 25, modification of the
Bond (Note 29.1), and termination of the warrants
and recognition of derivative liabilities (Note 29.2
and 29.3). Excluding the aforementioned, there were
no other material non-cash investing and financing
transactions for the years ended March 31, 2023
and 2022.

B O BRI

32 REREEH (H)

(b)

FRERERBMETED

FBRERFETEHEM T 14 RME16
FiT 2t B2 9 3 K% 5% 5 A R 4B T2 38 EE 3 0
EHENEMEMREEZE « MiE15
FraEAELEERAESREEM - M
F 25 FT it Bt 2 17 AT 8 5 1] 0 B2 O
B& B #7H5 T X R AR K ] i 0] B (2
i - AEES (M7F29.1) A RK
IFEFERERITEAE (M15E29.2%
29.3) B - b LitESN - HE2023
FER2022F3A31BILFEL EHM
BAIBRCRERBERS °
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(c)

CASH FLOW INFORMATION (continued) 32 HBEIREER (HE)
Reconciliation of liabilities generated from/ (c) ®MEFBHFRE (FFA) BENYERER
(used in) financing activities
Liabilities from financing activities
B
Interest
payables
Convertible (included in
redeemable trade and
preferred Derivative Lease other
shares Bond Warrants liabilities liabilities  Borrowings payables)
RIS
TERTE (FAEZR
BEER &5 B2 fiefE EEER R EfEARE)
RMB’000 RNB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RNIB’000
ARMTR  ARBTR  ARETn  ARMTR  ARETR  ARETn  AR¥TR
Liabilities from financing 1202253831 B8 - - - - 753,308 137,363 -
activities as at March 31, 2022 BEEDER
Cash inflows REiA - - 234,376 -
Cash outflows Ren - - (207,035)  (154,244) =
Acquisition of subsidiaries and WETARRRE (Hits1) = = - - 24,991 2000 -
busingsses (Noe 37)
Lease modification and termination BEBIRR GRS - - - - (43,203) - -
of lease agreements
Leases HE - - - - 169,553 -
Accrued interest TS - - 38,045 524 -
Liabilities from financing activities R2023E3A31 ALY - - - - 735,659 220,019 -
as at March 31, 2023 HERBER
Liabilities from financing activities R01%FIA3 AN 3,178,465 167,345 71,126 - 643,147 218,491 817
as at March 31, 2021 HETBAE
Cash inflows REMA 475,585 - - - - 131,234 -
Cash outflows g - (227,909) - (99,148) (198,586) (213,190) (18,787)
Changes in fair value MEERY 559,528 60,564 13,686 17,141 - - -
Conversion of Preferred Shares to ENRAREERR (4,105,977 - - - - - -
ordinary shares
Termination of warrant and recognition & |HEREREZNE B E - - (83,718) 83718 - - -
of derivative liability
Leases g - - - - 271,904 - -
Acorued inferest g - - - = 36,843 828 17970
Foreign exchange adjusiments ERHAE (107,601) - (1,004) (1711) - - -
Liabilities from financing activities 12022331 AN - - - - 763,308 137,363 -

as at March 31, 2022

HEREAR
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CONTINGENCIES 33

As at March 31, 2023 and 2022, the Group did not have
any material contingent liabilities.

COMMITMENTS 34
(a) Capital commitments

Saved as disclosed elsewhere, significant capital
expenditure contracted for at the end of the
reporting period but not yet incurred is as follows:

B O BRI

HRER

MR2023F 202243 A31H @ KEEIL &
ERMERSAEE -

AR
(a)

BXEE

PR E fth3th 5 PR R BR AN - REEEARE
AR EBERAREENEREARF N
™

As at March 31,

M3A31H
2023 2022
20234 20224
RMB’ 000 RMB’000

ARBTT ARBET T

Property, plant and equipment M - BE REE
Subscription of additional equity interest in REBRY B EEINR 4,430 =
Shenzhen Baocheng (Note 22 (b)) (Htiz22(b))

7,603 16,094
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35 RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

(a)

35 RBEHAEXSE

Names and relationships with related parties (a) BHAIEBRARESWER

The following companies are significant related AT AR ABREE2023F £ 20224F
parties of the Group that had transactions and/or 3)5!31 Eﬂzifgéﬁi$%lﬁ’*%&/
balances with the Group during the years ended ERRM A B E KRR -

March 31, 2023 and 2022.

Name of related party

Relationship with the Group

BES A8 BEARSENER
Zou Qifang Director of the Company
BEF RRARIESF

Hangzhou Jarvis

MMER R

Hangzhou Shengchao Medical Technology
Company Limited (“Hangzhou Shengchao”)

MM BB ER AR A ([N ERE 1)

RMZEAT &

BREER

b REZ

Beier Holdings Limited (“Beier”)

Rise Day Holdings Limited

Ever Respect Limited

Qin Jessie Xin

e

Qiming Venture Partners I, L.P.

Qiming Venture Partners II-C, L.P.

Qiming Managing Directors Fund II, L.P.

Entity controlled by a close family member of a director
HEFHTREGINERE

Entity controlled by a close family member of a director

HESNIREHNERE
Associate of the Group

RNEE A

Associate of the Group

AN L)L N

Joint Venture of the Group
REBESEATE

Entity controlled by a director
HESEHNER

Entity controlled by a director
HEFZEHNER

Entity controlled by a director
HEFEHNER

Director of the Company
RARESR

Shareholder of the Company
RNRAFIRRER

Shareholder of the Company
PN

Shareholder of the Company
ZN/NGIL &
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35 RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS (continued) 35 EHAIXZ (#E)

(b)  Significant transactions with related parties (b) EEREBAEMEARS
The following significant transactions were carried REZE2023F k202243 A31H 1k
out between the Group and its related parties during FE - AEEEEBEITETUTE
the years ended March 31, 2023 and 2022. In the ARG o RAREERE - BB
opinion of the directors of the Company, the related STRIERERBREFIEAEEHER
party transactions were carried out in the normal B Hs 7 2 T P Y RSO T o

course of business and at terms negotiated between
the Group and the respective related parties.

Year ended March 31,
BZ3A31HILLEE

2023 2022
20234 20224
RMB’ 000 RMB’000

ARBTT ARETT

Sales of goods HEEm
Hangzhou Shengchao N A% = 506 1,897
BME L BMETE 4,447 1,795
PR BB R 56 124
5,009 3,816

Purchases of goods BEE®D
Hangzhou Shengchao )N A% = 24,668 20,902
bR Bl E 6,533 7,551
31,201 28,453

Receiving services EXRB

Hangzhou Shengchao N % 77 812 563
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35 RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS (continued)

(c)

Balances with related parties

The following balances are outstanding as at March
31, 2023 and 2022 in relation to transactions with

related parties:

35 BEAEXRZ (&)
(c) RTINS

= .
/B -

LTRSS EEOEHR
2023 202243 A31 B AKE

As at March 31,

MR3A31H
2023 2022
2023 F 20224
RMB’ 000 RMB’000
ARET T AR®ET T
Trade related receivables 2 5 i ERGIE
Hangzhou Shengchao o B% & 7,011 5,245
RMZER & BMERE 4,465 3,608
BB R BB R 114
b RESR bR ER 4,976 4,613
16,566 13,466
Amounts due from related parties (Note 22) JE W BBt 5 OB (BTt 22)
Non-trade nature FEZME
Rise Day Holdings Limited Rise Day Holdings 2,700 1,359
Limited
Trade related payables B SRR FIE
b REZR bR ESR 502 1,254
Prepayments to related parties TR RA S 7 BUA
Trade nature Bt
SIS RS b RESR 12,233 12,269
Amounts due to related parties (Note 30) JiE <} BB B 5 BX0B (KY7£30)
Non-trade nature HEGIEE
Zou Qifang FETS 818 151
Qiming Venture Partners Il, L.P. Qiming Venture 2,085 6,317
Partners I, L.P.
Qiming Venture Partners II-C, L.P. Qiming Venture 183 5583
Partners II-C, L.P.
Qiming Managing Directors Fund I, L.P. Qiming Managing 32 93
Directors Fund I, L.P.
3,118 7,114
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RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS (continued) 35 RS RS (#)
(c) Balances with related parties (continued) (c) EERELMALER (HE)
As at March 31,
W3 A31H
2023 2022
2023 F 20224
RMB’ 000 RMB’000
AR®T T ARBET T
Loans to related parties (Note 22) M T IR I ER (HiF22)
Non-trade nature FEZIE
Beier (i) Beier (i) 77,164 -
BB ER (/i) PR ER (1) 1,500 1,500
78,664 1,500
Notes: Bt -

(i)

On September 28, 2022, the Company and
Beier entered into a loan agreement (the
“Original Loan Agreement”), pursuant to
which the Company provided a loan facility
to Beier in an aggregate principal amount of
US$11,000,000 (equivalent to RMB77,164,000)
(the “Loan”). The Loan was drawn down by
Beier in full on September 30, 2022. The Loan
was unsecured, interest bearing at 4.5% per
annum, and repayable in nine months from the
date of utilisation. Please refer to Note 40 for the
subsequent extension of the Loan Agreement.

The carrying amount of the Loan was initially
recognised at fair value. The fair value of
the Loan at initial recognition was calculated
using cash flows at discount rate of 5.25% per
annum, which was based on US Prime Rate
and adjusted by an estimated credit spread of
Beier. The difference between the fair value and
the principal amount of the Loan amounting to
RMB420,000 was debited to equity during the
year ended March 31, 2023.

As at March 31, 2023 and 2022, loans to 7
B E, with gross balances amounted to
RMB1,500,000 and RMB1,500,000, respectively,
were unsecured, with annual interest rates
ranging from 0% to 7%, and repayable in 1
to 3 years from the borrowing date. The loss
allowance for loans to & E®R as at March 31,
2023 and 2022 amounted to RMB1,500,000 and
RMB1,500,000, respectively.

(if)

MN20229F9H28H + AAAH
Beiers] L Ex ik ([ [RE K
1) Bk - ANAR]FBeieriz
HARE @5 A11,000,000% 7T
(HHER AR T77,164,0007T)
MEXRBE ([Ex]) - B2022
F9HA30H * EFXE HBeier®
HiRH - EXAEER - BF
M=4 5%t B BBEREHEH
BiLEARNEE - E@EE
BT - 20
40 °

BERMEAENREAAEBE
R BERRVBERFHA
A EBEEFRARESREREF
5.25% MR K E - 2 H
ERUETHERNERBER
W skBeierM izt EH B ZEEHL
FEMSHE - HZE20234F3 A4
STALFEERARBEEAR
SEZ HR =R AR 420,000
AR -

R 20234F 202243311 -
MEmREERERAOERBLEH
2B AAREA 500,000 & A
R#1,500,0007T » AEHEIF -
EMENTF0%ET% * BB
ERAHE—ZE=FANEE -
R2023F 202293 H31H -
ERBERERNEBREED
A ARA 500,0007T & A R#E
1,500,0007T °
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(d)

35 RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS (continued) 35 ®EEEAIXS (&)
Key management personnel compensation (d FEEBEASHFMH
Year ended March 31,
HBE3ASIBLEE
2023 2022
20234 20224
RMB’ 000 RMB’000
AR®T T ARBEFTT
Wages, salaries, bonuses and other allowances T& % * (L4 K 6,852 8,077
H AL
Share-based compensation expenses i1 B & 2 65,174 35,914
Social security costs and contributions to HERERAR R 433 528
housing provident fund FEAESMEK
Allowances and benefits in kind AL R E YR 2,212 1,818
74,671 46,337

36 BENEFITS AND INTERESTS OF DIRECTORS

(a)

Directors’ emoluments

The remuneration of every director and the chief
executive officer for the years ended March 31,

2023 and 2022 is set out below:

For the year ended March 31, 2023:

36 EERANRAZE
(a) E=FHM

HE2023F 202263 A318 1LF
B&E S RITHRAT NS
™

HZE2023F3 831 HILFE :

Employer's
Allowances  contribution to

Discretionary  and benefits aretirement  Share-based
Name %2 Fees Salaries honuses inkind  benefit scheme  compensation Total
EAEATER
fig Wt REEL RERENEA itz Ritie it
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’ 000
ARBTT ARBT ARETT ARBTT AREBTT ARBTT ARETT
Chairman E
Z0U Qifang J55 150 1167 0 2212 - 24,336 27,865
Director 2
Z0U Jianlong JaE 150 170 0 - 5 8,498 8,823
Qin Jessie Xin B2 150 1,036 0 - - 1,845 3,031
Zhang Jincai (Note (i) &1 () 150 1,835 0 - 9 5,583 7,666
Total &3t 600 4,208 0 2,212 103 40,262 47,385
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36 BENEFITS AND INTERESTS OF DIRECTORS 36 ES=EA KAz (&)

(continued)
(a) Directors’ emoluments (continued) (a) E=FHM(E)
For the year ended March 31, 2022: BE2022F3HA31HILEFE ¢
Employer's
contribution
toa
Allowances retirement
Discretionary ~ and benefits benefit  Share-based
Name iz Fees Salaries bonuses in kind scheme  compensation Total
RIRER
#e g MiERL  ZHRENEN Eriy Rhe &
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARETT ARETT ARETT ARBTT ARETT ARETT ARETT
Chairman 1E
20U Qifang Bk - 1,204 - 1818 - 13410 16,432
Director S
70U Jianlong Paz - 474 - - 66 4,683 5,223
QI Yong (Noe (j) Qi Yong(Aiet)) - 240 - - 49 - 289
Qin Jessie Xin 2 = 518 - - - 1,017 1,535
Zhang Jincal L) = 2,040 - - 92 3,076 5,208
Zhou Wei (ote (i) Zhou Wei (#z#) - - - - - - -
HU Xubo (Aoie () HU Yubo(#1) = = = = = = =
QIU Yumin (Aote (7)) Quu Yumin(4z#1) - - - - - - -
Denis Francis KINANE (Aore () Denis Francis KINANE - - - - - - -
()
XU Xiaoou (Note (i) Yu Xiaoou(#zj) - - - - - - -
MIAO Jingwen (Aot (j) Miao Jingwen (#722/7)) - - - - - - -
Total 2h = 4476 - 1,818 207 22,186 28,687
Note: Hrat
(i) Hu Xubo and QI Yong were resigned as director (i) Hu XuboX Qi Yong#% BI®
of the Company on January 29, 2021 and June 202141 829H Kk202146 A
22, 2021 respectively. MIAO Jingwen, ZHOU 22HBEARRAIESE ° Miao
Wei, QIU Yu Min, Denis Francis KINANE and Jingwen * Zhou Wei * Qiu Yu
XU Xiaoou were resigned as director of the Min » Denis Francis KINANE
Company on June 23, 2021. K Xu Xiaoou# 202146 A23
HEEARRES °
(ii) ZHANG Jincai was appointed as director of the (ii) ERANR2021F7 A15HER

Company on July 15, 2021. EAERRAES -
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36

BENEFITS AND INTERESTS OF DIRECTORS
(continued)

(b)

(c)

(d)

(e)

Directors’ retirement and termination benefits

No retirement or termination benefits have been
paid to the Company’s directors for the years ended
March 31, 2023 and 2022.

Consideration provided to third parties for
making available directors’ services

No consideration was provided to third parties for
making available directors’ services during the
years ended March 31, 2023 and 2022.

Information about loans, quasi-loans or other
dealings in favour of directors, controlled
bodies corporate by and connected entities
with such directors

Save as disclosed in Note 35, no loans, quasi-loans
or other dealings were entered into by the Company
in favour of directors, controlled bodies corporate
by and connected entities with such directors during
the years ended March 31, 2023 and 2022.

Directors’ material interests in transactions,
arrangements or contracts

No significant transactions, arrangements and
contracts in relation to the Group’s business to
which the Group was a party and in which a director
of the Company had a material interest, whether
directly or indirectly, subsisted at the end of the
years or at any time during the years ended March
31, 2023 and 2022.

36

ESEARA=E (&)
(b) EBHERARBERER

(c)

(d)

(e)

HE2023F 202263 A318 1ILF
B ARRTEREES A RKNE
BAEF o

RESEERBEMAE=FRHN
HE

HZE2023F K202243 A31H L4
B ARRWERESESREAE
= HREEE -

BREE - ZZREERRHNEAR
ErZSEENHEERIT YNE
M BERFEMRZHNER

BRAMIEESS T BE B A - Bl E 2023
FEN202243A31BIEEE » AR
RIWERE SR - XZEESLHNE
ABBRZEEENEERIIVE
R EEFREMZ S °

ESEXRS ZHFHEGRFTHEKX
R

B E2023F K 20224331 B IEF
EERREMER > HEARFES
BEEKEERAREAI A R
SEEBHNENEARS « THERA
ElFh A B AR -
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37 TRANSACTIONS WITH NON-CONTROLLING 37 EEFEZEREZNIS

INTERESTS

(a) Acquisitions of additional interests in (a) WEBTLARIMNEIMERS
subsidiaries
During the year ended March 31, 2022, the Group REZE2022F3A31BILFE - A%
acquired additional equity interests in a subsidiary B e EEETERRRKE—HTFAA
from the relevant non-controlling shareholders RSN AT - HeHERARY
at cash consideration of RMB36,500,000. The 36,500,0007T ° B UHE FEIE iR =Y
differences between the carrying amounts of non- REEEDNEENZEEHINNAT

controlling interests acquired and consideration
paid are set out below.

Year ended
March 31,
2022

HE 20224
3H31H
IEFE
RMB’000
ARBTTT

Total carrying amount of non-controlling B FE R AR i a1 AR TED (B 6,470
interests acquired

Less: total consideration paid to non-controlling  J& : &~ JEHE AR AR 3R &0 48 4B (36,500)
interests

Total difference recognised within equity R ARERR =T (30,030)
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37 TRANSACTIONS WITH NON-CONTROLLING 37 EEAFEREZRNTE (&)
INTERESTS (continued)

(b) Disposals of interests in subsidiaries without (b) FHBEHENBERTHEFAA
change of control R
During the year ended March 31, 2023, the Group REZE2023F3A31BILFE - A%
disposed of certain equity interests in subsidiaries BUATHERE=ZFHETFARET
to third parties for nil consideration. The differences AR - BEHERAEENREE
between the carrying amounts of equity interest BRI ENEZEEINMNT -
disposed of and consideration received are set out
below.
Year ended
March 31,
2023
HZE2023F
3A31H
LFE
RMB’ 000
ARET T
Total carrying amount of equity interests disposed E & R A 2 6 R E 48 (8 703
Less: total consideration received from W BEMGEERE R REE -

non-controlling interests

Total difference recognised within equity R AR L= 703
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37 TRANSACTIONS WITH NON-CONTROLLING 37 EEFEREZNORS (&)
INTERESTS (continued)

(b) Disposals of interests in subsidiaries without (b) FTHEZEFENBERTEHEFAH
change of control (continued) ez (E)
During the year ended March 31, 2022, the Group RBE2022F3A31HLEFE -
disposed of certain equity interests in subsidiaries AEERE=SFHEFRAIE TR
to third parties for a total cash consideration of AiED BEeBREEIRABARE
RMB1,120,000, RMB1,750,000 and RMB500,000 1,120,0007T + AR¥1,750,0007C
respectively. The differences between the carrying & AR¥500,0007T - B H &R ARE
amounts of equity interest disposed of and mEREEED WEENEREYI N
consideration received are set out below. e
Year ended
March 31,
2022
#Z= 20224
3H31H
IEFE
RMB’000
ARBEFTT
Total carrying amount of equity interests disposed E & & A 25 1) BR [ 48 (8 4,501
Less: total consideration received from B BN IEIE R R A B Y (E (4,550)

non-controlling interests

Total difference recognised within equity RERZNERN B EE (49)
38 DIVIDENDS 38 i3S
No dividend was declared by the Company during the HE2023F M2022F3A31HIEFE » K

years ended March 31, 2023 and 2022. RRAWES RAEMARS ©
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39

COMPANY BALANCE SHEET

39 AXRAQAFEEESERER

Year ended March 31,
BZE3AIBLEE

2023 2022
2023F 20224
RMB’ 000 RMB’000
AR¥T T ARETTT
ASSETS BE
Non-current assets FRENEE
Investments in subsidiaries RFRARIHIRE 646,910 425,536
Total non-current assets WIERBEE 646,910 425,536
Current assets REBEE
Amount due from subsidiaries W F R E)FRIE 965,021 769,115
Other receivables H b fE U KT8 150,995 1,982
Financial assets at fair value through BAREEGTAERZD 258,013 192,923
profit or loss TREE
Cash and cash equivalents ReEMRSEEY 497,863 777,685
Total current assets BREBEE 1,871,891 1,741,705
Total assets HWEE 2,518,801 2,167,241
EQUITY s
Share capital A% Note (a) 74,769 74,769
Kiat(a)
Reserves [k Note (a) 5,215,674 4,874,229
Kiat(a)
Accumulated losses ZEEE Note (a) (2,858,404) (2,865,522)
Kiat(a)
Total equity R 2,432,039 2,083,476
Current liabilities B &
Other payables H M pE S 5RE 86,762 83,765
Total current liabilities HWREEE 86,762 83,765
Total liabilities maE 86,762 83,765
Total equity and liabilities HERRAE 2,518,801 2,167,241

The balance sheet approved and authorised for issue by
the Board of Directors of the Company on June 27, 2023

and were signed on its behalf by:

=

EERBERBARAEEFEN2023F6 A
27 BHLEN R ETT - WAHATALTRARE

Executive Director: ZOU Qifang
WITESE : FHF

Executive Director: Qin Jessie XIN

HITEE : ¥5
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COMPANY BALANCE SHEET (continued)

Note (a). Movements in Equity

39 ARQAFREERMEX(H)

Hiit(a) : W

Share Accumulated
capital Reserves losses Total
R e RitER mat
RMB’ 000 RMB’ 000 RMB’ 000 RMB’ 000
ARBTR AR®T R AR®TR ARBTR
Balance at April 1, 2022 202254 51 B &R 74,769 4,874,229 (2,865,522) 2,083,476
Comprehensive income 2HEKH
Profit for the year FAFIE = = 7,118 7,118
Other comprehensive income Hir 2wk
Currency translation differences fERERE - 162,329 - 162,329
Total comprehensive income for FRAZEKE
the year - 162,329 7,118 169,447
Transactions with equity holders EEZEEANRS
Vesting of RSUs 5B X IR A% () Bz = 19,540 = 19,540
Share-based compensation gl - 194,118 - 194,118
Shares purchased for share AR RN B R B AR D
award scheme - (34,542) - (34,542)
Balance at March 31, 2023 R2023F3 31 & & 74,769 5,215,674 (2,858,404) 2,432,039
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39 COMPANY BALANCE SHEET (continued) 39 ZAATRNEEAEER (H)
Note (a): Movements in Equity (continued) Htit(a) - #mEE (B)
Share Accumulated
capital Reserves losses Total
EEEN =4 ZEER st
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000

ARETR AR®TT ARETT ARETR

Balance at April 1, 2021 1202154 81 B H&EE 9,447 266,074 (2,349,533) (2,074,012)
Comprehensive loss 2HEEE
Loss for the year FAEE - = (617,412) (617,412)
Other comprehensive income Hir 2wk = = = =
Fair value change on Preferred Shares HAEERBREHHBLR

due to own credit risk RABEEES = (18,439) = (18,439)
Currency translation differences fEREE - 65,058 - 65,058

Total comprehensive income/(loss) FRA2EE /(FE)

for the year - 46,619 (617,412) (570,793)
Transactions with equity holders EREEEEANRS
Issuance of shares for restrictive BATR IR HlIAR 1 B AL

share unit scheme FTEIRR D 15,435 (15,435) = =
Share-based compensation vl - 95,021 - 95,021
Conversion of convertible redeemable B a] &4 a] BE 0] (B L i 2=

preferred to ordinary shares L@k 43,963 3,960,591 101,423 4,105,977
Issuance of ordinary shares in relation Z/TE X AFEE LA

to IPO 5,924 521,359 - 527,283

Balance at March 31, 2022 M20225F3 A31 B &R 74,769 4,874,229 (2,865,522) 2,083,476
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EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD

On June 27, 2023, the Company and Beier entered into
an amendment agreement to the Loan Agreement (Note
35(c)(i)) (the “Amendment Agreement”), pursuant to
which the Company and Beier conditionally agreed that,
among others, the term of the Loan shall be extended for
a period from 9 months to 18 months commencing from
the September 30, 2022. In addition, to cover the liabilities
and obligations of Beier under the Amendment Agreement,
Beier pledged 9,920,675 ordinary shares of the Company
held by it in favour of the Company as security for the
extended Loan. Save for the above, all the material terms
and conditions of the Loan Agreement remain unchanged
and in force and effect.

Upon the extension of the Loan, the carrying amount of
the Loan would be recognised at fair value, which would
be measured based on cash flows at discount rate with
reference to the market interest rate and the credit spread
of Beier on the date of extension.

Save as disclosed above and elsewhere in this report,
there have been no other material events subsequent to
the year ended March 31, 2023, which require adjustment
or disclosure in accordance with IFRSs.

40

B O BRI

BREWERER

MR2023F6A27H AR HEBeierid] L E
A EIERT g (FE35(c)(i)) ([ERT #
#1) o B ARFEBeierBE B GHFRE
(R B1E) BERMERMHA202249 A30
B#EstoEAERE18MEA - i BRE
BeierE 25T B THEEKRET © Beier
B EIFEN, 020,675 AR 7L iFA K
HIARE - ERTEHEFMER - Br Lt
HIN BRBHEANABEEZGRRIGH#RE
T WEBTRRAME -

EEREHR  BERNEREEMZIAEE
R MARBERSKR2RERBBNTS
MEKBeiertEEREF/HMITRE - RE
RERELETHE -

BREXRAREEMIEDBEERBEEN © B
HZE2023F3A31AILFER  WEAHMNE
fth E R EIBBER IR BRI IS s AT
BRWE o
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Five Year Financial Summary

EFHBERE

A summary of selected items of the results and of the assets,
liabilities and equity of the Group for the last five financial years is

set out below.

ATHIEEREMBRFEENRERAREEE
BEIERNKETHEHE -

For the year (March 31) REEBA3IA) 2023 2022 2021 2020 2019
RMB’ 000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥TT ARETT ARBTT ARBTT AR®BTE
Revenue ON 1,473,741 1,623,553 1,515,127 1,099,868 1,080,291
Gross profit E A 247,084 336,557 364,420 111,391 163,772
Operating (loss)/profit K (518),/ FE (190,290) (28,572) 124,467 (133,444) (84,043)
Loss before Income tax bR FT1S T RIS 18 (217,909) (709,911) (581,744) (320,894) (315,462)
Loss for the year FAEE (223,348)  (696,400) (597,762)  (325,825)  (304,169)
At year end (March 31) RERGBHS1H) 2023 2022 2021 2020 2019
RMB’ 000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥TRT ARETT ARETT ARBTT AR®BTE
Total assets BEE 2,990,347 2,990,347 2,350,754 1,902,991 1,875,736
Total liabilities FEY=RE 1,365,746 1,379,850 4,807,331 3,931,094 3,512,269
Total equity/(deficit in equity) 4225/ (#EzB4) 1,695,890 1,610,497  (2,456,577) (2,028,103) (1,636,533)
Non-controlling interests eI MR 85,204 45,785 43,295 36,664 41,801
Equity/(deficit in equity) RARHEE AEG
attributable to owners ek (e EAL)
of the Company 1,610,686 1,564,712 (2,499,872) (2,064,767) (1,678,334)




“2022 RSU Scheme”

[20224F R | fx fn B 51 &1

“Adjusted Net Loss”
[P FEE

“Adjusted Operating Profit”

[ R

“‘AGM”

[BERBAFAE]

“Arrail Sunshine”

[ Arrail Sunshine |

“Articles of Association”

4 2 A

“associate(s)”

Rk YN

“Audit Committee”

ELEF

“Beijing Ruicheng”

[1E 5 EiE |

“Beijing Ruisheng”

[ b A% |

2022/23 Annual Report £ B8 %

Definitions and Glossary of Technical Terms

BEREirAR

The 2022 restricted share units scheme adopted by the Company on September 3,
2022
RATFFR20224F9 A3 AR 2022 F R Hl ik t9 B L5 2

loss for the year adjusted by adding back share-based compensation expenses

R hnim Bt B & 7 S P B A R MBS 1R

adjusted operating profit as operating loss adjusted by adding share-based
compensation expenses

800 LB £ B 2 9 S P AR B 0 AR 2

the annual general meeting of the Company to be held on September 26, 2023 or
any adjournment thereof
H57020234F9 H26 B BITH AR R BAF R HEME S

Arrail Sunshine Holdings Limited, a BVI company which holds the Shares underlying
the awards under the RSU Scheme
Arrail Sunshine Holdings Limited © —%

B8 T HERE SRR AR 1)

RBEBARSAR  FAXRHIMMD B

the articles of association of the Company adopted on December 1, 2021, which
became effective as of the date on which the Shares are listed on the Stock
Exchange, as amended from time to time

RARFR2021F 12 A1 BERAHNABERAB (PO RBERPT B EAER - KBAKE
BB

has the meaning ascribed to it under the Listing Rules
BB EHHRAE TR E

the audit committee of the Board

EEgEITZRES

Beijing Ruicheng Hospital Management Co., Ltd. (It REREREEERAF), a
limited liability company established in the PRC on July 23, 2009 and a VIE Entity of
our Company

IERIREEREEAR AT —KN2009F7 A28 EFRBEK M BRAR » BARAFA

MR RS E R

Beijing Ruisheng Shidai Consulting Service Co., Ltd. (It RIHEE R EAREERE D
Al), a limited liability company established in the PRC on February 17, 2015 and a
subsidiary of our Company

I REERNREBRREERLDR - —KR2015F217BEFREKIMNERAR + AR
ARWFRE]



Arrail Group Limited ¥FSEEBRA R

Definitions and Glossary of Technical Terms

BEREirAR

“Beijing Shengbin”

[1E R EH

“Board” or “Board of Directors’

[Exg]

“Business Day”

[&%8]

‘BvI”

[REERRES]

‘CAGR”

[FEAERE]

“Chengdu Wuhou Ruitai”

[ PR (=32

“China” or “the PRC”

PR

“Chongging Jinmei”

[BEE2X]

“Chongging Jiuyue”

[EEAM]

Beijing Shengbin Science Trade Co., Ltd. (Jt REWRIEBR A F]), a limited liability
company established in the PRC on December 17, 1997 and a VIE Entity of our
Company

IREWRMEBEBRRATF  —RKP1997F12 17 BEF BRI ERAF] - SARFEA

the board of directors of the Company
RRAFEEE

a day banks in Hong Kong are generally open for normal banking business to the
public and is not a Saturday, Sunday or public holiday in Hong Kong
ERRIT—REAZRIMBEFTRTEBNE T (FBEEHN - EHAXBFTELIRRK
H)

the British Virgin Islands
EEMEB RS

compound annual growth rate
FEAHMRE

Chengdu Wuhou Ruitai Rongcheng Dental Hospital Co., Ltd. (FXEBE EHsZ=at# 0
frEEBTABR A F]), a limited liability company established in the PRC on October 16,
2014 and a VIE Entity of our Company

REBREHERAOBEERERAT - —KR2014F10 A16 B ERBEK ZHER AT -
RARNEIN A SR B

the People’s Republic of China excluding, for the purpose of this annual report,
Hong Kong, Macau Special Administrative Region and Taiwan
REARKEMNE - iRFHRmME - TRESE  RFISIITRERAEE

Chongqing Jinmei Investment Ltd. (EE&XEEBRAF]), a limited liability
company established in the PRC on January 5, 2001 and a VIE Entity of our
Company

ERSEREARAT  —KR2001F1ASHBEFRBEKINBRAFT + BARQFH A&

Chongging Jiuyue Dental Clinic Co., Ltd. (EEAHOEFIZERAE), a limited
liability company established in the PRC on November 27, 2013 and a VIE Entity of
our Company

BEAMABMRAERRAR - —KK2013F11 B27 AERBEKIWBR AR - BARAR
BRI T S E RS
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Definitions and Glossary of Technical Terms

BEREirAR

“Chongging Ruijing” Chongging Ruijing Shengbin Medical Management Co., Ltd. (EEm S EWBEER
BIRAR]), a limited liability company established in the PRC on January 25, 2021
and a subsidiary of our Company

[EEm= ] ERHEEWBETIEARAR  —KR2021F1A25BEFBEKINBRAR © AKX
RAIHFRA]

“Chongging Ruitai” Chongging Ruitai Dental Hospital Co., Ltd. (EERKZEORERAERAR), a limited
liability company established in the PRC on June 28, 2017 and a VIE Entity of our
Company

[EEHE] EERRORERARAR - —KN2017F6 A28 AFEFEK I BR AR - AAA R

%
PR R T

“Companies Ordinance” the Companies Ordinance, Chapter 622 of the Laws of Hong Kong, as amended,
supplemented or otherwise modified from time to time
[ &HE&EH ] NEMED (BEEBE622F) « £ TFHEE] ~ Tk AH M 77 82K

“Company”, “our Company” or Arrail Group Limited, an exempted company registered by way of continuation

“the Company” under the laws of the Cayman Islands with limited liability on November 16, 2020
[ARR7A]] ImREEARAT - —KPN2020F 11 H16 B REBEHEHS AN FEST MO ERE
BRAF

“connected person” has the meaning ascribed thereto under the Listing Rules

[BEAL] BB EmRAR T rRE

“connected transaction” has the meaning ascribed thereto under the Listing Rules

[FER 5] HE FHARRAETHRE

“Contractual Arrangements” the series of contractual arrangements entered into by, among others, Beijing Ruier

Shengbin Medical Technology Co., Ltd. (t RInFREW BRI AR A7), Shenzhen
Ruijian Consulting Management Co., Ltd. (FJITini@EAEEARAE]) and Ms.
Z0U Lifang

[&R%ZHE] BH(EReE) AR ENBENEARAA - RYMIKREATEGRAF RPN
LI —RI|EaRTH

“Controlling Shareholder(s)” has the meaning ascribed thereto under the Listing Rules, and unless the context
otherwise requires, refers to Mr. ZOU Qifang, Rise Day Holdings Limited, Mingda
International Limited, Beier Holdings Limited and Arrail Sunshine

R E HEFHRAETORE  BRXESAEMEI - BBHF %KL - Rise Day Holdings
Limited * Mingda International Limited * Beier Holdings Limited }&2 Arrail Sunshine

“Corporate Governance Code” the Corporate Governance Code as set out in Appendix 14 to the Listing Rules
[fhEEEA AR B SR+ P P (b EE A <P R

“Director(s) the director(s) of the Company

(=] RARES
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“Frost & Sullivan”

[ FHERRD I

“Global Offering”

“GI'OUp", “we” or “us”

[AERE | 5 [ 3]

“Hangzhou Jarvis”

[N ERE

“Hangzhou Jarvis Group”
[HINER B SRR ]

“Hangzhou Shengbin”

[T EEH |

“Hangzhou Shengchao”

[ B8R

“HK$” or “Hong Kong Dollars”
[Tl

“Hong Kong”

[&E]

“IFRS”
[ B PR B 75 i 5 22 )

Frost & Sullivan (Beijing) Inc., Shanghai Branch Co., a global market research and
consulting company, which is an Independent Third Party
HBEFEPAX (AR BARABRAFT LEDRR - REXKTMSARELZART
=%

el

KB

On March 22, 2022, the shares of the Company were listed on the Main Board of
the Stock Exchange and 46,527,500 new Shares were issued by way of global
offering

202243 H22H + AR ERR G ARSI AT EAR £ KB iR 2 TR I 8617 46,527,500 AR T
A& 15

our Company and all of the subsidiaries and the VIE Entities from time to time
or, where the context so requires, in respect of the period before our Company
became the holding company of its present subsidiaries, the businesses operated
by such subsidiaries or their predecessors (as the case may be)

RRF] - 2EHFRARTRENAERN G EES (BXEME) RERFRARMRREFLQ
AINEIR AR Z BTN S - BB FARIE AT S RIBEAME) KENER

Hangzhou Jarvis Medical Technology Company Limited (f1/N{EX BEBERF AR LD
Al), a connected person of our Company
TINMERBEBEREBRAT - NATIMBEEAL

Hangzhou Jarvis together with its subsidiaries including Hangzhou Shengchao
MMERBEREF LA (BIENEA)

Hangzhou Shengbin Health Management Consulting Co., Ltd. (FI/NEBW R EEE
#ABPRAF]), a limited liability company established in the PRC on January 16, 2012
and a VIE Entity of our Company
MMNEW R ERERERAR
NSIEEIE - FEaS

—RM2012F1 16 B EFBEKIHWEBR AR © AKX

Hangzhou Shengchao Medical Technology Company Limited (/125 EERI A
fR/AT]), a subsidiary of Hangzhou Jarvis and a connected person of our Company
TNBREAEBERHXBER AR » AMMNERBHNFRATRAAANEEALT

Hong Kong dollars, the lawful currency of Hong Kong

BEREEERET

the Hong Kong Special Administrative Region of the PRC
HEEESRITTHE

International Financial Reporting Standards
REF TSR AR



“Independent Third Party(ies)”

(B =77

“Listing” or “IPO”

[E sk ERAREE]

“Listing Date”

[ £ A H

“Listing Rules”

[EmRA

“Main Board”

[E7R]

“Model Code”

MEEray

“Negative List”

o

[BEEE]

“Nomination Committee”

[fR2ZBE

BEREirAR

an individual or a company which, to the best of our Directors’ knowledge,
information, and belief, having made all reasonable enquiries, is not a connected
person of our Company within the meaning of the Listing Rules
BEFMEH S BEREMM  AERFAE  UHARABEAL(EER TR
)AL AA]

the listing of our Shares on the Stock Exchange
P& 0 FEBSE 2 P L7

March 22, 2022, the date on which dealings in our Shares first commence on the
Stock Exchange
20223 A22R RN ERFIRE EE B &

the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on the Stock Exchange, as amended
or supplemented from time to time
Bt preE s EmAR R BARHERT AT

the stock exchange (excluding the option market) operated by the Stock Exchange
which is independent from and operated in parallel with the Growth Enterprise
Market of the Stock Exchange. For the avoidance of doubt, the Main Board
excludes the Growth Enterprise Market of the Stock Exchange
HERFMELNERFX M (TRERETIS) - BN AGEM - I HEE 2 fTGEMIE
ITBIE - REESRM - TIRTBEHZHMGEM

the Model Code for Securities Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers set out in
Appendix 10 of the Listing Rules
ETRAIMEE T AE MBI AESETES R HNEESE

the List of Special Management Measures for the Market Entry of Foreign
Investment (MR EEARHEEEE (AEESE))), which was last amended on
December 27, 2021 and subsequently enforced on January 1, 2022 by the National
Development and Reform Commission of the PRC (i A R A MBEEREE MM EE
8&) and the Ministry of Commerce of the PRC (FF 2 A R H A0 B 5 75 25)
OIMVEREEAFRIERER(BEEE)) AP EARKNBBRERNNELZES
RE AR LME R 2021612 A27 B&AIER] - BakKA 202241 A1 BEIT

the nomination committee of the Board

EEgRA%ES
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“Principal Share Registrar” Maples Fund Services (Cayman) Limited, our principal share registrar in the
Cayman lIslands

[EHELER] Maples Fund Services (Cayman) Limited * PR HAERHENFEFSRLEE

“Prospectus” the prospectus issued by the Company dated March 9, 2022

[HERERE] AR 2022F3 A9 A FIEMBIRER

“Qingdao Ruiqi” Qingdao Ruigi Rytime Dental Hospital Co., Ltd. (& &iniEnE O EERERAF]),

previously known as Qingdao Ruigi Medical Management Co., Ltd. (& SIxiEERE
EIEHFPRAT]), a limited liability company established in the PRC on November 29,
2017 and a VIE Entity of our Company

[ 5 ShE ] SEmEREORERBR AR (AIBEEMEBEREEBRAR) - —KN2017F11 A
29REFEBEIRIHERAT - BARTRIK A S mERE

“Registered Shareholder” being Ms. Zou Lifang, who is a PRC citizen and the sister of our founder Mr. ZOU
Qifang. Ms. Zou holds 100% interest of Shenzhen Ruijian

[ & AR Frm L - RPBEARRFFEIMABES LKA - BLLHERIIHIE100%H
Ea

“Remuneration Committee’ the remuneration committee of the Board

[FEEg ] EEgFiEee

“Renminbi” or “RMB” Renminbi Yuan, the lawful currency of China

[AR¥] FEVEEEBARE T

“Reporting Period” the year ended March 31, 2023

[R5 B BE2023F3A31HILFE

“RSU(s)” the restricted share unit(s) award granted to participants under the RSU Scheme
and 2022 RSU Scheme

[ 52 BR il it {7 B8 1 BRI IR D B A58 2022 F IR HIAR (5 B AL B T2 B E 1) R I AR 15 B 58
fEh

“RSU Scheme” the restricted share units scheme adopted by our Company on August 3, 2021, as

amended from time to time, the principal terms of which are set out in “Directors’
Report — RSU Scheme” to this annual report

[ IR Hil B tn B8 i 5t &1 RARF2021 68 A3RRMA RGN BLLAHE] - KAREET - HE E2EREANAF
HIEFFWME — XREIRD BLLE]

“SFO” the Securities and Futures Ordinance (Chapter 571 of the Laws of Hong Kong), as
amended or supplemented from time to time
&5 KGR EREDIESTIERFLIERD - K TARHEAT MR



“Shanghai Ruicheng”

[ B

“Shanghai Ruitai”

[ EEHEE]

“Shanghai Shengbin”

[ EEH ]

“Shanghai Yazheng”

[ E&TIE]

“Share(s)”

[ Bt ]

“Shareholder(s)”
[ AR 3R ]

“Shenzhen Ruier”

AR

“Shenzhen Ruijian”

[y H e |

“Stock Exchange”
[ B 22 FAT |

BEREirAR

Shanghai Ruicheng Hospital Management Co., Ltd. (/&8 HEREEBRQR),
previously known as Shanghai Ruicheng Dental Hospital Co., Ltd. (- /&8¥#f2 O pegs
FtBR2AA]), a limited liability company established in the PRC on November 11,
2018 and a subsidiary of our Company
EEnBERERERAT (AIE ERREARERAGRAT) - —KN2018F 11 A11H
EFRBEKINERLDR - RAARHFLRAE

Shanghai Ruitai Jiasheng Dental Clinic Co., Ltd. (/8 3E QP2 EER A R),
a limited liability company established in the PRC on January 22, 2019 and a VIE
Entity of our Company
FPERFRERABEMZHERAR - —KN2019F1 H22BEFRBEKINER AR - B
AN eg

Shanghai Shengbin Medical Consulting Service Co., Ltd. (LB BEZAREE
[R/27A]), a limited liability company established in the PRC on September 26, 2001
and a VIE Entity of our Company

EEEWBEXARSERAR - —RN2001F9A26BEFEKIHAERRAR - BAE

GRS

Shanghai Yazheng Medical Consulting Service Co., Ltd. (/8 EBEZE ARG ER
7~ A]), a limited liability company established in the PRC on May 24, 2002 and a VIE
Entity of our Company

EETFEBEZARBERAR - —RN2002F5 A24AEFEKRIHERAR - BAE

NGIERIE-E

shares in the share capital of our Company, with a nominal value of US$0.02 each
RATRARFREEO0.02E TR K

holder(s) of the Share(s)
SGESE=DN

Shenzhen Ruier Hospital Management Co., Ltd. (FYIRBEREREREQA]),
previously known as *Shenzhen Meixia Hospital Management Co., Ltd. (FYIZEFE 5
FrEIEABRAF]), a limited liability company established in the PRC on December
21, 2006 and a VIE Entity of our Company

RYBHRERERERAT (AEANEEEREEGRAT) - —KN20065F 1274211
EFRBEKZOBRAT - ARNARK I EF ST

Shenzhen Ruijian Consulting Management Co., Ltd. (ZYITsE#HAEREAREQR),
a limited liability company established under the laws of the PRC on October 11,
2005

FRINTIREEATEER AT - —KMA2005F10 411 BIREPEVERK I BRA A

The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited
BEAMARSHRARRAA

2022/23 Annual Report £ B8 %

Definitions and Glossary of Technical Terms



Arrail Group Limited ¥FSEEBRA R

Definitions and Glossary of Technical Terms

BEREirAR

“subsidiary(ies)” has the meaning ascribed to it in section 15 of the Companies Ordinance

[F2RA]] BB RNEHEHIE15GE T HRE

“Substantial Shareholder(s)” has the meaning ascribed to it under the Listing Rules

[FZERRE] BA FmAAETERE

“U.S.” or “United States” the United States of America, its territories, its possessions and all areas subject to
its jurisdiction

[=F ] EMBETE - HELT B RFEHEENMAHE

“U.S. dollars” or “US$” United States dollars, the lawful currency of the United States

[&7t] ERRETEET

“VIE Entities” the non-wholly owned subsidiaries of the WFOE in which Shenzhen Ruijian owns
minority interest directly or indirectly through the Contractual Arrangements (each,
a “VIE Entity”)

[FAI &R B 88 | AR REE R HFEERREFE L EERNIINEBECENETEFRAR(RAR

[ATRFISE )

“WFOE” or “Beijing Ruier” Beijing Ruier Shengbin Medical Technology Co., Ltd. (It RIBEEW BERIFE AR LD
Al), a limited liability company established under the laws of the PRC on March 25,
1999, and an indirect wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company

[HNEEE (B2 | S [ iR | IRGRENBEERRARAR - —RN1999F3A25BRBEFRERKNIHER D
A WRARENEEE2EFAA

“%” per cent
[% ] Bt
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